
Page 1

Mark James  LLM, DPA, DCA
Prif Weithredwr,
Chief Executive,
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin.  SA31 1JP
County Hall, Carmarthen.  SA31 1JP

THURSDAY, 15TH DECEMBER, 2016

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

I HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE 
BOARD WHICH WILL BE HELD IN THE CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, 
CARMARTHEN AT 10.00 A.M. ON THURSDAY, 22ND DECEMBER, 2016 
FOR THE TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE 
ATTACHED AGENDA

Mark James CBE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

 PLEASE RECYCLE
Democratic Officer: Michelle Evans Thomas
Telephone (direct line): 01267 224470
E-Mail: MEEvansThomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
Ref: AD016-001

Document Pack



Page 2

EXECUTIVE BOARD
MEMBERSHIP 10 MEMBERS

Councillor Portfolio

Councillor Emlyn Dole
 

Leader (Plaid Cymru)
Corporate Leadership and Strategy; Chair of Executive Board; 
Represents Council at WLGA; Political Advocate for Council; 
Appoints Executive Board Members; Determines EBM 
Portfolios; Liaises with Chief Executive

Councillor David Jenkins Deputy Leader - Resources (Plaid Cymru)
Finance & Budget; ICT; Property / Asset Management; 
Procurement; Housing Benefits; Revenues; Armed Forces 
Champion; and  Chairs Executive Board in Leader’s absence

Councillor Pam Palmer Deputy Leader - Communities (Independent)
Council Business Manager; Community Champion; Customer 
Focus & Policy, Police Liaison; Community Safety; Social 
Justice / Crime & Disorder Community Planning; Anti-Poverty 
Champion; Sustainability; Bio-diversity; Youth Ambassador; 
Rural Affairs and Chairs Executive Board in Leader’s absence

Councillor Hazel Evans Technical Services (Plaid Cymru)
Refuse; Street Cleansing; Transport Services; Grounds 
Maintenance; Building Services; Catering Services; Caretaking; 
Building Cleaning; Transport Services; Emergency Planning; 
Flooding

Councillor Linda Evans Housing (Plaid Cymru)
Housing – Public; Housing – Private; Equalities; Older People

Councillor Meryl Gravell
 

Regeneration & Leisure (Independent)
Economic Development; West Wales European Centre; 
Community Development; Sports; Leisure Centres; Museums; 
Libraries; Country Park

Councillor Gareth Jones Education and Children (Plaid Cymru)
Schools; Children Services; Special Education Needs; 
Safeguarding; Respite Homes; Regional Integrated School 
Improvement Service; Adult Community Learning; Youth 
Services; Lead Member for Children and Young People; 
Eisteddfod Ambassador

Councillor Jim Jones Environmental & Public Protection (Independent)
Environmental Enforcement; Litter; Unlicensed Waste; Dog 
Fouling; Parking Services; Trading Standards; Environmental 
Health.

Councillor Mair Stephens
 

Human Resources, Efficiencies & Collaboration 
(Independent)
Human Resources; Training; Simpson Compact; Priority Based 
Budgeting (PPB); Corporate Efficiencies; Welsh Language 
Champion; Town and Community Councils Ambassador.

Councillor Jane Tremlett Social Care & Health (Independent)
Adult Social Services; Residential Care; Home Care; Learning 
Disabilities; Mental Health; NHS Liaison/Collaboration/ 
Integration; Carers’ Champion; Disability Ambassador; Dementia 
Care Champion; 50+ Champion.

 



Page 3

A G E N D A  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST. 

3. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON THE 21ST 
NOVEMBER, 2016. 

11 - 16

4. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE BY MEMBERS (NONE RECEIVED). 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON NOTICE:- 

5 .1 QUESTION BY MR ROBERT WILLOCK TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“Mr Jones.  In our first meeting with you last year, you stated 
that 30% Welsh lessons were too much for the English 
Children. As an educationalist how have you come to the 
conclusion that fully immersing children in their weaker 
language will be more beneficial to the child than learning 
welsh second language?”

5 .2 QUESTION BY MS NIKKI LLOYD TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“A pilot was carried out by the School to look into Welsh 
immersion in the reception classes. We have requested the 
results from this pilot from the School and the County Council 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. However, we are 
still waiting for these results. At the time of the pilot only 
parents who attended the meeting at the School were made 
aware about it and no follow up letters were issued. The 
evidence found from this pilot should have been collated and 
presented with the proposal. The only time we were told about 
the pilot was when we were provided with the information 
through an FOI and it has never been made public. The 
evidence and results have not been presented with the 
proposal and it is unknown whether there is an actual demand 
for Change. According to the School Organisation Code the 
demand for additional provision of any type in an area should 
be assessed and evidenced. When looking at the current 
position within the Llangennech Schools there are currently 
121 children from outside of catchment coming into 
Llangennech School and at the same time 111 Children leave 
the village to seek education (20 of these pupils have left in 



Page 4

recent months as a result of this proposal and uncertainty).  
These factors have clearly been overlooked. Why has there 
not been an adequate assessment for demand carried out?”

5 .3 QUESTION BY MRS MICHAELA BEDDOWS TO 
COUNCILLOR GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD 
MEMBER FOR EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“In a previous Scrutiny Committee meeting Mr Sully stated that 
his intention is to change all Dual Stream Schools to Welsh 
Medium and all English Medium to Dual Stream and so on…  
This will eventually eradicate all English medium schools in 
Carmarthenshire.  Can you confirm if this is also the Authorities 
long term Education plan?”

5 .4 QUESTION BY MR STEVE HATTO TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“According to the latest Pisa report, Wales is still lagging 
behind the rest of the UK in Maths, Science and English. This 
could be a direct result of children not being educated in their 
native tongue. Children who are not quite so bright 
academically would not reach their full potential if they don't 
fully understand the lesson being taught and parents not being 
able to support them at home. Does CCC feel that by pushing 
the Welsh language so aggressively is worth the sacrifice of 
the standard of our education?”

5 .5 QUESTION BY MRS JULIA REES TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“As a parent of a child with additional learning requirements I 
obviously feel very strongly about what is going on here today. 
My son was placed by Carmarthenshire County Council into a 
short term assessment centre, one of only 3 within 
Carmarthenshire. He was placed there to assess his 
requirements before release to mainstream education like 
many other children each year. All 3 of these assessment 
centres educate via English medium and there is no Welsh 
medium equivalent in Carmarthenshire. As stated previously it 
has been communicated to us that the aim of the council is to 
discontinue all English medium education by 2022 and that 
Llangennech School is simply part of this long term plan. How 
can the council discontinue English medium Education within 
the County when there are numerous children placed by the 
County specialists each year into these English medium 
Assessment centres but no English medium schools to be 
released to after assessment?”
 



Page 5

5 .6 QUESTION BY MR DEAN BOLGIANI TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“Recent information obtained under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 advised us that Bryn and Bynea Schools 
have already refused admission requests at the schools 
despite in previous meetings we were told the Schools were 
not oversubscribed. The next nearest English Medium School 
is Hendy which does not have a safe route to school. You have 
informed us throughout this consultation  that it is not the 
Authorities intention for any child to leave Llangennech School 
but it is obvious that you have already driven some away and 
the welcome mat has been pulled up by the chair of Governors 
openly stated that English Speaking children are detrimental to 
the Welsh speaking children’s Education. If English Medium is 
removed from Llangennech the freedom of choice for parents 
is also being removed.   Could you please answer this question 
this time as to where are you going to cater for pupils who seek 
English Medium Education as it will no longer be available at 
Llangennech for those who seek it?”

5 .7 QUESTION BY MRS KAREN HUGHES TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“The KeepDualStreamCommittee are members of the 
Llangennech community who have voluntarily given up their 
time and money to ensure that the majority within Llangennech 
have a voice.  To date, any questions have been met with 
responses such as ‘We must do it because it’s the WESP’ or 
‘Carmarthenshire Council know what’s best for your child’s 
education’ or that ‘there is no demand for Dual Stream’. These 
are simply speculative, misleading non-factual statements and 
prove that real issues are not being addressed.   Concerns 
regarding children with disabilities learning abilities, to the 
emergence of social divisions, increased traffic through 
Llangennech as children are unnecessarily being shipped in 
and out to pursue educational language choices, detrimental 
effects on the environment and promotion of healthy lifestyle 
are all failing to be even acknowledged.  Plus we must not 
forget the negative impact on the Welsh language itself which 
most parents had embraced as Llangennech has always been 
supportive of its culture, heritage and language.  We are 
astounded that none of these factors have been built into the 
Community Assessment despite there being a legal necessity 
to provide ‘due regard’.  It appears it is just a tick box exercise 
and nobody appears to be taking it seriously or providing 
workable solutions but instead is using the WESP as a defence 
mechanism. It is ironic that the purpose of the Community 



Page 6

Assessment is to inform the WESP and highlight risks in order 
to ensure that what is implemented is fit for purpose.  Out of all 
the issues raised by the Community, none have been recorded 
in your risk assessments. This begs the question what is the 
purpose of doing this consultation when the majority opinion 
and concerns are being overlooked.  Can you explain the logic 
for ignoring an informed and democratic decision making 
process and how can you see this as a positive?”

5 .8 QUESTION BY MR NIGEL HUGHES TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“The elimination of dual stream in Llangennech will have a 
massive effect on discouraging non Welsh speaking 
professional people moving into the area.  If they have young 
children who have had their education in English in their early 
years, then they are unlikely to move into the area.  This will 
have an adverse effect on house prices and investments from 
outside the county.  Carmarthenshire County Council’s long 
term strategy appears to be seeking to create a county of 
isolation and seclusion.  Please explain how you are planning 
to attract new businesses and talent to the County when you 
will only teach children in one of the two recognised languages 
of Wales and not provide families with any choices?  This 
appears to be another oversight by the local councillors that 
wrote the WESP which does not appear to have considered 
the longer term impacts.”

5 .9 QUESTION BY MR PHILLIP WILLOCK TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“We are about to discover whether you, like the open minded 
Mr Campbell believe in Welsh education by compulsion. You 
have asked for the public’s opinion via the statutory 
consultation and we are now very interested as to whether you 
are going to listen to it. Given that the majority of 
Llangennech’s responses are objections to the change are you 
going to assume an authoritarian approach on this 
consultation?”

5 .10 QUESTION BY MRS SALLYANN THOMAS TO 
COUNCILLOR GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD 
MEMBER FOR EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“A recent wide ranging consultation was conducted by the 
Welsh Government to find out the views from myriad sources 
for its long term vision for the Welsh language.  The aim of 
WAG is to create a million bilingual speakers of Welsh and 



Page 7

English by 2050 however, the results from this consultation are 
still being reviewed.  Undoubtedly the findings will have a 
major impact on how we deliver our education system in 
Primary Schools.  What reasons do you have for not waiting for 
the recommendations of this independent panel Wales 
consultation due early in 2017 before any change is decided to 
any of our schools in Carmarthenshire?” 

5 .11 QUESTION BY MS VICKI FREEMAN TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“Many Doctors and nurses in the NHS are from a different 
ethnic background.  A lot of nurses are Filipino and Indian, and 
a vast majority of Doctors are from the middle and Far East.  
English is already their second language.  Carmarthenshire 
has many vacancies in both professions.  There has been 
discussion as to why so few people apply for these jobs. Many 
answered that as their children already speak two languages, 
they feel it would be too difficult to move to this area when the 
Welsh language is being forced onto non Welsh speaking 
immigrants.  This was especially a concern when children were 
already 8 or 9 years of age and never been exposed to the 
Welsh language.  Is CCC aware that by heading on the path to 
eradicating English medium education, it is going to affect the 
whole infrastructure of the county and prevent professional 
immigration into our local NHS and other businesses?”

5 .12 QUESTION BY MS ORLA WILLIAMS TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“CCC is segregating and marginalising the current and future 
bilingually and English stream learners in Llangennech school 
by not providing a suitable pathway for those learners.  In 
Welsh government legislation, English and Welsh have equal 
status.  But not if you live in East Carmarthenshire.  The move 
to Welsh only in Llangennech, where there is a high 
percentage of out of catchment middle class parents on their 
way to J48 of the M4, and insisting on Welsh only is a flawed 
plan by the County Council.  What provision is being put in 
place to raise performance in Hendy Primary, Strade 
Comprehensive to justify this exclusionary practice and to 
provide an equivalent high standard of education in 
Llangennech for parents who wish and require their children to 
be educated bilingually as Bryn School does not have the 
same bilingual ethos, performance, outcomes or leadership to 
allow children to that Llangennech currently offers and why 
parents choose the bilingual stream.  Maintaining the bilingual 
stream in Llangennech will help reach the government target of 



Page 8

1 million Welsh speakers by 2050.  By excluding families from 
bilingual education will not encourage or embrace those 
families willing to take the first steps into fluency.  This 
proposed policy will exclude; discourage some families from 
speaking Welsh and create division and an unequal, devisive 
education provision in East Llanelli.  Surely it is better to 
welcome people in as proven by studies in Catalan, Finland 
and Lithuania where truly bilingual education is proven by 
success in performance, PISA and international performance.  
Would looking for inclusive solutions not better serve the 
current intake and future generations of our community and 
provide a better legacy for this Council?”

5 .13 QUESTION BY MR DARREN SEAWARD TO COUNCILLOR 
GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“Councillor Gwyn Hopkins has stated many times that those 
opposing the changes are a vociferous minority and has 
peddled this fairy-tale in the press. Given that there are over 
750 objections, probably the largest appeal in the history of 
Llangennech, it is unfortunate that after being a County 
Councillor for over 20 years that Mr Hopkins does not 
understand the needs and wishes of his electorate better. It 
also begs the question, what other poor judgements have been 
made during this consultation. We believe it would be fairer to 
all, including the new candidate that this decision be postponed 
until after May 2017 elections when a new candidate is 
appointed and confidence can possibly be restored and that 
the village has a representative voice. Do you agree this 
should be delayed?”

5 .14 QUESTION BY MRS JACQUELINE SEWARD TO 
COUNCILLOR GARETH JONES, EXECUTIVE BOARD 
MEMBER FOR EDUCATION & CHILDREN:-

 

“It really saddens us to see how much our once close knit 
community has been divided by this proposal. We seem to 
have overlooked what is important here which is infact we have 
an extremely successful dual stream school that caters for all. 
Llangennech School has an excellent reputation and is sought 
after by many who are even willing to travel from outside of 
area to be educated at Llangennech.  Many of the children in 
the Welsh Stream would not have tried it if the school was a 
Welsh only School and this is what we must recognise. The 
Welsh Government wants one million speakers by 2050. The 
Welsh language should be desired not forced and by taking 
parents choices away we will only end up diluting the welsh 
language not increasing it. Llangennech is already contributing 
to increasing the number of Welsh speakers and will continue 
to do so as a dual stream. Other Schools need to follow our 



Page 9

example. Let’s look at the impact this proposal has had on 
Llangennech community who have embraced the Welsh 
language for years. It does make us wonder how would other 
Schools especially all English Medium School would react if 
faced with the same proposal as per the wishes of Mr Sully to 
make every school in Carmarthenshire Welsh medium. This 
will create resent and end up damaging the Welsh Language 
which is certainly not what we want.  We want our children to 
continue learning Welsh as they are able to do now in the dual 
steam but at their own pace and parents choice.  From our last 
exercise we have hard proof of 750 people against the 
proposal. There were 698 support comments submitted but 
following an FOI request we have been made aware that a 
large majority who commented were not even from the village 
or even County. We have asked again under an FOI for a 
further breakdown of streets so a true analysis can be made. 
But unfortunately as usual this is not readily available. For a 
number of years before this proposal, figures and people have 
been manipulated to present a false picture of the demand in 
the village.  The people of Llangennech have spoken and it’s 
about time they were finally listened to. Can you honestly make 
such an important decision about our children’s futures and 
Education when so many questions are still unanswered?”

6. MODERNISING EDUCATION PROGRAMME - PROPOSAL TO 
DISCONTINUE LLANGENNECH INFANT SCHOOL AND 
LLANGENNECH JUNIOR SCHOOL AND ESTABLISH 
LLANGENNECH COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL. 

17 - 296

7. PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD SCRUTINY. 297 - 302

8. PREVENTION, EARLY INTERVENTION AND PROMOTING 
INDEPENDENT LIVING. 

303 - 320

9. SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE SCHEME. 321 - 342

10. COUNCIL TAX BASE 2017-18. 343 - 376

11. CORPORATE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2016-2019. 377 - 410

12. CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S GUIDANCE AND 
SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT ON CHARGEABLE PRE-
APPLICATION AND POST CONSENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO 
DEVELOPMENTS OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE (PLANNING 
(WALES) ACT 2015) AND NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT 
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS (PLANNING ACT 2008). 

411 - 430

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT BY REASONS OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES THE CHAIR DECIDES SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED AS A MATTER OF URGENCY PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 100B(4)(B) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972. 



Page 10



EXECUTIVE BOARD

Monday, 21 November 2016

PRESENT: Councillor E. Dole (Chair)

Councillors: 
L.D. Evans, M. Gravell, D.M. Jenkins, G.O. Jones, P.A. Palmer, L.M. Stephens, 
J. Tremlett, H.A.L. Evans and T.J. Jones

Present as Observers:
Councillors D.M. Cundy and W.T. Evans

The following Officers were in attendance:
M. James, Chief Executive
J. Morgan, Director of Community Services
C. Moore, Director of Corporate Services
R Sully, Director of Education & Children
R. Mullen, Director of Environment
W. Walters, Assistant Chief Executive (Regeneration & Policy)
L.R. Jones, Head of Administration and Law
R. Staines, Head of Housing and Public Protection
I.R. Llewelyn, Forward Planning Manager
D. Hockenhull, Marketing and Media Manager
K. Thomas, Democratic Services Officer

Chamber, County Hall - 10.00  - 10.40 am

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.

There were no apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST.

Councillor Minute Number Nature of Interest
H.A.L. Evans 7 – Review of Access 

to Social Housing 
Policy

Sister is the Chief 
Executive of a Housing 
Association

H.A.L. Evans 13 – The 2018 Review 
of Parliamentary 
Constituencies in 
Wales – Initial 
Proposals

Lives in a constituency 
affected by the 
proposals

3. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON THE 17TH OCTOBER, 2016

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive 
Board held on the 17th October, 2016 be signed as a correct record.

4. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE BY MEMBERS

The Chair advised that no questions on notice had been submitted by members.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

The Chair advised that no public questions on notice had been received.

6. ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2015/16 - CARMARTHENSHIRE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

The Executive Board received the 2015/16 Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) on 
the operation of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan, produced in 
accordance with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and the Local Development Plan (LDP) Regulations. The AMR, which was 
the first to be produced, had been submitted to the Welsh Government by the 31st 
October 2016, as required by legislation, and represented a purely factual 
statement on the operation of the LDP. It provided a base line on which the 
department could assess and monitor the progress being made in implementing 
the LDP policies and proposals, whether they were operating and functioning 
effectively, and helped to identify whether there were any long term trends that 
may require consideration to be given to possible future Plan revisions.

It was reported that monitoring for the second report had commenced, and the 
Council would be seeking comments up to March 2017 on the operation of the 
LDP which would then feed into the second AMR for submission, via the Council’s 
political process, to the Welsh Government.

Councillor D.M. Cundy, in accordance with Corporate Procedure Rule 11.1 
referred to the importance of the document, as it detailed the operation of the LDP 
countywide, and expressed a view that it would benefit from the input of all council 
members. Accordingly, he requested the Executive Board give consideration to 
Council undertaking an annual debate on the AMR prior to its submission to the 
Welsh Government.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT IT BE RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
6.1 that the Annual Monitoring report 2015/16 – Carmarthenshire 

Local Development Plan be received
6.2 That an annual debate be undertaken on the Annual Monitoring 

Report on the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan prior 
to its submission to the Welsh Government 

7. REVIEW OF ACCESS TO SOCIAL HOUSING POLICY

(NOTE: Councillor H.A.L. Evans having earlier declared an interest in this item left 
the meeting during its consideration).

The Executive Board received for consideration the report on the review 
undertaken of the Council’s Access to Social Housing Policy prepared following 
widespread consultation with the public and the Council’s partners. The Board was 
advised that in preparing the report, care had been taken to ensure both its 
compliance with legislative requirements and it responded to the consultations 
received. The main changes to the policy were:

 to make the policy simpler,
 Priority was to be afforded to people from within Carmarthenshire and to 

those who had a connection with the County;

Page 12



 Reducing the number of qualifying bands from four to two
 Removal of the points system.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT IT BE RECOMMENED TO COUNCIL THAT
7.1 The results of the consultation exercise be accepted,
7.2 The Draft Amended Access to Social Housing Policy be 

approved.

8. COUNCIL'S REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT

The Executive Board considered the revenue budget monitoring report which 
provided an update on the latest budgetary position as at 31st August, 2016 in 
respect of the 2016/17 financial year. 

Overall, the report forecast an end of year overspend of £1,971k on the Authority’s 
net revenue budget with an over spend at departmental level of £2,975k. The 
Housing Revenue Account was forecasting an under spend of £667k.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED 

12.1 that the budget monitoring report be received;

12.2 that Chief Officers and Heads of Service critically review their 
budgetary positions and implement appropriate actions to deliver their 
services within their allocated budgets.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

9. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2016-17 UPDATE

The Executive Board considered a report providing an update on the capital 
programme spend against budget for 2016/17 as at the 31st August, 2016. 

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the capital programme update report be 
received.

10. REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY 2017/18 TO 2019/20

Page 13



The Executive Board considered the above report which provided an overview of the 
Revenue Budget for 2017/18 and the following two financial years. The report detailed 
the budget process timetable, summarised the Welsh Government’s provisional 
settlement, the Final settlement timetable and identified the validation and budget 
pressures that needed to be considered by members in setting next year’s revenue 
budget. The report also formed the basis of the budget consultation process that would 
be undertaken during November 2016 – January 2017 with the Council’s scrutiny 
committees and the community prior to a report being submitted to the Executive Board 
and thence to Council.

The report outlined the key elements of the draft budget strategy and highlighted that 
Carmarthenshire’s provisional cash neutral settlement, whilst being welcomed, would 
still represent a negative impact on the Council’s resources having regard to inflationary 
factors, demographic changes and new responsibilities or demand for services. 
However, it also enabled the Council to reconsider the efficiency targets on schools and 
the level of Council tax increase proposed in its budget outlook, and provided additional 
funding for Social Care, town centre parking school transport and the Welsh 
Government’s commitment to increase the capital limit used by local authorities who 
charged for residential care from £24-£30k.

It was noted that the strategy contained £7.8m for essential validation together with an 
additional £2.4m to meet new expenditure pressures identified by departments, of 
which £1.8m was allocated to Social Care. Departments had again identified efficiency 
savings as detailed in Appendix A to the report totalling £8.8m in year 1 together with a 
further £16m over the following two years ensuring that the authority, based on 
current projections, could deliver essential services whilst endeavouring to contain any 
council tax increase to an acceptable level. The report also provided an overview of 
current reserves, which were to be further reviewed, with the anticipation of any 
becoming available being used to support the capital programme and the delivery of 
regeneration opportunities, therefore sustaining future growth within the County. 

The current budget proposals having regard to the above factors had enabled the 
proposed council tax increase for 2017/18 to be contained to 2.5%.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the contents of the budget report be noted and 
approved as a basis for consultation, and to specifically seek comments from 
consultees on the efficiency proposals detailed in appendix ‘A’ to the circulated 
report.

11. FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2017/18 - 2021/22

The Executive Board considered a report which provided an initial view of the 5 
year capital programme from 2017/18 to 2021/22, which would form the basis of 
the budget consultation process with members and other relevant parties.  It was 
noted that feedback from the consultation process, along with the outcome of the 
final settlement, would inform the final budget report which would be presented to 
members for consideration in February, 2017.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the provisional capital programme be 
endorsed for consultation purposes.

Page 14



12. MID YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 
REPORT

The Executive Board, in accordance with the 2016/17 Treasury Management 
Policy and Strategy (adopted by Council on the 23rd February 2016 – Minute 9 
refers) received an update on the treasury management activities from the 1st April 
2016 to the 30th September 2016.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the report be approved. 

13. THE 2018 REVIEW OF PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCIES IN WALES-
INITIAL PROPOSALS

Further to Minute 13 of its meeting held on the 17th October, 2016 the Executive 
Board received for consideration a report detailing a summary of the Boundary 
Commission’s initial proposals on the 2018 Review of Parliamentary 
Constituencies in Wales, in so far as they affected Carmarthenshire, together with 
a draft non-political response thereto based on the administrative and logistical 
challenges raised by the proposals.

The Chief Executive, in referring to the draft response, advised that officers, in 
examining the proposals, had endeavoured to retain as much of the county 
together as possible, whilst also having regard to the Boundary Commission’s 
mathematical requirements. In so doing, it was being proposed that all the existing 
Northern constituencies within the County be retained within the proposed 
Carmarthenshire constituency with the exception of Llangyndeyrne which, it was 
proposed, would be included within the new Llanelli and Lliw constituency. It was 
also being suggested that the proposal to contain the electoral wards of 
Llangyfelach and Mawr within the Llanelli and Lliw constituency be not accepted, 
and they be included within the Swansea West Constituency.

He further confirmed the proposed response had been based on the administrative 
and logistical issues raised by the proposals, and that the Council’s political 
parties, and individuals, would be able to respond directly to Boundary 
Commission on its proposals. 

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED
13.1 that the proposed response to the Boundary Commission for 

Wales on the 2018 Review of Parliamentary Constituencies in 
Wales – Initial proposals be agreed;

13.2 That it be noted that the Boundary Commission for Wales 
would be holding 5 public hearings as part of the review, and 
that the Carmarthenshire hearing had taken place on the 12th-
13th October at the Ivy Royal Hotel.

14. EXECUTIVE BOARD FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Executive Board, in accordance with the Council’s constitution, gave 
consideration to its Forward Work Programme prepared in liaison with all 
departments and the Executive Board Business Manager that highlighted the 
major policy and budgetary decisions to be taken over the next 12 months.  It was 

Page 15



noted that the programme would continue to be reviewed and published on a bi-
annual basis thereby ensuring an up to date programme was always in place.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the updated Forward Work Programme be 
approved for publication. 

________________________ __________________
CHAIR DATE

Page 16



EXECUTIVE BOARD
22ND DECEMBER 2016

MODERNISING EDUCATION PROGRAMME- PROPOSAL TO 
DISCONTINUE LLANGENNECH INFANT SCHOOL AND 

LLANGENNECH JUNIOR SCHOOL AND ESTABLISH 
LLANGENNECH COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL

Recommendations / key decisions required:

It is recommended that Executive Board:
1. Considers the submissions received to the Statutory Notice. (Objection Report 

attached)
2. Being satisfied that there are no other related proposals; that the statutory 

proposal has been consulted upon and published in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code and contains all the relevant information and, having 
considered the consultation document and consultation report, the objections and 
any responses to the notice supporting the proposal in the objection report, 
recommend to the County Council the implementation of the proposal as laid out 
in the Statutory Notice.

Reasons: To comply with statutory procedures and guidance in relation to school re-
organisation.
Relevant Scrutiny Committee Consulted: YES - Education & Children Scrutiny 
Committee 21st November 2016

The Education & Children Scrutiny Committee resolved:

1. That the report be received.

2. That being satisfied that there were no other related proposals; that the statutory 
proposal had been consulted upon and published in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code and contained all the relevant information and, having 
considered the consultation document and consultation report, the objections and 
any responses to the notice supporting the proposal in the objection report, it be 
recommended to the Executive Board that the proposal, as laid out in the 
Statutory Notice, be implemented.  

Executive Board Decision Required            YES 19th December 2016

Council Decision Required                           YES 18th January 2017

Executive Board Member Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Gareth Jones (Education & Children) 
Directorate:
Education & Children 
Name of Head of Service:
Gareth Morgans

Report Author: 
Simon Davies

Designations:

Acting Director of Education 
and Children’s Services

School Modernisation 
Manager

Tel Nos. / E-Mail Addresses:

01267 246450
EDGMorgans@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

01267 246471
SiDavies@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6

mailto:EDGMorgans@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:SiDavies@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

EXECUTIVE BOARD
22ND DECEMBER 2016

MODERNISING EDUCATION PROGRAMME - PROPOSAL TO 
DISCONTINUE LLANGENNECH INFANT SCHOOL AND 

LLANGENNECH JUNIOR SCHOOL AND ESTABLISH 
LLANGENNECH COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL

Background

Since the inception of the Modernising Education Programme, it has been set out to create 
Community Primary Schools to replace Infants and Junior Schools. Following the 
retirement of Llangennech Infant school’s Headteacher at the end of the Summer term 
2013 a soft federation has been in place with the Headteacher of Llangennech Junior 
School leading both settings.  On 24th September 2014, the Governing Bodies of both 
Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools resolved to pursue a formal 
federation as from April 2015.  

The Authority now wishes to proceed with a proposal to create a Community Primary 
school to replace Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools.  The details of 
the proposal are outlined below and in the attached Consultation Document.

The Local Authority currently offers full time learning provision for 4-11 year olds through 
the medium of Welsh and English at the Federated Llangennech Infants and Junior 
Schools. As part of the new 3-11 primary school that will include nursery provision, it is 
proposed to change the current linguistic categories of Llangennech Infant school (Dual 
Stream (DS)) and Llangennech Junior school (Dual Stream (DS)) to a new Welsh Medium 
(WM) language category school which will increase the provision of Welsh Medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and bilingualism in the Llangennech area.  It will ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector 
so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in Welsh and English as detailed in the 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) (2014-2017). 

Proposal
As a result of the small extension to the consultation period, the pre-election period and 
the high number of responses received during the consultation period; the dates for the 
proposal have changed. This was to ensure that sufficient time was allowed for people to 
express their views and that the school holiday period did not impede on the process.

 To discontinue Llangennech Infant school on 31st August 2017
 To discontinue Llangennech Junior school on 31st August 2017
 As from 1st September 2017, to establish a new 3-11 Welsh Medium (WM) 

language category Community Primary School with nursery provision (hereinafter 

Page 18



 called the ‘New School’) on the existing sites and buildings of the current 
Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools.  The current capacity of both 
schools will remain unchanged but will be reviewed and adjusted accordingly 
should the demands arise in the future.

In accordance with Executive Board’s instructions, a formal consultation exercise was 
undertaken between 25th January 2016 and 18th March 2016.  The results of the 
consultation exercise are contained in the attached Consultation Report and were 
presented to the ECS Scrutiny Committee and then to the Executive Board for 
consideration and determination on whether or not to publish a Statutory Notice.

In July 2016 approval was given by the Executive Board for the publication of the Statutory 
Notice. The Statutory Notice (attached) was published on 5th September 2016. The notice 
provided objectors with 28 days in which to forward their objections in writing to the 
Council. The Statutory Notice period was due to end on the 2nd October 2016. However, 
following a request from an interested party, the Director of Education and Children’s 
Services (RS) agreed to extend the statutory objection period by one week, until October 
9th 2016. A total of 1,418 submissions were received to the Statutory Notice.

The attached Objection Report which summarises the objections and the supportive 
comments received and the Local Authority’s responses to these submissions, has been 
presented to the ECS Scrutiny Committee and ultimately will be presented to the County 
Council for their determination.

This provides the ECS Scrutiny Committee and Executive Board the opportunity to offer 
comment and a recommendation to County Council whether or not to implement the 
proposal as laid out in the Statutory Notice.

Should the County Council agree to implement the proposal, Llangennech Infant and 
Llangennech Junior schools will be discontinued on the 31st August 2017 and a new 3-
11, Welsh Medium, Community Primary School will be established on 1st September 
2017.

Recommendation: 
Being satisfied that there are no other related proposals; that the statutory proposal has 
been consulted upon and published in accordance with the School Organisation Code 
and contains all the relevant information and, having considered the consultation 
document and consultation report, the objections and any responses to the notice 
supporting the proposal in the objection report, that the Executive Board recommend to 
the County Council the implementation of the proposal as laid out in the Statutory Notice.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?
YES:
Consultation Document
Consultation Report
Statutory Notice
Objection Report

Page 19



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.

Signed:   G. Morgans

S. Davies

Acting Director of Education and Children’s Services

School Modernisation Manager

Policy, Crime & Disorder 
and Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets 

YES YES YES NONE YES YES YES

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
Developments are consistent with the Authority’s Corporate Strategy, Children and Young 
People’s Plan and the Modernising Education Strategic Outline Programme.

National Policy Considerations

Welsh Government Welsh-Medium Education Strategy (2010)
In 2010 the Welsh Government published its national policy for developing Welsh medium 
education across the nation. The following extracts from the national strategy set out the 
Welsh Government’s views on the importance of Welsh medium education to outcomes 
for learners and to the ambition to develop bilingual citizens.

“Welsh medium education from the early years, with robust linguistic progression through 
every phase of education, offers the best conditions for developing future bilingual 
citizens.

A key focus is on supporting learners to achieve fluency in Welsh and English through 
Welsh medium education, from the early years onwards.

For children from non-Welsh speaking backgrounds, whose initial and main contact with 
Welsh is through school, this intensive Welsh medium provision is through a process of 
linguistic immersion.

Welsh medium education between the ages of three or four and approximately seven 
usually means delivering provision primarily through the medium of Welsh. At Key Stage 
2 English language skills are also developed though appropriate use of the language as 
a subject and medium. A key consideration is the nature of the linguistic balance between 
Welsh and English and the intensity of Welsh required in order for learners to reach 
fluency in both Welsh and English over time. It is generally accepted that at least around 
70% of curricular time should be through the medium of Welsh if learners are to acquire 
a sufficiently sound command of the language to enable them to use it across a broad 
range of contexts with confidence and fluency. The Welsh Assembly Government accepts 
this guiding principle for Welsh medium schools at primary and secondary level.

Page 20



Learners in Welsh medium settings achieve comparable outcomes in both Welsh and 
English first language, which suggests the success of the sector in developing natural 
bilingualism.
The advantages that bilingualism can bring are well documented and include the 
promotion of cognitive skills, increasing mental agility and broadening speakers’ range of 
cultural experiences. Research in Canada reveals that bilingualism enhances attention 
and cognitive control in children and older adults and in 2007 highlighted the impact of 
bilingualism on delaying the onset of dementia symptoms. Research findings published 
by the University of Edinburgh in 2009 revealed that speakers of two languages found it 
easier to focus on a range of tasks, blocking out potential distractions.

Welsh medium education from the early years, with robust linguistic progression through 
every phase of education, offers the best conditions for developing young people who are 
truly bilingual.”

The Government’s Strategy sets targets for local authorities to increase the proportion of 
seven year old children being taught through the medium of Welsh.

There is a clear expectation that all local authorities incorporate the provisions and 
requirements of the national strategy in their own local Welsh in Education Strategic Plans, 
which are on a statutory footing.

Welsh Government Welsh Language Strategy 2012 to 2017- 
A Living Language: A Language for Living
This national policy considers the conditions that are needed to promote a greater use of 
the Welsh language by children and young people in all aspects of their lives and proposes 
a set of high level actions to secure this goal.

The Strategy declares its aim as “to increase the provision of Welsh medium activities for 
children and young people and to increase their awareness of the value of the language” 
with the desired outcome being “children and young people using more Welsh”.

It includes the following statements related to education and schools:

“Over the last thirty years we have seen a considerable increase in the number of young 
people able to speak Welsh (from 14.9% of 3 to 14 year olds in 1971 to 37.2% in 2001). 
But these figures need to be treated with caution, since it is likely that over half of these 
are learning Welsh as a second language. As such, for many Welsh speaking children 
from homes without Welsh speaking parents/carers, the school provides one of the few 
opportunities for them to use the language.

Providing practical opportunities for children and young people to use Welsh ... the best 
way of developing a feeling of value towards using the language.

Among other factors ....the perceived value of the language as a skill for work ... important 
elements.

Page 21



We ... face challenges within the education system to ensure that children and young 
people continue to choose Welsh medium education when making choices at key stages 
of the education – between the primary and secondary sectors, and between the 
secondary sector and further or higher education. While the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy addresses these challenges, we believe that the success of those measures 
depends, to a great extent, on convincing children and young people of the value of Welsh, 
economically and culturally.”

Welsh Government – Increasing the Number of Communities where Welsh is the 
Main Language (December 2013)
In December 2013 the Welsh Government published the report of its Task and Finish 
Group that had been established to review the status of the Welsh language and advise 
on the actions required to regenerate the use of the language. The following brief 
statements from the report are relevant to the schools sector.

In his introduction the Group Chair declared “we call on the education system to be 
progressive ... so that all young people can become fluent and confident in using Welsh 
and English.”

Recommendations were made, with a particular focus upon Carmarthenshire and other 
targeted areas of Wales, for action to “increase the number and percentage of pupils who 
are fluent in Welsh and English by the time they leave school.”

Welsh Government – Draft Strategy for a Million Welsh Speakers by 2050
On the 1st August 2016 the First Minister and Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh 
Language, speaking at the national eisteddfod, launched a draft strategy to realise the 
Welsh Government’s vision of a million Welsh speakers by 2050.

The draft strategy identifies 6 key areas for action, one of which is education, for which 
the strategy declares “we need to see a significant increase in the number of people 
receiving Welsh-medium education and who have Welsh language skills. Early years 
provision is also essential, as the earlier a child comes into contact with the language, the 
more opportunity he or she has to become fluent”.

It also notes: “Because of the importance of education, ensuring there is a workforce that 
meets the need for Welsh-medium education and training is the starting point for creating 
more speakers. This means planning to support the training of teachers and learning 
assistants, expanding sabbatical schemes for the present workforce, and significantly 
increasing the number of workers in the childcare and early years sectors”.

The draft strategy establishes an objective to:

“create a workforce with the appropriate skills to educate and provide services through the 
medium of Welsh” and to achieve his by:

 “Significantly increasing the number of teachers and early years practitioners who 
are able to teach through the medium of Welsh;

 Increasing the number of Welsh medium childcare places, to start as many children 
as possible on the journey to having two languages”.

Page 22



and an objective to:

 “significantly increase the number of children and young people educated though 
the medium of Welsh or bilingually in order to create more speakers” and to achieve 
this by:

 “Increasing capacity to provide Welsh-medium education by supporting local 
authorities to plan to increase provision through their Welsh in Education Strategic 
Plans (WESPs);

 Moving schools along the language continuum to increase the availability of Welsh-
medium school places;

 Meeting increasing demand for Welsh-medium education through capital 
investment where appropriate;

 Expanding Welsh language immersion provision for latecomers, based on the 
latest evidence, and ensure that provision is consistent;

 Teaching Welsh as one language in order to create a continuum to improve 
progression and raise standards”.

The draft strategy declares that “the education system will be key in creating future Welsh 
speakers”, therefore “our priority over the next five years will be to increase the system’s 
capacity to meet the need to expand Welsh-medium education and improve the way 
Welsh is taught in our English-medium schools”.

Estyn
In November 2014 Estyn published a document entitled “Linguistic Progression and 
Standards in Ten Bilingual Welsh Schools” which reported the findings of its review into 
the linguistic progression of pupils in Key Stage 4 and identifying and sharing good 
practice in relation to bilingual education.

Included amongst the findings of the review are the following conclusions:

 “In general, pupils who follow the most additional GCSE courses through the 
medium of Welsh have the best ability to discuss and write in Welsh”.

 “Pupils have the misconception that studying subjects through the medium of 
Welsh can hinder their academic success. In fact, pupils who follow their GCSE 
course through the medium of Welsh achieve as well as, if not better than, those 
who follow most of their GCSE course through the medium of English”.

Local Policy Considerations

Carmarthenshire County Council Welsh Language Development Strategy
In 2013 Carmarthenshire County Council established a cross-party group of elected 
members to review the status of the Welsh language in the county following the outcome 
of the 2011 Census of the Population, which recorded a significant decline in the 
proportion of the population with Welsh language skills.

The group published a comprehensive report in early 2014 and at its meeting on the 15th 
April 2014 the County Council formally accepted the recommendations made by the group 
for the development of the Welsh language in the county.

Page 23



The County Council adopted a total of 73 recommendations made by the group, including 
21 that are directly related to the education service, including the following:

“The County Council works closely with the staff and governing bodies of 
Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for them to become Welsh schools.”

All of the schools related recommendations were integrated within the Carmarthenshire 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan.

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (2014 – 2017)
Section 85(1) of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 requires the 
County Council to produce a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan for its area, keep the Plan 
under review and, if necessary revise it. Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan has been adopted by the County Council and approved by the 
Welsh Government in accordance with Section 85(2) of the Act.

Section 2 of the Plan sets out a series of actions to realise the Council’s objectives for the 
development of the Welsh language in its schools.

For Outcome 1, to increase the number of 7 year old learners who are educated through 
the medium of Welsh, the Plan includes a specific action to “target 3 dual 
stream/transitional schools to transfer to being Welsh schools by 2017”.

There are also targets to increase the percentage of learners achieving Level 4 Plus at 
the end of Key Stage 2, i.e. increasing fluency, and to increase the number and 
percentage of learners from Welsh/bilingual primary schools transferring to 
Welsh/bilingual secondary schools.

2. Legal
Appropriate consultation will need to be initiated in accordance with the relevant 
statutory procedures.

3. Finance
Revenue implications will be catered for within the Local Management of Schools Fair 
Funding Scheme.

4. Risk Management Issues
The proposal to close Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools and open a 
new Llangennech Community Primary School and also change the language category 
from Dual Stream to Welsh Medium may impact on the demand for school places at the 
school and other schools in the Llanelli area.  The situation will be monitored as part of 
the Schools Admission Process and ongoing data forecasting and analysis through the 
Authority’s Modernising Education Programme.

5. Staffing Implications
Staffing implications will be addressed in accordance with the County Council’s 
Redeployment Policy and Procedures.

Page 24



6. Physical Assets
A new Double Mobile classroom has been installed on the current Llangennech Infant 
school site.  This will provide the school with additional accommodation but it will not 
increase the capacity of the new school.  The situation will be monitored and will review 
the situation if the pupil figures continue to rise.

CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:

Signed:   G. Morgans

S. Davies

Acting Director of Education and Children’s Services

School Modernisation Manager

1. Scrutiny Committee – The Scrutiny Committee were formally notified of the Statutory 
Notice period. The committee were asked to consider and comment on the findings of the 
statutory notice period on 21st November 2016.

2. Local Member(s) – Local members were formally notified of the Statutory Notice period. 
Submissions were received from Cllr. Gwyneth Thomas, Cllr. Gwyn Hopkins. Submissions 
were also received from Cllr. Cefin Campbell and Cllr. J. S. Williams

3. Community / Town Council – The community council were notified of the formal 
Statutory Notice period. Submissions were received by the Community Council.

4. Relevant Partners – Were notified of the Statutory Notice period.

5. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – Teaching and non-teaching 
unions were notified of the Statutory Notice period. 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan 2014-
2017

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/welshmededstrat/?
lang=en 

MEP Annual Report 
2013/14 and 
Programme 2014/15

www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk County Council Agenda 14th January 2015

Page 25

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/welshmededstrat/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/welshmededstrat/?lang=en
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT FOR EDUCATION & CHILDREN 
 

Our Vision.....Carmarthenshire is a community where children are 
safe and nurtured and learners of all ages are supported to achieve 

their full educational potential 
 
 

Future Primary Education Provision for Children 
Residing in the Llangennech area 

 
 

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 
 
 

Robert Sully 
Director of Education & Children’s Services 

 
 

 

 

 

 Page 27



 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you require this information in large print, 
Braille or on audiotape please contact the 
Department for Education & Children  
01267 246474. 

School Modernisation Section 

Simon Davies, School Modernisation Manager (tel. 01267 246471) 

Status of Document :  Publicly available 

 

Page 28



 

2 

 

 

Version History 

Version Comments Date 

0.1 Initial draft for consideration 23/11/15 

0.2 Further amendments to initial draft 14/12/15 

   

 

 

  

Page 29



 

3 

 

 

Foreword 

 

As part of its statutory obligation to keep the number and type of school 
places under review, the County Council has adopted a wide-ranging 
programme designed to improve school buildings and enhance 
opportunities for learning.  The strategy reflects the vision and policies 
established by the County Council which embraces the requirement to 
deliver services, to clear standards – covering both cost and quality – by the 
most economic and effective means.  In our drive to continually improve on 
the services made available to all learners, we must maximise the finite 
resources available to the Council, and continue to work in partnership with 
all those who have a contribution to make to the process of learning and the 
well being of both children and their families.  Schools of the future will need 
to serve as a focus for a wide range of services dedicated to serving the 
needs of the community through a joined up approach.   
 
Carmarthenshire is blessed with many very able teachers but the continuing 
changes to the curriculum places a heavy demand on their skills to meet the 
wide ranging demands of all children.  Although the processes of learning, 
and skills of teaching, are extremely important, deep subject knowledge on 
the part of the teacher is essential if learners with their various gifts in 
different areas are to discover and develop their talents to the full. 
 
Schools designed to meet current demands are expected to provide a broad 
and balanced curriculum through high quality and inspirational teaching.  In 
the planning of new provision it will be important to ensure that our schools 
are properly equipped to enhance opportunities for social inclusion, 
sustainable development, equal opportunities and bilingualism.  In practical 
terms we need to ensure that provision reflects the changing patterns of 
population, with schools based in the right location with accommodation and 
facilities fit to serve the needs of all learners in the twenty first century. 
 
Consultation will follow the guidelines established by the Welsh  
Government and will involve identified interested parties.  The information 
set out in this document is intended to clarify the proposals for your school 
and support the consultation process. 
 

 

Robert A Sully 
Director of Education & Children’s Services 
 
 
 
  
 

                     

Page 30



 

4 

 

 

Contents 
 

No. Subject 
Page 

 

1. Introduction 
 

5 

2. Context – Present Arrangements (Status Quo) 
 

5 

3. Evaluation of Present Arrangements  
 

15 

4. Objectives 
 

18 

5. Options for Change 
 

19 

6. 
 
The Proposal 25 

7. 
 
Consultation and Statutory Process 30 

8. Appendix A – Community Impact Assessment 
 

34 

 
9. Appendix B – Welsh Language Impact Assessment 36 

10. Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment 
 

38 

11. Appendix D – Area Profile 
 

45 

 
12. Appendix E – Glossary of Abbreviations 49 

13. Appendix F – Response Pro-forma 
 

50 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 

5 

 

 

1. Introduction 

  
The Authority has a legal responsibility to review the number and type of schools 
it has in the area and whether or not it is making the best use of the resources 
and facilities to deliver the opportunities that children deserve. 
 
As part of this process the Council has published its vision on how it sees the 
future for all of the primary schools in the County and this includes consulting on 
the future shape of education in the Llangennech Infant school and Llangennech 
Junior school area.  The proposals for change included in this document are in 
line with that long-term objective. 
 
As reported in the MEP (Modernising Education Programme) Annual Report 
2013/14 and Programme 2014/15 the intention of the Authority is to review the 
future provision of education in the Llangennech area. 
 

 This document seeks to stimulate the process of consultation by explaining the 
Authority’s preferred option for the future provision of primary education for the 
pupils of Llangennech Infant school and Llangennech Junior school.  The 
document also highlights why other options considered are not the preferred 
option as well as offering an opportunity for consultees to put forward any 
comments, observations or alternative proposals they wish to be considered. 

 
 Consultation on this proposal will follow the guidelines established by the Welsh 

Government as stated in the School Organisation Code (2013) and will involve 
identified interested parties, including school governors, school staff, parents and 
pupils. 

 
 It is intended that the formal changes be implemented from January 2017. 
  
 The main purpose of this document is to provide information and to gather the 

views of identified interested parties.  You may wish to make use of the attached 
response pro-forma included in Appendix F on page 49 of this document for any 
response or by E-mail to: DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk .  

  
 

2. Context – Present Arrangements (Status Quo) 

2.1  Background 
 

The County Council has a legal duty to look at the number and type of schools 
it has in Carmarthenshire and make sure that they are located in the right 
place, have the right facilities for the future and have the right resources to 
deliver education and learning for pupils.  Changes in the curriculum and the 
way in which children will be taught in the future means that we also have to 
look at the existing buildings to meet the future needs of the pupils. 
 
It is an ongoing objective of the Authority to create a Community Primary 
School to replace Infant and Junior schools and take advantage of an 
opportunity when a Headteacher of an Infant or Junior school decides to retire 

Page 32

mailto:DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

6 

 

 

or leave a post.  Community primary schools are able to provide children with a 
continuous stream of education, thus removing the disruption that can be 
caused by moving schools at an early age. 

 
Following the retirement of the Llangennech Infants school Headteacher at the 
end of the Summer 2013 academic year a soft federation has already taken place 
with the Headteacher of Llangennech Junior school currently responsible for both 
schools.  On the 24th September 2014 the Governing bodies of both Llangennech 
Infants school and Llangennech Junior school resolved to pursue a formal 
federation as from April 2015. 
 
Federation is seen as an important step towards merging the two schools to   
become one primary school. 

 
In Llangennech the local Authority are currently able to offer as a 4-11 primary 
school part time learning provision through the medium of Welsh and English.  
As part of the new 3 – 11 primary school that will include nursery provision, it is 
proposed to change the current linguistic categories of Llangennech Infant 
school (Dual Stream – (DS) and Llangennech Junior school (Dual Stream – (DS) 
to a new Welsh Medium – (WM) language category school which will increase 
the provision of Welsh Medium education in Carmarthenshire and will ensure 
that bilingualism is increased in the Llangennech area.  It will ensure linguistic 
continuity from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector 
so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in Welsh and English as 
detailed in the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) (2014-2017). 

 

2.2  School / Schools which may be affected by this proposal 

The catchment areas of Llangennech Infant and Llangennech Junior schools are 
surrounded by the following Community Primary schools: 

Hendy Primary school, Carmarthenshire (DS) 
Bryn Primary school, Carmarthenshire (EM) 
Bynea Primary school, Carmarthenshire (EM) 
Ysgol Gymraeg Brynsierfel school, Carmarthenshire 
Ysgol Gynradd Llannon, Carmarthenshire (WM) 
Swiss Valley Primary school, Carmarthenshire (EW) 
Ysgol Gymraeg Dewi Sant, Carmarthenshire (WM) 
Pentip, Church in Wales VA Primary School, Carmarthenshire 

 

  

Page 33



 

7 

 

 

2.3  General School Information 
 

Name of 
School 

Type of School Language 
Category 

Admission 
Number 

Capacity Jan 2015 PLASC 
Number 

FTE (inc Nursery) 

Age 
Range 

Hendy Community 
Primary 

DS 25 197 158.5 4 - 11 

Bryn Community 
Primary 

EM 30 246 215 3 - 11 

Bynea Community 
Primary 

EM 23 167 131 3 - 11 

Brynsierfel Community 
Primary 

WM 30 240 201.5 3 - 11 

Llannon Community 
Primary 

WM 11 91 106 4 -11 

Swiss 
Valley 

Community 
Primary 

EW 30 243 224 4 - 11 

Dewi Sant Community 
Primary 

WM 60 420 455 3 - 11 

Pentip 
 

Voluntary 
Aided 

EM 27 218 182 4 - 11 

 
PLASC 2015 Data (Ages as at 31/08/14) 
FTE – Full Time Equivalent (part time pupils counted as 0.5) 

 
The following diagram outlines the catchment areas of schools 
surrounding Llangennech Junior school and Llangennech Infant school   
 

 
  

In arriving at a preferred option for the pupils of Llangennech Infants and 
Llangennech Junior schools the authority considered the schools named above 
but discounted them for the reasons given in section 5 of this consultation 
document, therefore the preferred option for the Authority is to discontinue 
provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior school and 
establish a new primary school on the former Llangennech Infants and 
Llangennech Junior school sites.  As these changes won’t effect the pupils 
education, it has been decided to implement these changes from January 2017. 

 
 
 
2.4   Pupil Numbers 

 

Page 34



 

8 

 

 

 
The table and graph below shows pupil numbers for Llangennech Infant school 
and Llangennech Junior school for January 2015 and the previous four years. 
 

 

 
PLASC 2015 Data (Ages at 31/08/14) 
FTE – full Time Equivalent (part time pupils counted as 0.5) 

 

 
 

 
2.5  Pupil Projections   
 
The following table shows the actual pupil total and pupil projections for 
Llangennech Infant school and Llangennech Junior school for the next five years. 

 
 

 Actual 
FTE 

Projected Pupil Total (FTE) 

 Jan  Jan Jan Jan Jan Jan 

0

100

200

300

400

500

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Pupil Numbers for Llangennech Infants and Llangennech 
Juniors from January 2011 to January 2015

Llangennech Infants

Llangennech Juniors

Total

Llangennech 
infant School  

3yrs 
(PT) 3yrs 

4yrs 
(PT) 4yrs 5yrs 6yrs 7yrs 8yrs 9yrs 10yrs 

Total 
Head 
Count 

Total 
(FTE) 

Jan-15 0 38 0 54 61 63 0 0 0 0 216 216 

Jan-14 0 27 0 59 61 72 1 0 0 0 220 220 

Jan-13 0 33 0 59 72 54 0 0 0 0 218 218 

Jan-12 0 30 0 72 51 55 0 0 0 0 208 208 

Jan-11 0 47 0 54 57 50 0 0 0 0 208 208 

Llangennech 
Junior School 

3yrs 
(PT) 3yrs 

4yrs 
(PT) 4yrs 5yrs 6yrs 7yrs 8yrs 9yrs 10yrs 

Total 
Head 
Count 

Total 
(FTE) 

Jan-15 0 0 0 0 0 0 70 55 55 50 230 230 

Jan-14 0 0 0 0 0 0 56 52 48 46 202 202 

Jan-13 0 0 0 0 0 1 53 47 43 56 200 200 

Jan-12 0 0 0 0 0 0 48 42 55 55 200 200 

Jan-11 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 54 54 46 194 194 

Page 35



 

9 

 

 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

 
Llangennech Infant 216  212 209 207 205 204 

 
Llangennech Junior 230  243 249 253 241 235 

 
Total 446  455 458 460 446 439 

 
The table below provides an analysis of the implications of accommodating the 
Llangennech Infant and Junior pupils at the new school.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
* FTE –  Full Time Equivalent 

      ** All  4 – 11 primary schools capacities revised from September 2015 
 

As can be seen from the above table there isn’t enough capacity at the school in 
2015 to accommodate current Llangennech pupils.  However, as the primary 
capacities were revised in September 2015, the capacity of both Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Juniors were increased.  As a result of the increase in 
capacity at both schools, projections indicate that the schools will be at or near 
capacity from 2016 to 2018. 
 
Arrangements are in place to install a Double Mobile classroom on the current 
Llangennech Infant school site.  This will provide the school with additional 
accommodation but it will not increase the capacity of the new school.  We will 
monitor the situation and will review the situation if the pupil figures continue to 
rise. 
 

2.6  Pupil Capacity Information   
 
The methodology for the calculation of school capacities was changed in 2006 
following the implementation of new Welsh Assembly guidelines “Measuring the 
Capacity of Schools in Wales” (MCSW) which was implemented by the Authority 
in 2008.  Prior to 2008, the More Open Enrolment methodology was used.  Spare 

 

Actual Pupil 
Total (FTE*) 

Jan 2015 
Projections – Pupil Total (FTE*) 

 Jan 2015  Jan 2016 Jan 2017 Jan 2018 
Jan 
2019 

Jan 
2020 

Current capacity at 
Llangennech Infants 171 

 

221** 221** 221** 221** 221** 
Current capacity at 
Llangennech Junior 223  240** 240** 240** 240** 240** 

Total   (Combined) 394  461 461 461 461 461 

Llangennech Infants 216  212 209 207 205 204 

Llangennech Junior 230  243 249 253 241 235 

Total projected numbers 446  455 458 460 446 439 

Surplus / over capacity + 52  6 3 1 15 22 
 

Page 36



 

10 

 

 

places numbers for Llangennech Infant and Llangennech Junior primary schools 
are shown in the following table. 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
As can be seen in the above table, between January 2011 and January 2014 
there was a significant level of surplus places in Llangennech Junior school (9-
13%).  Whereas Llangennech Infants school is over capacity.  This trend 
changed in 2015 as both schools no longer have any surplus places and 
Llangennech Infants school continues to remain high in pupil numbers.   

 
2.7  School Attendance Data 
 

Improving attendance is a national priority, if children are not in school, they 
cannot learn. 
 
The Authority analyses and shares data for every primary school on a half-
termly basis to help schools to maintain a focus on attendance.  The analysis 
uses data for pupils in years 1 to 6 and follows the same approach as the 
statutory attendance return each September.  The most recent attendance data 
for Llangennech Infant and Llangennech Junior schools are shown in the 
following table: 
 

School Attendance 
Data 

2013/14 

Attendance 
Data 

2014/15 
(Autumn 

Term) 

Above / 
Below 
Target 

Target 
2014/15 

Target 
2015/16 

Llangennech 

Infants 
94.7 95.7 0.2 95.5 95.5 

Llangennech 

Junior 
95.3 96.1 0.5 95.6 95.9 

 
 
2.8 Building Facilities 
 

 MSCW Capacity 

 Jan-11 Jan-12 Jan-13 Jan-14 Jan-15 

Capacity Llangennech Infants 171 171 171 171 171 

Pupil Numbers 208 208 218 220 216 

Surplus -37 -37 -47 -49 -45 

% Surplus -22% -22% -27% -29% -26% 

            

Capacity Llangennech Juniors 223 223 223 223 223 

Pupil Numbers 194 200 200 202 230 

Surplus 29 23 23 21 -7 

% Surplus 13% 10% 10% 9% -3% 

 

Page 37



 

11 

 

 

The following information was taken from the most recent property building 
survey carried out at the school in 2009: 
 

2.8.1 Llangennech Infants Primary School 
 

Llangennech CP Infants school is situated just off the B4297 Pontardulais Road 
in the village of Llangennech in Carmarthenshire, approximately 3 miles from 
Llanelli. 
 
There are three buildings on site: Block One is the main school and Blocks Two 
and Three are temporary classroom structures.  Block One is of traditional 
construction and was opened in 1975, with a number of small extensions and 
internal alterations having been carried out since, the most recent a conservatory 
extension which was reaching completion at the time of survey. 

 
The building is of brick construction beneath a pitched concrete tiled roof which 
is in good condition.  The new conservatory has a translucent sheet roof.  The 
original timber doors, windows and fascias have been replaced with white UPVC 
units, and there is a recently built external covered way on the route to the main 
entrance. 
 
Externally, there is a car park, playground, grassed areas, play houses, play 
equipment, stores and garden areas. 
 
As part of the National 21st Century School Programme a survey of all schools in 
Carmarthenshire was completed on behalf of the Authority.  Llangennech Infants 
Primary school scored the following ratings; 
 
Condition B – Reasonable   
 
Suitability B – Reasonable 
 
2.8.2   Llangennech Junior Primary School 
 
Llangennech CP Junior School is situated on a sloping site in the village of 
Llangennech in Carmarthenshire.  It lies between the A4138 to the north and 
the B4297 to the south, and the school is on the eastern edge of the village,  
approximately 3 miles from the centre of Llanelli.  
 
There are two blocks on site.  Block One, the main school building, was built in 
the 1950’s and is a single storey structure with a basement containing the boiler 
house and two storage rooms, of brick construction beneath a combination of flat 
and shallow pitched felted roofs.  The central corridors are lower than the 
surrounding rooms, which has in the past led to problems with water damage.  
These have been overcome and many of the original flat roofs are now shallow 
pitched.  A large number of the original single metal windows and doors have 
been replaced with double glazed UPVC units. 
 
Block Two is the sports hall building and is also a single storey structure of 
rendered brick construction beneath felted roofs.  It is understood that the sports 
hall was re roofed around 2000 and the classroom, boiler house and store areas 

Page 38



 

12 

 

 

were roofed in 2009.  The low level windows and doors are UPVC double glazed 
units, and are high level profiled glazed units to the sports hall. 
 
There was no evidence of water damage to ceilings in Block One, and the flat 
and shallow pitched felted roofs are being suitably maintained and repaired as 
necessary. 
 
The flat roofs of Block Two have been recovered in recent years. 
 
Externally, there is a car park, playground, grassed areas, play houses, play 
equipment, stores and garden areas. 
 
As part of the National 21st Century School Programme a survey of all schools in 
Carmarthenshire was completed on behalf of the Authority.  Llangennech Junior 
Primary school scored the following ratings; 
 
Condition C – Poor     
 
Suitability B – Reasonable  
 

2.9 National School Categorisation System 
 
The Minister for Education and Skills announced the introduction of the national 
School Categorisation System in September 2014.  The system is not purely data-
driven but also takes into account the quality of leadership and teaching and 
learning in our schools.  The system will not take the place of Estyn reports, Estyn 
will continue to inspect schools and provide an external check on the national 
school categorisation system when inspecting. 
 
The new system evaluates and assesses schools and places them in a support 
category using the following information: 
 

 A range of performance measures provided by the Welsh Government. 

 Robust self-evaluation by the school on its capacity to improve in relation 
to leadership and teaching and learning. 

 Assessment of the school’s self evaluation by challenge advisers in the 
regional consortia, agreed with the local authority. 

  
The new categorisation system will give a clear and fair picture of a school’s 
progress.  There is a three step process in generating a category for a school, 
firstly after the performance data and self-evaluation have been analysed a draft 
support category is generated for each school.  This category is discussed with 
the school by regional consortia and then agreed with the local authority. 
 
The table below summarises the data for Llangennech Infant school and 
Llangennech Junior schools; 
 

  

Page 39



 

13 

 

 

National School Categorisation System – Data 2014 
 

School Standards 
Group 

Improvement 
Capacity 

Support 
Category 

Llangennech 
Infants 

 
2 A Green 

Llangennech Junior 
 

2 A Green 

 
As can be seen from the table above, Llangennech Infant and Llangennech Junior 
schools have been categorised in the Green category reported as highly effective 
schools which are well run, have strong leadership and are clear about their 
priorities for improvement. 
 

2.10 Estyn Reports 
 

2.10.1 Llangennech Infants School 
 
As part of a national programme of school inspection, Estyn commissions reviews 
of all schools.  The latest was undertaken in June 2015 and consultees may 
access the findings either via the Estyn website at www.estyn.gov.wales or you 
may request a copy from the Local Authority (for which a charge in respect of 
photocopying may be made). 
 
The main findings of the report 
 
The Estyn Insepction report undertaken in June 2015 stated that Llangennech 
Infant school is a good school.  The headteacher’s firm leadership places a clear 
strategic direction for the school’s development.  He has high expectations and a 
purposeful vision, which are shared successfully with staff and governors.  He 
allocates responsibilities effectively and has a key role in promoting purposeful co-
operation and sharing good practice.  Members of the senior management team 
fulfil their responsibilities effectively.  Teachers are committed and enthusiastic 
and all staff co-operate very closely as a team.  Governors have an increasing 
understanding of the school’s strengths and of the areas that need to be 
developed further. 
 
Pupil’s behaviour is very good in the classroom and around the school.  Nearly all 
pupils feel safe at the school and know that they can turn to any member of staff 
for advice and support.  They have positive attitudes to living healthily and they 
understand the importance of eating a balanced diet and taking regular physical 
exercise.  The school council is well-established, and members understand their 
roles clearly.  They make a valuable contribution to decisions at the school. 
 
The school creates a successful Welsh ethos and provides various opportunities 
to ensure that pupils develop a positive attitude towards the Welsh language.  
Taking part in the local Eisteddfod and Urdd Eisteddfod expands pupils’ experices 
succuessfully.  Education for global citizenship is good.  Pupils have a good 
knowledge of the wider world by learning about and supporting overseas charities.   
 

Page 40

http://www.estyn.gov.wales/


 

14 

 

 

There is an effective working relationship between all staff and pupils.  This results 
in a positive learning environment in every class.  Staff have a sound 
understanding of the curriculum and they question pupils effectively to confirm 
their knowledge and understanding and to extend their ideas. 
 
The school has a strong relationship with parents with an open and welcoming 
ethos that develops effective partnerships with all the members of the school 
community. 
 
The inspection judgements awarded are shown in the following table: 
 

Key Questions Inspection Judgement 

Key Question 1:  How good are the 
outcomes? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement. 

Key Question 2:  How good is 
provision? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement. 

Key Question 3:  How good are 
leadership and management? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement. 

 

2.10.2  Llangennech Junior School 
 
As part of a national programme of school inspection, Estyn commissions reviews 
of all schools.  The latest was undertaken in December 2010 and consultees may 
access the findings either via the Estyn website at www.estyn.gov.wales or you 
may request a copy from the Local Authority (for which a charge in respect of 
photocopying may be made). 
 
The main findings of the report 
 
The Estyn Inspection report undertaken in December 2010 stated that 
Llangennech Junior school is a good school.  It is very well led by a committed 
headteacher, who has a clear vision regarding the school’s long term strategy.  
The senior management team and the governors identify standards thoroughly 
and develop strategies to deal with a range of matters.  As a result, new policies 
have led to a significant improvement in attendance levels, as well as in pupils 
behaviour.  
 
Pupils behaviour is excellent throughout the school.  They are polite and 
affectionate and are respectful and caring towards each other.  Pupils feel safe at 
school, and they all have a positive attitude towards eating healthily and enjoy 
physical activities which includes the eco council and the school council.  In years 
3 and 4 pupils benefit from Wake Up, Shake Up sessions outside, which improve 
their concentration levels and their general fitness. 
 
Education for sustainable development and global citizenship has been developed 
thoroughly in work in science and geography and also in the activities in the eco 
council.  The school’s outdoor environment, including the vegetable garden and 
the outdoor learning areas, is developing as a valuable contribution to the pupils 
experiences. 

Page 41

http://www.estyn.gov.wales/


 

15 

 

 

 
The school succeeds in developing a good ethos of Welshness.  There are 
distinctive displays in classrooms and in corridors promoting the pupils ability to 
develop the Welsh language and positive attitudes towards Welshness.  
 
The school has very strong links with the local community giving pupils a sense of 
belonging.  
 
There are highly effective transition arrangements for pupils who transfer from the 
Infants school. 
 
The inspection judgements awarded are shown in the following table: 
 

Key Questions Inspection Judgement 

Key Question 1:  How good are the 
outcomes? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement 

Key Question 2:  How good is 
provision? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement 

Key Question 3:  How good are 
leadership and management? 

Good – Many strengths and no 
important areas requiring significant 
improvement 

 
NB: The four-point scale used to represent the main judgements in this report is as follows: 
 
1. Excellent – Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice. 
2. Good – Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement. 
3. Adequate – Strengths outweigh areas for improvement. 
4. Unsatisfactory – Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths. 
 
 

3.  Evaluation of Present Arrangements  

3.1 Quality and standards in education 
 

3.1.1 Outcomes (standards and wellbeing) 
 
The new Llangennech Community Primary school would provide pupils currently 
being educated at Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools with 
access to a school that has good standards and provision, under the excellent 
leadership of a strong Management Team and an effective and committed 
Governing Body. 
 
There will be no impact on the ability of schools likely to be effected by the 
proposals at the Foundation Phase or any other Key Stage. 
 
Estyn in June 2015 and December 2010, judged standards at Llangennech Infants 
school and Llangennech Junior school to be good, and these standards have been 
maintained since the previous inspections and standards raised further in certain 
subjects. 
 

Results in the 2014 national tests were as follows: 

Page 42



 

16 

 

 

Llangennech Infants 

 The Foundation Phase Indicator has been in the upper quartile and above the 
family average for the past three years.  

 The results of national tests are in line with these teacher assessments and 
provide further evidence of high standards at the school e.g. in 2014 the 
percentage scoring 85+ in all tests was in quartile 2, and the percentage 
scoring 115+ in all tests was in quartile 1.  

 
Llangennech Juniors 

 There is a pattern of standards being raised in all subjects, and the core 
subject indicator has been benchmarked above the median and the family 
average for the past two years. 

 The results in national tests further provide evidence of the good standards at 
the school as nearly all indicators for all subjects across Years 3 – 6 in 2014 
were benchmarked above the median.  

 The school provides a rich, varied and successful programme of extra-
curricular activities and these are of a very high standard e.g. winner of Songs 
of Praise Choir of the Year 2015, the National Urdd Eisteddfod 2015, finalists 
in Côr Cymru 2015 and Dyfed Cross Country winners, Welsh Government 
Entrepreneur winners and County rugby and netball winners. 

 
3.1.2   Provision - Llangennech Infants school 
 
Llangennech Infants School is a dual-stream school that offers Welsh and English 
medium education in two separate streams.  Bilingual education is provided in 
both reception classes, and then pupils transfer either to the Welsh stream or the 
English stream. 
 
In June 2015, Estyn judged the quality of teaching to be good.  Internal and Local 
Authority monitoring shows that this quality of teaching has been maintained and 
further improved as the school has responded to the issues identified in the school 
development plan.  The provision for pupils who have ALN (Additional Learning 
Needs) is effective.  Under the clear leadership of the co-ordinator, the school 
identifies pupils who need additional learning support at an early stage.  Support 
staff make a very positive contribution to the development of these pupils.  The 
school’s arrangements for safeguarding pupils meet requirements and are not a 
cause for concern. 
 
3.1.3   Provision - Llangennech Junior school 
 
Llangennech Junior School is a dual-stream school that offers Welsh and English 
medium education.  In December 2010, Estyn judged the quality of teaching to be 
good/excellent.  Internal and Local Authority monitoring shows that this quality of 
teaching has been maintained and further improved as the school has responded 
to the issues identified in the school development plan.  
 
With an increased team of teachers the proposal will provide improved and 
enhanced pastoral arrangements and targeted support for particular groups of 
pupils which in turn will enable the school to deliver a wider range of specific 
programmes to support learning.  The provision for pupils with ALN will be 
strengthened to provide a wide range of specialism in areas where it is needed. 
 

Page 43



 

17 

 

 

3.1.4   Leadership and Management - Federation 
 
From April 2015 the Governing bodies of both Llangennech Infants and 
Llangennech Junior schools resolved to pursue a formal federation.  It is very well 
led by a committed headteacher, who has a clear vision regarding the school’s 
long term strategy. 
 
This proposal will also offer greater opportunities for staff development including 
the opportunity to develop their skills over the whole primary age curriculum. 

 

3.2 Need for places and the impact on accessibility of schools 
 
The County Council has considered the sufficiency of places and the likely 
demand for places in the future. 

 
3.3 Resourcing of education and other financial implications 
 

3.3.1 Surplus Places         
 
As can be seen from the table in section 2.6 there are no surplus places at either 
Llangennech Infants or Llangennech Junior schools as at January 2015 . As stated 
in the School Organisation Code (2013) document published by Welsh 
Government where there is more than 10% surplus in an area, local authorities 
should review their provision and should make proposals for school reorganisation 
if it will improve the effectiveness and efficiency of provision.  This is especially 
important where individual schools have ‘significant’ levels of surplus places of 
25% or more (as defined in the Welsh Government Circular 21/2011).  
 
If this proposal is implemented and to support and suitably accommodate the 
additional requirements of the school and the projected pupil numbers within the 
Llangennech area, arrangements are currently in place to install a Double Mobile 
classroom on the current Llangennech Infant school site.  This will provide the 
school with additional accommodation but will not increase the current capacity of 
the new school.  The additional accommodation will help the school manage 
numbers and provide them with extra space whilst they still have the current 
English stream pupils at the school. 
 
3.3.2 Transport costs 
 
If the proposal is implemented there would be no additional cost to transport pupils 
to the new school. 
 
3.3.3 Capital costs / Capital Receipts 
 
In the short term and with the installation of additional mobile classroom there will 
be sufficient accommodation on the Llangennech School site to accommodate the 
current pupils of Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools.  In the 
longer term it is planned to review the current capacity and adjust accordingly 
should the demands arise in the future.  Llangennech is currently part of the Band 
C element of the Council’s 21st Century Schools Programme. 
 
3.3.4 School Budgets 

Page 44



 

18 

 

 

 
Llangennech Infants School 
 
Based on 2015/16 data the budget cost per pupil is £3,668 which is £71 below the 
county average of £3,739. 
 
Llangennech Junior School 
 
Based on 2015/16 data the budget cost per pupil is £3,356 which is £383 below 
the county average of £3,739. 
 

4.  Objectives 

Our vision in Carmarthenshire is to provide viable, sustainable and efficient schools 
which are fit for purpose for the 21st Century with the right school in the right place for 
current and future pupils ensuring access to high quality learning opportunities for all 
children.  Our long term aim as part of our 21st Century Schools Programme is to 
create school learning environments that meet the needs of the communities and 
provide the best learning provision for the area. 
 
The mission of our Modernising Education Programme is to: 
 

“transform the network of nursery, primary and secondary schools 
serving the county into a strategically and operationally effective 
resource that meets current and future need for school based and 
associated community focused education, where appropriate investing 
in the development and improvement of buildings, infrastructure and 
spaces, so that schools are appropriately located, designed, 
constructed or adopted to foster the sustainable development of the 
people and communities of Carmarthenshire.” 

 
The strategic aims of our Modernising Education Programme are to: 
 

 Develop a schools network that is educationally sustainable and resource 
efficient for the long term. 
 

 Develop a structure of provision so that every learning setting is capable of 
providing a high quality education to all of its registered learners, either as an 
individual institution or as part of a formal federation or collaboration with other 
settings or providers. 
 

 Develop infrastructure at all schools that is equipped for learning in the 21st 
century and supports the achievement of core objectives for raising educational 
standards and maintaining them at high levels of performance. 
 

 Deliver a strategic approach to capital investment, integrated with a programme 
for the rationalisation of provision across the schools network to effectively 
match supply with demand. 
 

 Rebuild, remodel, refurbish or modernise all school settings that are to be 
retained for the long-term, so that they conform as closely as practicable with 
adopted design standards. 

Page 45



 

19 

 

 

 

 Contribute to the achievement of wider policy objectives, for example, 
community regeneration and renewal, healthy lifestyles, etc, through the 
development of appropriate enabling infrastructure. 
 

 Improve the efficiency and educational viability of the schools sector by 
reducing the number of empty places to a reasonable level, whilst facilitating 
wherever practicable the expression of parental preference, responding 
effectively to demographic change. 
 

 Configure schools and invest in modern school premises so that the whole 
school system in Carmarthenshire is equipped to support the effective 
implementation of the Schools Effectiveness Framework and secure improving 
outcomes for children and young people. 
 

The strategic objectives of the MEP align neatly with the national objectives; 
 

 Improved learning environments for children with better educational outcomes. 
 

 Greater economy through better use of resources to improve the efficiency and 
cost-effectiveness of the education estate. 

 

 A more sustainable education system reducing the recurrent cost and carbon 
footprint. 

 

5.  Options for Change  

 
In developing a preferred option the County Council considered a range of alternative 
options.  In considering the options they were evaluated against key objectives and 
criteria to determine which option best suited the aspirations of Carmarthenshire.  
These changes will come into effect from January 2017. 

 
5.1 Main Options Considered 
 

Option 1 

 

Status Quo – Maintain both schools in present format 

Option 2 

 

Federation 

Option 3 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech with one Governing Body. 

  

Page 46



 

20 

 

 

Option 4 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 DS 
language school in Llangennech. 

Option 5 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils requiring 
EM at Bryn primary school. 

Option 6 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils requiring 
DS at Hendy primary school. 

Option 7 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils 
requiring EM education at either Bryn Primary school or Hendy 
primary school. 

 
5.2 Advantages / Disadvantages of Each Option 
 

Option 1 – Status Quo 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 No change for stakeholders. 

 No statutory procedures 
necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Continues present arrangements 
with lack of coherence in 
provision. 

 

 Would not address the current 
demand in the schools. 

 

 Higher cost option. 

 Higher Staffing costs. 

 Opportunities for synergies will 
be lost. 

 

Option 2 – Federation  
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 Federation is seen as an important 
step towards merging the two 
schools to become one primary 
school. 
 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two Schools would become one 
primary school. 
 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 

 No designated WM language 
category school  – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS 
language category. 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

Page 47



 

21 

 

 

 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the area. 
 

 All pupils would be located on 
one site under the leadership of 
one headteacher. 
 

   Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 

  

 

 Not every pupil will become 
fluent and confident in Welsh 
and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014 – 2017). 
 

 Doesn’t align with MEP strategy 
to remove Infants and Junior 
schools. 
 

 Federations can be undone. 
 

 

Option 3 (Preferred Option) 
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech 

with one Governing Body. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 Establish a designated WM 
language category school 
following a period of federation 
with one Governing Body. 
 

 Opportunities to share resources. 
 

 Two schools would become one 
primary school. 
 

 An increase in the provision of 
WM education in Carmarthenshire 
that ensures linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the 
key stages to the secondary 
sector. 

 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the area 
with every pupil  becoming  fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 
headteacher. 

 No designated DS language 
category school  – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS 
language category. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

22 

 

 

 

   Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 
 

 There will be increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

  

 Every pupil will become fluent and 
confident in Welsh and English as 
detailed in the WESP (2014 - 
2017). 
 

 There will be a designated 
nursery provision at the school. 
 

 All pupils leaving primary school 
will benefit from having two 
languages. 

 

 

Option 4 
  

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior school and establish a new 3-11 DS language school in Llangennech. 

 
Advantages Disadvantages 

 Establish a designated DS 
language category school 
following a period of federation. 
 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two schools would become one 
primary school. 
 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the area. 
 

 All pupils would be located on 
one site under the leadership of 
one headteacher. 

 

 No designated WM language 
category school  – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS 
language category. 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become 
fluent and confident in Welsh 
and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014-2017). 
 

Page 49



 

23 

 

 

   Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 

 

Option 5  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech 
and provide for pupils requiring EM education at Bryn primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the 
opportunity to be educated 
through the medium of Welsh and 
English. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the 
Llangennech area 

 

   Having two schools in close 
proximity to another  will help keep 
and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition  
in the Bryn and Llangennech 
areas. 

 
 
 
 

 

 No designated DS language 
category school  – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools. 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become 
fluent and confident in Welsh 
and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014-2017). 

 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Bryn CP school being 
2.04 miles away (5 mins)  from 
Llangennech. 
 

 Not enough capacity at Bryn CP 
school to accommodate the EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 

 

 

Option 6  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech 
and provide for pupils requiring DS education at Hendy primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the 
opportunity to be educated 
through the medium of Welsh 
and English (DS). 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 

Page 50



 

24 

 

 

 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the 
Llangennech area. 

 

   Having two schools in close 
proximity to another  will help keep 
and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition  
in the Hendy and Llangennech 
areas. 
 

 

nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 
 

 Not every pupil will become 
fluent and confident in Welsh 
and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014-2017). 

 

 Not enough capacity at Hendy 
CP school to accommodate all 
EM pupils from Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools. 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Hendy CP school being 
1.07 miles away (5 mins)  from 
Llangennech. 

 

 

Option 7  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech 
and provide for pupils requiring EM education at either Bryn Primary school 
or Hendy primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the 
opportunity to be educated 
through the medium of Welsh 
and English (DS). 

 

 Secure long term Welsh 
education provision in the 
Llangennech area. 
 

 Secure long term English 
education provision in the Bryn 
area. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh and 
English education provision in the 
Hendy area. 

 

   Having three schools in close 
proximity to another  will help keep 
and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition  
in the Bryn, Hendy and 
Llangennech areas. 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become 
fluent and confident in Welsh 
and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014-2017). 

 

 Hendy CP school will not have 
the capacity to accommodate all 
EM pupils from Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools. 

 

 Bryn CP school will not have the 
capacity to accommodate all EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 
 

Page 51



 

25 

 

 

 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Hendy  CP school being 
1.07 miles away (5 mins)  from 
Llangennech. 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Bryn  CP school being 
2.04 miles away (5 mins)  from 
Llangennech. 

 

 

6.  The Proposal  

 
6.1 Rationale for Change 

 
Following the retirement of the Llangennech Infants school Headteacher at the 
end of the Summer 2013 academic year a soft federation has already taken place 
with the Headteacher of Llangennech Junior school currently responsible for both 
schools.  On the 24th September 2014 the Governing bodies of both Llangennech 
Infants school and Llangennech Junior school resolved to pursue a formal 
federation as from April 2015.  Federation is seen as an important step towards 
merging the two schools to become one primary school. 
 
In Llangennech the local Authority are currently able to offer as a 4-11 primary 
school part time learning provision through the medium of Welsh and English.  As 
part of the new 3 – 11 primary school that will include nursery provision, it is 
proposed to change the current linguistic categories of Llangennech Infant school 
(Dual Stream – (DS) and Llangennech Junior school (Dual Stream – (DS) to a new 
Welsh Medium – (WM) language category school which will increase the provision 
of Welsh Medium education in Carmarthenshire and will ensure that bilingualism 
is increased in the Llangennech area.  It will ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil 
becomes fluent and confident in Welsh and English as detailed in the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) (2014-2017). 
 
The proposal will provide improved and enhanced pastoral arrangements and 
targeted support for particular groups of pupils which in turn will enable the school 
to deliver a wider range of specific programmes to support learning.  The provision 
for pupils with ALN will be strengthened to provide a wide range of specialism in 
areas where it is needed. 
 
This proposal will also offer greater opportunities for staff development including 
the opportunity to develop their skills over the whole primary age curriculum. 
 

6.2  The Proposal 
 

In arriving at a preferred option other options were considered as highlighted in 
section 5.3 of this document.  It is the Authority’s proposal to discontinue 
provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior school and 

Page 52



 

26 

 

 

establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech with one Governing 
Body. 
 
The following proposal has been identified as the Authority’s preferred option for 
the future provision of primary education in the area.  These changes will be 
implemented in January 2017. 
 

6.3   Catchment Area 
 

   6.3.1    Primary 
 

That as from 1st January 2017, there would be no change to the 
catchment areas of Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech 
Junior  school.  

 
   6.3.2    Secondary 
 

For pupils residing within the existing catchment area of 
Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior school the 
arrangements in respect of secondary education will be Bryngwyn 
and Ysgol y Strade (Welsh Stream). 

 
Most parents send their child / children to their local catchment area school, 
however, parents have a right to state a preference for different schools.  When 
you choose a school which is not your designated catchment school or the 
nearest school to your home there are some issues you will need to consider 
prior to making a decision; 

 

 If a child does not attend the catchment area school or the nearest school 
to the home address and this decision is based on parental preference, 
then the responsibility, as well as the cost, of transporting the pupil to and 
from school, rests entirely with the parents / carer. 
 

 The LA and school governors will lawfully comply with any preference for a 
particular school which is expressed.  As with all applications a preference 
for a particular school will need to be considered and assessed as part of 
the admission process to ensure that the Authority does not exceed the 
limit for admission of pupils to that school for the relevant year group. 

 
6.4 Advantages and Disadvantages of the proposal 
 

Advantages 

 Access to a school that has good standards and provision under the 
leadership of a strong Management Team. 

 A Community school offering WM education. 

 Secure long term Welsh education provision in the Llangennech area. 
 

Disadvantages 

 Local community resistance to the proposals. 

Page 53



 

27 

 

 

 Loss of EM education in the Llangennech area.  

 Statutory process required to implement proposal. 
 

6.5 Risks and Counter Measures 
 

Risk Counter Measure 
1. Failure to obtain statutory 

approval to implement the 
proposal. 

- Follow guidelines as set out in 
the School Organisation Code 
2013. 

2. Staffing issues in relation to 
securing suitable alternative 
employment. 

- The Authority has staffing 
policies which will be 
recommended for 
implementation in respect of 
school reorganisation. 

3. Integration of pupils into the 
new school. 

- The Authority will work with the 
pupils requiring EM education 
to ensure smooth transition 
and integration into the new 
school. 

 

6.6  Management and Organisation 
 
In arriving at the preferred option of making a new 3-11 WM language school with 
nursery provision in Llangennech, the Local Authority are hopeful that pupils currently 
at Llangennech Infants and Junior schools would continue with their education at the 
new WM Llangennech Community school which will increase the provision of Welsh 
Medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensures linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil 
becomes fluent and confident in Welsh and English as detailed in the WESP (2014-
2017). 
 
The proposed changes will not effect pupils who are currently in the English Stream 
of Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior Schools.  From September 2017, all 
pupils going into Year 1 will be taught through the medium of Welsh.  This will result 
in less space being required for teaching pupils through the medium of English. 
 
The following table highlights the impact on the management and organisation of the 
new Community Primary School to accommodate pupils from Llangennech Infants and 
Llangennech Junior Schools. 
  

Page 54



 

28 

 

 

 

January 2015 PLASC Data (FTE) 
(Ages at 31/08/14) 

Class Llangennech Infants Llangennech Juniors 

 Welsh English Total Welsh  English Total 

N2 38 0 38    

Reception 54 0 54    

Year 1 48 13 61    

Year 2 46 17 63    

Year 3    51 19 70 

Year 4    39 16 55 

Year 5    37 18 55 

Year 6    35 15 50 

Total 186 30 216 162 68 230 

 

6.7  Revenue Savings 
 
Should this proposal be implemented there would be no potential revenue 
savings.  This does not take into account any upcoming budget constraints on 
the fair funding allocation or additional transport costs.  
 
Any future savings would be re-invested within the education service. 

 
6.8  Pupil Costs  

 
Llangennech Infants School 
 
Based on 2015/16 data the budget cost per pupil is £3,668 which is £71 below the 
county average of £3,739. 
 
Llangennech Junior School 
 
Based on 2015/16 data the budget cost per pupil is £3,356 which is £383 below 
the county average of £3,739. 
 

6.9  Admission Arrangements  
 
The County Council is the Admissions Authority for Llangennech Infants school.  
The current AN of the school is 55 (from September 2015).  
 
The County Council is the Admissions Authority for Llangennech Junior primary 
school.  The current AN of the school is 60 (from September 2015).  
 
If you have any queries in relation to admission to the school the contact details 
for Carmarthenshire LA are as follows: 
 
The School Governance and Admissions Unit, 
Carmarthenshire Local Authority, 
Department for Education and Children, 
Block 2, 
Main Building, 

Page 55



 

29 

 

 

St. David’s Park, 
Carmarthen.  SA31 3HB 
 
Tel No: 01267 246449 
Fax    : 01267 246746 
E-mail : rjonesevans@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
 

6.10 Transport Impact Assessment 
 
Should the be proposal be implemented there would be no transport implications 
for the pupils of Llangennech Infants and Junior schools. 

 
Safe Routes to School 
 
There were no bids submitted for Safe Routes to Schools from the Llangennech 
area.  
 

6.11 Community Impact Assessment 
 

Please refer to Appendix A of this consultation document for full details of a 
Community Impact Assessment undertaken on Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school. 
 

6.12 Welsh Language Impact Assessment 
 

Please refer to Appendix B of this consultation document for full details of a 
Welsh Language Impact Assessment undertaken on Llangennech Infants school 
and Llangennech Junior school. 

 

6.13 Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Please refer to Appendix C of this consultation document for details on the 
Equality Impact Assessment undertaken for Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school. 
 

6.14 Impact of proposal on staff 
 
6.14.1 Llangennech Infants School Staff 
 

There is currently 1 Headteacher, 2 Assistant Headteachers on secondment 
and 11 Teachers at the school.  The Authority has staffing policies and 
procedures in respect of school reorganisation and these will be 
implemented.  The Authority will support school staff in securing suitable 
alternative employment if at all possible through redeployment processes. 

 
6.14.2 Llangennech Junior School Staff 
 

There is currently 1 Headteacher, 2 Assistant Headteachers on secondment 
and 8 Teachers at the school.  The Authority has staffing policies and 
procedures in respect of school reorganisation and these will be 

Page 56

mailto:rjonesevans@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

30 

 

 

implemented.  The Authority will support school staff in securing suitable 
alternative employment if at all possible through redeployment processes. 
 

7.  Consultation and Statutory Process 

7.1 The Consultation Process 
 
 The consultation on this proposal will follow guidelines established by the Welsh 

Government as stated in the School Organisation Code (2013). 
 

7.2 Who else will be consulted?  
 

This document has been sent to the following interested parties: 

Staff (Teaching and Ancillary) 

Llangennech Infants School 

Llangennech Junior School 

Governors and Parents / Guardians,  

Llangennech Infants School 

Llangennech Junior School 

Carmarthenshire Children’s 

Partnership 

Community Councillors / 

Llangennech Community Council 

Local County Councillors Welsh Language Commissioner 

Assembly Member (AM) / Regional 

Assembly Members 

National Association of Schoolmasters and 

Union of Women Teachers (NASUWT) 

National Union of Teachers (NUT) Association Of Teachers & Lecturers (ATL) 

Undeb Cenedlaethol Athrawon 

Cymru (UCAC) 

The Professional Association of Teachers 

(PAT) 

National Association Of Head 

Teachers (NAHT) 

GMB Union 

UNISON *Neighbouring Primary and Secondary 

schools in Carmarthenshire  

Transport and General Workers' 

Union (T&G) 

LA Special Educational Needs Division 

Director of Education – All 

Neighbouring Authorities 

ERW – Education through Regional Working 

Local Service Board Regional Transport Consortium 

Local Police and Crime 

Commissioner 

Welsh Ministers 

Estyn Diocesan Director of Education & RC 

Brightbeginings Nursery Cylch Meithrin Llangennech 

Page 57



 

31 

 

 

* Consultation document sent to Headteacher and Chair of Governors (Hendy CP, Bryn CP, CP, 
Brynsierfel CP, Bynea CP, Swiss Valley CP, Llannon CP, Dewi Sant CP and Pentip VA,) Secondary 
Schools (Ysgol Y Strade, Bryngwyn).. 
 

7.3 The Consultation Period 
 
There will be a period from 25th January 2016 to 18th March 2016 when you can 
express your views.  

You can express your views by writing a letter or alternatively completing the 
attached response form in Appendix F which should be received by the Director 
of Education and Children’s Services (Mr. R. A. Sully) by no later than noon on 
18th March 2016, at the following address: 

Mr R A Sully, Director of Education and Children’s Services, 
Building 2, St. David’s Park, Jobs Well Road, Carmarthen, SA31 3HB 
Or E-mail to: DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
Consultees can submit their views in favour of or against a proposal.  Responses 
received during the consultation period will not be treated as statutory objections.  
If consultees wish to object, they will need to do so in writing during the statutory 
objection period outlined below.   

 
7.4 Consultation with pupils  
 

There will be an opportunity for the pupils of Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school to participate in the consultation process during a 
session that will be conducted with a member of the School Improvement Team.  
This session will take place at Llangennech Junior school with representatives of 
both schools present. 
 
The information gathered from the consultation with pupils will form part of the 
consultation report which will be submitted to the County Council for 
consideration following the consultation period. 
 

7.5 Considering Your Views 
 
Within 13 weeks of 18th March 2016 a consultation report will be published on 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s website.  Hard copies of the report will also 
be available on request.  The report will summarise the issues raised by 
consultees and provide Carmarthenshire County Council’s response to these 
issues.  The report will also contain Estyn’s view of the proposal and details of 
consultation undertaken with the pupils of Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior School.  
 
Executive Board will consider the consultation report and decide whether or not 
to proceed with the proposal. 
 
If the Executive Board decides to continue with the proposal Carmarthenshire 
County Council must publish a statutory notice. 

 

Page 58

mailto:DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

32 

 

 

 
7.6 Statutory Notice 

 
The statutory notice will be published on Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
website and posted in the named and neighbouring schools within the locality.  
Copies of the notice will be made available to the school to distribute to pupils, 
parents, guardians, and staff members (the school may also distribute the notice 
by email).   

The notice will set out the details of the proposal and invite anyone who wishes 
to object to do so in writing within a period of 28 days.  

7.7 Determination of Proposal 

County Council will determine the proposal.  The County Council may decide to 
approve, reject or approve the proposal with modifications.  In doing so, the 
County Council will take into account any statutory objections that it received. 

7.8 Decision notification 

Following determination of proposals all interested parties will be informed and 
advised of the availability of the decision which will be published electronically 
on Carmarthenshire County Council’s website. 

  

Page 59



 

33 

 

 

7.9 The Statutory Process Time-Table 

The statutory process and timetable will be as follows:- 

January 2016 
Issue of this consultation document to identified and other 
interested parties. 

March 2016 
Closing date for views on the proposal to be received by the 
Department for Education & Children. 

June 2016 

Within 13 weeks of 18th March 2016 a Consultation Report 
will be taken to the Scrutiny and Executive Board committees 
and published on Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
website. 
Decision to proceed to publish statutory notice. 
OR alternatively proposal ends. 
If the decision is made to proceed then a statutory notice will 
be published.  The notice will outline details of the proposal 
and be published on the Council’s web site and be displayed 
near the entrance of the school and schools which are 
subject to the proposals. Copies of the notice will be made 
available to the school to distribute to parents, guardians and 
staff members. 

 
Following publication there will be a 28 day period during 
which time formal written objections will be invited. 

 
The statutory notice will give details on how you may record 
your objections to the proposal. 

 

July 2016 

End of formal 28 day notice period for objections. 
County Council will determine the proposal.  The County 
Council may decide to approve, reject or approve the 
proposal with modifications, in doing so the County Council 
will take into account any statutory objections that it received. 

 

November 2016 

Deadline to notify parents of intention to implement proposal. 
Following determination of proposals all interested parties 
will be informed and advised of the availability of the decision 
which will be published electronically on Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s website. 

 

  

Page 60



 

34 

 

 

8.  Appendix A – Community Impact Assessment 

 

Community Impact Assessment 
 

General Information 
 
Llangennech Infant School 
 
Llangennech Infant school is located on a flat site at the edge of the village of 
Llangennech on the outskirts of Llanelli.  There are three buildings on site.  Block One 
is the main school and Blocks Two and Three are temporary classroom structures.  
Block One is of traditional construction and was opened in 1975, with a number of 
small extensions and internal alterations having being carried out since.  The building 
is of brick construction beneath a pitched concrete tiled roof.  The new conservatory 
has a translucent sheet roof.  The original timber doors, windows and fasicas have 
been replaced with white UPVC units, with a built external covered way on the route 
to the main entrance.  Externally, there is a car park, playground, grassed areas, play 
houses, play equipment stores and garden areas. 
 
Llangennech Junior School 
 
Llangennech Junior school is situated on a sloping site in the village of Llangennech 
on the outskirts of Llanelli.  There are two blocks on site.  Block One, the main school 
building was build in the 1950’s and is a single storey structure with a basement 
containing the boiler house and two storage rooms, of brick construction beneath a 
combination of flat and shallow pitched felted roofs.  A large number of the original 
single metal windows and doors have been replaced with double glazed UPVC units.  
Block Two is the sports hall building and is also a single storey structure of rendered 
brick construction beneath flat felted roofs.  It is understood that the sports hall has 
been re-roofed along with the classroom, boiler house and store areas.  The low level 
windows and doors are UPVC double glazed units and there are high level profiled 
glazed units to the sports hall. 
 
Llangennech Infants and Junior schools are within the ward of Llangennech where the 
population is 4,964.  The ward, Llangennech 1 is ranked 93, Llangennech 2 is ranked 
65 and Llangennech 3 is ranked 85 within Carmarthenshire for deprevation (1 being 
most deprived). 
 
Other School Facilites / Activities 
 
Llangennech Infants and Junior schools have a close relationship with parents and 
works well with the community.  Parents and visitors from the community make a 
positive contribution to enriching pupils’ experiences. 
 
Extra curricular opportunities are many and varied at the schools including Maths and 
Sports clubs being offered at the schools.  Llangennech Junior school also have a 
successful choir who were finalists in Côr Cymru 2015 and winners of Songs of Praise 
Choir of the Year 2015.  They have also been Dyfed Cross Country winners, Welsh 
Government Entrepreneur winners and County rugby and netball winners 
 

Page 61



 

35 

 

 

The community makes good use of both Llangennech Infants and Junior schools in 
the evenings for uses such as the local football team using the playing fields on a 
weekly basis, the village badminton team and rugby club use the sports hall as well 
as ‘Theatr Denny Twp’, ‘Clwb Cristnogol’ uses the schools for their events.  The 
schools are also the Home for the Urdd’s ‘Llwyth y Llan’. 
 
Catchment Area Analysis 
 
Each school has an area that is serves, referred to as the catchment area.  Each 
school is expected to accommodate pupils from within its catchment area and schools 
must have regard for this ongoing demand. 
 
Most parents send their pupils to their local school but parents have a right to state a 
preference for other schools. 
 
Children attending the school from inside catchment 
 
Based on January 2015 PLASC pupil address data, the geographical data in relation 
to the pupil distribution for the Llangennech Infants school catchment area indicated 
that of the 216 pupils on roll, 159 pupils lived within the catchment, whilst the remaining 
57 were from outside the catchment area. 
 
Based on January 2015 PLASC pupil address data, the geographical data in relation 
to the pupil distribution for the Llangennech Junior school catchment area indicated 
that of the 230 pupils on roll, 166 pupils living within the catchment, whilst the 
remaining 64 were from outside the catchment area. 
 

  

Page 62



 

36 

 

 

9.  Appendix B – Welsh Language Impact Assessment 

9.1 This proposal supports the Council’s vision and aims for Welsh medium education 

as set out in Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2014 
– 2017.  The proposal will offer the pupils of Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school the opportunity of a Welsh Medium education 
provision at the new Llangennech Community school.  

 
9.2  Language Category 
 

Llangennech Infants and Junior Schools 
 
Under the new arrangements for categorisation of schools according to 
linguistic provision, Llangennech Infants and Junior schools 
categorises themselves in Category DS (Dual Stream) offering Welsh 
and English medium education. 
 
Llangennech Community School 
 
Under the new arrangements for categorisation of schools, the Council 
are proposing that the new Llangennech Community school will 
become a Category WM (Welsh Medium) school and will ensure that 
bilingualism is increased in the Llangennech area.. 
 

9.3  Standards – Welsh Language 
 

Llangennech Infant School 
 
As reported in section 2.10 of this consultation document Llangennech 
Infant School was last inspected by Estyn in June 2015. 
 
The report noted that most pupils came from English speaking homes 
with only 23% of pupils coming from Welsh-speaking homes.  By the 
end of the Foundation Phase, nearly all pupils’ oral skills are sound in 
formal and informal situations in both schools. 
 
It was reported that many pupils make good progress when developing 
second language skills in Welsh and are able to follow instructions 
skilfully and make effective use of basic vocabulary to respond to daily 
activities. 
 
Llangennech Junior School 
 
As reported in section 2.10 of this consultation document Llangennech 
Junior School was last inspected by Estyn in December 2010. 
 
The report noted that most pupils came from English speaking homes 
but 54% of the pupils speak Welsh to first language standard.  Out of 
the 8 classes at the school there are 4 classes where pupils are taught 
through the medium of Welsh. 
 

Page 63



 

37 

 

 

It was reported that the pupils in the Welsh medium stream make very 
good progress in their use of Welsh from the time they start at school.  
Most of the pupils use the language fluently and effectively whatever 
the occasion, both formal and informal with the majority of the pupils 
using Welsh regulary with each other is a strong feature at the school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

38 

 

 

10.  Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment 

 
Carmarthenshire County Council 

Assessing Impact  

The Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act.  It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 
inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it.  
The majority of the Act came into force on 1 October 2010. 

The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality.  This came into force on 5 
April 2011. 

What is the general duty? 

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 
a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities.  The duty 
ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 
delivery of services and that they are kept under review.  This will achieve better 
outcomes for all. 

The duties are legal obligations. Failure to meet the duties may result in authorities 
being exposed to legal challenge. 

Under equality legislation, public authorities have legal duties to pay ‘due regard’ to 
the need to eliminate discrimination and promote equality with regard to race, 
disability and gender, including gender reassignment, as well as to promote good 
race relations.  The Equality Act 2010 introduces a new public sector duty which 
extends this coverage to age, sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity, and 
religion or belief.  The law requires that this duty to pay ‘due regard’ be demonstrated 
in the decision making process.  It is also important to note that public authorities 
subject to the equality duties are also likely to be subject to the obligations under the 
Human Rights Act and it is therefore wise also to consider the potential impact that 
decisions could have on human rights as part of the same process. 

Carmarthenshire’s approach to Equality Impact 
In order to ensure that the council is considering the potential equality impact of its 
proposed policies and practices, and in order to evidence that we have done so, 
every proposal will be required to be supported by the attached Equality Impact 
Assessment. Where this assessment identifies a significant impact then more detail 
may be required. 
 
Reporting on assessments  
Where it is clear from the assessment that the likely impact on the authority’s ability 
to meet the general duty is substantial, then it must publish a report.  
 
 

Page 65



 

39 

 

 

Initial and Detailed Equality Impact Assessments 
The initial EIA (appendix 1) is a simple and quick method of assessing the effect of a 
policy, function, procedure, decision including financial cuts on one or more of the 
protected characteristics.   
 
The Service Manager responsible for the relevant new or revised policies, functions, 
procedures and financial decisions must undertake, at least, an initial EIA and where 
relevant a detailed Equality Impact Assessment (appendix 2); EIA must be attached 
as background paper with reports to Executive and Scrutiny .   
 

Equality impact assessment – Process to follow where HR implications have 
been identified  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead/service Manager to identify the policy, function, procedure or a change in Policy. 

Undertake an initial or detailed EIA. See appendix 1 and if there is a requirement go on to 
complete appendix 2  
 

New HR Policy or HR policy change 
Circulate EIA with draft Policy to 
strategic HR team for comment. 

Organisational change/restructure 
EIA and proposed changes taken to 
change review panel for comment. 

Amendments identified /further work to complete or referral to legal 

Passed to the Policy and Partnership Team for approval (equalities@carmarthenshire.gov.uk)  

Page 66



 

40 

 

 

Initial Equalities Impact Assessment Template   
          Appendix 1 

Department:  
Education & Children 
 

Completed by (lead):  
Lowri Morgan 
 

Date of initial assessment: September 2015 
 
Revision Dates: N/A 

Area to be assessed: (i.e. name of policy, function, 
procedure, practice or a financial decision) 

To discontinue Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior school and create a new WM Community Primary 
School 

Is this existing or new function/policy, procedure, practice or decision? School Re-organisation Proposal – Modernising Education Programme 

What evidence has been used to inform the assessment and policy? (please list only)  

 21st Century Schools Programme 

 Modernising Education Programme 

 Welsh Government Guidance – School Organisation Code 2013 

 PLASC data 2015 

 

1.  Describe the aims, objectives or 
purpose of the proposed function/policy, 
practice, procedure or decision and who 
is intended to benefit. 

It is the County Council’s proposal to discontinue Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior school and create a new 
WM Community Primary School as agreed by the Authority. 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires 
the Council to have “due regard” to the 
need to:-  
(1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment 

and victimisation; 

2.  What is the level of impact on 
each group/ protected 
characteristics in terms of the three 
aims of the duty? 
Please indicate high (H) medium (M), 
low (L), no effect (N) for each.  

3.  Identify the risk or positive effect that could result for 
each of the group/protected characteristics?  

4.  If there is a 
disproportionately negative 
impact what mitigating factors 
have you considered? 
N/A 

P
age 67



 

41 

 

 

(2) advance equality of opportunity between 

different groups; and 
(3) foster good relations between different groups 

(see guidance notes) 

Risks  Positive effects  

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  
  

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti

c
s

 

Age N Risk Neutral   

Disability L Risk Neutral In Llangennech Infants school 

there are currently 37% of 

pupils with additional learning 

needs at the school.  In 

Llangennech Junior school 

there are currently 26% of 

pupils with additional learning 

needs at the school.  There 

will be sufficient support 

available to these pupils 

through the medium of Welsh. 

 

Gender reassignment N Risk Neutral   

Race N Risk Neutral   

Religion/Belief N Risk Neutral   

Pregnancy and maternity N Risk Neutral   

Sexual Orientation N Risk Neutral   

Sex N Risk Neutral   

Welsh language H Risk Neutral As part of the proposal the 

language category of the 

school will be creating a new 

 

P
age 68



 

42 

 

 

WM school which will support 

the Council’s vision and aims 

for Welsh medium education 

as set out in 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan 

(WESP) 2014 – 2017 

 Any other area L Risk Neutral   

 

5. Has there been any consultation/engagement with the appropriate 
protected characteristics?  
 

YES   ×        Informal and formal consultation will be undertaken as stated in Welsh Government 
guidance. We will consult informally with the Headteacher and Chair of Governors.  As part of the 
Formal Consultation period key stakeholders will be consulted with as detailed on page 6 of this 
consultation document. 
 NO   

6. What action(s) will you take to reduce any disproportionately negative impact, if any? Ensure that parents, staff and governors are fully informed at each stage of the 
consultation. 

7. Procurement  
Following collation of evidence for this assessment, are there any procurement implications to the activity, proposal, service. 
Please take the findings of this assessment into your procurement plan. Contact the corporate procurement unit for further advice. N/A 

8. Human resources 
Following collation of evidence for this assessment, are there any Human resource implications to the activity, proposal or service?   The Authority has staffing 
policies and procedures in respect of school reorganisation and these will be recommended for implementation.  The Authority will support school staff in securing suitable 
alternative employment if at all possible through redeployment processes. 

9. Based on the information in sections 2 and 6, should this 
function/policy/procedure/practice or a decision proceed to Detailed 
Impact Assessment? (recommended if one or more H under section 2)  

 

YES    
 
NO   ×           

Approved by: 
Chief Education Officer 

Gareth Morgans Date: November 2015 

 P
age 69



 

43 

 

 

Detailed Equalities Impact Assessment Template  Appendix 2 
 

Department: 
 

Please see initial impact assessment  

Completed by (lead):  

Date of Detailed assessment:  

Area to be assessed: (Policy, 
function, procedure, practice or a 
financial decision)) 

Please see initial impact assessment 

Is this existing or new 
function/policy/Procedure/ practice  

Please see initial impact assessment 

 
1.  Describe the aims, objectives or 
purpose of the function/policy, 
practice or procedure and who is 
intended to benefit. 
 
 

Please see initial impact assessment 

2.  Please list any existing 
documents, evidence, research 
which have been used to inform the 
Detailed equality impact assessment. 
(This must include relevant data used in 
this assessment) 

 

3. Has any consultation, involvement 
been undertaken with the protected 
characteristics to inform this 
assessment? (please provide details, 
who and how consulted) 
 

 

P
age 70



 

44 

 

 

4. What is the actual/likely impact? 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5. What actions are proposed to 
address the impact? (The actions 
needs to be specific, measurable and 
outcome based) 

What are we going to do  
 
 

Who will be responsible  
 

When will it be completed  
 

How will we know we have 
achieved our objective  
 

    

    

    

6. How will actions be monitored? 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Approved by: 
Head of Service 

 Date: 

 
Thank you for completing this assessment.  
 
For further information regarding Assessing Impact, please contact the -  
Policy & Partnership Team  
Chief Executive’s Department  
01267 22(4914) / (4676) 
equalities@carmarthenshire.gov.uk  
 
Please send a copy of the assessment to the above e-mail address upon completion.  
  

P
age 71

mailto:equalities@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

45 

 

 

11.  Appendix D – Area Profile Llangennech  

Area Profile for Postcode: SA14 9UG, SA14 8TW and SA148YB(Llangennech 1,2 and 3 LSOA Codes: W01000690, W01000691 
and W0100692) – Ysgol Llangennech 
 

Population: 4,964 

Welsh Language: People with knowledge of Welsh: 55.7% (2,667) 
Can speak Welsh: 39.9% (1,912) 
Can speak, Read and Write Welsh: 30% (1,438) 
Can speak Welsh (Age 3-15): 8.6% (65) 
No skills in Welsh: 44.3% (2,119) 

Number of Children & Young People:  (Aged 0-15) 18.9% (936) 
 (Aged 16-24) 9.8% (484) 

Population Mitigation: Overall population churn in area: rate per 1,000  Data no longer 
available 

Ethncity: White (British): 96.2% (4,773) 
White (Irish): 0.3%0,2% (9) 
White (Gypsy or Irish Traveller): 0.3% (13) 
White (Other): 1% (50) 
Mixed (White/Black Caribbean): 0,2% (10) 
Mixed (White Black & Black African): 0.1% (4) 
Mixed (White & Asian): 0.1% (7) 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups; Other Mixed: 0% (2) 
Asian British (Indian): 0.5% (27) 
Asian British (Pakistani): 0.1% (4) 
Asian British (Chinese): 0.4% (20) 
Asian British (Other Asian): 0.4% (22) 
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British; African:0.1% (5) 
Black African/Caribbean/Black British; Caribbean:0.1% (3) 
Black African/Caribbean/Black British; Other Black: 0% (1) 
Other Ethnic Group: 0.3% (14) 

Religion: Christian: 63.2% (3,135) 
Buddhist: 0.2% (9) 

P
age 72



 

46 

 

 

Hindu: 0.3% (16) 
Jewish: 0% (2) 
Muslim: 0.5% (24) 
Sikh: 0.3% (16) 
Other Religion: 0.3% (15) 
No Religion: 28.9% (1,437) 
Religion Not Stated: 6.2% (310) 

Deprivation Ranking: Total number of Households: 2,084 
Total households not deprived in any dimensions: 838 
No of households Deprived of between 1-4 dimensions: 1,246 

 

P
age 73



 

47 

 

 

POSTCODES SA14 9UG, SA14 8TW and SA14 8YB are in Blue text and highlighted by a BLUE shaded boundary, Llangennech 

P
age 74



 

48 

 

 

Junior and Infant Schools and Bryn School are in shown by the GREEN circle markers and the areas included in the RED 
boundary is the LSOA which the postcodes are located in. 
WELSH INDEX OF MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION (WIMD) 
 
WIMD 2014 based on fine-grained geography of lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs). The WIMD 2014 is compiled from eight domains, 
Income, Employment, Health, Education, Housing, Access to Services, Physical Environment and Community Safety and is published at 
Lower Super Output Area of which there are 112 in Carmarthenshire. 
Under WIMD, where Rank 1 is the most deprived,  Llangennech 1 ranks 93 in Carmarthenshire from 112 LSOAs and is ranked 1315 in 
Wales from 1909 LSOAs. Llangennech 2 ranks 65 in Carmarthenshire and is ranked 1025 from 1909 LSOAs in Wales, whilst  
Llangennech 3 ranks 85 in Carmarthenshire and ranked 1206 in Wales from 1909 LSOAs. 
 
The highest level of deprivation attributed to Llangennech 1 is the Community Safety domain being ranked 67th in Carmarthenshire and 
1442nd in Wales. In Llangennech 2 the Access to Services domain is the most prominent ranking 45th in Carmarthenshire and 393rd in 
Wales. In Llangennech 3 the Physical Environment domain is the most dominant ranking 22nd in Carmarthenshire and 395th in Wales.  
 
Llangennech 1 - Troserch 
Llangennech 2 - Bryn 
Llangennech 3 – Llangennech Park 

  Overall 
Index 

Domains: 
Income Employment Health Education Housing Access to 

Services 

Physical 
Environment 

Community 
Safety LSOA 

                                  

Llangennech 1 93 1315 80 1241 75 1115 68 990 74 1192 70 1255 68 694 87 1396 67 1442 

Llangennech 2 65 1025 52 965 47 858 73 1024 56 1001 60 1068 45 393 111 1854 79 1609 

Llangennech 3 85 1206 72 1134 77 1140 47 793 63 1090 108 1704 88 1123 22 395 63 1393 

Source: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2014 (released November 2014), Welsh Assembly Government. 
Note: LSOAs ranked 1-112 (Carmarthenshire), 1-1909 (Wales). 

 
 

P
age 75



 

49 

 

 

12.  Appendix E – Glossary of Abbreviations  

 
ALN  Additional Learning Needs 

AN  Admission number 

CP  Community Primary 
 
DS  Dual Stream 
 
EM  English medium 

Estyn  Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Education and Training in Wales 

FTE  Full Time Equivalent 

LA  Local Authority 

MCSW Measuring the Capacity of Schools in Wales 

MEP  Modernising Education Programme 

PLASC Pupil Level Annual School Census Data 

PT  Part time 

VA  Voluntary Aided 
 
WESP  Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 

WG  Welsh Government 

WM  Welsh medium 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 76



 

50 

 

 

13.  Appendix F – Response Pro-forma 

 
Please provide us with your comments on the proposals regarding future provision for primary pupils residing 
in the Llangennech Infant school and Llangennech Junior school catchment area.  
 
Your comments: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Do you have any other issues that you wish to bring to our attention? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
             Please tick box if you wish to be notified of the publication of a consultation report. 

 
 

Signature 
 

Print Name 
 

Address 

 

Position / 
Category of 
Respondent 
(E.g. parent) 

 

  Postcode  

    

Date    

 
Please note that unless you indicate otherwise your comments will be open to the public as part of the 
formal records of the consultation. 

Please detach this form and return to: Mr. R. A. Sully, Director – Department for Education and Children, 

Building 2, St David’s Park, Jobs Well Road, Carmarthen. SA31 3HB or E-mail to 

DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk no later than 18th March 2016. 

Page 77

mailto:DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



0 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 CONSULTATION REPORT 

Future Primary Education Provision for Children Residing in the Llangennech area 

 

 

P
age 79



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A 
 

List of Respondents to the Consultation Document 
 

P
age 80



2 
 

Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior Schools 
Observation Received List 

 

Number Name Position/Category of Respondent 
 

1 Karen Hughes Parent 

1.1 Nigel Hughes Parent 

1.2 Anna Edwards Parent 

1.3 Rachel King Parent 

1.4 Sallyann Thomas Parent 

1.5 Rebecca Davies Parent 

1.6 Jacqueline Seward Parent 

1.7 V. A. Willock Grandparent 

1.8 Robert Willock Guardian 

1.9 Michelle Gramann Parent 

1.10 Lucy Edwards Parent 

1.11 Nicola Charles Parent  

1.12 Julia Rees Parent 

1.13 Catrin Richards Parent 

1.14 Darren Seward Community Member 

1.15 Charlotte Charles Parent 

1.16 K. E. Thomas Parent 

1.17 C. Y. Thomas Grandparent 

1.18 Julia Rees Parent 

1.19 Lynda Morgan Past Parent 

1.20 Emma Webborn Parent 

1.21 Carys Williams Community Member 

1.22 Sarah Martin Parent 

1.23 Huw Thomas Grandparent 

1.24 Glen Graydon Parent 

1.25 Mr & Mrs Harvey Parent 

1.26 Lynne Graves Teaching Assistant 

1.27 Crystal Bolt Teaching Assistant 

1.28 Sally-Ann Sheen Parent 

1.29 Sue Broad Parent 

1.30 Robert and Vanessa Willock  

1.31 Samantha Thomas Past Parent 

1.32 Terry Lewis Grandparent 

1.33 Sheena Lewis Grandparent 

1.34 Robert Willock  

1.35 J Brodrick Grandmother 

1.36 Cllr. Theresa Bowen  

1.37 Angela Edwards Teaching Assistant  

1.38 R Hopkins Past Parent 

1.39 M Hopkins Past Parent 

1.40 Tracy Siddell Teaching Assistant/School Governor 

1.41 David and Arlene Thomas Grandparents 

 

Page 81



3 
 

1.42 T Hooper Parent 

1.43 Dr Marian Slader Llangennech School Governor/ 
Community Councillor/ Past village 
GP 

1.44 Richard Colman Prospective Parent 

1.45 Tammy Bryan Past Parent 

1.46 Kevin Sourbutts Community Member 

1.47 M M T Fuge Grandmother 

1.48 Jean Ring Grandparent 

1.49 H T Hughes  

1.50 Sam Oakley Parent 

1.51 Paula Williams Parent 

1.52 Phillip Lumley Prospective Grandparent 

1.53 Dave Jones Past Parent 

1.54 Kerry Matthews Parent 

1.55 Louise Perkins Parent 

1.56 Fiona Ring Prospective Parent 

1.57 Arron Ring  

1.58 Lynne Peet  

1.59 Barbara Brereton Great Grandmother 

1.60 Jonathan Lomas Parent 

1.61 Donna Williams Past Parent 

1.62 Anonymous  

1.63 Dave Williams Past Parent 

1.64 Karen Deacon Parent 

1.65 Orla Williams Past Parent 

1.66 Lauren Gill Prospective Parent 

1.67 Rebecca Grice Prospective Parent 

1.68 Donald Melrose Parent 

1.69 V Allen Community Member 

1.70 Delyth Humphreys Community Member 

1.71 S Hill Community Member 

1.72 Christopher Evans Parent 

1.73 M Beddows Parent 

1.74 Joshua Murphy Pupil 

1.75 Louise Davies Parent 

1.76 Richard Davies Parent 

1.77 Nicholas Sullivan Parent 

1.78 Supranee Sullivan Parent 

1.79 Zoe Evans Past Pupil 

1.80 Phillip Willock Parent 

1.81 D Prigmore Grandparent 

1.82 M Prigmore Grandparent 

1.83 Christian Evans Parent 

1.84 J Hancock Grandparent 

1.85 T Evans Grandparent 

1.86 Lindsey Evans Parent 

1.87 Denise Williams Aunt 

Page 82



4 
 

1.88 Nathan Lewis Parent 

1.89 Byron Williams Grandparent 

1.90 Paul Parry  Parent 

1.91 Karen Green Parent 

1.92 Stephen Hughes Student 

1.93 Gaynor Hughes Community Member 

1.94 Nicola Lloyd Parent 

1.95 Lyndsey Andrews Parent 

1.96 Della Maides  

1.97 B Thomas Community Member 

1.98 M Beaton Past Parent 

1.99 S Kormylo  

1.100 Rita Maides Grandparent 

1.101 Stephanie Hughes Past Parent 

1.102 Alisha Maides Past Pupil 

1.103 Tammie-Jo Jones  

1.104 Julie Cahill Grandparent 

1.105 Michael Cahill Grandparent 

1.106 Leanne Edwards Parent 

1.107 Geraint Williams  

1.108 Jayme Lloyd Past Parent 

1.109 Elizabeth Chick Grandparent 

1.110 Philippa Davies Parent 

1.111 Mark Davies Parent 

1.112 Laura Davies Potential Parent 

1.113 Dafydd John Past Pupil 

1.114 D Thomas Parent 

1.115 Jordan Thomas Past Pupil 

1.116 Taylor Thomas Pupil 

1.117 Geraint Thomas Parent 

1.118 Ian MacDonald Parent 

1.119 Eddie Jones Community Member 

1.120 Linda Jones Community Member 

1.121 D Thomas  

1.122 Alex and Rachel James Parents 

1.123 C S Thomas Past Pupil 

1.124 Jacqueline Williams Grandparent 

1.125 Kimberley Williams Parent 

1.126 Gary Jones Community Councillor 

1.127 Sian Edwards-Schildt Parent 

1.128 Ellis Edwards Grandparent 

1.129 Rob Willock Guardian 

1.130 Stefan Ryszewski Conservative Candidate 

1.131 Danielle Carter Prospective Parent 

1.132 Luke Bolt  

1.133 A Colton Grandmother 

1.134 Peter Colton Grandfather 

1.135 David Colton Past Pupil 

Page 83



5 
 

1.136 C J Fletcher  

1.137 G Daniel  

1.138 Patricia Seward Grandparent 

1.139 Lindsey Evans  

1.140 Irene Edwards Grandparent 

1.141 K M Seward Pupil 

1.142 C L Thomas Pupil 

1.143 R Willock Guardian 

1.144 R Willock Guardian 

1.145 Jeanette Davies Grandparent 

1.146 A Williams Parent 

1.147 Stephen Davies Community Member 

1.148 Michael Schildt Parent 

1.149 Alyson White Parent 

1.150 Garry Tuckett Grandparent 

1.151 Kim Thomas Parent 

1.152 Karen Deacon Parent 

1.153 Christopher Slader  

1.154 Gary Jones Llangennech Community Councillor 

1.155 Petition by members of the 
community. 

Members of Llangennech 
Community 

2 Mr Steven Mears Governing Body Bryngwyn/Glan-Y-
Môr 

3 S. Griffiths Community Member 

3.1 Anonymous   

3.2 Annona Thomas Grandmother 

3.3 Angharad Gealy Teacher 

3.4 Ian Williams Community Member 

3.5 Sian Lloyd  

3.6 Cllr. Gwyn Hopkins County Councillor / Governor 

3.7 C. A. Reynolds Parent 

3.8 Meilyr Bowen Hughes Community Member 

3.9 Anonymous  

3.10 Nerys Estelle Burton Menter Cwm Gwendraeth Elli 

3.11 Dr. Rhian Eleri Jones Community Member 

3.12 Keith Abbott Community Member 

3.13 Davinia Lewis Parent 

3.14 Heather Lewis Headteacher, Ysgol Y Strade 

3.15 Nicholas Daniels Community Member 

3.16 Colin Gwyn Jenkins Community Member 

3.17 P. Richards Community Member 

3.18 Glendon Davies Past Parent and Governor 

3.19 Anonymous  

3.20 Anonymous  

3.21 Anonymous  

3.22 Anonymous  

3.23 Anonymous  

3.24 Anonymous  

Page 84



6 
 

3.25 Anonymous  

3.26 Anonymous  

3.27 Anonymous  

3.28 Anonymous  

3.29 Anonymous  

3.30 Anonymous  

3.31 Anonymous  

3.32 Louise Parry Assistant Head, Llangennech Infants 

3.33 Anonymous  

3.34 Anonymous  

3.35 Anonymous  

3.36 Anonymous  

3.37 Anonymous  

3.38 Anonymous  

3.39 Anonymous  

3.40 Anonymous  

3.41 Desmond Jones Community Member 

3.42 W. D. Griffiths Community Member 

3.43 Patricia Jones Grandmother 

3.44 Veronica Davies Past Teacher 

3.45 Einir Smith Community Member 

3.46 Rita Jones Community Member 

3.47 Elen Mai Jones Community Member 

3.48 David Gerald Jones Community Member 

3.49 Mair Jones Community Member 

3.50 Alun Jones Community Member 

3.51 Arnold James Past Pupil 

3.52 Ann Evans Grandparent 

3.53 Tim Davies Parent and Chair of Governors 

3.54 Jennifer Clarke Former Headteacher Llangennech 
Infants 

3.55 Heledd Wyn Clarke Community Member 

3.56 Rhianedd Rhys Aunt 

3.57 Aimee Hopkin Parent 

3.58 Gary Anderson Pennaeth Ffederasiwn Ysgolion 
Llangennech 

3.59 Ffred Ffransis  

3.60 Anonymous   

3.61 Eireen Nelson Past Pupil 

3.62 Roger Fewster Governor 

3.63 Lynwen Williams Parent 

3.64 William Glyn Williams Past Pupil 

3.65 Craig Jones Community Member 

3.66 Lynn Davies  

3.67 Cllr. Gwyneth Thomas Past Parent/Governor Llangennech 
Infants School/County Councillor 

3.68 Miriam Thomas Parent 

3.69 Peter Dutton Vice Chairman – Ysgol y Strade 

Page 85



7 
 

3.70 Linda Sidgwick Past Parent 

    3.71 Michael Rees Grandfather 

3.72 Alun Stephens Governor Llangennech Junior 
School 

3.73 S E Williams Community Member 

3.74 Lis Fidler  

3.75 Anonymous  

3.76 Wyn Davies  

3.77 Anne Loughran Past Mentor – Cardiff University  

3.78 Martin Davies  

3.79 Eiry Wyn Miles  

3.80 Anonymous  

3.81 Anonymous  

3.82 Anonymous  

3.83 Anonymous  

3.84 Alun Jones  

3.85 Owain Davies Past Pupil 

3.86 Jill Davies Past Parent 

3.87 Anonymous  

3.88 Clwb Gwawr y Sosban – Helen 
Mainwaring 

 

3.89 Anonymous  

3.90 Y Lle, Llanelli  

3.91 T. Gordon Lewis Vice Chairman of Llangennech 
Schools Federation Governing Body 
and Vice Chairman of Llangennech 
Community Council 

3.92 Manon Williams Parent 

3.93 Dylan Evans Pennaeth Ysgol y Dderwen 

3.94 Elaine Edwards  

3.95 Arwyn Thomas  

3.96 Hedd Tudur  

3.97 Gethin James  

3.98 Heledd Mathias  

3.99 Euros Evans Former School Inspector 

3.100 Martyn David Williams  Parent 

3.101 Eleri Soanes   

3.102 Rhydwyn Ifan  Past Pupil 

4 Linda Thomas Past Parent 

4.1 Bethan McDermot Supply Teacher 

5 Michelle David Owner Bright Beginnings Preschool 

6 Nia Griffith Member of Parliament 

7 UNISON Union 

7.1 UCAC Union 

Page 86



8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

Appendix B 
 

Executive Summary of Observations Received 
 

P
age 87



9 
 

Executive Summary of Observations Received 

 
The County Council’s proposal to change primary school provision in the community of 
Llangennech has generated a considerable response from interested parties, with a total of 
267 submissions received in response to the formal consultation. 
 
The consultation period commenced on the 25th January 2016 and was due to close on the 
11th March 2016 but in response to requests from some interested parties the Director of 
Education and Children’s Services agreed to extend the period for responses by one week 
until the 18th March 2016. All consultees were formally notified of the extension of the 
consultation period. 
 
The County Council’s proposal is constituted of three elements as follows: 
 

 to close the current Llangennech Infants School and Llangennech Junior School and 

create a new community primary school on the site and in the premises of the current 

schools; 

 to extend the age range of the school from 4 to 11 years to 3 to 11 years, introducing 

new part-time education for three year olds; and 

 to create the new school as a Welsh medium school in place of the present dual 

stream arrangement in both existing schools. 

 
Very little comment has been made within the consultation responses to the element of the 
proposal that proposes creating a new primary school in place of the two current schools. 
Both schools have been operating under a formal federation since April 2015, with a single 
governing body and a shared head teacher and this progressive move appears to be 
acknowledged as a success and that the formal amalgamation of provision within a single 
primary school is a natural step forward. 
 
Broadly speaking there is support for the introduction of part-time nursery provision within the 
school, but some respondents have expressed concern over the impact that this may have 
on existing independent sector childcare and nursery providers in the community who have 
hitherto been commissioned to provide part-time nursery education. These respondents are 
concerned that the removal of funding for part-time nursery education could undermine the 
financial viability of the settings for the future. 
 
The element of the proposal that has generated the greatest response is the intention to 
change the medium of instruction for all pupils to Welsh in place of the current dual stream 
arrangement which has provision in either the Welsh or English language operating side by 
side. Opposing opinions have been submitted by respondents with some strongly opposed to 
the proposal whilst others are in favour of it. Those opposing the change have presented a 
number of reasons why they consider that it is not desirable whereas those in support of the 
change generally consider that it would be a natural progression for the school given the 
changes that have been taking place in the balance of language provision over recent years 
and that it will be advantageous for all children. 
 
All of the submissions received to the consultation document within the (extended) 
consultation period are noted in Appendix C, together with the response of the County 
Council’s professional officers.  The following table presents an executive summary of the 

Page 88



10 
 

main points raised in opposition to, or in support of the proposal, along with the response of 
officers to each one. 
 
 

 Observation 
 

Local Authority Response 

 
 

1. 

In opposition 
 
The dual stream system 
works very well as it is 
and therefore there is no 
need to change a system 
that already works. 
 

 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility 
to “increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector so that every pupil becomes fluent 
and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” 
In order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh 
medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and 
Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream 
schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.” 
 

 
2. 

 
The removal of choice 
from the community. The 
community will no longer 
have an option to attend 
an English stream. 
 

 
The Local Authority has a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local 
Authority believes that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools 
can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” The best way to create confident, bilingual 
individuals is through immersing pupils in the Welsh 
language. 
 

 
3. 

 
The proposal is 
inconsistent with 
community make-up. 
 
 

 
It is noted that many members of the community do not 
speak the Welsh language and that many pupils come 
from non-Welsh homes; therefore it is important to 
increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
order to ensure “linguistic continuity from the nursery 
sector along the key stages to the secondary sector 
so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in 
both Welsh and English languages.” 
 

 
4. 

 
Children who would 

 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils 

Page 89



11 
 

prefer an English medium 
education or who struggle 
with the Welsh language 
will be forced to move to 
another school. 

remain at the school and that future prospective pupils will 
continue to attend the village school and receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh. It is important to 
note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the 
school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 

 

 
5. 

 
Some children may not 
be able to cope with 
learning through the 
medium of Welsh. 
 
The ability of non-Welsh 
speaking parents to 
support their children with 
their school work and 
homework. 

 

 
The school will continue to provide sufficient support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they currently 
receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education 
through the medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be 
provided to all new pupils through the medium of Welsh. It 
is also important to note that all teachers are expected to 
differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and 
its pupils and currently visit the school twice a week. 
 
Pupils and parents are currently supported by the school 
through the following: 
 

 Open door policy where teachers can translate 
the work for parents and provide an explanation 
of what is required at that time e.g. either before 
or after school 

 

 Parents can contact the school via telephone or 
e-mail. 

 

 Homework is provided bilingually when needed. 
 

 Welsh lessons are provided to parents at 
specific periods throughout the year. 

 

 In the Foundation Phase, special books are 
regularly sent home to parents in the home 
language which enables the parents to see what 
the pupils achieve in school. 

 

 A homework club is held for an hour after school 
once a week to provide support for pupils who 
require help with their homework. 

 

 Sports, choir and IPad club are held bilingually. 
 

 Urdd club – many children from the English 
stream currently attend. 

Page 90



12 
 

 

 Bilingual school website. 
 

 Bilingual staff members in both streams. 
 

 Bilingual school assemblies and singing 
sessions. Pupils learn a mixture of Welsh and 
English songs. 

 

 Bilingual school productions. 
 

 “Athrawon Bro” provide support help develop 
the Welsh skills of pupils. 

 

 “Athrawon Bro” hold a language centre for a full 
week during the summer term for groups of year 
5 pupils. These are pupils who currently perform 
at level 3 but who can attain level 4 with 
professional input. 

 

 Older pupils have strong Welsh skills which 
enables them to explain the homework to their 
parents. 

 

 “Athrawon Bro” provide training to staff 
members who are less confident in using their 
Welsh skills. 

 

 The Welsh language is heard daily by English 
stream pupils. 

 
The school are also intending to hold an evening 
for parents of all classes at the beginning of 
September detailing the themes of work for the year 
and the contents of the work. 

 
Parents could also access support by: 
 

 Asking the child to explain the homework – the 
pupil could translate the homework for non-Welsh 
speaking members of the family. 

 Using online translation tools. 

 Asking a Welsh speaking friend/family 
member/neighbour for help. 

 

 
6. 

 
Children with SEN/ALN 
may not be able to cope 

 
All pupils with additional learning needs have specific 
individual plans based on their needs and the agreed 

Page 91



13 
 

with the Welsh language. 
 

support is provided. This support will continue to be 
provided for each individual currently attending the school 
through the medium they currently receive their education. 
Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will 
receive this support mainly through the medium of Welsh. 
In the majority of cases an additional learning need is not 
a barrier to learning two languages as there is much 
flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable 
pupils to succeed. It is our experience that the vast 
majority of pupils with a wide range of additional learning 
needs and abilities are successful in all of our schools 
irrespective of the language of instruction. The school 
states that through the years; children with various 
additional learning needs have attended the school 
through both streams successfully.  

 

 
7. 

 
The standard of the 
pupils’ English 
development will decline 
through receiving their 
education through the 
medium of Welsh. 
 

 
It is important to note that English is a statutory curriculum 
subject and will continue to be taught to the highest of 
standards at the school. 

 
8. 

 
Welsh medium education 
may disadvantage 
children entering further 
or higher education. 
 

 
There are many advantages to being bilingual as 
confirmed by national and international research and 
articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting 
a Bilingual education?” document. Bilingualism has 
positive effects on children’s linguistic and educational 
development as well as having social advantages. Some 
new studies also suggest that bilingualism may offer some 
protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in old 
age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 

 
9. 

 
Transport difficulties and 
costs for families who opt 
for their children to attend 
other schools (especially 
for parents without 
private transport). 
 

 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet 
states that “the arrangement and cost of transport to 
school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport 
is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their 
child needs to attend another school. 
 

 
10. 

 
Capacity at other 
schools. 

 
Should parents decide to place their children in an 
alternative school; parents should note that pupils are 
admitted to schools following the guidelines as stated in 
the Admission to School Information for Parents booklet – 
“Parents can state a preference for a school, which is 
not the designated catchment area school. Subject to 

Page 92



14 
 

the limit on the number of pupils who can be admitted 
into the school not being exceeded and the correct 
procedures being followed, then admission will be 
granted.” 
 

 
11. 

 
Standards of education at 
other schools. 
 

 
Parents should consider the educational standards of any 
alternative schools should they decide that their child 
needs to attend an alternative school. 
 

 
12. 

 
The impact of introducing 
a nursery class in the 
school on existing 
independent providers.  
 

 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet 
states that “all 3 year olds are entitled to 10 hours per 
week free placement at a registered setting from the 
beginning of the term following their third birthday.” 
Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon 
sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. 
There will still be a need for nursery provision for all 
children under the age of 3 years old and for 3 year olds 
outside of the hours that the school provides nursery 
provision. 

   
 

 
 

1. 

In Support 
 

The proposal supports 
the aim of 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh 
in Education Strategic 
Plan of increasing the 
provision of Welsh 
medium education. 

 

 
 

The Local Authority welcomes the observations that 
understand that the proposals have been prepared in 
response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium 
Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh 
medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the 
key stages to the secondary sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil 
becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been 
recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of 
Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” 
 

 
2. 

 

The change will promote 
bilingualism in the 
Llangennech area. 
 

 

The Local Authority notes the support. It is noted that 
many people in the area do not speak the language and 
that many pupils attending the school come from non-
Welsh background. The Local Authority has a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believes that providing a 

Page 93



15 
 

Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns 
with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools 
can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” The best way to create confident, bilingual 
individuals is through immersing pupils in the Welsh 
language. 
 

 
3.  

 
The change will be a 
natural step for the 
school. 
 

 
The data presented in the consultation document shows 
the difference in pupil numbers attending the Welsh 
stream in comparison to the English stream. This data 
proves that there is a demand for Welsh medium 
education. 
 

 
4. 
 

 
There are many 
advantages to being 
bilingual. 
 

 
The Local Authority welcomes the responses which realise 
that being bilingual has many advantages. There are 
many advantages to being bilingual as confirmed by 
national and international research and articulated in 
Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a Bilingual 
education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects 
on children’s linguistic and educational development as 
well as having social advantages. Some new studies also 
suggest that bilingualism may offer some protection 
against the decline of cognitive abilities in old age, both in 
normal and pathological ageing. 
 

 
5.  

 
3 year old pupils will have 
access to a formal 
education from an earlier 
age.  

 
The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from 
the nursery sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector so that every pupil becomes fluent 
and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” 
The Local Authority will be able to ensure linguistic 
continuity from the nursery sector by providing a formal 
education to 3 year olds. 
 

6.  
All pupils in Wales have a 
right to a Welsh medium 
education. 

 
The Local Authority has a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local 
Authority believes that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools 
can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 

Page 94



16 
 

KS2.” The best way to create confident, bilingual 
individuals is through immersing pupils in the Welsh 
language.  
 

 
It is to be noted that a number of representations have been made to the County Council 
after the closure of the formal consultation period, with exchange of correspondence and 
conversations continuing for several weeks thereafter. Submissions made after the end of the 
(extended) consultation period have not been included in this Report in order to maintain 
consistency in the treatment of respondents and to ensure compliance with the statutory 
School Organisation Code. Should the proposal proceed to the next stage of the statutory 
process all interested parties will have another formal opportunity to present their views prior 
to the County Council taking a final decision.  
 

Page 95



17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix C 
 

Summary of observations received following publication of the Consultation Document and 
Local Authority related responses 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 96



18 
 

OBSERVATION RESPONSE 

 
Disagree with changes 
 
1. The consultee is concerned that the proposal does not cater for 

the community’s needs. Federation would be a suitable option 
for the community regardless of language category. The school 
has been dual stream for years and worked well, catering for 
the whole community. This proposal does not cater for the 
socially diverse community of Llangennech. The consultee is 
also concerned that there is only one other dual stream school 
in the local area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.1 The consultee is concerned that English speakers are no 

longer welcome at the school. The consultee supports the 
Welsh language and culture and feels that Llangennech 
School already provides a good understanding. The 
community is socially diverse and this proposal will destroy the 
community spirit of the area. 
 
 
 

1.2 The consultee is concerned that pupils who will struggle with 
the Welsh language will have to move school rather than 
change to the English stream. There are also concerns that 
families may then have children in two different schools if they 
no longer have the option of an English stream. This causes 
travel implications for families especially families with no 

 
Disagree with changes 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so that 
every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 

P
age 97



19 
 

means of private transportation.  The community should 
continue to have a choice of either stream. The consultee feels 
that this proposal will split the community. The consultee also 
opposes the need for nursery provision as there is already 
nursery provision in the area. The nursery is open from 9am-
1pm and the consultee is concerned that the school will not 
provide care for the same length of time.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 The consultee is concerned that pupils who struggle with the 

Welsh language will have to move school rather than move to 
the English stream. If families decide to place their children in 
other schools in order to receive English medium education, 
they may have children in two different schools. There are 
concerns on the travel implications if this happens. The school 
should be kept dual stream. 

 

sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“the arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who 
do not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This 
is something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. The Admission to 
School Information for Parents booklet states that “all 3 year olds 
are entitled to 10 hours per week free placement at a registered 
setting from the beginning of the term following their third 
birthday.” Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon 
sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. There will still 
be a need for nursery provision for all children under the age of 3 
years old and for 3 year olds outside of the hours that the school 
provides nursery provision. 
 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 

P
age 98



20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 The consultee is concerned that pupils who struggle with the 

Welsh language will need to move school rather than change 
to the English stream. The community needs a bilingual 
school. Some parents who have younger children may have to 
place them in other schools if pupils require English medium 
education – therefore having children in different schools.  This 
causes difficulties for parents without private transport and 
there are concerns that pupils will not receive the same 
standard of education as they would at Llangennech School.  
This is discrimination against English speakers when the 
community have been happy to have a school which provides 
education through both mediums. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“the arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who 
do not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This 
is something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“the arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who 
do not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This 

P
age 99



21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.5 The consultee opposes changing the language category to 

Welsh medium. Pupils with learning difficulties or pupils who 
struggle with the Welsh language will not be able to move to 
the English stream and will need to move to a different school, 
outside of their catchment area. Every pupil should have the 
right to attend their local school and to receive their education 
through the medium of Welsh or English.  The consultee also 
opposes the need for nursery provision. Nursery provision is 
already available in the community and this proposal would be 
detrimental to this organisation, its staff and to children who 
attend the nursery. Should these organisations close, the 
community council would lose vital revenue from these 
businesses. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

is something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. Should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. 
 
 
All pupils with additional learning needs have specific individual plans 
based on their needs and the agreed support is provided. This 
support will continue to be provided for each individual currently 
attending the school through the medium they currently receive their 
education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will 
receive this support mainly through the medium of Welsh. In the 
majority of cases an additional learning need is not a barrier to 
learning two languages as there is much flexibility built into the 
delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to succeed. It is our 
experience that the vast majority of pupils with a wide range of 
additional learning needs and abilities are successful in all of our 
schools irrespective of the language of instruction. The Local 
Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best 
education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a 
Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “all 3 year olds are 
entitled to 10 hours per week free placement at a registered 
setting from the beginning of the term following their third 
birthday.” Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon 
sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. There will still 
be a need for nursery provision for all children under the age of 3 
years old and for 3 year olds outside of the hours that the school 
provides nursery provision. 
 

P
age 100



22 
 

 
1.6 The consultee feels that that choice should not be taken away 

from the community when the school has been dual stream for 
over 60 years. Pupils who require English medium education 
would have to attend schools outside their local area meaning 
that they could no longer walk to school and circles of friends 
will be split. The community is a very close community and this 
will mean that members will now not be able to attend the 
same activities. The school cannot be called a community 
school when it does not cater for English speaking children.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.7 The consultee is opposed to changing the language category 

to English medium as this takes the right of choice away from 
the pupil. This choice will be taken away from English 
speaking children. The consultee feels that this is racism 
against English speaking children. This will split the community 
in two and the consultee is concerned that English speaking 
families have not been consulted and how families who require 

 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 

P
age 101



23 
 

English medium education will be able to travel to the 
proposed English medium schools if they have no means of 
private transport. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.8 The consultee is concerned with the feasibility of pupils 

attending other schools if they require English medium 
education. Perhaps the education department could liaise with 
housing to relocate families near to their chosen school. This is 
racism against English speaking families. A large number of 
community members do not speak Welsh and this proposal 
does not cater for these people.  The school should remain 
dual stream. 

 
 
 
 
 

Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The consultation process has 
been carried out following the guidelines as stated in the School 
Organisation Code 2013 and all stakeholders were notified of the 
consultation following these guidelines. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 

P
age 102



24 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.9 The consultee is concerned with the consultation process and 

how the community has been consulted. The consultee states 
that there will be implications for travel time between schools 
for parents with children in separate schools whilst 
Llangennech School is in walking distance. There will also be 
implications on parents with children in two schools when it 
comes to different activities should they coincide. Also, pupils 
who require English medium education may not receive the 
same standard of education as they would in Llangennech 
School.  Younger pupils should receive the same opportunities 
as their older siblings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.10 The consultee is concerned that non-Welsh parents will be 

unable to help their children with their schoolwork and 
therefore the pupil’s education will suffer. There are also 
concerns for pupils who will struggle with the Welsh language 
– what provision is available? The consultee is concerned 
whether there is capacity at other schools should pupils 
require English medium education and what transport will be 
available. Also, will Llangennech School be accepting pupils 
from other areas if they require Welsh medium education and 

prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The consultation process has been carried out following the 
guidelines as stated in the School Organisation Code 2013 and all 
stakeholders were notified of the consultation following these 
guidelines. The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet 
states that “the arrangement and cost of transport to school for 
pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a parental 
responsibility.” This is something that all parents/guardians should 
consider if they decide that their child needs to attend another school. 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. However, should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. 
 
 
The school will provide sufficient support for current pupils through 
the medium of which they currently receive their education. Should 
the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be 
provided to all new pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who 
provide support to schools around the county will also be supporting 
the school and its pupils. Please refer to the Executive Summary 

P
age 103



25 
 

will English be taught to as high of a standard as Welsh? 
Community spirit will be lost as not all pupils will be attending 
the village school.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.11 The consultee feels that the school works well as it is. The 
consultee is concerned about what options are available if 
pupils struggle with the Welsh language. Transitions to starting 
school can be stressful enough without having to move school 
if they are not happy with learning through the medium of 
Welsh. 

  
 
 
 

where it is noted in detail the support which is currently/will be 
available to all parents and pupils. It is the Local Authority’s intention 
that all current pupils remain at the school and that future prospective 
pupils will continue to attend the village school and receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh. It is important to note that 
the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school and pupils 
receiving their education through the medium of English will continue 
to do so. However, 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“the arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who 
do not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This 
is something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. English is a statutory 
curriculum subject and will be taught to the highest of standards. 
Pupils will be admitted to Llangennech School and the English 
medium schools following the guidelines as stated in the Admission to 
School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can state a 
preference for a school, which is not the designated catchment 
area school. Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who 
can be admitted into the school not being exceeded and the 
correct procedures being followed, then admission will be 
granted.”  
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 

P
age 104



26 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.12 The consultee is concerned that the community will no 

longer have a choice. At the moment parents can choose a 
stream based on the needs of their children. This proposal 
means that younger children will not get the same 
opportunities as their older siblings of attending an English 
medium stream.  This causes problems for families who wish 
for their children to receive English medium education as they 
will have to take their children to two schools. Some pupils with 
learning difficulties have no option but to receive an English 
medium education – these pupils will need to move school. 
Parents who are non-Welsh speakers will not be able to help 
pupils with their homework which could be detrimental to the 
pupil’s education. This is discrimination against many 
members of the community. It would be better to increase the 
number of Welsh lessons for pupils in the English stream. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. All pupils with additional learning needs have 
specific individual plans based on their needs and the agreed support 
is provided. This support will continue to be provided for each 

P
age 105



27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.13 The consultee is concerned that pupils who struggle with the 

Welsh language; especially pupils with parents who are non-
Welsh speakers will have to move to an English medium 
school rather than move to the English stream. This would 
mean separating children from their friends and leaving their 
local community. This could be detrimental to a child’s 
education. Pupils should be treated equally and should be able 
to be educated in the language of their choice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.14 The consultee is concerned that this will cause a divide in a 

diverse community where solidarity should be encouraged. 
Every pupil should have the right to be educated in the 

individual currently attending the school through the medium they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly through 
the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional learning 
need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is much 
flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to 
succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. 
The school will provide sufficient support to parents who are non-
Welsh speakers. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils.  
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 

P
age 106



28 
 

language of their choice and receive a good quality education.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.15 The consultee feels that this will cause a divide in the 

community and is unfair to pupils who wish to be educated 
through the medium of English. Children who will choose to 
attend English medium schools will be unfamiliar with other 
children in their local area and this will cause social exclusion. 
This will cause problems for families who already have pupils 
at Llangennech schools but have younger children requiring 
English medium education.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.16 The consultee is concerned that pupils who wish to receive 

their education through the medium of English will not be able 
to be educated in their local area and therefore will not be fully 

Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 

P
age 107



29 
 

part of the community. This proposal will cause a divide in the 
village and deprive some children of socialising in their own 
community. The proposed schools are also not of the same 
standard as Llangennech School. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1.17 The consultee opposes to changing the language category 

to Welsh medium as they do not feel that the proposed English 
medium schools are satisfactory alternatives. Both schools are 
not easily accessible for parents who do not drive and neither 
are of the same educational standard as Llangennech School. 
The consultee is concerned that pupils who live in the same 
area will not be able to attend the same school – not all pupils 
will be able to adapt to the Welsh language.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. However, should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. The Local Authority have a responsibility 
to provide all pupils with the best education possible and the Local 
Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for 
all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can 
speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
Should parents consider moving their children to other schools due to 
parental preference, then they should consider the educational 
standards of the schools when doing so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 

P
age 108



30 
 

 
 
 
 

 
1.18 The consultee has concerns that some families may not be 

able to have all of their children attending the same school if 
the English stream is no longer provided. Pupils with learning 
difficulties can often only grasp a single language – that being 
English, this will mean that these pupils will have to move to a 
different school. The school cannot be called a community 
school if it does not cater for the whole community. There are 
concerns for families who do not have means of private 
transport and families whose first language is neither Welsh 
nor English.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

transport is a parental responsibility.”  This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
 It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. All pupils with additional 
learning needs have specific individual plans based on their needs 
and the agreed support is provided. This support will continue to be 
provided for each individual currently attending the school through the 
medium they currently receive their education. Should the proposal 
be implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly 
through the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional 
learning need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is 
much flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils 
to succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. The 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that “the 
arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who do 
not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This is 
something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. The school will provide 
sufficient support for pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who 
provide support to schools around the county will also be supporting 
the school and its pupils. Please refer to the Executive Summary 
where it is noted in detail the support which is currently/will be 
available to all parents and pupils. The school will also provide 
sufficient support to parents. 

P
age 109



31 
 

 
 
1.19 The consultee is concerned that the wellbeing of families will 

be affected if pupils cannot attend their local school. Pupils 
who require English medium education but have no means of 
private transport will be greatly affected. The community 
should continue to have a choice of both Welsh and English 
streams as the Welsh language should not be forced onto 
people. Many members of the community are English 
speaking and they should not be isolated. Pupils in the English 
stream have much more exposure to the Welsh language than 
what they would by attending an English medium stream. This 
promotes bilingualism and could help pupils feed the bilingual 
classes that are available in Bryngwyn School. Choice is 
available when choosing secondary schools so there is no 
need to take it away now.  There are also concerns that 
changing the age range to 3-11 will have a detrimental effect 
on the nurseries in the village. Also, if Bryn and Hendy 
catchment areas are not extended to include Llangennech, are 
pupils guaranteed to be offered a place at these schools? The 
consultee is also concerned that pupils will not receive the 
same standard of education at Bryn and Hendy schools as 
they would in Llangennech. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. The proposals have been prepared in 
response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy 
(WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and 
ensure linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the 
key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.” Pupils will be admitted to Bryn and Hendy schools 
following the guidelines as stated in the Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can state a preference 
for a school, which is not the designated catchment area school. 
Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who can be admitted 
into the school not being exceeded and the correct procedures 
being followed, then admission will be granted.” Should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “all 3 year olds are entitled to 10 hours 

P
age 110



32 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.20 The consultee is concerned that pupils who wish to receive 

their education through the medium of English will need to 
move schools. Parent who do not speak Welsh will not be able 
to help their children with school work and moving schools 
could be detrimental to a pupil’s wellbeing. It is fair to all 
residents to have a choice of both English and Welsh streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.21 The consultee is concerned that if pupils choose to attend 

per week free placement at a registered setting from the 
beginning of the term following their third birthday.” Part time is 
defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon sessions or a mixture of 5 
morning/afternoon sessions. There will still be a need for nursery 
provision for all children under the age of 3 years old and for 3 year 
olds outside of the hours that the school provides nursery provision. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
Sufficient support will also be provided to parents. The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 

P
age 111



33 
 

English medium schools, travelling times for families will be 
increased. Also, if the proposal is implemented, pupils will lose 
the opportunity to choose their local school and will be 
separated from their friends and possibly siblings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.22 The consultee feels that the school should be kept dual 

stream. Pupils who attend the English stream are able to 
receive their education through the medium of English but are 
also able to leave school as Welsh speakers. This proposal 
will cause a split in the community. Pupils should have a right 
to attend their local school but this proposal will cause many 
pupils to leave their community.  The consultee is also 
concerned that there is no capacity at the proposed English 
medium schools to cater for pupils from Llangennech. If pupils 
wish to attend the English medium school, this causes travel 
implications for families, especially for families who will have 
children in two different schools. The local authority should be 
looking at why so many pupils are attending from outside of 
catchment and whether this is due to lack of Welsh medium 
education provision in those areas. The consultee is 
concerned that if pupils choose to attend the proposed English 
medium schools due to parental preference, then the cost of 
transportation is the parent’s responsibility, yet the choice has 
been taken away from parents. 
 
 
 
 

school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.”  It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 

P
age 112



34 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.23 The consultee feels that pupils should be able to attend their 

local school. The school has worked well as dual stream for 
many years. English speaking children should not have to 
receive their education outside of their local area. Pupils 
attending the English stream are able learn and use the Welsh 
language whereas they would not get this opportunity if they 
attended an English medium school. Some parents will not 
have a choice but to send their pupils to the Welsh medium 
Llangennech irrespective of whether they speak the Welsh 
language. The pupil’s education could suffer due to not being 
able to be supported at home. Those children would not have 
the additional support at home, which is nearly as important as 
being taught in school. The consultee is concerned that some 
County Councillors who are also on the Community Council 
have extreme views on this proposal. The current situation 
works very well and the consultee does not feel that the data 
used for reception years does not really reflect the 
Welsh/English split.   

 
 

and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. Pupils will be admitted to Bryn and Hendy 
schools following the guidelines as stated in the Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can state a preference 
for a school, which is not the designated catchment area school. 
Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who can be admitted 
into the school not being exceeded and the correct procedures 
being followed, then admission will be granted.” The Admission to 
School Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement 
and cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for 
free transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that 
all parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child 
needs to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The school will provide sufficient support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they currently receive 
their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils 

P
age 113



35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.24 The consultee is concerned that those wishing to attend the 

proposed English medium schools are not guaranteed to be 
accepted. Dual stream schools provide good community 
cohesion and meet the demand of the whole community. Other 
means should be used to promote the Welsh language other 
than restricting English medium education. Parents have a 
right to choose the education which is best for their children.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

will receive their education through the medium of Welsh and 
sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. County 
Councillors have a right to voice their own opinions.  
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. Pupils will be admitted to 
Bryn and Hendy schools following the guidelines as stated in the 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can 
state a preference for a school, which is not the designated 
catchment area school. Subject to the limit on the number of 
pupils who can be admitted into the school not being exceeded 
and the correct procedures being followed, then admission will 
be granted.” The proposals have been prepared in response to 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The 
local authority has a responsibility to “increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 

P
age 114



36 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.25 The consultee expresses that some parents choose for their 

children to attend Llangennech School in order for them to 
have an opportunity to learn the Welsh language although that 
they do not speak the language themselves. Dual stream 
schools are able to support the needs of these families. There 
is no need to change the school. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.26 The consultee is concerned about their job security at 

Llangennech Infants School as they are not bilingual and are 
currently working in the English stream. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.”  The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local Authority 
believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. 
This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives 
education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read 
and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
The proposal will take 7 years to be fully implemented and for the 
school to become a completely Welsh medium school. This allows 
time for the school to amend their current arrangements in order to 
provide staff with opportunities to develop their Welsh skills in the 
school environment. The Local Authority will also provide training 
support for any staff members wishing to develop their Welsh skills. In 
addition, the Authority has staffing policies and procedures in respect 
of school reorganisation and these can be recommended for 
implementation if needed. The Authority will support school staff in 
securing suitable alternative employment if at all possible through 
redeployment processes. 

P
age 115



37 
 

 
 
1.27 The consultee feels that children should be given 

opportunities to learn values, traditions and beliefs about 
themselves and others. Learning in diverse environments 
allows for all to feel valued. The consultee is concerned about 
their job security as they do not speak the Welsh language and 
they are currently working in the English stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.28 The consultee feels that the school should cater for both 
Welsh and English speaking families. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.29 The consultee feels that as this is the only school in the 

village, it is unacceptable for pupils wishing to receive their 
education through the medium of English to have to attend 
schools in neighbouring areas. This will destroy the community 
spirit.  

 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The proposal will take 7 years to 
be fully implemented and for the school to become a completely 
Welsh medium school. This allows time for the school to amend their 
current arrangements in order to provide staff with opportunities to 
develop their Welsh skills in the school environment. The Local 
Authority will also provide training support for any staff members 
wishing to develop their Welsh skills. In addition, the Authority has 
staffing policies and procedures in respect of school reorganisation 
and these can be recommended for implementation if needed. The 
Authority will support school staff in securing suitable alternative 
employment if at all possible through redeployment processes. 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 

P
age 116



38 
 

 

 

 

1.30 The consultee states that some years back a Welsh only 
clause was introduced into the reception class which was then 
extended to year 1. If parents wish for their children to be 
educated at Llangennech School they must agree to this. 
Every pupil has a right to practice their own cultures and the 
government has a responsibility to protect these rights. This 
proposal means that this right is being taken away from the 
pupils.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.31 The consultee feels that pupils are able to have a full school 

life at Llangennech School. Although that some pupils attend 
the English stream, they are still able to attend many school 
activities including competing in the Eisteddfod. It has also 
been noted by secondary school teachers that pupils who 
have attended the English stream in Llangennech had a very 
high standard of Welsh. The community should continue to 
have a choice of both streams as this provides a good 
foundation for pupils in the English stream who would like to 
learn the Welsh language. 

 

medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
 
 

P
age 117



39 
 

1.32 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 
from the community. The school works well as it is and there is 
no need to change it. This is discrimination against English 
speaking pupils and causes segregation between pupils who 
will have been used to socialising with each other. The 
consultee is also concerned that both proposed English 
medium schools are not easily accessible and will cause 
congestion around peak times. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1.33 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 
from the community. The school is working well and therefore 
there is no need to change it and option 4 should be the 
preferred option. Dual stream schools help pupils in the 
English stream school to grasp the Welsh language – this 
would not happen if pupils attended an English medium 
school. Dual stream also enables parents to choose the 
appropriate language medium for their children, depending on 
their needs. The proposal may lead to families having children 
attending different schools. Many members of the community 
are English speaking and therefore this proposal does not 
cater for these people’s needs.  

 

 
 

The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 

P
age 118



40 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.34 The consultee would like to put the following option forward 

for consideration. The consultee feels that the status quo in 
regards to the language category should be maintained but 
with modifications. The English stream would receive a 
minimum of 30% Welsh lessons a week and would mimic the 
amount English lessons that the Welsh stream receive. This 
would ensure that pupils from both streams would be able to 
speak, read and write bilingually. This would also ensure an 
increase of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire. By 
following this proposal, pupils from both streams would be able 
to change stream if needed.  
 
This proposal has been considered in detail in Appendix F. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  This proposal would 
mean that there would be an increase in the provision of Welsh 
second language; however this percentage of Welsh lessons would 
not be successful in creating bilingual individuals who are fluent and 
confident in both English and Welsh languages. This proposal won’t 
deliver Carmarthenshire’s targets of improving the provision of Welsh 
(first language) medium education. It is more important for non-Welsh 
pupils to be immersed in the Welsh language and this can be done 
successfully through a Welsh medium school.  
 
Please see Appendix F for further analysis of this proposal. 
 

P
age 119



41 
 

 
 

1.35 The consultee is concerned how non-Welsh families can be 
included in a pupil’s learning if they attend a Welsh medium 
school. These pupils may have to attend English medium 
schools outside of the local area and therefore divide the 
community. These pupils would then learn no Welsh at all 
whereas by attending a dual stream school they are able to 
pick up the language. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.36 The consultee expresses the concerns of several parents 
regarding changing the language category to Welsh medium. 

 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
  
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 

P
age 120



42 
 

Some pupils who have learning difficulties will not be able to 
learn easily through the medium of Welsh. With this proposal 
there will be no option available for these pupils to move to the 
English stream. There are also concerns with new homes 
being built, neighbouring schools will be at their capacity. 
There will be a strain on teachers if pupils from Llangennech 
will also move to these schools. The local authority should 
consider not allowing pupils from other catchment areas 
attending other schools. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1.37 The consultee feels that some pupils in year 6 will still 

transfer to English medium secondary schools if the language 
category of the school changes to Welsh medium. Also, if 
pupils are to receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh up until the age of 7, their English skills will suffer. 
Pupils should not have to move out of their village to receive 
their education. There is no need to change the school. 
 
 
 

village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. All pupils with additional 
learning needs have specific individual plans based on their needs 
and the agreed support is provided. This support will continue to be 
provided for each individual currently attending the school through the 
medium they currently receive their education. Should the proposal 
be implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly 
through the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional 
learning need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is 
much flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils 
to succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. Pupils 
are admitted to schools following the guidelines as stated in the 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can 
state a preference for a school, which is not the designated 
catchment area school. Subject to the limit on the number of 
pupils who can be admitted into the school not being exceeded 
and the correct procedures being followed, then admission will 
be granted.” 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. English is a statutory 
curriculum subject and will continue to be taught to the highest of 
standards. The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local Authority 
believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. 

P
age 121



43 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
1.38 The consultee feels that there is no need to change the 

school as it has worked well as a dual stream school for a 
number of years. The school has an excellent reputation and 
the pupils are happy with the system. The community should 
continue to have a choice. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.39 The consultee is supportive of the Welsh language but feels 

that the school should remain dual stream. Many people have 
placed their children in the school purely as it is a dual stream 
school and this choice should not be taken away from the 
community. Pupils from both streams interact well with each 
other and the school has an excellent reputation. It would not 
be possible for some parents to move their children to the 
proposed English medium school and they should not need to 

This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives 
education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read 
and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 

P
age 122



44 
 

do this. There is no need to change a system that already 
works well. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
1.40 The consultee states that as an employee at the school and 

a school governor they were firstly supportive of the proposal. 
However, the consultee states that they are now opposed to 
the idea. At the moment, staff who do not speak Welsh are 
able to practice their Welsh skills – this would not be able to 
happen at an English medium school. The school caters for all 
members of the community and creates a strong bond 
between children of different languages. Pupils should not 
have to travel outside of their local area to receive English 
medium education – this will cause segregation between 
pupils of different languages. This also causes problems for 
families without means of private transport and the local 
authority have a responsibility to cater for all families. This 
proposal will surely divide the community and the best way to 
promote the Welsh language would be to increase the amount 
of Welsh lessons per week, whilst keeping choice for the 

provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.”  
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 

P
age 123



45 
 

community. 
  
 
 
 
1.41 The consultee feels that the school should remain dual 

stream. Preference has been given to the Welsh language 
over the last few years – both languages should be treated 
equally. The majority of the families that have moved into the 
area are English speaking and these parents should be given 
a choice for their children. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.42 The consultee feels that the school should remain dual 

stream. Many parents do not speak the Welsh language and 
will be unable to help their children with their schoolwork. The 
Welsh language can only be used in Wales and cannot be 

parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017 states that the Authority will work 
with other services to “ensure that non-Welsh speaking pupils 
who have just moved into the County are suitably supported in 
order that they can integrate naturally in their local school and 
community.” 
 
  
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 

P
age 124



46 
 

used in 95% of universities. The consultee is concerned that 
the proposed English schools do not have enough capacity to 
accept pupils from Llangennech who desire an English 
medium education. There would also be travel implications for 
families wishing to attend these schools. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
The school will provide sufficient support for current pupils through 
the medium of which they currently receive their education. Should 
the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be 
provided to all new pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who 
provide support to schools around the county will also be supporting 
the school and its pupils. Please refer to the Executive Summary 
where it is noted in detail the support which is currently/will be 
available to all parents and pupils. There are many advantages to 
being bilingual as confirmed by national and international research 
and articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a 
Bilingual education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects 
on children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. Pupils are admitted 
to schools following the guidelines as stated in the Admission to 
School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can state a 
preference for a school, which is not the designated catchment 
area school. Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who 
can be admitted into the school not being exceeded and the 
correct procedures being followed, then admission will be 
granted.” The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet 
states that “the arrangement and cost of transport to school for 
pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a parental 

P
age 125



47 
 

 
 
 
 
1.43 The consultee supports the promotion of the Welsh 

language but feels that this proposal will be counterproductive. 
There is no need to force the Welsh language onto people. 
Llangennech School is working well and most parents are 
supportive of a bilingual education. This proposal does not 
cater for the many English speaking members of the 
community and these members should not have to move out of 
their local area to seek English medium education. There are 
other ways of promoting the Welsh language other than 
changing the language category of the school to Welsh 
medium. The community should continue to have a choice of 
both streams. The consultee has accepted that providing 
education for 3 year olds will standardise education for this 
year group – however this proposal will have a detrimental 
effect on other nursery providers in the area.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.44 The consultee is concerned that pupil’s choices will be 

reduced and that pupils will be forced to learn through the 
medium of Welsh or move school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

responsibility.” This is something that all parents/guardians should 
consider if they decide that their child needs to attend another school. 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “all 3 year olds are entitled to 10 hours 
per week free placement at a registered setting from the 
beginning of the term following their third birthday.” Part time is 
defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon sessions or a mixture of 5 
morning/afternoon sessions. There will still be a need for nursery 
provision for all children under the age of 3 years old and for 3 year 
olds outside of the hours that the school provides nursery provision. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 

P
age 126



48 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.45 The consultee is concerned that pupils with learning 
difficulties/disabilities or pupils that find the Welsh language 
difficult will not be able to move into the English stream and 
will have to move to another school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
All pupils with additional learning needs have specific individual plans 
based on their needs and the agreed support is provided. This 
support will continue to be provided for each individual currently 
attending the school through the medium they currently receive their 
education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will 
receive this support mainly through the medium of Welsh. In the 
majority of cases an additional learning need is not a barrier to 
learning two languages as there is much flexibility built into the 
delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to succeed. It is our 
experience that the vast majority of pupils with a wide range of 
additional learning needs and abilities are successful in all of our 
schools irrespective of the language of instruction. 

P
age 127



49 
 

 

 

1.46 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will alienate non Welsh speaking 
children and parents by forcing them to seek English medium 
schools outside of the community. 

 

 

 

 

1.47 The consultee expresses concerns regarding changing the 
language category to Welsh medium. The consultee is 
concerned that pupils wanting English medium education will 
have to attend other schools and some parents might have 
several siblings in different schools which will cause difficulties 
for parents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.48 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will mean that the family may have 
to take one of their children (who will start after proposal is 
implemented) to an English medium school outside of the 
village if they wish for the child to have a mainly English 
medium education. The consultee expresses concern that the 
pupil will not receive the high standard of education that 
Llangennech School would provide. 

 

 

 

 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. Parents should also consider any other 
issues which may arise. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. However, should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. 
 
 

P
age 128



50 
 

1.49 The consultee is concerned with how the consultation 
process has been conducted and the lack of awareness by the 
local community. The consultee feels that there are a number 
of inaccuracies within the proposal and appears to be centred 
on the opinion of a minority. The proposal has caused 
discontent in the local area. The consultee also feels that the 
proposal lacks and evidence based approach and fails to meet 
21st Century School programme to have the “right school in 
the right place.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.50 The consultee expresses concern that the change in 
language category would be detrimental to the community in 
Llangennech as parents who wish for their children to be 
educated in English will have to choose a school outside of the 
village. The consultee is also concerned that multiculturalism 
within the school will be reduced and that it will cause more 
difficulties for parents who are non- Welsh speakers when 
helping their children with their homework. 

 

 

 

The consultation process has been carried out following the 
guidelines as stated in the School Organisation Code 2013 and all 
stakeholders were notified of the consultation following these 
guidelines. The School Organisation Code 2013 states that “from 
time to time proposers will have conducted an ‘informal’ 
consultation with particular stakeholders.” However, this is not a 
legal requirement. The data presented in the consultation document 
shows the difference in the number of pupils attending both streams, 
with the majority of pupils attending through the Welsh stream. This 
shows that there is demand for a Welsh medium school. The 
proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 

P
age 129



51 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.51 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will affect those pupils who will 
choose to move to an English medium school by limiting the 
amount of Welsh that these pupils will learn. By attending a 
dual stream school, non-Welsh pupils are able to learn more 
Welsh than what they would be able to at an English medium 
school. Pupils who also struggle with the Welsh language 
would also have to move school rather than moving into the 
English stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils.  
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The proposals have been 
prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to 
“increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so 
that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 

P
age 130



52 
 

 

 

 

 

1.52 The consultee is concerned with the how the consultation 
process has been conducted and the lack of effort made by 
the school, LA and community council to engage with parents 
and prospective parents. The consultee believes that the 
school have been trying to move to a Welsh medium language 
category for a number of years. If pupils were to choose to 
attend and English medium school this would mean having 
young children of 4/5 walking a great distance to school or if 
they were to qualify for transport, being bussed to another 
school. This proposal would seriously affect English speaking 
members in the community and will split the community from 
an early age. Brynsierfel and Ffwrnes provide Welsh medium 
education where those desiring Welsh medium education can 
attend. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
 
The consultation process has been carried out following the 
guidelines as stated in the School Organisation Code 2013 and all 
stakeholders were notified of the consultation following these 
guidelines. The School Organisation Code 2013 states that “from 
time to time proposers will have conducted an ‘informal’ 
consultation with particular stakeholders.” However, this is not a 
legal requirement. The proposals have been prepared in response to 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The 
local authority has a responsibility to “increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.”  It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils 
remain at the school and that future prospective pupils will continue to 
attend the village school and receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not 
affect current pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education 
through the medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission 
to School Information for Parents booklet states that “the 
arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who do 
not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This is 
something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. 
 
 

P
age 131



53 
 

1.53 The consultee expresses concern that changing the 
language category will force many parents to send their 
children to an English medium school – which will incur 
financial implications and the sense of detachment from the 
village. The consultee is also concerned that parents who do 
not speak Welsh may feel pressured to send their child to the 
school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.54 The consultee expresses concern that changing the 
language category will force parents who do not wish for their 
children to have a Welsh medium education to move them to 
an English medium school. The consultee is concerned that 
this would affect current traffic situations and also some 
parents would have to walk their children to school along busy 
roads. The consultee also expresses concern that pupils who 
would attend the English stream at a dual stream school but 
choose to attend an English medium school will be at a 
disadvantage as they will not be able to pick up the Welsh 
language as they would in a dual stream school. The 
consultee states that pupils from both streams currently mix 
through different school activities and this would not continue if 
the school became Welsh medium. 

It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. The Local Authority have a responsibility to 
provide all pupils with the best education possible and the Local 
Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for 
all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can 
speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
Sufficient support will be available to parents who do not speak 
Welsh. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. The proposals have been prepared in 
response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy 
(WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the 

P
age 132



54 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.55 The consultee is concerned that pupils who find learning 
through the medium of Welsh difficult will not have the option 
of moving to the English stream and will have to move to an 
English medium school. The consultee is also concerned 
about travelling implications for those parents wanting to place 
their children in an English medium school. The consultee 
states that pupils in the English stream are able to learn the 
Welsh language by attending a dual stream school whereas 
this would not be possible by attending an English medium 
school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

provision of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and 
ensure linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the 
key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.”  The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local Authority 
believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. 
This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives 
education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read 
and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“the arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who 

P
age 133



55 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.56 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category will force parents to move their children to an English 
medium school, outside of the village and therefore causing a 
divide within the village. This will result in the pupils learning 
no Welsh at all whereas by attending a dual stream school 
they are able to pick up the language. The consultee is 
concerned that pupils who struggle with the Welsh language or 
who have learning difficulties will not be fully supported and 
will also, have to move to an English medium school, where 
they may not receive education of the same standard. The 
consultee expresses concern for traffic implications by 
changing the language category as parents who want their 
children to attend English medium schools will have to travel 
outside of the village whilst some pupils out of catchment may 
travel to Llangennech for Welsh medium education. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

do not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This 
is something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” The school will provide sufficient support for current pupils 
through the medium of which they currently receive their education. 
Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be 
provided to all new pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who 
provide support to schools around the county will also be supporting 
the school and its pupils. Please refer to the Executive Summary 
where it is noted in detail the support which is currently/will be 

P
age 134



56 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.57 The consultee expresses concern regarding changing the 
language category of the school. The consultee is concerned 
that the proposal will force families to either choose a fully 
Welsh medium education or move to an English medium 
school which will then limit the pupils from learning Welsh. 
This will then mean additional transport costs for parents who 
decide to move their children to an English medium school. 
The consultee is also concerned about how the change will 
affect pupils with additional learning needs and disabilities and 
what support will be available to pupils. 

 

 

 

available to all parents and pupils. All pupils with additional learning 
needs have specific individual plans based on their needs and the 
agreed support is provided. This support will continue to be provided 
for each individual currently attending the school through the medium 
they currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly through 
the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional learning 
need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is much 
flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to 
succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. The 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that “the 
arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who do 
not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This is 
something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. Should parents 
consider moving their children to other schools due to parental 
preference, then they should consider the educational standards of 
the schools when doing so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. All pupils with additional learning needs 
have specific individual plans based on their needs and the agreed 
support is provided. This support will continue to be provided for each 

P
age 135



57 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.58 The consultee expresses concern regarding changing the 
language category to Welsh medium. It is the consultee’s 
opinion that this will divide the community and lead to a 
breakdown in the community spirit of the village. It is also 
unfair to ask parents who wish for their children to be educated 
through the medium of English to move to school outside of 
the village. Dual stream schools enable children who learn 
through the medium of English to teach enough Welsh to get 
by. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.59 The consultee is concerned that the children’s education will 
suffer if the English language is treated as a second language. 
English is the language of the business world and therefore 
pupils will be at a disadvantage later on in life. 

individual currently attending the school through the medium they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly through 
the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional learning 
need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is much 
flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to 
succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The proposals have been 
prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to 
“increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so 
that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
English is a statutory curriculum subject and will continue to be taught 
to the highest of standards. There are many advantages to being 
bilingual as confirmed by national and international research and 
articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a Bilingual 

P
age 136



58 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.60 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will disadvantage pupils later on in 
life when they enter further education through the English 
language. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.61 The consultee expresses concern regarding changing the 
language category of the school to Welsh medium. Choice will 
be taken from the community and the consultee is concerned 
that pupils who struggle with the Welsh language will not be 
able to change stream and will have to move to a different 
school. The consultee also feels that this change will cause a 
divide in the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects on 
children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 
 
English is a statutory curriculum subject and will continue to be taught 
to the highest of standards. There are many advantages to being 
bilingual as confirmed by national and international research and 
articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a Bilingual 
education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects on 
children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The school will provide sufficient support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they currently receive 
their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils 
will receive their education through the medium of Welsh and 
sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 

P
age 137



59 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.62 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium would cause segregation in the 
community and would limit pupils who are taught in different 
language mediums from interacting with each other. Pupils 
who want an English medium education will have to attend 
schools outside of their community and will have to provide 
their own transport. The consultee feels that learning through 
the Welsh language will disadvantage pupils later on in life and 
that pupils forced to learn through the Welsh medium will not 
achieve their full potential. The consultee is also concerned 
that the proposed changes will mean job losses for school staff 
and for staff members in other organisations in the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.63 The consultee expresses concern regarding changing the 
language category to Welsh medium. This would cause a 
divide in the community and mean that children wanting 
English medium education would have to leave their 
community and attend another school. The consultee feels 
that Llangennech School is unique because families can have 
children attending different streams depending on their needs 

medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. There are many advantages to being 
bilingual as confirmed by national and international research and 
articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a Bilingual 
education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects on 
children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The proposals have been 
prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 

P
age 138



60 
 

and by changing the language category this choice will be 
taken away.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.64 The consultee is concerned with changing the language 
category of the school. The consultee is concerned that 
parents who already have children attending the school 
through the English stream and will have children starting after 
January 2017 may have to move pupils to another English 
medium school. This means that families will have children in 
two different which could cause difficulties and may result in 
having to move all children outside of the community. The 
consultee is also concerned that the change will alienate non-
Welsh parents who have no choice but to send their children 
to a Welsh medium school and will also alienate pupils who 
are not able to practice the language at home. 

 

 

 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to 
“increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so 
that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” Sufficient support will be provided to parents who are non-
Welsh speaking.  
 

P
age 139



61 
 

 

1.65 The consultee expresses concern with regard to changing 
the language category to Welsh medium. Pupils should be 
able to attend their local school and not be forced out of the 
village if they want an English medium education. This change 
would cause a divide in the community rather than promoting 
inclusion. The consultee is also concerned that choice is being 
taken away from families and pupils who may struggle with the 
Welsh language will have to move school as the English 
stream will no longer be available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.66 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will cause difficulties for families 
whose children require education through different mediums. 
This would cause even more difficulties for families without 
means of private transport. The consultee also states that 
pupils receiving education through the English medium have a 
very good understanding of the Welsh language whereas this 
would be limited by attending an English medium school. The 
cousultee also has concerns regarding changing the age 

 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” The school will provide sufficient support for current pupils 
through the medium of which they currently receive their education. 
Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be 
provided to all new pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who 
provide support to schools around the county will also be supporting 
the school and its pupils. Please refer to the Executive Summary 
where it is noted in detail the support which is currently/will be 
available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 

P
age 140



62 
 

range to 3-11 as offering 2 hours a day of childcare is not 
suitable for working parents compared with other organisations 
in the village. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.67 The consultee is concerned that changing that language 
category will divide the community if pupils have to travel 
outside of the community to receive English medium 
education. Pupils should be able to attend the school in their 
own community and be a part of that community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.68 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will force some people to seek 

parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. The Local Authority have a responsibility to 
provide all pupils with the best education possible and the Local 
Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for 
all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who 
receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can 
speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that “all 3 
year olds are entitled to 10 hours per week free placement at a 
registered setting from the beginning of the term following their 
third birthday.” Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 
afternoon sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. 
There will still be a need for nursery provision for all children under 
the age of 3 years old and for 3 year olds outside of the hours that the 
school provides nursery provision. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so.  The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 

P
age 141



63 
 

English medium education outside of the village. The 
consultee is concerned that pupils who choose to move to 
English medium schools will not be exposed at all to the Welsh 
language, whereas by attending the English stream at 
Llangennech School they are able to pick up the language. 
The change would also cause a divide in the community and 
would segregate pupils attending different schools. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.69 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will prevent pupils who have 
moved to the area from attending the village school. The 
consultee is also concerned that not all pupils will be able to 
achieve their full potential by learning through the medium of 
Welsh. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.70 The consultee feels that the families will suffer if they are 
unable to take their children to the village school and this will 
also include additional travelling costs. 

 

 

 

 

 

village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017 
states that the Authority will work with other services to “ensure that 
non-Welsh speaking pupils who have just moved into the County 
are suitably supported in order that they can integrate naturally 
in their local school and community.” There are many advantages 
to being bilingual as confirmed by national and international research 
and articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a 
Bilingual education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects 
on children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 

P
age 142



64 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1.71 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium would cause a divide in the community and 
would detrimental rather than beneficial. The consultee is also 
concerned about the ‘knock on’ effects on the community 
centre, playgroups and nurseries and the effects on 
employees of these establishments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.72 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 

transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “all 3 year olds are 
entitled to 10 hours per week free placement at a registered 
setting from the beginning of the term following their third 
birthday.” Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 afternoon 
sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. There will still 
be a need for nursery provision for all children under the age of 3 
years old and for 3 year olds outside of the hours that the school 
provides nursery provision. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 

P
age 143



65 
 

category to Welsh medium will cause a divide in the 
community, by forcing children seeking English medium 
education out of the village. Pupils will no longer socialise both 
in and out of school. 

 

 

 

1.73 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will be detrimental to the language. At the 
moment English stream pupils are able to learn more Welsh 
than they would be able to by attending an English medium 
school. The consultee is also concerned about travel 
implications to English medium schools. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 

P
age 144



66 
 

 

 

 

 

1.74 The consultee feels that pupils seeking English medium 
education should not have to attend schools outside of their 
village. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.75 The consultee feels that the only option for pupils seeking 
English medium education would be to attend a school outside 
of their village. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.76 The consultee feels that pupils should be able to attend their 
village school and not have to commute in order to receive an 
English medium education. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.77 The consultee feels that the parents should have a choice of 
both Welsh and English streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 

P
age 145



67 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.78 The consultee feels that choice is being taken away from the 
community and that the community should have a choice of 
both Welsh and English streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 

P
age 146



68 
 

1.79 The consultee feels that pupils attending the English stream 
have a very good understanding of the Welsh language and 
that there is no need for change. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.80 The consultee is concerned that the proposal is not based 
on the needs of all children. As many pupils are from outside 
catchment the consultee is concerned how this will increase 
the use of the Welsh language in community of Llangennech. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 

P
age 147



69 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.81 The consultee feels that pupils should be able to attend their 
village school and should not have to attend schools outside of 
the village if they wish to receive an English medium 
education. 

 

 

 

 

1.82 The consultee feels that the community should have a 
choice of both Welsh and English streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 

P
age 148



70 
 

 

1.83 The consultee is concerned about the financial and physical 
strain on families wishing to receive an English medium 
education. They also feel that bonds will be broken between 
pupils attending the same nurseries who will then attend 
different schools. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.84 The consultee feels that there is no need for change. There 
is also concern for families who do not speak Welsh who will 
not be able to help their children with school work and also 
that choice is taken away from the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The school will provide sufficient 
support for current pupils through the medium of which they currently 
receive their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all 

P
age 149



71 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.85 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 
from the community as some families have children attending 
both streams and this will not be an option in the future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.86 The consultee feels that there is no need to change the 
school as it has an excellent reputation as a bilingual school. 

 

 

 

future pupils will receive their education through the medium of Welsh 
and sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 

P
age 150



72 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.87 The consultee feels that parents should have a choice of 
sending their children to either stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 

P
age 151



73 
 

 

 

1.88 The consultee is concerned with the number of pupils 
attending the school from outside the catchment area and 
feels that the village school should be for pupils within 
catchment. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.89 The consultee feels that parents should have a choice of 
both streams as everyone has a chance to learn the Welsh 
language. There would be travel implications on those wishing 
to receive an English medium education. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Pupils are admitted to the school following the guidelines as stated in 
the Admission to School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents 
can state a preference for a school, which is not the designated 
catchment area school. Subject to the limit on the number of 
pupils who can be admitted into the school not being exceeded 
and the correct procedures being followed, then admission will 
be granted.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 

P
age 152



74 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.90 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 
from families especially from English speaking families who 
wish for their children to learn some of the Welsh language but 
without having an impact on their education. It is also felt that 
this would cause a divide in the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.91 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 

will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 

P
age 153



75 
 

from families, especially when the current situation has worked 
well for so long. This will cause a divide in the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.92 The consultee is concerned that choice is taken away from 
families. There will be implications for families wishing to seek 
English medium education and this will mean that pupils will 
not have the opportunity to learn the Welsh language whereas 
in a dual stream school they would pick up the language. 

 

 

 

 

County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 

P
age 154



76 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.93 The consultee feels that there is no need to change the 
current situation as it is working very well. The community 
should have a choice of both Welsh and English streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  It is the Local 
Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the school and 
that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school 
and receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is 
important to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the 
school and pupils receiving their education through the medium of 
English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 

P
age 155



77 
 

 

 

 

 

1.94 The consultee feels that the proposal has split the 
community and that parents should have a choice of both 
streams. There are concern for pupils with additional learning 
needs who may struggle with learning through the medium of 
Welsh. These pupils would have to move to an English 
medium school rather than changing stream. The change 
would also mean that pupils seeking English medium 
education would not be able to learn any Welsh at all. The 
consultee also has concerns regarding the consultation 
process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. All pupils with additional learning needs have 
specific individual plans based on their needs and the agreed support 
is provided. This support will continue to be provided for each 
individual currently attending the school through the medium they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive this support mainly through 
the medium of Welsh. In the majority of cases an additional learning 

P
age 156



78 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.95 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will remove choice from the community. It is 
unfair that younger pupils will not have the same choice as 
their older siblings have had. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.96 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will cause segregation within the 
village. There is no need to change the school. 

 

need is not a barrier to learning two languages as there is much 
flexibility built into the delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to 
succeed. It is our experience that the vast majority of pupils with a 
wide range of additional learning needs and abilities are successful in 
all of our schools irrespective of the language of instruction. The 
consultation process has been carried out following the guidelines as 
stated in the School Organisation Code 2013 and all stakeholders 
were notified of the consultation following these guidelines.  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 

P
age 157



79 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.97 The consultee feels that the choice should be kept for 
families. There are concerns for people who move to the area 
will chose for their children to attend schools outside of the 
village. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.”  
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017 
states that the Authority will work with other services to “ensure that 
non-Welsh speaking pupils who have just moved into the County 
are suitably supported in order that they can integrate naturally 
in their local school and community.” 

P
age 158



80 
 

 

 

1.98 The consultee feels that the Welsh skills of pupils attending 
the English stream are enhanced by attending a dual stream 
school. There is no need to change the school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.99 The consultee feels that there is no need to change the 
school and that the community should have a choice of both 
streams. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 

P
age 159



81 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.100 The consultee feels that pupils shouldn’t be forced to speak 
Welsh and that the school should remain as it is. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.101 The consultee has concerns that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will divide the community. Pupils 
wishing to receive English medium education will have to 
attend schools outside of the village and this will include travel 
implications for families. 

have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 

P
age 160



82 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.102 The consultee feels that the school is successful as it is and 
there is no need to change it. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
Since the inception of the Modernising Education Programme, it has 
been set out to create Community Primary Schools to replace Infants 
and Junior Schools. The proposals have been prepared in response 
to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic 
Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). 
The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key 

P
age 161



83 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.103 The consultee feels that the school should be kept as dual 
stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.”  The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all 
pupils with the best education possible and the Local Authority 
believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. 
This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives 
education in Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read 
and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to “ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector” 
and are able to achieve this by providing nursery provision at the 
school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 

P
age 162



84 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1.104 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium is unfair to families who do not speak the 
language. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The school will provide sufficient 
support for current pupils through the medium of which they currently 
receive their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all 
future pupils will receive their education through the medium of Welsh 
and sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. There will 
also be sufficient support for parents who do not speak the Welsh 

P
age 163



85 
 

 

 

 

1.105 The consultee feels that pupils are entitled to receive their 
education in their local area. Both English and Welsh speakers 
should be incorporated in order to develop the Welsh skills of 
non-Welsh speakers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.106 The consultee is concerned that if pupils wish to receive 
their education through the medium of English, they will have 
to attend schools outside of their local area and will be 
separated from their friends already at the school. There are 
also concerns for the travel implications if pupils chose to 

language.  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 

P
age 164



86 
 

attend an English medium school. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.107 The consultee is supportive of a bilingual education but does 
not support a monolingual Welsh education system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.108 The consultee feels that the community have a right to the 
choice of which language their children should receive their 
education in. This proposal could also have an effect on the 

medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” English is a statutory curriculum 
subject and will continue to be taught at the school to the highest of 
standards. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 

P
age 165



87 
 

local community. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.109 The consultee feels that the school should remain bilingual. 
The pupils attending the English stream have a good 
understanding of the Welsh language and culture. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 

P
age 166



88 
 

 

 

 

 

1.110 The consultee is concerned that pupils wanting an English 
medium education will have to attend schools outside of the 
village. The school works well as a dual stream and other 
schools should be made dual stream in order to promote the 
Welsh language. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.111 The consultee feels that pupils in the English stream are 
exposed to the Welsh language – this will not happen if pupils 
choose to attend English medium schools and therefore these 
pupils will not learn any Welsh. The school should be kept dual 
stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The proposals have been 
prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to 
“increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so 
that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 
English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 

P
age 167



89 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.112 The consultee feels that the school should be kept dual 
stream. This proposal would segregate non-Welsh speakers 
who won’t be able to attend their local school. Pupils shouldn’t 
be forced to speak Welsh. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Local Authority have a 
responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 
and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium 
education is best for all pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s aim of ensuring “that 
every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 
schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of 
KS2.” 
 
 

P
age 168



90 
 

1.113 The consultee feels that the school should remain as dual 
stream as many people in the area are not fluent Welsh 
speakers. Pupils should also be able to attend a school in their 
local area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.114 The consultee is concerned that the pupils who wish to 
receive their education through the medium of English and 
move to the proposed schools will not receive the same 
standard of education as they would in Llangennech School as 
they do not have the same rating as Llangennech School. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.115 The consultee feels that the school should remain as it is as 
the presence of the English stream is beneficial to pupils with 
additional learning needs. 

 

The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. Should parents consider 
moving their children to other schools due to parental preference, 
then they should consider the educational standards of the schools 
when doing so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 

P
age 169



91 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.116 The consultee is concerned that friends will leave 
Llangennech School in order to obtain English medium 
education and feels that the school should remain as dual 
stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
All pupils with additional learning needs have specific individual plans 
based on their needs and the agreed support is provided. This 
support will continue to be provided for each individual currently 
attending the school through the medium they currently receive their 
education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils will 
receive this support mainly through the medium of Welsh. In the 
majority of cases an additional learning need is not a barrier to 
learning two languages as there is much flexibility built into the 
delivery of the curriculum to enable pupils to succeed. It is our 
experience that the vast majority of pupils with a wide range of 
additional learning needs and abilities are successful in all of our 
schools irrespective of the language of instruction. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The proposals have been 
prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education 
Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to 
“increase the provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector so 
that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and 

P
age 170



92 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.117 The consultee feels that the school should remain as a dual 
stream school and is concerned that if the school changes to 
Welsh medium then not all pupils’ needs will be met. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.118 The consultee supports the progression of education 

English languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the 
County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 

P
age 171



93 
 

through the medium of Welsh but feels that a dual stream 
school can be used flexibly with the changing demand for 
English or Welsh education. Pupils at a young age should be 
able to start school with their friends. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.119 The consultee agrees that the Welsh language is an integral 
part of the Welsh education system but does not agree to 
changing the language category of the school to Welsh 
medium as not all pupils in the area speak Welsh. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.120 The consultee does not feel that there is need to change the 
school as it is working well as it is. The Welsh language is 

County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  It is the Local 
Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the school and 
that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school 
and receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is 
important to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the 
school and pupils receiving their education through the medium of 
English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 

P
age 172



94 
 

important but there is no need to change the school to be 
completely Welsh medium. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.121 The consultee opposes the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium as the school is already working 
well as dual stream. There are a number of people living in the 
area who do not speak the Welsh language and would have to 
attend schools outside of their local area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   It is the Local 
Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the school and 
that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school 
and receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is 
important to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the 

P
age 173



95 
 

 

 

 

 

1.122 The consultee feels that the community should have a 
choice of both English and Welsh streams as the current 
situation has worked well for many years. The consultee is 
concerned that pupils will be at a disadvantage if their parents 
are not able to help them with their school work because they 
are unable to speak the Welsh language. Pupils have a right 
to be educated in their first language and in their local area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

school and pupils receiving their education through the medium of 
English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”   The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The school will provide sufficient 
support for current pupils through the medium of which they currently 
receive their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all 
future pupils will receive their education through the medium of Welsh 
and sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. There will 
also be sufficient support for parents who do not speak the Welsh 
language. 

P
age 174



96 
 

 

 

1.123 The consultee feels that all children have a right to be 
educated in their first language, whether it be Welsh or 
English. It is felt that this proposal will divide the community 
and parents should not be punished for deciding which 
education is best for their children. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.124 The consultee feels that the school should be kept as dual 
stream as the majority of the village are English speakers. This 
proposal will cause a divide in the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 

P
age 175



97 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.125 The consultee feels that choice is being taken away from the 
community. The pupils would not have a choice of changing to 
the English stream if they struggle to learn through the 
medium of Welsh. There would also be travel implications if 
pupils choose to change school to receive an English medium 
education and also pupils may find it difficult to settle in to a 
new school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The school will provide sufficient support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they currently receive 

P
age 176



98 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.126 The consultee does not agree with changing the language 
category of the school to Welsh medium. There are concerns 
regarding how pupils will be educated if they choose to move 
to Bryn or Hendy Primary Schools as these are already at 
capacity. The consultee also has concerns as to how the 
consultation process has been managed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils 
will receive their education through the medium of Welsh and 
sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. The 
Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that “the 
arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who do 
not qualify for free transport is a parental responsibility.” This is 
something that all parents/guardians should consider if they decide 
that their child needs to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” Pupils are admitted to 
the school following the guidelines as stated in the Admission to 
School Information for Parents booklet – “Parents can state a 
preference for a school, which is not the designated catchment 
area school. Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who 
can be admitted into the school not being exceeded and the 
correct procedures being followed, then admission will be 
granted.” 

P
age 177



99 
 

 

 

1.127 The consultee feels that the community should have the 
choice of attending an English or Welsh stream. This proposal 
discriminates against pupils wishing to receive their education 
through the medium of English. The majority of the community 
are English speaking and the local school should cater for all 
pupils. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.128 The consultee feels that the school should remain dual 
stream. This proposal discriminates against pupils wishing to 
receive their education through the medium of English and the 
school already provides an excellent education as it is. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 

P
age 178



100 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.129 The consultee is concerned that less privileged families will 
suffer as they will either have to accept a Welsh medium 
education or face the financial implications of traveling to 
English medium schools outside their local area. Pupils who 
struggle with the Welsh language will have to move school 
rather than move stream. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.130 The consultee feels that the school should remain dual 
stream and that the Welsh language should not be forced on 
people. The community should have the choice of whether to 

have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school The school will provide sufficient support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they currently receive 
their education. Should the proposal be implemented, all future pupils 
will receive their education through the medium of Welsh and 
sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils through the 
medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that all teachers are 
expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on the needs of the 
pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools around the 
county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. Please refer 
to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the support 
which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 

P
age 179



101 
 

attend an English or Welsh stream. The consultee also feels 
that there has been a lack of consultation regarding the 
proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.131 The consultee feels that the school should remain dual 
stream as it works as it is. The pupils should have the right to 
be educated in their local school through their first language. 
Pupils who are from non-Welsh backgrounds will suffer as 
parents will not be able to provide support and there will be 
travel implications for those who wish to attend an English 
medium school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” The consultation process has 
been carried out following the guidelines as stated in the School 
Organisation Code 2013 and all stakeholders were notified of the 
consultation following these guidelines.  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 

P
age 180



102 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.132 The consultee feels that the school should be kept as a dual 
stream school. 

 

 

 

medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
Sufficient support will also be provided to parents who do not speak 
the Welsh language. The Admission to School Information for Parents 
booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport to 
school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 

P
age 181



103 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.133 The consultee feels that the school should remain as dual 
stream as it has worked well for a number of years. Pupils 
should continue to have a choice of an English or Welsh 
education. There is no need to change something that works. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.134 The consultee feels that individuals should have a choice of 
whether to learn through the medium of English or Welsh. 
There are a number of non-Welsh speakers living in the area 
and this proposal would not cater for their needs. 

 

from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 

P
age 182



104 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.135 The consultee feels that this proposal would cause a split in 
the community. The school should remain as dual stream as it 
has worked well for many years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 

P
age 183



105 
 

 

1.136 The consultee feels that this proposal will divide the 
community. This will alienate English speakers who wish to 
receive their education through the medium of English who will 
have to attend English medium schools outside of their local 
area. 

 

 

 

1.137 The consultee feels that the school is working well as it is; 
providing both Welsh and English medium education and 
therefore there is no need to change it. It is difficult for parents 
who do not speak Welsh to help their children with their school 
work and this may cause pupils’ education to suffer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
Sufficient support will also be available to parents who do not speak 
the language. 
 
 

P
age 184



106 
 

1.138 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will cause English speakers to lose their local 
school. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.139 The consultee feels that the community should continue to 
have a choice of whether to attend an English or Welsh 
stream. The school has worked excellently as a dual stream 
and therefore there is no need to change it. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.140 The consultee feels that the school should be kept as a dual 
stream school. This enables Welsh speaking pupils to develop 
their English skills and enables English speaking pupils to 
develop their Welsh skills. This proposal is unfair towards 
pupils attending the English stream. 

 

It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 

P
age 185



107 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.141 The consultee feels that the school should remain as a dual 
stream school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.142 The consultee believes that the community should have a 
choice of both streams. 

 

 

 

 

sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 

P
age 186



108 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.143 The consultee believes that this political ideology will blight 
the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.144 The consultee feels that there is no need for change as 
Carmarthenshire has got the highest turnover of Welsh 
medium schools in Wales. No thought has been given to the 
pupils. 

 

 

sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 

P
age 187



109 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.145 The consultee is concerned how this proposal will affect 
pupils’ education. Some members of the community do not 
drive and there are concerns regarding how they will be able 
to transport pupils to two schools if they have other children 
wishing to receive English medium education. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.146 The consultee is concerned that pupils will lose the option of 
changing to the English stream if they struggle with the Welsh 
language, they will have to move to an English medium 
school. The current situation works and therefore there is no 
need to change it. 

 

 

sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The Admission to School 
Information for Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and 
cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 

P
age 188



110 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.147 The consultee is concerned that this proposal does not cater 
for the whole community. A dual stream school caters for both 
Welsh and English speaking members of the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  

P
age 189



111 
 

 

 

1.148 The consultee is concerned that choice is being taken away 
from the community. This causes transport issues for families 
requiring English medium education and will increase class 
sizes in other schools. This proposal will divide the community 
causing segregation and isolation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.149 The consultee feels that the school should be kept as a dual 
stream school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. The Admission to School Information for 
Parents booklet states that “the arrangement and cost of transport 
to school for pupils who do not qualify for free transport is a 
parental responsibility.” This is something that all 
parents/guardians should consider if they decide that their child needs 
to attend another school. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
 

P
age 190



112 
 

 

1.150 The consultee is concerned that changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will affect pupils’ education if they 
struggle with the Welsh language. This is not fair to the pupils. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.151 The consultee is concerned that this proposal will push 
English speaking pupils out of their own community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.152 The consultee would like to ask the Local Authority whether 
there is any information available to explain the benefits of 
educating a child through the medium of their second 
language. Also, is there any evidence to prove that teaching a 
child through their second language is successful? The 
consultee states that Wales is a diverse community and that 
the local authority should be aiming to educate the whole 
community successfully. The best way for pupil’s to learn 

 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. The school will provide 
sufficient support for current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh and sufficient support will be provided to all new 
pupils through the medium of Welsh. It is also important to note that 
all teachers are expected to differentiate all pieces of work based on 
the needs of the pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to schools 
around the county will also be supporting the school and its pupils. 
Please refer to the Executive Summary where it is noted in detail the 
support which is currently/will be available to all parents and pupils. 
 
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 

P
age 191



113 
 

Welsh and become bilingual would be for pupil’s to attend a 
dual stream school or at an English medium school where 
Welsh is taught as a second language. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.153 The consultee believes that all members of the community 

should have been notified of the consultation process. This is 
a significant change for the village and the consultee feels that 
every person in the village is a stakeholder, not just parents, 
teachers, and school governors. The consultee is concerned 
that the Community Council were not notified. 
 
 
 

1.154 The consultee feels that parents were given very little 
information about the process. The consultee also disagrees 
with the Community Council’s decision to not discuss the 
proposal and feels that the School/County Council should 

provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” There are many advantages to 
being bilingual as confirmed by national and international research 
and articulated in Carmarthenshire’s “Why are we promoting a 
Bilingual education?” document. Bilingualism has positive effects 
on children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having 
social advantages. Some new studies also suggest that bilingualism 
may offer some protection against the decline of cognitive abilities in 
old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. Carmarthenshire 
Welsh medium schools already successfully educate pupils from non-
Welsh backgrounds. 
 
 
The consultation on this proposal followed guidelines established by 
the Welsh Government as stated in the School Organisation Code 
(2013). Page 30 of the consultation document states clearly which 
interested parties were notified of the consultation. Llangennech 
Community Council were made aware of the proposal. 
 
 
 
 
The consultation on this proposal followed guidelines established by 
the Welsh Government as stated in the School Organisation Code 
(2013). It is the decision of the Community Council whether or not to 
discuss the proposal. The School Organisation Code (2013) states 

P
age 192



114 
 

have held a meeting with community members. The consultee 
is also concerned with the methods of submitting responses to 
the consultation document. 
 

 

 

 

1.155 A petition was signed my members of the community of 
Llangennech. The community is concerned that English 
speaking pupils will be pushed out of their own community to 
attend English medium schools. The community should 
continue to have a choice of both streams and all pupils 
should have the right to attend their local school. 505 people 
signed the petition. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

that from time to time proposers will have conducted ‘informal’ 
consultations with particular stakeholders – however this is not a legal 
requirement. Consultees were able to submit their responses either 
by e-mail or by post to the Director of Education and Children’s 
Services. 
 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  The Local Authority 
have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education 
possible and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh 
medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 
Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
 

P
age 193



115 
 

Impact on the Secondary School 
 
2. The consultee supports the drive to increase the use of the 

Welsh language and Bryngwyn School is successful in this with 
the introduction of bilingual provision. However, the consultee is 
concerned that 10% of current pupils at Bryngwyn School have 
originated from Llangennech School. Any change in pupil 
numbers in feeder schools such as Llangennech would have an 
effect on the population base of Bryngwyn School and would 
therefore have an effect on the funding that the school receives. 
The school wonders whether a catchment review could be 
undertaken in order to minimise the effect on secondary 
schools as re categorization of feeder schools tends to have an 
effect on secondary schools. The school is also concerned that 
they were not informed of the change by the school or the local 
authority but instead found out through the local newspaper. 
The school works well with its family of schools and are happy 
with the existing structure where pupils have a choice at both 
primary and secondary level. The school supports the 
development of Welsh language provision but not where it 
would have a negative impact on secondary schools. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support the Proposal 
 
3. The consultee supports the change as this supports 

Carmarthenshire’s goal of increasing the Welsh medium 
provision and to ensure that all pupils become completely 

Impact on Secondary School 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. It is also important to note, that the proposal will 
take 7 years to be fully implemented and for the school to become 
fully Welsh medium. The local authority will monitor how this change 
will affect the local secondary school. The consultation process has 
been carried out following the guidelines as stated in the School 
Organisation Code 2013 and all stakeholders were notified of the 
consultation following these guidelines. Bryngwyn School were 
notified of the link to the consultation document via e-mail on 25th 
January 2016. 
 
 
Support the Proposal 
 
The Local Authority (LA) welcomes the large number of positive 
responses to the proposal to discontinue provision at Llangennech 
Infants school and Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-

P
age 194



116 
 

bilingual. The number of pupils attending the English stream has 
declined over recent years and this is a golden opportunity for 
the area of Llangennech. 
  

3.1 The consultee supports the change to Welsh medium and 
believes that all children should be educated through the 
medium of Welsh. This will ensure that all children will become 
bilingual and able to communicate through Welsh. This gives 
every child a fair chance to become fluent in the Welsh 
language. 
 

3.2 The consultee feels that the future of the Welsh language 
depends on Welsh medium education. 

  
3.3 The consultee feels that this proposal ensures that all pupils will 

leave primary school as bilingual and skilled in speaking, 
reading and writing through the medium of Welsh. It is the local 
authority’s duty to provide pupils with the best opportunities that 
will benefit them in later life.  

 
3.4 The consultee feels that it is imperative for immediate action to 

save the Welsh language. The consultee supports the proposal. 
 

3.5 The consultee feels that Welsh medium education will ensure 
continuity from nursery through to secondary school and will 
increase bilingualism in Carmarthenshire. 

  
 
3.6 The consultee supports the change as it will comply with 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan. The 
governing body and staff of the schools are supportive of the 
proposal and the decline in pupils attending the English stream 
show the need for a Welsh medium school. This is a natural 
change for the school and there are English medium schools 
available for pupils wishing to receive English medium 

11 WM language school in Llangennech with one Governing Body. 
The responses are very encouraging. 
 
Many of the responses focus on the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium and how this will promote bilingualism and 
the Welsh language in the area. 
 
In addition, many responses focus on the decline in pupil numbers 
attending the English stream and how changing the language 
category to Welsh medium will be a natural step for the school. 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire 
County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the 
Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a 
responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity 
from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 
sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both 
Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 
provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that 
“the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for 
them to become Welsh medium schools.”  
The Authority has also conducted a Welsh Language Impact 
Assessment, Community Impact Assessment and an Equality Impact 
Assessment. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 195



117 
 

education. This proposal will ensure that all pupils leave school 
bilingual. 

  
3.7 The consultee supports the proposal as being bilingual is an 

essential skill and will help preserve the Welsh language. The 
consultee is sure that support will be given to parents who are 
non-Welsh speaking.  

 

3.8 The consultee supports the proposal as there is a significant 
increase in the pupils attending the Welsh stream and therefore 
this will be a natural step for the school. 

 

  
3.9 The consultee supports the proposal as it will secure the future 

of the Welsh language and will ensure that all pupils are raised 
as bilingual. 

 

3.10 The consultee supports that proposal as receiving a Welsh 
medium education will ensure that all pupils become bilingual in 
both Welsh and English. This is an important step in increasing 
the use of Welsh language in the Llangennech area and will 
nurture pupils who are only able to communicate through 
English. Assistance will need to be provided for parents who 
are not able to speak the language so that they are able to 
support their children with their education. 

 

3.11 The consultee states that they are surprised that there isn’t 
a Welsh medium school already in Llangennech. This proposal 
will ensure that all pupils will become bilingual. Welsh medium 
education provides many opportunities for pupils and will open 
doors for them throughout their lives. The authority has a 
responsible to provide pupils with the best education and a 
Welsh medium education will be best for the pupils. 

 
3.12 The consultee supports the proposal as it will promote 

 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 

P
age 196



118 
 

bilingualism and the Welsh language in the area. Being able to 
communicate through the medium of Welsh is an invaluable 
skill which provides many opportunities through life. The Welsh 
language is important to the successful future of the nation.  
The consultee is delighted to see the increase of Welsh 
medium education in the area. 

 

 
3.13 The consultee feels that a Welsh medium education will 

provide the best education possible. A Welsh medium 
education provides many opportunities for pupils. 

 

3.14 The consultee supports the proposal as the data shows that 
the number of pupils attending the Welsh streams has 
increased over recent years. This is a natural change for the 
school. The proposal will promote bilingualism in the area and 
answers Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan.  

 
3.15 The consultee supports the proposal as it is becoming more 

and more important to be bilingual. Bilingualism is extremely 
important in Europe and we should be promoting this. The 
consultee feels that community members may be poorly 
informed about a bilingual education and what this entails and 
that the benefits of a bilingual education should be discussed. 
The area has always had a choice of dual stream school but the 
local authority must look at the demand for Welsh medium 
education. The consultee is also concerned with the negative 
responses of some consultees and the media.   

 
3.16 The consultee supports the proposal as it responds to 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and the 
vision of the Welsh Government. The decline in pupil numbers 
attending the English stream show the demand for Welsh 
medium education. This proposal will also promote bilingualism 
as well as providing many opportunities and educational 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 197



119 
 

benefits.  
 
3.17 The consultee feels that a bilingual education provides many 

advantages. Receiving Welsh medium education at primary 
school will assist in the preservation of the language which is 
facing massive pressures. 

 

3.18 The consultee feels that there is evidence to show that 
learning Welsh as a second language is not successful in 
creating bilingual individuals.  Establishing a Welsh medium 
primary school will ensure that all pupils are bilingual by the 
time they leave primary school.  This is a natural change for the 
school and the staff and governing bodies of both schools are 
supportive. 

 

3.19 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 

  
3.20 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 

nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.21 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.22 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 198



120 
 

3.23 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.24 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.25 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.26 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.27 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.28 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.29 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 199



121 
 

3.30 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.31 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.32 The consultee feels that receiving a Welsh medium 
education provides pupils with many opportunities in the future 
including finding work. All children should have the opportunity 
to learn another language to help them with their future 
opportunities.  

 
3.33 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 

nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.34 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.35 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.36 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 

Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 

P
age 200



122 
 

 
3.37 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 

nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.38 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.39 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.40 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 
nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 
 

3.41 The consultee agrees with changing the language category 
of Llangennech School to Welsh medium. 

 

3.42 The consultee supports the proposal. The demand for 
Welsh medium education in the area is high and the majority of 
the pupils at the schools attend through the Welsh stream. The 
change would be a natural step for the school. There will be 
room for pupils wishing to receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh. The Council will need to address the limited 
spaces available at the school which includes other primary 
schools in Llanelli.   

 
3.43 The consultee supports the proposal as the data shows that 

the majority of pupils at the schools attend through the Welsh 

 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 

P
age 201



123 
 

stream. The consultee feels that as we are in Wales, pupils 
should learn through the medium of Welsh. If pupils attended 
schools in other countries, they would have no choice but to 
learn their language.  

 
3.44 The consultee agrees with the proposal to establish a new 

Welsh medium school. 
 

3.45 The consultee agrees with the proposal to establish a new 
Welsh medium school. 

 

3.46 The consultee agrees with the proposal to establish a new 
Welsh medium school. 

 

3.47 The consultee feels that there is need for a Welsh medium 
school in the village.  

 
3.48 The consultee feels that Llangennech is the perfect place to 

have a Welsh medium school. 
 

3.49 The consultee agrees with the proposal to establish a new 
Welsh medium school. 

 

3.50 The consultee supports the proposal to change the 
language category of the school to Welsh medium.  

 
3.51 The consultee agrees with the proposal to change the 

language category to Welsh medium.  
 

3.52 The consultee agrees with the proposal. 
 

3.53 The consultee supports the proposal. Some parents have to 
transport their children to ensure that they receive Welsh 
medium education. There are benefits Welsh medium 
education over dual stream. 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 

P
age 202



124 
 

  
3.54 The consultee states that the growth in demand for Welsh 

medium education has been enormous. This change will be a 
natural step for the school. Establishing a nursery in the school 
is very beneficial to ensure that the foundations for Welsh 
education is completely sound and is actioned and presented 
under the leadership of the school. These changes will create 
bilingual individuals and promote the Welsh language in the 
area. 

 

3.55 The consultee feels that, changing the language category to 
Welsh Medium would be beneficial to the local community and 
to the future of the Welsh Language in Carmarthenshire. 

 

3.56 The consultee feels that the decline in pupil numbers 
attending the English stream show the need for a Welsh 
medium school. There has been a decline in the number of 
Welsh speakers in the village and this proposal will help to 
increase this. At the moment pupils desiring a full Welsh 
medium education have to travel to other schools and this 
proposal will help relieve this burden on other schools. It is 
important that parents are aware of the advantages of a Welsh 
medium education and the opportunities that are available in 
Carmarthenshire.  It is only through a Welsh medium education 
that pupils can become completely bilingual.   

 
3.57 The consultee supports changing the language category to 

Welsh medium. The consultee does not speak Welsh but feels 
strongly that children should have the opportunity to learn 
through the Welsh language. 

  
3.58 The consultee feels that the next natural step for 

Llangennech Schools Federation is stepping towards joining the 
two schools to create on new school under one governing body. 
The proposal will ensure that every pupil develops to be fluent 

 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 

P
age 203



125 
 

speakers, readers and writers in both Welsh and English. The 
proposal will ensure that Llangennech School moves along with 
Welsh language continuum and offers bilingualism to every 
pupil and not just pupils in the Welsh stream. Including a 
nursery provides pupils of the catchment equal opportunities to 
attend a three year old nursery classroom within the village of 
Llangennech. This proposal will enable pupils to think, play and 
work in English and Welsh which will open countless doors for 
them throughout their lives. 

  
3.59 The consultee is happy that the Council are using this 

opportunity to change the language category to Welsh medium. 
Only Welsh medium education creates bilingual individuals. 

 
3.60 The consultee supports the proposal. The merger, adding a 

nursery provision and changing the language category to Welsh 
medium will secure the future of the language and will ensure 
that all pupils are raised as bilingual. 

 

3.61 The consultee agrees with the proposal. 
 

3.62 The consultee agrees with the proposal. 
 

3.63 The consultee agrees with the proposal. 
 

3.64 The consultee agrees with the proposal. 
 

3.65 The consultee agrees with the developments at 
Llangennech. 

 

3.66 The consultee is supportive of the proposal. The Welsh 
language shouldn’t be a barrier to non-Welsh speakers it should 
be seen as an advantage. Pupils are able to they learn a new 
language in a completely natural way by listening and practicing 
every day. This also encourages non Welsh parents to learn a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 204



126 
 

little bit of the language. There should be no reason to move 
pupils to an English medium school. The Council should make 
every effort to reason with consultees who do not support the 
proposal in order to try and gain their support. 

 
3.67 The consultee is fully supportive of the proposal. The 

consultee feels that a Welsh medium education enriches the 
learning experience for pupils and opens many doors 
throughout their careers. The demand for Welsh medium 
education has increased significantly over the last few years 
whilst the demand for English medium education has declined. 
It is important for all schools to follow the language continuum 
and offer more opportunities to their pupils to learn through the 
medium of Welsh.     

 

 
3.68 The consultee feels that this change will be an excellent 

change for the community. The local area needs more Welsh 
medium schools and it would a shame to miss this opportunity.  

 

3.69 The consultee feels that this would be a natural and 
necessary change for Llangennech School. Llangennech is a 
traditional Welsh village and this needs to be protected along 
with developing the future of Welsh medium education. There is 
a choice available for pupils wishing to receive their education 
through the medium of English. 

 

3.70 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium would promote bilingualism in the village of 
Llangennech and the surrounding areas. This is an excellent 
opportunity for all pupils residing in Llangennech to receive a 
bilingual education and to develop these necessary skills. 

 

3.71 The consultee feels that a bilingual education can only be 
beneficial to a pupil, with cognitive, social and linguistic 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 

P
age 205



127 
 

advantages. The consultee feels that dual stream schools only 
dilute the Welsh language skills of pupils whereas a full Welsh 
medium education can provide opportunities for pupils to reach 
their full potential. 

 

3.72 The consultee believes that a bilingual education is of great 
benefit to a pupil. A bilingual education improves a pupil’s ability 
to learn a third language and increases job prospects within 
Wales. Changing the language category to Welsh medium will 
ensure that the school goes from strength to strength, but 
stakeholders need a clear understanding of the meaning 
bilingual –English will still be taught at the school. 

 

3.73 The consultee believes that the area needs a Welsh 
medium school. This will ensure that pupils residing in the area 
will be completely bilingual. 

 

3.74 The consultee feels that there are a number of advantages 
for being bilingual including educational, professional and social 
advantages. It is also easier for children to learn different 
languages at an earlier age rather than later on in life. Every 
pupil in Wales have a right to Welsh medium education and this 
is the only way to create confident, bilingual adults. 

 

3.75 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will increase Welsh medium education provision 
in the area and promote bilingualism. Being bilingual greatly 
enriches a pupil’s life by providing them with opportunities for 
varied cultural experiences. The standard of English taught in 
the Welsh stream is of a high standard and therefore pupils are 
not at a disadvantage later on in life. 

 

3.76 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 

P
age 206



128 
 

ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.77 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all pupils in the Llangennech 
area can take advantage of a Welsh medium education and 
become completely bilingual. The school is already effective in 
promoting the Welsh language to pupils from non-Welsh 
background who attend through the Welsh stream. The 
consultee feels that the pupil’s standard of English will not be 
affected by attending the Welsh stream. 

 

3.78 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.79 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.80 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium is a natural step whilst considering the history of 
the village and the statistics of pupils attending the Welsh and 
English streams. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 207



129 
 

3.81 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will promote bilingualism and the Welsh 
language locally. There are more opportunities available to 
people who are bilingual and English medium education cannot 
produce Welsh speakers. 

 

3.82 The consultee feels that all pupils in Wales should have the 
opportunity to be bilingual and changing the language category 
to Welsh medium will promote this. Being able to speak Welsh 
is a great advantage and it is important and people are able to 
speak the language of their country. 

 

3.83 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium is the only way to promote bilingualism. The 
change would be a natural step for Llangennech School as the 
statistics show that much more pupils attend the Welsh stream 
than the English stream. Parents who do not wish for their child 
to receive a Welsh medium education will have the choice to 
send their child to an English medium school. Being bilingual is 
a skill that pupils will benefit from throughout their lives. 

 

3.84 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will give pupils more opportunities to use the 
language outside of the classroom. It is important that pupils 
are fluent and confident in the Welsh language in order to be 
completely bilingual country. 

 

3.85 The consultee feels that a Welsh medium education 
provides invaluable skills that are of benefit to every pupil. 
Changing the language category to Welsh medium will promote 
the language in the local area and will allow the whole school to 
engage in many more opportunities that are offered through the 
medium of Welsh.  

 

3.86 The consultee is fully supportive of the proposal to change 

Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 

P
age 208



130 
 

the language category to Welsh medium. 
 

3.87 The consultee is supportive of changing the language 
category to Welsh medium. There are only three Welsh medium 
schools on the area compared to around 15 English medium 
schools. Being educated through the medium of Welsh ensures 
that all pupils leave school as bilingual and this is an advantage 
to every individual educationally and socially. It is important that 
the council promote bilingualism and the Welsh language in 
order to ensure the future of the language. 

 

3.88 The consultee supports the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium. Receiving education through the 
medium of Welsh is the best way to promote bilingualism. This 
will also ensure the development of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire. There are many advantages to being bilingual 
including developing processing skills and having a greater 
understanding of different topics. 

 

3.89 The consultee is fully supportive of changing the language 
category to Welsh medium. The statistics show that many more 
pupils attend the Welsh stream compared to the English stream 
and many of those pupils attending the Welsh stream come 
from non-Welsh homes which shows that they have faith in 
Welsh medium education. 

 

3.90 The consultee fully supports the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium. This will ensure the protection of 
the Welsh language and the development of Welsh language 
education. The number of Welsh speakers in the Llangennech 
area has deteriorated over recent years and changing the 
language category to Welsh medium will ensure that this 
increases. 

 

3.91 The consultee supports the changing of the language 

 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 

P
age 209



131 
 

category to Welsh medium and believes that every pupil should 
be given the opportunity to reach their full potential. However, 
the consultee feels that the consultation period should have 
been conducted in a more open and transparent manner. 

 

3.92 The consultee fully supports the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium. This will be of benefit to the pupils 
and the school and will promote bilingualism in the area. 
Receiving a Welsh medium education will ensure that pupils are 
fluent and confident in using the Welsh language. At the 
moment, parents who want a full Welsh medium education 
have to take their children out of the village. 

 

3.93 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.94 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.95 The consultee supports the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium. 

 

3.96 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 

P
age 210



132 
 

ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.97 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.98 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.99 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 
Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.100 The consultee fully supports the changing of the language 
category to Welsh medium. The change will be a natural 
change for the school and is essential in maintaining Welsh as 
a community language. 

 

3.101 The consultee feels that changing the language category to 

 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 

P
age 211



133 
 

Welsh medium will ensure that all children in the catchment will 
receive a Welsh medium education of a standard that will 
ensure that all pupils are bilingual as offering Welsh as a 
second language does not develop these skills effectively. Also, 
by changing the age range to 3-11, pupils will have access to a 
formal education from an earlier age. 

 

3.102 The consultee fully supports changing the language 
category to Welsh medium. The only way to ensure the future 
of the Welsh language is to develop Welsh medium education. 
There is no reason why pupils leaving primary school should 
not be able to speak, read and write in Welsh. A bilingual 
education is of benefit to a pupil not a disadvantage. 

 
 

 

Undecided 
 

4.0    The consultee feels that the school are very supportive 
towards pupils attending the Welsh stream who do not have a 
Welsh background and believe that that receiving a bilingual 
education is advantageous. The consultee is supportive of a Welsh 
medium education if there is need in the village as long as it does 
not disadvantage anyone with regards to travelling to other 
schools. 
 
 
 
 
4.1 The consultee feels that the school has naturally increased in 
size and has turned into a Welsh school. However, there are many 
English speaking pupils at the school and it is important for them to 
receive a bilingual or and English education if that is their wish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Observation noted. Please see response above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Undecided 
 
The difference in pupil numbers attending the Welsh and English 
streams shows that there is a demand for Welsh medium education. It 
is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils remain at the 
school and that future prospective pupils will continue to attend the 
village school and receive their education through the medium of 
Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not affect current 
pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education through the 
medium of English will continue to do so. 
 
 
 
The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the 
best education possible and the Local Authority believe that providing 
a Welsh medium education is best for all pupils. This aligns with 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 
aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in 
Welsh/bilingual medium schools can speak, read and write 

P
age 212



134 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Impact on other organizations 
 
5.0 The consultee is concerned for the future of their business and 
staff should the proposal be implemented. The consultee is also 
concerned about how this proposal will affect the community library 
and community center should it be implemented. The consultee in 
concerned that this proposal will divide the community, and force 
some children to attend other schools outside the village which 
contradicts the Foundation Phase framework which is based on 
inclusion, diversity and a sense of belonging.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Member of Parliament Response 
 
6.0 The consultee feels that every child in Wales should have the 
opportunity to access school education through the medium of 
Welsh. Pupils in Llangennech currently have that opportunity 
through attending the Welsh stream. It would be counter-productive 
to the aim of increasing the number of pupils who can use the 

Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” It is the Local Authority’s 
intention that all current pupils remain at the school and that future 
prospective pupils will continue to attend the village school and 
receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is important 
to note that the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school 
and pupils receiving their education through the medium of English 
will continue to do so. 
 
 
 
Impact on other organizations 
 
The Admission to School Information for Parents booklet states that 
“all 3 year olds are entitled to 10 hours per week free placement 
at a registered setting from the beginning of the term following 
their third birthday.” Part time is defined as either 5 morning or 5 
afternoon sessions or a mixture of 5 morning/afternoon sessions. 
There will still be a need for nursery provision for all children under 
the age of 3 years old and for 3 year olds outside of the hours that the 
school provides nursery provision. It is the Local Authority’s intention 
that all current pupils remain at the school and that future prospective 
pupils will continue to attend the village school and receive their 
education through the medium of Welsh. It is important to note that 
the proposal will not affect current pupils at the school and pupils 
receiving their education through the medium of English will continue 
to do so. 
 
 
Member of Parliament Response 
 
Although pupils in Llangennech currently have access to education 
through the medium of Welsh, these proposals have been prepared in 
response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy 
(WMES). The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the 

P
age 213



135 
 

Welsh language if pupils chose to attend English medium schools 
because of this change.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Union Response 
 
7.0 UNISON advises that its members believe that dual stream 
provision should continue. The members are not opposed to 
creating a new school of age range 3-11 or federation but feel that 
dual stream provision should be maintained if the consultation is to 
consider the culture and views of parents and school support staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

provision of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and 
ensure linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the 
key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.” It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current pupils 
remain at the school and that future prospective pupils will continue to 
attend the village school and receive their education through the 
medium of Welsh. It is important to note that the proposal will not 
affect current pupils at the school and pupils receiving their education 
through the medium of English will continue to do so. It is also 
important to note that it will take 7 years for the proposal to be fully 
implemented and for the school to be completely Welsh medium. 
 
 
Union Response 
 
Observation noted. The proposals have been prepared in response to 
Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The 
local authority has a responsibility to “increase the provision of 
Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In 
order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education 
it has been recommended that “the County Council work closely 
with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual 
stream schools in order for them to become Welsh medium 
schools.”  
 
 

P
age 214



136 
 

7.1 UCAC are supportive of the proposal as they believe that the 
proposal coincides with the objectives of Carmarthenshire’s Welsh 
in Education Strategic Plan and with the Welsh Government’s 
vision of developing Welsh medium education from the early years. 
UCAC are aware of the opposition towards the proposal and are 
fully committed to ensure the wellbeing of staff. UCAC will work 
with the local authority for the sake of the teaching staff they 
represent and the wider educational community within 
Llangennech. 

The observation and support was noted. 

P
age 215



137 
 

Appendix D 
 

ESTYN RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 

Page 216



138 
 

Estyn’s response to the proposal to end the provision at Ysgol Babanod Llangennech 
and Ysgol Iau Llangennech and establish a new Welsh-medium school for pupils aged 
between 3 and 11 years in Llangennech, with one Governing Body  
 
Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in Wales have prepared this report.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However, 
Estyn is not a body that is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no 
statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore as a 
body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 
organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
following response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional 
information such as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional Consortium, 
which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the proposal.  
 
Introduction  
 
The proposal is by Carmarthenshire County Council.  
 
The proposal is to end the provision at Ysgol Babanod Llangennech and Ysgol Iau 
Llangennech and establish a new Welsh-medium school for pupils aged between 3 and 11 
years in Llangennech, with one Governing Body.  
 
The changes would be implemented in January 2017.  
 
Summary/Conclusion  
 
In Estyn’s opinion, the proposal to merge the two schools is likely to maintain the current 
educational standards. However, the proposal does not provide sufficient detail about the 
alternative options and arrangements available to those pupils who may choose to follow 
their education through the medium of English should the English stream at Ysgol 
Llangennech close.  
 
Description and benefits  
 
The proposer has provided a detailed and clear rationale for the proposal to merge the two 
schools. It has given a good outline of the reasons for ending the provision at Ysgol Babanod 
Llangennech and Ysgol Iau Llangennech and establishing a new school for pupils aged 
between 3 and 11 years.  
 
It notes that the authority has a duty to consider and act in line with the recommendations of 
Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-17, namely to ensure an increase 
in Welsh-medium education provision. As a result, the option that is favoured by the proposer 
means ending the English-medium stream at the school. However, the proposer does not 
give sufficient consideration to the effect of ending the English-medium stream on the pupils 
who may wish to follow their education through the medium of that language.  
 

Page 217



139 
 

It notes that there will not be any transport implications for pupils at Ysgol Babanod 
Llangennech nor for Ysgol Iau Llangennech and that there will be no change in the 
catchment area of either school. It states clearly that if a child attends a school in the 
catchment area or the school nearest to the home address and this decision is based on 
parental choice, the responsibility is on the parents /carer to transport the pupil to and from 
the school and to pay the cost of that transport.  
 
The proposer outlines clearly that both governing bodies have already federated formally, 
and that that is an important step towards merging the two schools and to create one primary 
school.  
 
Educational aspects of the proposal  
The proposer gives thorough consideration to the effect of the proposals on the quality of 
outcomes, provision and leadership at the school.  
 
It makes valid reference to the outcomes of Estyn’s most recent inspection reports on both 
schools and their categories and support bands.  
 
It makes the reasonable assertion that there would be benefits in terms of sharing resources 
effectively, developing staff’s skills for the whole primary age curriculum and locating all 
pupils on one site under the leadership of one headteacher.  
 
It notes that the proposal would ensure specific nursery provision at the school. It has 
conducted an assessment of the effect of the change on equality and claims that the 
proposal should not have an adverse effect on any specific groups. It asserts reasonably that 
Welsh-medium provision for pupils who have special needs will be strengthened to provide a 
wide range of expertise in different areas. 
  
The proposer has given appropriate consideration to possible disruption for current pupils. 
The proposer has given suitable consideration to the effect of the proposal on staff and the 
implications for them as a result of implementing this proposal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218



140 
 

The Local Government Response to Estyn 
 
In Estyn’s opinion, the proposal to merge the two schools is likely to maintain the current 
educational standards. However, the proposal does not provide sufficient detail about the 
alternative options and arrangements available to those pupils who may choose to follow 
their education through the medium of English should the English stream at Ysgol 
Llangennech close.  
 
It is the Authority’s intention that all pupils remain at Llangennech School and that future pupils 
will continue to attend the school and receive their education through the medium of Welsh. 
However, should pupils decide to follow their education through the medium of English they will 
be able to apply for a place at Hendy Primary school which provides a dual stream education or 
Bryn Primary School which provides English medium education. 
 
 
It notes that the authority has a duty to consider and act in line with the recommendations 
of Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-17, namely to ensure an 
increase in Welsh-medium education provision. As a result, the option that is favoured by 
the proposer means ending the English-medium stream at the school. However, the 
proposer does not give sufficient consideration to the effect of ending the English-
medium stream on the pupils who may wish to follow their education through the medium 
of that language. 
 
It is the Authority’s intention that all pupils remain at Llangennech School and that future pupils 
will continue to attend the school and receive their education through the medium of Welsh. It is 
important to note that this change will not affect current pupils at the school and they will continue 
to receive their education through the medium of English. However, should pupils decide to follow 
their education through the medium of English they will be able to apply for provision at Hendy 
Primary school which provides a dual stream education or Bryn Primary School which provides 
English medium education. 
 

Page 219



141 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix E 
 

Consultation with the Pupils 
 

Consultation undertaken on the 4th March 2016 

By  

Mrs Llinos Jones 

Challenge Adviser 

ERW 

 

Page 220



142 
 

Carmarthenshire County Council 
 

Listening to ‘Learner Voice’  
 

School – Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Juniors Schools 
 

Date: - 4th March 2016 
 

Session undertaken by Llinos Jones 
 

Interviewed School Council / Pupils 
 

1. What do you know about the proposed changes? 

Comments 
 

 Two schools becoming one with the same name. 

 Maybe the school will change to become a Welsh school. 
 

 

2. What are you most looking forward to? 

Comments 
 

 Getting to know new teachers. 

 One school instead of two schools. 

 Developing new activities. 

 Using more of the top school. Perhaps doing a show together. 

 

3. Are you worried about anything? 

Comments 
 

 If the school is big, some pupils might be nasty. 
 

 
 
 

Page 221



143 
 

4. How would you feel if three year old children started in 
the school? 

Comments 
 

 It’s a good thing. Pupils can see their siblings coming to the 
school. 

 The children would learn Welsh from an earlier age. 

 Pupils would make friends from an earlier age. 

 It’s a good thing. More teachers and staff might be needed. 
 
Negatives: 

 Difficult for staff because there will be more pupils. 

 Perhaps some nurseries in the village will have to close because 
of the lack of children. 

 
 

 
 

5. Would you like a new school uniform and badge for the 
new school? 

Comments 
 

 No. Everyone is happy with the uniform and it should be kept the 
same. 

 
 

6. Would you like to be a part of a big school? 

Comments 
 

 Happy to be a part of a big school. 

 Happy, there will be more classrooms and more children. 

 Happy with the school building. 
 

 
 

7. What would be your opinion be if the new pupils in the 
school had to have a Welsh medium education? 

Comments 
 

 Happy because they would be able to speak two languages. 

Page 222



144 
 

 Not good because pupils that find Welsh hard would have to go to 
another school. 

 Happy, because the pupils would be bilingual. 

 The Welsh pupils would be able to help the English pupils. 
 
 

8. How do you feel if the two schools became one? 

Comments 
 

 Everything would be ok because Mr Anderson will still be the head 
teacher. 

 Infant pupils will be able to do more activities with the older pupils. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



145 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix F 
 

Revised Options for Change 

 

Page 224



146 
 

5. Revised Options for Change  
 
In developing a preferred option the County Council considered a range of alternative 
options. Each option was evaluated against key objectives and criteria to determine which 
option best suited the aspirations of Carmarthenshire.   

 
5.1 Main Options Considered 
 

Option 1 

 

Status Quo – Maintain both schools in present format 

Option 2 

 

Federation 

Option 3 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech with one Governing Body. 

Option 4 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 DS 
language school in Llangennech. 

Option 5 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils 
requiring EM at Bryn primary school. 

Option 6 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils 
requiring DS at Hendy primary school. 

Option 7 Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and 
Llangennech Junior school and establish a new 3-11 WM 
language school in Llangennech and provide for pupils 
requiring EM education at either Bryn Primary school or Hendy 
primary school. 

Option 8 Status Quo (language category) – with modifications 
English stream pupils to receive a minimum of 30% Welsh 
lessons a week and mimic the amount of English lessons in 
the Welsh stream. 
The school would remain Dual Stream with a Welsh Medium 
Stream and an English with significant Welsh stream. 

Option 9  Gradually increase the percentage of Welsh medium provision 
until the school becomes a fully Welsh medium school. 

 
 
Note: 
 
Options 8 and 9 are additional to the options presented and evaluated in the County 
Council’s published Consultation Document. 

Page 225



147 
 

Option 8 was presented as an alternative option during the consultation period by a group of 
people including some parents of children in the English stream at the schools and members 
of the local community opposing the County Council’s preferred option as identified in the 
published Consultation Document. Council officers agreed to receive and evaluate this option 
alongside the options identified by the County Council. 
 
Option 9 is a variation of Option 8 that could facilitate change over a longer period of time. 
 
 

5.2 Advantages / Disadvantages of Each Option 

 

Option 1 – Status Quo 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 No change for stakeholders. 

 No statutory procedures necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Continues present arrangements 
with lack of coherence in provision. 

 

 Would not address the current 
demand in the schools. 

 

 Higher cost option. 

 Higher Staffing costs. 

 Opportunities for synergies will be 
lost. 

 

 Clearly expressed Council policies 
for school organisation and Welsh 
medium education development 
could not be met. 

 

 
 

Option 2 – Federation  
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 Federation has been an important 
step towards merging the two 
schools to become one primary 
school. 
 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two schools would benefit from 
integrated governance and 
leadership. 
 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 

 No designated WM language 
category school – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS language 
category. This would be contrary to 
established policies for the 
development of Welsh medium 
education and bilingual citizens. 

 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 

Page 226



148 
 

 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 
Headteacher, with opportunities to 
develop effective distributed 
leadership across the both 
schools. 
 

 Consistent, integrated governance 
across the new school. 

 

linguistic continuity from the nursery 
sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and English 
as detailed in the WESP (2014 – 
2017). 
 

 Doesn’t align with MEP strategy to 
remove Infants and Junior schools. 
 

 Federations can be undone. 
 

 
 

Option 3 (Preferred Option) 
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior 
school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech with one 

Governing Body. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 Establishes a designated WM 
language category school in line with 
established County Council policies. 
 

 Improved resource efficiency. 
 

 Two schools would become one 
primary school. 
 

 An increase in the provision of WM 
education in Carmarthenshire that 
ensures linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key stages 
to the secondary sector. 

 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh education 
provision in the area with every pupil 
becoming fluent and confident in 
Welsh and English as detailed in the 
WESP (2014-2017). 
 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 

 Some stakeholders, especially 
some parents, will be dissatisfied 
by the removal of choice of 
language stream from the local 
school. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 227



149 
 

Headteacher, with opportunities to 
develop effective distributed 
leadership across the new school. 

  

 Every pupil will become fluent and 
confident in Welsh and English as 
detailed in the WESP (2014 - 2017). 
 

 There will be a designated nursery 
provision at the school. 
 

 All pupils leaving primary school will 
benefit from having two languages 
with expanded choice and opportunity 
in their future lives and education. 
 
 

 
 

Option 4 
  

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior 
school and establish a new 3-11 DS language school in Llangennech. 

 
Advantages Disadvantages 

 Establish a designated DS 
language category school following 
a period of federation. 
 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two schools would become one 
primary school. 
 

 No increased travelling times for 
pupils. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh education 
provision in the area. 
 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 
Headteacher. 

 

   Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 

 No designated WM language 
category school – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS language 
category. 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the nursery 
sector along the key stages to the 
secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and English 
as detailed in the WESP (2014-
2017). 
 

 Key County Council policy 
objectives for the development of 
Welsh medium education and 
bilingual citizens will not be met. 

 

Page 228



150 
 

 

Option 5  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior 
school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech and 
provide for pupils requiring EM education at Bryn primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the opportunity 
to be educated through the medium 
of Welsh and English. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh education 
provision in the Llangennech area 

 

   Having two schools in close 
proximity to another will help keep 
and develop the sense of belonging, 
heritage and tradition in the Bryn 
and Llangennech areas. 

 
 
 
 

 

 No designated DS language 
category school – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools. 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 Key County Council policy 
objectives for the development of 
Welsh medium education and 
bilingual citizens will not be met. 

 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils whose parents exercise 
parental choice. Bryn CP school 
being 2.04 miles away (5 mins) 
from Llangennech. 
 

 Parents who exercise parental 
choice and place their children in 
alternative schools will not benefit 
from free transport. 
 

 Not enough capacity at Bryn CP 
School to accommodate the EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 
 

 

 

Page 229



151 
 

Option 6  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior 
school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech and 
provide for pupils requiring DS education at Hendy primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the 
opportunity to be educated through 
the medium of Welsh and English 
(DS). 

 

 Secure long term Welsh education 
provision in the Llangennech area. 

 

   Having two schools in close 
proximity to another will help keep 
and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition in 
the Hendy and Llangennech areas. 
 

 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 
 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 Key County Council policy 
objectives for the development of 
Welsh medium education and 
bilingual citizens will not be met. 

 

 Not enough capacity at Hendy CP 
School to accommodate all EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils whose parents exercise 
parental choice. Hendy CP school 
being 1.07 miles away (5 mins) 
from Llangennech. 
 

 Parents who exercise parental 
choice and place their children in 
alternative schools will not benefit 
from free transport. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



152 
 

Option 7  
 

Discontinue provision at Llangennech Infants school and Llangennech Junior 
school and establish a new 3-11 WM language school in Llangennech and 
provide for pupils requiring EM education at either Bryn Primary school or 
Hendy primary school. 
 

Advantages Disadvantages 

 All pupils would have the 
opportunity to be educated through 
the medium of Welsh and English 
(DS). 

 

 Secure long term Welsh education 
provision in the Llangennech area. 
 

 Secure long term English education 
provision in the Bryn area. 
 

 Secure long term Welsh and 
English education provision in the 
Hendy area. 

 

   Having three schools in close 
proximity to another will help keep 
and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition in 
the Bryn, Hendy and Llangennech 
areas. 

 
 

 There will be no increase in the 
provision of WM education in 
Carmarthenshire that ensures 
linguistic continuity from the 
nursery sector along the key 
stages to the secondary sector. 

 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 Key County Council policy 
objectives for the development of 
Welsh medium education and 
bilingual citizens will not be met. 

 

 Hendy CP School will not have the 
capacity to accommodate all EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 

 

 Bryn CP School will not have the 
capacity to accommodate all EM 
pupils from Llangennech Infants 
and Llangennech Junior schools. 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Hendy CP school being 
1.07 miles away (5 mins) from 
Llangennech. 
 

 Increased travel times for some 
pupils.  Bryn CP school being 2.04 
miles away (5 mins) from 
Llangennech. 
 

 Parents who exercise parental 
choice and place their children in 
alternative schools will not benefit 
from free transport. 

Page 231



153 
 

Option 8 – as put forward by some members of the community: 
 
This option was presented by a group of Llangennech schools stakeholders, including some 
parents of pupils in the English stream and some members of the local community, as an 
alternative option during the consultation period. The following is a verbatim reproduction of 
the option presented to officers: 
 
“After a meeting with County Councillor G Thomas and Community Councillor Dr Marian 
Slader on Wednesday, 24th February what was proposed and accepted as a fair and just 
alternative to all the other proposals is that the status quo is to be upheld with some 
additions, i.e. the English stream would have a minimum of 30% Welsh lessons per week 
and mimic the amount of English lessons that the Welsh stream have. If this is the case 
these two streams should be a mirror image of each other in year 11. Both streams should be 
able to speak, read and write bilingually. This would be a wonderful opportunity and 
innovation to Llangennech School. There would be an increase in Welsh medium education 
in Carmarthenshire and continuity of Welsh medium provision. No child will be displaced, any 
child having difficulties with either language can be helped in situ. Brighter children could be 
fast tracked to higher levels whilst others could be nurtured along at a slower pace. There 
needs to be a bit of engineering to be done, putting into place the frame of work to assist 
parents, for example, help lines or homework lines. Monitoring for both streams, the 
possibilities are boundless. No more need for Welsh only schools, dual stream and 30% is 
the way forward.” 
 
 
Option 8 – as interpreted by the Local Authority 
 
 

Option 8 – Status Quo (Language Category) with modifications 
 

English stream pupils to receive a minimum of 30% Welsh lessons a week and 
mimic the amount of English lessons in the Welsh stream.  

The school would remain Dual Stream with a Welsh Medium Stream and an 
English with significant Welsh stream. 

 
Advantages Disadvantages 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two schools would become one 
primary. 

 No increased travelling time for 
pupils. 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 
Headteacher. 

 Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 

 No designated WM language 
category school – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS 
language category. 
 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 Pupils could not develop 
sufficiently strong Welsh language 
skills through a curriculum time 

Page 232



154 
 

commitment of 30% 
 

 Need for statutory procedures. 
 

 
 
Further analysis of Option 8 
 
This option would mean that the language category of the school would remain as dual 
stream. However; the proposed percentage of Welsh being taught in the English stream 
would mean that the English stream would be officially categorized as an English with 
significant Welsh stream. This results in a dual stream school with a Welsh stream and an 
English with significant Welsh stream which differs to the classification of dual stream with a 
Welsh stream and an English stream as stated in “Defining Schools as according to 
Welsh medium provision” produced by the Welsh Government. This option would require 
statutory procedures to change the classification of dual stream for the school and a new 
consultation process will need to be started. 
 
Although the stream would be known as an English with significant Welsh stream with an 
increase in Welsh (second language) medium provision, the option would still be biased 
towards an English medium education. This is not consistent with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh 
in Education Strategic Plan’s aim of increasing the provision of Welsh (first language) 
medium education. 
 
The proposals have been prepared in response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh 

in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). 

The local authority has a responsibility to “increase the provision of Welsh medium 

education in Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from the nursery sector 

along the key stages to the secondary sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and 

confident in both Welsh and English languages.” In order to be able to increase the 

provision of Welsh medium education it has been recommended that “the County Council 

work closely with the staff and Governing Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream 

schools in order for them to become Welsh medium schools.” With this option, it is 

recommended that pupils in the English stream receive a minimum of 30% Welsh lessons a 

week, however these lessons would be Welsh second language as it is not possible to 

deliver Welsh first language through such limited curriculum time. It is not believed that this 

percentage of Welsh second language lessons would be successful in ensuring “that every 

pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages” as is 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan’s aim. WESP recommends that “at 

least 70% of teaching and learning must be in the medium of Welsh in each year 

during KS2” in order for pupils to be able completely bilingual by the end of KS2 and 

therefore receiving 30% Welsh lessons would not be sufficient. It is therefore unlikely that a 

pupil receiving 30% of Welsh (second language) lessons at primary school would be able to 

successfully undertake a GCSE exam in Welsh first language at secondary school level. 

By promoting a bilingual education Carmarthenshire County Council are supporting the 

Welsh Government’s ambition for Wales to become a “Bilingual plus 1” nation and are 

Supporting Triple Literacy: Language learning in Key Stages 2 and 3. The Welsh 

Government’s document Supporting Triple Literacy: Language learning in Key Stage 2 and 3 

Page 233



155 
 

document states that: “As a bilingual nation, we start from a positive position because 

we provide education through the medium of English and Welsh. Both languages are 

embedded in our education and training system. Our young people therefore have a 

head start by developing language and literacy skills that they can readily apply to 

other European and world languages. Conversely, the study of a foreign language can 

support learners’ literacy in English and Welsh.” Bilingualism provides children with early 

separation of two languages and an understanding of how language works. This makes is 

easier for pupils to then learn a third language. However, this option would not create 

individuals who are confidently bilingual in both English and Welsh languages, therefore 

depriving them of vital skills which make learning a third language easier. Bilingualism has 

positive effects on children’s linguistic and educational development as well as having social 

advantages. It is also believed that bilingualism may offer some protection against the decline 

of cognitive abilities in old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 

The consultee states that “pupils with learning difficulties with either language can be helped 
in situ and that brighter children could be fast tracked to higher levels whilst others could be 
nurtured along at a slower pace.” However; all teachers are expected to differentiate all 
pieces of work based on the needs of the pupil at all times. It is also important to note that 
should option 4 be implemented there would be no change to current pupils at the school and 
pupils receiving their education through the medium of English will continue to do so whilst in 
the school. All pupils with additional learning needs have a specific educational learning plan 
based on the needs of the individual and tailored support is provided for these individuals. 
This support will continue to be provided for each individual currently attending the school 
through the medium of which they currently receive their education. Should the proposal be 
implemented, all future pupils will receive this support through the medium of Welsh. Only on 
rare occasions will a child’s needs require a change of school due to language. In the vast 
majority of cases specific support ensures that every child is able to succeed in the home 
school, irrespective of language. The school will also provide sufficient support for parents 
who do not speak the language and will adjust the amount of support provided to pupils and 
parents as required. It is also worth noting that Carmarthenshire Welsh medium schools are 
already successfully educating pupils from non – Welsh backgrounds. It must not be 
forgotten that English is a statutory curriculum subject and will continue to be taught at the 
school to the highest of standards. 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council have a target to increase the amount of Welsh (first 
language) medium provision available in Carmarthenshire. This option would not align with 
this target. The best way to ensure that all individuals become fluent in both Welsh and 
English languages is by immersing them in the Welsh language, this can be successfully 
done in a Welsh medium school. Option 4 provides children with opportunities to engage in 
extra-curricular activities through the medium Welsh enabling the pupils to develop their 
Welsh skills outside of the classroom.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 234



156 
 

Option 9 – as discussed during conversations with consultees. 
 

Option 9 – Gradually increase the percentage of Welsh medium 
provision until the school becomes a fully Welsh medium school. 

 
Advantages Disadvantages 

 Opportunities to share resources. 

 Two schools would become one 
primary. 

 No increased travelling time for 
pupils. 

 All pupils would be located on one 
site under the leadership of one 
Headteacher. 

 Having one school which will help 
keep and develop the sense of 
belonging, heritage and tradition 
that help to make up a community. 

 Allows additional time for existing 
staff to develop their language 
skills. 

 No designated WM language 
category school – Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior 
schools would remain DS 
language category until much later 
on. 

 

 Delay in meeting WESP (2014-
2017) objectives of increasing 
Welsh medium education by 
changing dual stream schools to 
Welsh medium schools. 

 

 Not every pupil will become fluent 
and confident in Welsh and 
English as detailed in the WESP 
(2014-2017). 
 

 Very complex for teachers to 
adjust proportion every year. 
 

 Changes from second language 
curriculum to first language 
curriculum. 

 

 Need for several statutory 
procedures. 

 

 

Further analysis of Option 9 
 
This proposal suggests that the provision of Welsh medium education could be increased 
year by year until the school finally becomes a Welsh medium school. The data presented in 
the consultation document shows that the number of pupils attending through the English 
stream is much less than for those attending through the Welsh stream, showing that there is 
a demand for Welsh medium education. This data suggest that this change will be natural 
change for the school however; this option of increasing the provision of Welsh medium 
education yearly would delay this change. The Council’s proposals have been prepared in 
response to Carmarthenshire County Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 
and the Welsh Medium Education Strategy (WMES). The local authority has a responsibility 
to “increase the provision of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 
linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary 

Page 235



157 
 

sector so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and English 
languages.” In order to be able to increase the provision of Welsh medium education it has 
been recommended that “the County Council work closely with the staff and Governing 
Bodies of Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in order for them to become Welsh 
medium schools.”  
 
This option would also be difficult for teachers to operate. Increasing the provision of Welsh 

medium education yearly would mean adjusting the curriculum that the teachers follow every 

year. It is also important to note that pupils who attend through the English stream follow a 

Welsh second language curriculum whereas the pupils attending through the Welsh stream 

follow a Welsh first language curriculum. The curriculum that the teachers are required to 

follow depends on the percentage of Welsh lessons provided and this would mean that the 

curriculum for pupils attending the English stream would change from Welsh second 

language to Welsh first language at some point during the transition. It is important to note 

that this would be a significant change for the pupils as it would not be possible to deliver a 

Welsh first language curriculum with a low percentage of Welsh lessons.  

Changing the provision of Welsh medium education yearly would mean that several statutory 

procedures would need to be taken as changing the percentage of Welsh medium provision 

yearly would mean changing the language category of the English stream several times. 

Once the provision of Welsh medium education reaches 20%, the language category of the 

English stream would need to be changed to English with significant Welsh. However, once 

the provision of Welsh medium education reaches over 50% the language category of the 

English with significant Welsh stream would need to be changed to Transitional. It is only 

when the provision of Welsh medium education reaches 70% can the stream be changed to 

Welsh medium. These language categories are as defined in the Welsh Government’s 

“Defining Schools according to Welsh medium provision” document. 

The Local Authority have a responsibility to provide all pupils with the best education possible 

and the Local Authority believe that providing a Welsh medium education is best for all 

pupils. This aligns with Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2014-2017’s 

aim of ensuring “that every pupil who receives education in Welsh/bilingual medium 

schools can speak, read and write Welsh fluently by the end of KS2.” A Welsh medium 

education provides pupils with opportunities to be immersed in the Welsh language through 

engaging in extra-curricular activities outside the classroom. WESP recommends that “at 

least 70% of teaching and learning must be in the medium of Welsh in each year 

during KS2” in order for pupils to be able completely bilingual by the end of KS2. 

This option as it stands would not ensure that “every pupil becomes fluent and confident 

in both Welsh and English languages” as not all pupils will have received the appropriate 

amount of Welsh lessons during their primary school lifetime. Ensuring that all pupils become 

fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages is stated as an aim in 

Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and therefore this is not a viable option. 

It is important to note that there will be no changes for pupils currently attending the school 

and all pupils currently receiving their education through the medium of English will continue 

to do so. The school will also provide sufficient support to both pupils and parents who are 

non-Welsh speakers and this support will be adjusted as required. 

Page 236



158 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix G 
 

Why are we promoting a bilingual education? 

 

Page 237



We live in a world of great linguistic diversity. More than half of the world’s 
population grows up with more than one language. 

 

“The limits of my language mean the limits of my world.” 
Ludwig Wittgenstein 

 

One brain...Two languages...many advantages. 
 

‘The person who knows only one language does not truly know that language’ 
Goethe 

 

 
 

Why are we promoting a bilingual education? 

 

To achieve Carmarthenshire County Council’s aspirations as set out in ‘The Welsh 

Language in Carmarthenshire Report’  

One of the most important principles in the report is that every pupil should have the opportunity 

to be fully bilingual by the time they leave school, so that they can use and develop their 

language skills in the community and in the workplace. Promoting the economic and community 

advantages of bilingualism to parents and pupils is central to this...  

To achieve Carmarthenshire County Council’s aspirations as set out in 

‘Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education Strategy’.  

Achieving the key aim as agreed by full Council-  

 Increase the provision of Welsh medium education in Carmarthenshire and ensure 

linguistic continuity from the nursery sector along the key stages to the secondary sector 

so that every pupil becomes fluent and confident in both Welsh and English languages. 

 Ensure that Welsh medium or bilingual education is an educational experience available 

to every child and that it should be within a reasonable travelling distance from children's 

homes. This refers to children of pre-school age and above. 

To support the Welsh Government’s Welsh Language Strategy 2012–17 

Our vision is to see the Welsh language thriving in Wales. To achieve that, the strategy aims to 
see an increase in the number of people who both speak and use the language. Our six aims 
are: 
 

 to encourage and support the use of the Welsh language within 
families 

Page 238

https://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/life-bilingual/201011/bilingualisms-best-kept-secret


 to increase the provision of Welsh-medium activities for children and young people and to 
increase their awareness of the value of the language 

 to strengthen the position of the Welsh language in the community 

 to increase opportunities for people to use Welsh in the workplace 

 to improve Welsh language services to citizens 

 to strengthen the infrastructure for the language, including digital technology. 
 

A living language: a language for living Welsh Language Strategy 2012–17 

 
To support the Welsh Government’s ambition as set out in the Welsh-medium Education 
Strategy  

 
To have an education and training system that responds in a planned way to the growing 
demand for Welsh-medium education, reaches out to and reflects our diverse communities and 
enables an increase in the number of people of all ages and backgrounds who are fluent in 
Welsh and able to use the language with their families, in their communities and in the 
workplace. 

Welsh-medium Education Strategy, April 2010 
 

To support the Welsh Government’s ambition for Wales to become a ‘Bilingual plus 1’ 

nation AND Supporting triple literacy: Language learning in Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 

’As a bilingual nation, we start from a positive position because we provide education through the 

medium of English and Welsh. Both languages are embedded in our education and training 

system. Our young people therefore have a head start by developing language and literacy skills 

that they can readily apply to other European and world languages. Conversely, the study of a 

foreign language can support learners’ literacy in English and Welsh.’  

Supporting triple literacy: Language learning in Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 

 

National and international research- bilingualism is much more than two languages 

Research shows that children who speak more than one language have advantages over their 

monolingual playmates – in communication, cognition and social interaction. These include- 

 The child’s brain is not ‘naturally monolingual’; it can deal with two (or even more) 

languages. Children can acquire any language without any ‘effort’, just like learning to 

walk 
 

 Early separation of the two languages 
 

 Similar stages and milestones in bilingual and monolingual language development 
 

 Spontaneous understanding of how language works  in all languages 
 

 Competence and creativity in language mixing 
 

 Bilingualism helps children’s learning because they can think about their ideas in both 

languages. Having two words for objects, ideas and processes helps 

understanding 

 

Page 239



 Smaller vocabulary in each language but wider vocabulary across languages 
 

 Better metalinguistic abilities (relation between language and other cultural factors in a society)  
 

 Transfer of aspects of reading skills from one language to the other 
 

 Children acquiring two or more languages from birth are able to differentiate the 

grammatical systems of their languages from very early on and without apparent effort. 
 

 Earlier awareness of other people’s perspective 
 

 Social advantages- access to two cultures, more tolerance towards and interest in other 

cultures, easier to travel, find a job 
 

 Better control of attention and ability to handle conflicting information 
 

 One aspect of research shows that bilingual children ‘notice’ better how language works 

and outperform monolingual children in tasks linked to language awareness. 
 

 Studies show that a bilingual child is better able to cope with tasks that involve attention, 

memory and concentration. The mental gymnastics needed to constantly manage two or 

more linguistic systems increases cognitive flexibility and makes learning easier. 
 

 Bilingual children have an extra ‘gear’ that can give them an advantage in some 

situations. 
 

 Children will use words that they know rather than not say anything at all. For instance, if 

a child knows the word for 'ice cream' in one language and not the other he/she will use 

the word in the language he/she knows rather than not ask for ice cream at all. The child 

is not confused; he/she is simply making use of all the language he/she has. 
 

 Some new studies suggest bilingualism may offer some protection against the decline of 

cognitive abilities in old age, both in normal and pathological ageing. 
 

 Bilingualism has positive effects on children's linguistic and educational 

development. When children continue to develop their abilities in two or more languages 

throughout their primary school years, they gain a deeper understanding of language and 

how to use it effectively. They have more practice in processing language, especially 

when they develop literacy in both, and they are able to compare and contrast the ways in 

which their two languages organize reality. 
 

 Research suggests that bilingual children may also develop more flexibility in their 

thinking as a result of processing information through two different languages. 
 

No studies/research reports bilingualism as being a disadvantage  

Based primarily on the work of Bangor University, University of Edinburgh (Antonella Sorace) and Jim 

Cummins (University of Toronto Ontario Institute for Studies in Education) 

 

Page 240



Websites/Further information 

 

https://www.bangor.ac.uk/bilingualism/  

http://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/bilingualism-is-good-for-learning 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cognitive_advantages_of_bilingualism  

https://www.britishcouncil.org/voices-magazine/does-being-bilingual-make-you-smarter  

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-35170392 

http://theconversation.com/speaking-in-tongues-the-many-benefits-of-bilingualism-49842  

http://www.spring.org.uk/2013/09/10-superb-psychological-advantages-of-learning-another-

language.php  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 241

https://www.bangor.ac.uk/bilingualism/
http://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/bilingualism-is-good-for-learning
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cognitive_advantages_of_bilingualism
https://www.britishcouncil.org/voices-magazine/does-being-bilingual-make-you-smarter
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-35170392
http://theconversation.com/speaking-in-tongues-the-many-benefits-of-bilingualism-49842
http://www.spring.org.uk/2013/09/10-superb-psychological-advantages-of-learning-another-language.php
http://www.spring.org.uk/2013/09/10-superb-psychological-advantages-of-learning-another-language.php


This page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR SIR CAERFYRDDIN

Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin SA31 1JP

Hysbysir trwy hyn yn unol ag Adran 43 ac Adran 41 o Ddeddf Safonau a Threfniadaeth 
Ysgolion (Cymru) 2013 (y Ddeddf) a'r Côd Trefniadaeth Ysgolion fod Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin
(y Cyngor) ar ôl ymgynghori â'r cyfryw bersonau ag sy'n ofynnol, yn cynnig y canlynol:

1.  Cau Ysgol Babanod Llangennech, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB (a gynhelir gan y 
Cyngor ar hyn o bryd) ar 31 Awst 2017;

2.  Cau Ysgol Iau Llangennech, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB (a gynhelir gan y cyngor ar 
hyn o bryd) ar 31 Awst 2017;

3.  Sefydlu ysgol Cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd (yr “Ysgol Newydd”) a fydd yn cael ei chynnal 
gan Gyngor Sir Caerfyrddin ar safleoedd ac yn adeiladau presennol Ysgol Babanod
Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau Llangennech ar gyfer bechgyn a merched rhwng 3 ac 11 oed 
o 1 Medi 2017. 

Cynhaliodd y Cyngor gyfnod ymgynghori cyn penderfynu cyhoeddi'r cynigion hyn. Mae
adroddiad ymgynghori sy'n cynnwys crynodeb o'r materion a godwyd gan ymgyngoreion,
ymatebion y cynigydd a barn Estyn ar gael ar www.sirgar.llyw.cymru

O 1 Medi 2017 ymlaen, yn amodol ar ddewisiadau a fynegai gan rieni, bwriedir i’r 
disgyblion hynny sydd ar gofrestr Ysgol Babanod Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau Llangennech a’r
rhai a fyddai, oni bai am y cynnig hwn, wedi disgwyl mynychu’r ysgolion hynny – gael eu
haddysg yn yr “Ysgol Newydd”. Dalgylchoedd presennol Ysgol Babanod Llangennech ac
Ysgol Iau Llangennech fydd dalgylch yr “Ysgol Newydd”.

Ni fwriedir i’r trefniadau derbyn i’r “Ysgol Newydd” ddarparu ar gyfer dewis disgyblion ar
sail dawn na gallu (bandio disgyblion).

Bydd yr ysgol newydd arfaethedig yn ysgol gynradd gymunedol. 

Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin fydd yr Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer yr “Ysgol Newydd”. 

Y nifer derbyn ar gyfer disgyblion 4/5 oed yn yr ysgol newydd yn ystod y flwyddyn ysgol 
gyntaf y bydd y cynigion hyn yn cael eu gweithredu fydd 60. Capasiti'r ysgol ar gyfer
disgyblion 3-11 oed ar ôl gweithredu'r cynnig fydd 461.  Bydd 60 o leoedd meithrin. 

Categori Iaith yr ysgol newydd arfaethedig, fel y’i diffiniwyd yn nogfen wybodaeth rhif:
023/2007 Llywodraeth Cymru, “Diffinio ysgolion yn ôl eu darpariaeth Gymraeg”, fydd 
Cyfrwng Cymraeg.

Darperir cludiant i’r “Ysgol Newydd” yn unol â pholisi Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin ynghylch 
cludiant o’r cartref i’r ysgol.

Bydd y trefniadau ar gyfer trosglwyddo i Ysgolion Uwchradd yn parhau heb eu newid.

Cyn pen 28 diwrnod ar ôl dyddiad cyhoeddi'r cynigion hyn, hynny yw erbyn 2 Hydref 2016,
gall unrhyw berson wrthwynebu'r cynigion hyn. Dylid anfon gwrthwynebiadau at 
Mr Robert Sully, Y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Plant, Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin,
Adeilad 2, Parc Dewi Sant, Heol Ffynnon Job, Caerfyrddin, SA31 3HB neu gellir anfon neges
e-bost at aaprma@sirgar.gov.uk

Llofnodwyd: Mr Robert Sully
Y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Plant
Ar ran Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin

Dyddiedig: 5  Medi 2016

NODYN ESBONIADOL
(Nid yw’r Nodyn Esboniadol hwn yn rhan o’r Hysbysiad – yn hytrach fe'i cynigir er mwyn

eglurder)

1.  Bwriad yr awdurdod yw ad-drefnu addysg gynradd yn ardal Llangennech a chreu un 
ysgol gynradd gymunedol newydd, i gymryd lle Ysgol Babanod Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau      
Llangennech. Bydd yr ysgol newydd ar safleoedd ac yn adeiladau presennol Ysgol 
Babanod Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau Llangennech.

2.  Bwriad yr Awdurdod yw cynnwys darpariaeth feithrin yn yr ysgol newydd a darparu 
addysg i ddisgyblion rhwng 3 ac 11 oed. 

Nid yw cael lle yn y meithrin yn golygu bod gan y plentyn hawl awtomatig i le 
llawn-amser yn yr ysgol a bydd rhaid cyflwyno cais newydd. 

Mae gan ddisgyblion meithrin yr hawl i gael addysg ran-amser o ddechrau'r tymor yn 
dilyn eu pen-blwydd yn dair oed. Y diffiniad o ran-amser yw 5 sesiwn yr wythnos yn y 
bore neu'r prynhawn. Bydd gan ddisgyblion meithrin yr hawl i fynychu'r ysgol yn
llawn-amser ar ddechrau'r tymor cyn eu pen-blwydd yn 4 oed. 

3.  Y categori iaith ar gyfer Ysgol Babanod Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau Llangennech yw Dwy 
Ffrwd. Bwriad yr Awdurdod yw sefydlu'r ysgol newydd yn ysgol categori iaith Cyfrwng 
Cymraeg. 

Mae dogfen wybodaeth Llywodraeth Cymru "Diffinio Ysgolion yn ôl y ddarpariaeth 
cyfrwng Cymraeg" yn nodi disgrifiadau a chategorïau o ysgolion yn ôl faint o Gymraeg a 
ddefnyddir wrth addysgu a dysgu. Mae'r ddogfen ar gael ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru 
yn y cyfeiriad canlynol:

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/defining-schools-
welsh-medium/?lang=cym

4.  Mae’r polisi cyfredol ynghylch cludiant o’r cartref i’r ysgol yn cadarnhau y bydd yr 
Awdurdod yn darparu cymorth cludiant yn achos disgyblion sy’n bodloni pob un o’r 
meini prawf canlynol:-
(a)  yn byw yn Sir Gaerfyrddin;
(b)  maent wedi cyrraedd oed ysgol gorfodol;
(c)  maent yn mynychu’r ysgol agosaf neu’r ysgol a ddynodwyd gan yr Awdurdod Lleol;  

ac
(d)  maent yn byw ymhellach na’r pellter cerdded statudol o’r ysgol. Diffinir y pellter 

cerdded statudol fel 2 filltir ar gyfer ysgolion cynradd.

Cyfrifoldeb rhieni yw trefnu a thalu am gludo disgyblion i’r ysgol os nad ydynt yn 
gymwys i gael cludiant am ddim.

5.  Bydd Ysgol Babanod Llangennech ac Ysgol Iau Llangennech yn cau ar 31 Awst 2017. 

Bydd yr ysgol gynradd gymunedol Cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd sy'n darparu ar gyfer
bechgyn a merched rhwng 3 ac 11 oed yn cael ei sefydlu o 1 Medi 2017.

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

County Hall, Carmarthen, SA31 1JP

Notice is hereby given in accordance with Section 43 and Section 41 of the School 
Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 (the Act) and the School Organisation Code
that Carmarthenshire County Council (the Council) having consulted such persons as
required, propose the following:

1.  To discontinue Llangennech Infants School, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB (currently 
maintained by the Council) on 31 August 2017;

2.  To discontinue Llangennech Junior School, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB (currently 
maintained by the Council) on 31 August 2017;

3.  To establish a new Welsh Medium (WM) school (the “New School”) to be maintained by 
Carmarthenshire County Council at the existing sites and buildings of the current 
Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools for boys and girls aged 3-11 from 1
September 2017.

The Council undertook a period of consultation before deciding to publish these proposals.
A consultation report containing a summary of the issues raised by consultees, the 
proposer’s responses and the views of Estyn is available on www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales

From 1 September 2017, subject to any expression of parental preference, it is proposed
that those pupils registered at Llangennech Infants School and Llangennech Junior school
and who, but for this proposal, would have expected to attend those schools will be 
educated at the “New School”. The existing catchment areas of Llangennech Infants School
and Llangennech Junior School will become the catchment area of the “New School”.

It is not intended that admission arrangements to the “New School” will make any provision
for selection of pupils by aptitude or by ability (pupil banding).

The proposed new school will be a community primary school.

Carmarthenshire County Council will be the admission authority for the “New School”.

The admission number (AN) for pupils aged 4/5 at the new school in the first school year in
which the proposals have been implemented will be 60. The capacity of the school for pupils
aged 3-11 once the proposal is implemented will be 461.  There will be 60 nursery places.

The language category of the proposed new school, as defined by “Defining schools 
according to Welsh medium provision", Welsh Government Information document No:
023/2007 will be Welsh Medium.

Transport to the “New School” will be provided in accordance with Carmarthenshire County
Council’s home to school transport policy.

Transfer to Secondary School will remain as per current arrangements.

Within a period of 28 days after the date of publication of these proposals, that is to say by
2 October 2016, any person may object to these proposals. Objections should be sent to Mr
Robert Sully, Director of Education and Children’s Services, Carmarthenshire County Council,
Building 2, St David’s Park, Job’s Well Road, Carmarthen, SA31 3HB or e-mail to
DECMEP@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Signed: Mr Robert Sully
Director of Education and Children’s Services 
For Carmarthenshire County Council

Dated: 5 September 2016

EXPLANATORY NOTE
(This Explanatory Note does not form part of the Notice but is offered by way of 

clarification)

1.  It is the Authority’s intention to re-organise primary education in the Llangennech area 
and create one new community primary school, to replace the existing Llangennech
Infants and Llangennech Junior schools. The new school is to be located on the current 
sites and buildings of the existing Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools.

2.  It is the Authority’s intention to include nursery provision at the new school and to 
provide education to pupils between the ages of 3-11.

Admission to the nursery does not automatically entitle a child to a full-time place in the 
school and a new application must be made. 

Nursery pupils are entitled to part-time education from the beginning of the term 
following their third birthday. Part-time is defined as 5 morning or afternoon sessions per 
week. Nursery pupils will be entitled to attend on a full-time basis at the start of the term 
preceding their 4th birthday.

3.  The language category of both the current Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior 
Schools is categorised as Dual Stream. It is the Authority’s intention to establish the new 
school as a Welsh Medium (category WM) language category school.

The Welsh Government information document “Defining schools according to Welsh 
medium” sets out descriptions and categories of schools according to the amount of 
Welsh used in teaching and learning. The document is available on the Welsh 
Government website at the following address:

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/defining-schools-
welsh-medium/?lang=en

4.  Current home to school transport policy confirms that assistance with transport will be 
provided by the Authority for pupils who meet each of the following criteria:-
(a)  are residents of Carmarthenshire;
(b)  are of compulsory school age;
(c)   attend the nearest or the school designated by the Local Authority; and
(d)   who reside over the statutory walking distance from the school. The statutory 

walking distance is defined as 2 miles for primary schools.

The arrangement and cost of transport to school for pupils who do not qualify for free 
transport is a parental responsibility.

5.  The discontinuation of both Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior Schools will 
take place on 31 August 2017.

The new Welsh Medium, community primary school which caters for boys and girls
between the ages of 3-11 years old will be established from 1 September 2017.

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OBJECTION REPORT 

 

Future Primary Education Provision for Children Residing in the Llangennech area 

 

 
 

P
age 245



Executive Summary 

 

The Consultation Process 

Carmarthenshire County Council has published proposals to change primary school 
provision within the community of Llangennech. The County Council’s proposal is 
constituted of three elements as follows: 

 To discontinue Llangennech Infants School, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB 
(currently maintained by the Council) on 31 August 2017; 
 

 To discontinue Llangennech Junior School, Llangennech, Llanelli, SA14 8YB 
(currently maintained by the Council) on 31 August 2017; 

 

 To establish a new Welsh Medium (WM) school (the “New School”) to be 
maintained by Carmarthenshire County Council at the existing sites and 
buildings of the current Llangennech Infants and Llangennech Junior schools 
for boys and girls aged 3-11 from 1 September 2017. 
 

The consultation period for this proposal commenced on the 25th January 2016 and 
was due to close on the 11th March 2016 but in response to requests from some 
interested parties, the Director of Education and Children’s Services agreed to 
extend the period for responses by one week until the 18th March 2016. A total of 
267 submissions were received in response to the formal consultation. 
 
Following the closure of the consultation period, a Consultation Report was prepared 
summarising the observations received and the Local Authority’s responses to these 
observations. The report was presented to the Education and Children’s Services 
Scrutiny Committee and then to the Executive Board for a decision on whether or not 
to publish a statutory notice. On the 26th July 2016 the Executive Board resolved to 
proceed to publish a statutory notice.  
 
 
Publication of the Statutory Notice 

Following the Executive Board’s approval, Carmarthenshire County Council 
published the proposal by way of a statutory notice on September 5th 2016 for 28 
days until October 2nd 2016. The published proposal constituted of the three 
elements as noted above.  

The publication of the proposal by statutory notice has generated an extensive 
response from interested parties, both in support and objection to the proposal. 
1,230 responses were received to the statutory notice by 2nd October 2016. 
Following a request from an interested party, the Director of Education and 
Children’s Services agreed to extend the statutory objection period by one week, 
until October 9th 2016. 

Page 246



 
 

It is important to note that another 188 responses were received within the week 
following the 2nd October 2016. Therefore, including these responses, the total 
number of responses received in response to the statutory notice is 1,418. 

 

From the 1,418 responses received; 698 were in support of the proposal whilst 720 
were in objection to the proposal. 

Please see Appendix A for a further breakdown of the objections received. 

Please see Appendix B for a further breakdown of the supportive comments 
received. 

 

The Responses Received 

The responses received to the statutory notice have been of a similar content to 

those received during the consultation period. Again, very little comment has been 

made within these responses in relation to the element of the proposal which 

proposes to establish new primary school to replace the current infant and junior 

schools. As stated in the consultation report, both schools have been operating 

under a formal federation since April 2015, with a single governing body and a 

shared head teacher. The responses received to this element of the proposal 

acknowledge that the federation has been a success and the formal amalgamation 

of provision within a single primary school is a natural and positive step forward for 

the schools.  

Comments have been received in relation to the element of the proposal which 

proposes to change the age range from 4-11 to 3-11 and provide part-time nursery 

provision within the school. Again, broadly speaking there is support for the 

introduction of part-time nursery provision with acknowledgement that this will 

provide the children of Llangennech with the opportunity to receive a formal 

education from an earlier age. However, some respondents are concerned over the 

impact that this change may have on existing independent sector childcare and 

nursery providers in the community. In addition, some respondents have concerns 

whether there is enough capacity at the school to cater for 60 nursery pupils. 

However, as previously, the element of the proposal which has generated the 

greatest response is the proposal to change the language category of the school to 

Welsh medium in place of the current dual stream arrangement. The current system 

allows provision in either Welsh or English language operating side by side, however 

changing the language category to Welsh medium would mean that all pupils starting 

at the school following the date of implementation would be educated through the 

medium of Welsh only. A large number of responses have been received from both 

respondents who are strongly opposed to changing the language category and 

respondents who strongly support the proposal. Those supporting the proposal have 

considered that this will be a natural change for the schools considering the changes 

that have been taking place in the balance of language provision over recent years 

and that this change provides all children with the opportunity to become bilingual 

Page 247



 
 

and benefit from the advantages of being bilingual. Those opposing the proposal 

have presented a number of reasons why they consider that this change would not 

be desirable and beneficial for the community of Llangennech.  

 

The Objection Report 

Following the large number of responses received to the statutory notice, this 

Objection Report summarises the submissions received in support and in objection 

to the proposal and the Local Authority’s responses to these submissions. The report 

also notes the number of times each point was raised within the submissions 

received. 

For the purpose of this report, all 1,418 submissions have been considered. 

  

Page 248



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 

Summary of Statutory Objections received following publication of the Statutory 

Notice and Local Authority related responses 

 

 

 
 

P
age 249



The Objections Received 

 

As stated in the Executive Summary, a total number of 720 objections were received 

in response to the statutory notice. 

These were compiled of: 

18 e-mails; and 

702 letters formed on a standard objection letter template. (Some of these letters 

included additional attachments) 

However: 

1 objection was withdrawn in writing;  

6 letters were unclear whether or not they were objecting. 

 

The following table summarises the points raised within the objections received and 

the Local Authority’s responses to these points. The table also shows the number of 

responses raising each point: 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 250



Point 
Number 

Point Raised Local Authority Response Number of 
responses 
raising 
the point 

% of 
responses 
raising 
the point 

1. Removal of Choice 
 
The removal of the option of choice from the 
community. Currently pupils have the option to attend 
the school via either the Welsh stream or the English 
stream – should this proposal be implemented pupils 
will no longer have the option to attend the English 
stream. The removal of the English stream removes 
the option of choice compared to other areas in 
Llanelli which have the option of Welsh medium or 
English medium education within easy reach. It is 
believed that parents should have the choice of which 
language their children should be educated through 
and this decision should not be made by the Local 
Authority/County Councillors. This removal of choice 
is against the rights of the parents and pupils. 
 

Carmarthenshire County Council has a statutory 
responsibility under Part 4 of the School Standards 
and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to prepare a 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) for its 
area with the explicit aim of improving planning of 
the provision of education through the medium of 
Welsh, for improving the standards of that 
education and of the teaching of Welsh. 
 
In April 2014 the County Council formally adopted 
a comprehensive strategy for the development of 
the Welsh language in Carmarthenshire, endorsing 
the recommendations of a politically balanced 
group of elected members that had examined in 
depth the status of the Welsh language in the 
county in the wake of the 2011 census of the 
population. The strategy requires action on 73 
points, 21 of which apply to the education service. 
All relevant recommendations and actions from the 
strategy have been incorporated within 
Carmarthenshire’s WESP. 
 
The language strategy received cross-party 
support from elected members when it was 
adopted at a meeting of the full County Council. 
The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan has been 
subject to public consultation during its preparation 
and subsequent review. Its contents have, 

283 40% 

P
age 251



 
 

therefore, been subject to a test of public opinion in 
line with statutory requirements. It has also been 
approved by the Welsh Government in accordance 
with the requirements of the Act. 
 
The Plan seeks to achieve the following specific 
outcomes relevant to the Llangennech proposal: 

 To increase the number of 7 year old 
learners who are educated through the 
medium of Welsh. 

 More learners continue to improve their 
language skills as they move from primary 
to secondary school. 

 More students have higher language skills 
in Welsh. 

 
It also sets out to achieve the specified outcomes 
and aims by means of the following actions: 

 The County Council works closely with the 
staff and governing bodies of 
Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in 
order for them to become Welsh schools. 

 Target three dual stream schools to transfer 
to being Welsh medium by 2017. 

 
Choice is an important issue in the consideration of 
this proposal with the most important aspect of 
choice being that which is available to children as 
they progress through their education and early 
lives. This proposal provides all pupils with the 
opportunity to become fully bilingual with the skills 
to read, write and speak in both Welsh and English 

P
age 252



 
 

languages by the time they leave primary school. 
The Local Authority’s proposal to develop bilingual 
children by the time they leave primary school 
gives children a choice as they move forward to 
secondary school. The most effective way of 
developing bilingual children in the primary sector 
is to immerse them in Welsh medium education. It 
is generally accepted in the education profession 
that studying Welsh as a second language does 
not develop truly bilingual young people.  
 
The schools in Llangennech have been identified 
as having the potential to move quickly to become 
Welsh medium due to the progressive increase in 
numbers in the Welsh stream over recent years, as 
evidenced by the data. 
 
Furthermore, standards across both schools have 
been consistently good, demonstrating that the 
children are succeeding well in all subjects and are 
able to thrive through a Welsh medium education. 
 
The Local Authority is advised that the proposals in 
this matter do not in any way contravene European 
or domestic law regarding human rights. 
 

2. Dual Stream is Successful  
 
The dual stream system has been in place for a 
number of years and works extremely well as it is. As 
it stands, pupils from both streams are exposed to 
both Welsh and English languages. There is no need 

The Local Authority acknowledge that both 
Llangennech Infants School and Llangennech 
Junior Schools are performing very well and are 
very successful. This proposal seeks to improve 
even further the opportunity for children attending 
the schools to secure continuingly improving 

228 32% 

P
age 253



 
 

to change a system that is already working and the 
school should remain dual stream. Should there be a 
need to increase Welsh Medium provision in the 
Llangennech area, then the school remain dual 
stream but increase the percentage of the provision of 
Welsh medium education. 
 
As the school is currently working well with a dual 
stream arrangement and providing excellent 
education through both Welsh and English 
languages, it should be considered changing other 
English medium schools to dual stream schools. This 
will increase the provision of Welsh medium 
education in other areas but won’t affect pupils’ 
education.  
 

outcomes. Carmarthenshire County Council has a 
statutory responsibility under Part 4 of the School 
Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to 
prepare a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) for its area with the explicit aim of 
improving planning of the provision of education 
through the medium of Welsh, from improving the 
standards of that education and of the teaching of 
Welsh. 
 
In April 2014 the County Council formally adopted 
a comprehensive strategy for the development of 
the Welsh language in Carmarthenshire, endorsing 
the recommendations of a politically balanced 
group of elected members that had examined in 
depth the status of the Welsh language in the 
county in the wake of the 2011 census of the 
population. The strategy requires action on 73 
points, 21 of which apply to the education service. 
All relevant recommendations and actions from the 
strategy have been incorporated within 
Carmarthenshire’s WESP. 
 
The Plan seeks to achieve the following specific 
outcomes relevant to the Llangennech proposal: 

 To increase the number of 7 year old 
learners who are educated through the 
medium of Welsh. 

 More learners continue to improve their 
language skills as they move from primary 
to secondary school. 

P
age 254



 
 

 More students have higher language skills 
in Welsh. 

 
It also sets out to achieve the specified outcomes 
and aims by means of the following actions: 

 The County Council works closely with the 
staff and governing bodies of 
Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in 
order for them to become Welsh schools. 

 Target three dual stream schools to transfer 
to being Welsh medium by 2017. 
 

It is important to note that the WESP requires all 
primary schools in Carmarthenshire, including 
English medium school, to move along the 
language continuum, progressively expanding the 
proportion of education that is delivered through 
the medium of Welsh, with a view to ensuring that 
in time all children leaving primary school are fully 
bilingual. 
 
The pace at which schools will be able to expand 
bilingualism and Welsh medium education will 
depend upon local circumstances but the 
expectation for progress applies to all schools. The 
schools in Llangennech have been identified as 
having the potential to move quickly to become 
Welsh medium due to the progressive increase in 
numbers in the Welsh stream over recent years, as 
evidenced by the data. 
 

P
age 255



 
 

Furthermore, standards across both schools have 
been consistently good, demonstrating that the 
children are succeeding well in all subjects and are 
able to thrive through a Welsh medium education. 
 

3. Discrimination and Exclusion 
 
The proposal will and is already causing a divide 
within the community. It is believed that the proposal 
is discriminatory and segregates English speaking 
families and families who desire English medium 
education. Should the proposal be implemented, 
pupils will be forced to seek English medium 
education elsewhere, thus further excluding them 
from their local community.  
 

This proposal does not seek to discriminate 
against English speaking families or to exclude any 
community members from their own local 
community in any way. On the contrary, this 
proposal seeks to provide all children with the 
opportunity to become fully bilingual with the skills 
to be able to read, write and speak in both Welsh 
and English languages by the time that they leave 
primary school.  
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current 
pupils remain at Llangennech school and continue 
to receive their education through the current 
language arrangements until they leave for 
secondary school. Similarly, it is the Local 
Authority’s desire that in the future local children 
attend their village school, receiving their education 
principally through the medium of Welsh, with 
English being taught as a subject in Key Stage 2 
and used as a medium for instruction in some 
other lessons in the later years of the school. 
 
There is a national priority in Wales, shared by 
Carmarthenshire Council, to increase the number 
of people in our communities who are able to 
speak Welsh and use it in their everyday lives. 
Schools are regarded to be a critically important 

124 17% 

P
age 256



 
 

component in developing children so that they are 
fully bilingual by the time they leave primary 
school. This proposal seeks to provide all 
community members with the opportunity to 
develop their Welsh language skills. 
 

4. No reason 
 
Some respondents did not provide a reason for their 
objection.  
 

 100 14% 

5. Transfer to English Medium schools 
 
It is unfair for pupils who desire/require an English 
medium education to have to transfer to another 
school outside of their local area. In addition, pupils 
who struggle with the Welsh language will also have 
to transfer to another school outside of the local area 
instead of transferring to the English stream. Pupils 
have a right to access English medium education 
within their local area. 
 

It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current 
pupils remain at Llangennech school and continue 
to receive their education through the current 
language arrangements until they leave for 
secondary school. The proposals will not therefore, 
affect current pupils. The school will continue to 
provide sufficient support for all current pupils 
through the medium in which they currently receive 
their education so there is, consequently, no need 
for any child to be moved from the school. 
Similarly, it is the Local Authority’s desire that in 
the future local children attend their village school, 
receiving their education principally through the 
medium of Welsh, with English being taught as a 
subject in Key Stage 2 and used as a medium for 
instruction in some other lessons in the later years 
of the school. Again, sufficient support will be 
provided for all future pupils, principally through the 
medium of Welsh.  
 

85 12% 

P
age 257



 
 

Please see point 9 which refers to the help and 
support which is currently and will continue to be 
provided to all pupils and parents with regards to 
the Welsh language. 
 
Please see point 12 which refers to pupils with 
additional learning needs, special educational 
needs and the help and support which is and will 
continue to be provided to these pupils.  
 

6. The Community 
 
The proposal is inconsistent with the make-up of 
community and goes against the wishes of the 
majority of community. It cannot be called a 
community school if it does not cater for the whole 
community.  
 
It is felt that this proposal will have a negative effect 
on the community due to families moving out of the 
village to seek English medium education elsewhere. 
In addition, only providing Welsh medium education 
may result in less people moving to the area due to 
unsuitable education provision. This will result in the 
decrease in value of properties and the economy 
within the local area.  
 

The Local Authority acknowledges that some 
members of the community are unable to speak 
the Welsh language and that many children 
attending the school come from non-Welsh 
backgrounds. It is, therefore important for the Local 
Authority to increase the provision of Welsh 
medium education in order to promote bilingualism 
in the area and to ensure that every pupil becomes 
fluent and confident in both Welsh and English 
languages.  
 
There is a national priority in Wales, shared by 
Carmarthenshire Council, to increase the number 
of people in our communities who are able to 
speak Welsh and use it in their everyday lives. 
Schools are regarded to be a critically important 
component in developing children so that they are 
fully bilingual by the time they leave primary 
school.  
 
The Local Authority acknowledges that the nature 
of communities changes over time and that social 

76 11% 

P
age 258



 
 

mobility continues to increase. The Local Authority 
considers that this point reinforces the need to 
embed Welsh medium education in as many 
communities as possible in order to bolster the 
language and provide as many children as 
possible with the opportunity to develop as truly 
bilingual citizens and to benefit from the personal 
advantages that bilingualism brings.  
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current 
pupils remain at Llangennech school and continue 
to receive their education through the current 
language arrangements until they leave for 
secondary school. The proposals will not therefore, 
affect current pupils. The school will continue to 
provide sufficient support for all current pupils 
through the medium in which they currently receive 
their education so there is, consequently, no need 
for any child to be moved from the school. 
Similarly, it is the Local Authority’s desire that in 
the future local children attend their village school. 
 
It is hard to estimate the effect that changing the 
language category to Welsh medium will have on 
the number of families moving into the area. 
However, the Local Authority are hopeful that 
migrants will understand the benefits of a Welsh 
medium education and the opportunities and 
advantages that it can provide. This proposal will 
provide all future pupils with the opportunity to 
become fully bilingual in both Welsh and English 
languages by the time they leave primary school 

P
age 259



 
 

and benefit from these advantages throughout their 
lives. 
 
The Local Authority is also hopeful that this 
proposal will have a positive effect on the local 
economy by providing community members with 
the opportunity to develop their Welsh language 
skills. Bilingualism will increasingly over time 
become an employment skill. For example, all 
public organisations in Wales are subject to new 
statutory Welsh language standards and 
progressively over time will need to recruit 
increasing numbers of Welsh speakers to deliver 
services. Possessing Welsh language skills will 
increasingly over time give individuals a 
competitive advantage when seeking employment. 
 

7. The Pupils’ Education and Later Life 
Opportunities 
 
It is believed that learning through the medium of 
Welsh will have a detrimental effect on the pupils’ 
education and may disadvantage children from 
entering further or higher education and later on in life 
when applying for job vacancies etc. It is believed that 
not all pupils will be able to reach their full potential 
and attain the best grades possible by learning 
through the medium of Welsh. Consequently, this 
may disadvantage pupils when applying for places in 
further or higher education. In addition, some pupils 
may also find it difficult to adjust to learning in the 
medium of English at universities having previously 

It is the belief of the Department, based upon 
international evidence and local experience, that 
children benefit from a truly bilingual education, 
which provides wider skills developments, such as 
cognitive ability, task understanding and flexibility, 
enhanced powers of concentration, etc. and that all 
children should receive these opportunities. Being 
bilingual or multilingual also broadens individuals’ 
cultural experiences and can enhance career 
prospects. Evidence demonstrates that true 
bilingualism can only be achieved in the local 
context through children receiving a Welsh medium 
education.  
 

65 9% 

P
age 260



 
 

received their education through the medium of 
Welsh – consequently affecting their higher 
education. It must also be noted that the most 
common language used in day to day life, working life 
and the business world is English – therefore pupils’ 
understanding of the English language must be 
secure in order to ensure maximum success within 
the real world. 
 

The evidence of recent years at the Llangennech 
schools is that children in the Welsh language 
stream achieve good standards in both the English 
and Welsh languages. Children in the English 
language stream, however, do not achieve equally 
high standards in the Welsh language as they 
follow a Welsh second language programme. The 
evidence also confirms that children in the Welsh 
language stream from non-Welsh speaking homes 
achieve consistently good outcomes in all subjects, 
including the English language.  
 
Bilingualism will increasingly over time become an 
employment skill. For example, all public 
organisations in Wales are subject to new statutory 
Welsh language standards and progressively over 
time will need to recruit increasing numbers of 
Welsh speakers to deliver services. Possessing 
Welsh language skills will increasingly over time 
give individuals a competitive advantage when 
seeking employment. 
 
Schools prepare young people with the skills to 
attend universities around the world and the Welsh 
language should not be seen as a disadvantage. 
Rather than being an impediment, possessing 
skills in the Welsh language is seen by many 
universities, inside and outside Wales, as an 
additional skill, which can offer benefits when a 
young person is competing for a place to study.  
 

P
age 261



 
 

8. Transport and Travel 
 
No transport will be provided for pupils whose parents 
opt for them to attend other English medium schools. 
It is unfair to expect parents to pay and provide 
transport for pupils to be able to attend other English 
medium schools. This will place extra financial 
difficulties on families and will be extremely difficult for 
families who do not have access to their own private 
transport. Yet, transport will be provided / costs will be 
met for pupils outside catchment wishing to attend the 
new school. 
 
Removing the English medium stream removes the 
children’s access to safe routes to school and the 
ability to walk to an English medium school. There are 
no safe walking routes to other English medium 
schools and no risk assessment has been 
undertaken. This may be the only opportunity for 
some children to take part in healthy exercise.  
 
There will be an increase in traffic and congestion in 
the area due to families transporting their children to 
other English medium schools outside the area and 
families transporting their children into the area to 
attend the new Welsh medium school. 
 
 

The Local Authority are not proposing alternative 
English medium schools as part of the proposal. 
Should parents elect to place their children in 
alternative schools they will do so in full 
consideration of all the factors that apply, including 
transport implications. If any parents elect to place 
their children in alternative schools that are neither 
the designated nor nearest school, these parents 
will assume full responsibility for transporting their 
children to school.  
 
Pupils will continue to have access to safe routes 
to Llangennech school as the Local Authority are 
not proposing alternative schools as part of the 
proposal. Should parents elect to place their 
children in alternative schools they will do so in full 
consideration of all the factors that apply, including 
pupils’ ability to walk to school and the access to 
safe routes to schools.  
 
As there will be no change for current pupils 
attending the schools, there is consequently, no 
need for any child to be moved from the school. 
Similarly, it is the Local Authority’s desire that all 
future pupils will attend their village school. 
However, due to parental preference some parents 
may choose for their children to attend other 
schools outside of the catchment area whilst 
families outside of the catchment area may choose 
for their children to attend Llangennech School. 
This is already the case for the catchment area of 
Llangennech and although it is difficult to estimate, 

62 8.7% 

P
age 262



 
 

it is not expected that this proposal should have a 
drastic effect on the traffic and congestion within 
the local area. 
 

9. Coping with the Welsh Language 
 
It is believed that not all children will be able to cope 
with learning through the medium of Welsh, especially 
pupils from non-Welsh backgrounds. In addition, 
there are concerns that non-Welsh speaking parents 
may find it hard to support and help their children with 
their school work and home work should the school 
become Welsh medium. Little or no support has been 
provided thus far and parents are reluctant to believe 
promises. 
 

The school and its staff are fully committed to 
providing the necessary support to all pupils and 
parents.  
 
The school will continue to provide support for 
current pupils through the medium of which they 
currently receive their education. Should the 
proposal be implemented, future pupils will receive 
their education principally through the medium of 
Welsh, with English being taught as a subject in 
Key Stage 2 and used as a medium for instruction 
in some other lessons in the later years of school. 
Sufficient support will be provided to all new pupils 
principally through the medium of Welsh. It is also 
important to note that staff are required to 
differentiate the curriculum and make reasonable 
adjustments when required to meet the needs of 
every pupil. “Athrawon Bro” who provide support to 
the schools around the county will also be 
supporting the school.  
 
The schools currently offer a range of support to 
pupils and parents from non-Welsh speaking 
families and are committed to increasing provision 
as necessary to meet the future needs of families. 
Pupils and parents are currently supported and will 
continue to be supported by the school through the 
following: 

60 8% 

P
age 263



 
 

 

 Open door policy where teachers can 
translate the work for parents and provide 
an explanation of what is required at that 
time e.g. either before or after school; 

 

 Parents can contact the school via 
telephone or e-mail; 
 

 Homework is provided bilingually when 
needed; 
 

 Welsh lessons are provided to parents at 
specific periods throughout the year; 
 

 In the Foundation Phase, special books are 
regularly sent home to parents in the home 
language which enables the parents to see 
what the pupils achieve in school; 
 

 A homework club is held for an hour after 
school once a week to provide support for 
pupils who require help with their 
homework; 
 

 Sports, choir and IPad club are held 
bilingually; 
 

 Urdd club – many children from the English 
stream currently attend; 
 

 Bilingual school website; 

P
age 264



 
 

 

 Bilingual staff members in both streams; 
 

 Bilingual school assemblies and singing 
sessions. Pupils learn a mixture of Welsh 
and English songs; 
 

 Bilingual school productions; 
 

 “Athrawon Bro” provide support to help 
develop the Welsh skills of pupils; 
 

 “Athrawon Bro” hold a language centre for a 
full week during the summer term for groups 
of year 5 pupils. These are pupils who 
currently perform at level 3 but who can 
attain level 4 with professional input. 
 

 Older pupils have strong Welsh skills which 
enables them to explain the homework to 
their parents; 
 

 “Athrawon Bro” provide training to staff 
members who are less confident in using 
their Welsh skills; 
 

 The Welsh language is heard daily by 
English stream pupils. 
 

The school are also intending to hold an evening 
for parents of all classes at the beginning of the 

P
age 265



 
 

year detailing the themes of work for the year and 
the contents of the work. 
 
Parents could also access support by; 
 

 Asking the child to explain the homework – 
the pupil could translate the homework for 
non-Welsh speaking members of the family; 

 

 Using online translation tools. 
 

 Asking a Welsh speaking friend/family 
member/neighbour for help. 
 

Several organisations have also offered their help 
and support to the community with the 
development of the Welsh language. It is also 
important to note that many pupils from non-Welsh 
backgrounds attend through the Welsh stream and 
are progressing well and achieving good 
standards. 
 

10. Forcing the Welsh language 
 
The community should have a choice of whether to 
learn through the medium of Welsh or English and the 
Welsh language should not be forced on anyone. It is 
important to learn the Welsh language and some 
pupils may want to use the language in their day to 
day life however; not all pupils will want to receive 
their education through the medium of Welsh. Forcing 
the Welsh language will not create more Welsh 

The proposal of the Department for Education and 
Children is that future provision for all pupils in the 
new Llangennech Primary Schools should be 
through a Welsh medium designation, as happens 
successfully already in many schools across 
Carmarthenshire. The proposal is consistent with 
national policy to expand Welsh medium education 
in order to develop increasing numbers of fully 
bilingual young people and to enable more children 

45 6% 

P
age 266



 
 

speakers, in fact it will have the opposite effect. 
Changing the language category to Welsh medium 
will force pupils to seek English medium education at 
other English medium schools which will deny pupils 
exposure to the Welsh language. 
 
 
 

to benefit from the advantages of bilingualism, 
gathered through international research.  
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current 
pupils remain at Llangennech school and continue 
to receive their education through the current 
language arrangements until they leave for 
secondary school. The proposals will not therefore, 
affect current pupils. The school will continue to 
provide sufficient support for all current pupils 
through the medium in which they currently receive 
their education so there is, consequently, no need 
for any child to be moved from the school. 
Similarly, it is the Local Authority’s desire that in 
the future local children attend their village school, 
receiving their education principally through the 
medium of Welsh, with English being taught as a 
subject in Key Stage 2 and used as a medium for 
instruction in some other lessons in the later years 
of the school. 
 
It is important to remember that the teaching and 
the development of the English language still 
occurs in Welsh medium schools to the highest of 
standards, as a statutory part of the curriculum.  
 
International evidence, cited by the Welsh 
Government, confirms that the most effective way 
of developing bilingual children is to immerse them 
in the less common language whilst also 
developing their skills in the more common 
language. The Welsh Government also promotes 

P
age 267



 
 

that children who are from non-Welsh speaking 
families that immersion in Welsh in school is 
particularly important in embedding the language.  
 
The evidence of recent years at the Llangennech 
schools is that children in the Welsh language 
stream achieve good standards in both the English 
and Welsh languages. Children in the English 
language stream, however, do not achieve equally 
high standards in the Welsh language as the follow 
a Welsh second language programme. The 
evidence also confirms that children in the Welsh 
language stream from non-Welsh speaking homes 
achieve consistently good outcomes in all subjects, 
including the English language. Standards across 
both schools have been consistently good, 
demonstrating that the children are succeeding 
well in all subjects and are able to thrive through a 
Welsh medium education. 

 
11. Issues with other schools 

 
No alternative English medium schools are provided 
as part of the proposal. 
 
There is no capacity at other English medium 
schools, should parents want to send their children to 
other schools. With the potential closure of Llanedi 
School, this will put pressure on Hendy School 
resulting in even more capacity issues. 
 

It is the County Council’s preference that children 
attend their local school and the Department 
believes that a Welsh medium primary school in 
Llangennech will continue to offer high standards 
of education to children. It is the department’s 
desire that all current pupils remain at Llangennech 
school and continue to receive their education 
through the current language arrangements until 
they leave for secondary school. The proposals, 
will not, therefore, affect current pupils. The school 
will continue to provide sufficient support for all 
current pupils through the medium in which they 

34 5% 

P
age 268



 
 

Llangennech Schools are currently rated as ‘green’ 
schools. Other English medium schools are not of the 
same standard.  
 
There are surplus places at other Welsh medium 
schools within the Llanelli area where pupils could 
attend if they desire Welsh medium education. 
 
There is only one Welsh medium secondary school in 
Llanelli. 
 

currently receive their education so there is, 
consequently, no need for any child to be moved 
from the school. Therefore, the Local Authority are 
not proposing alternative English medium schools.  
The County Council is obliged to facilitate parental 
preference only where this is consistent with the 
effective delivery of education and the efficient use 
of resources. No parent has a right to demand a 
place at any particular school for their child or 
children. School places are allocated on the basis 
of the Council’s published admissions criteria, 
which favour children attending their local or 
“designated” school. Children are admitted to a 
school other than their designated school upon 
application by parents when places are available 
and subject to the over-subscription criteria set out 
in the published admissions policy. It is the County 
Council’s preference that children attend their local 
school and it is upon this principle that school 
places are planned. 
 
The County Council will continue to monitor 
demand for places at Hendy School, in particular 
with regard to new housing developments being 
built in the locality in the foreseeable future and 
with regards to the review of Llanedi school and 
will respond as appropriate. The Council’s 
Modernising Education Programme includes 
provision for investment at Hendy school in the 
medium term to expand and modernise the 
school’s premises and facilities and it should be 

P
age 269



 
 

possible to align this investment with a need to 
increase capacity, should that need arise. 
 
It is acknowledged that the Llangennech Schools 
are performing well and that standards are high 
and are categorised as ‘green’. However, the Local 
Authority are not proposing alternative English 
medium schools as part of the proposal. Should 
parents elect to place their children in alternative 
schools they will do so in full consideration of all 
the factors that apply, including the standards at 
the alternative schools. 
 
It is true that there are currently some surplus 
places at Ysgol y Ffwrnes and Ysgol Brynsierfel. 
The new Ysgol y Ffwrnes was built to ensure 
adequate capacity to meet projections in the 
Llanelli area where demand for Welsh medium 
primary education has been increasing over recent 
years. It was fully recognised that the new Ysgol y 
Ffwrnes would have surplus places at the point of 
opening but these would be taken up over a period 
of a few years. Having regard to applications for 
school places for September 2016, the department 
expects that there will be 400 children attending 
Ysgol Gymraeg Ffwrnes in the 2016/2017 
academic year, compared to a school capacity of 
480, with the early year classes at the school full or 
almost full, indicating that the school will be full in a 
few years’ time. At Ysgol Brynsierfel a total of 209 
pupils are expected to be registered at the school 
in September, compared to a capacity of 243. 

P
age 270



 
 

 
The Welsh Government expects local authorities to 
endeavour to manage surplus school places within 
a tolerance of 10% overall across all schools, 
accepting that figures at individual schools will vary 
as a consequence of a number of factors. The 
School Organisation Code notes that “some spare 
places are necessary to enable schools to cope 
with fluctuations in numbers of pupils”. The Welsh 
Government regards a single school as having 
excess surplus places if it has more that 25% of its 
places empty. Neither Ysgol y Ffwrnes nor Ysgol 
Brynsierfel fall into this category. Therefore, in 
order to cope with fluctuations and the rising 
demand for Welsh medium education within the 
Llanelli area, there is a need to provide another 
Welsh medium school. 
 
Ysgol y Strade is a category 2A bilingual, 
secondary school located within the Llanelli area. 
The school teaches at least 80% of subjects 
(excluding Welsh and English) through the medium 
of Welsh only. One or two subjects are taught to 
some pupils in English or both languages. The day 
to day language of the schools is determined by its 
linguistic context, however both languages are 
used to communicate with pupils and for the 
school’s administration. The school communicates 
with parents in both languages. Ysgol y Strade has 
the capacity to accommodate pupils from all of its 
feeder schools and provides pupils with choice to 

P
age 271



 
 

continue their secondary education through the 
medium of mainly Welsh should they desire.  
 

12. SEN / ALN 
 
Children with special education needs or additional 
learning needs may not be able to cope with learning 
through the medium of Welsh and may require 
English medium education. It is unfair to assume that 
all children with SEN/ALN will be able to learn through 
the medium of Welsh. 
  

Carmarthenshire County Council’s policy is that all 
its schools should be inclusive, with children with 
additional learning needs being educated in a 
mainstream setting alongside their peers wherever 
possible. In the vast majority of cases this it 
achieved, with all children benefitting. 
 
Whilst the system is designed to meet the needs of 
learners through an universal and inclusive 
approach, for a small number of children with 
significant and complex additional needs this is not 
always possible and specialised provision offers a 
more appropriate learning setting. 
 
In order to make sure that the needs of all learners 
are met the schools system in Carmarthenshire 
includes a range of provision for children with 
additional needs. A specialised school or unit offer 
education to children with the most profound or 
complex needs where a mainstream setting is 
either not suitable for the children’s needs or where 
parents prefer an alternative setting. Selected 
secondary and primary schools across the county 
include specialised units for children with particular 
needs, such as autism, sensory impairment or 
speech and language delay. The Department for 
Education and Children provides specific additional 
support in schools wherever practicable so that as 
many children as possible remain in their local 

31 4% 

P
age 272



 
 

school. Whilst the Council’s preference is to meet 
the needs of all children in a mainstream setting 
wherever possible, this is not always practicable. 
 
All pupils with additional learning needs have 
specific individual plans based on their 
circumstances and a tailored support programme 
is provided according to need. Generally, an 
additional learning need is not a barrier to learning 
two languages. It is important to assess and 
monitor progress in each or all of the languages 
that a child is using or learning, including sign and 
visually supported communication systems 
required for some pupils, particularly as the 
stronger developed language can be used to 
support and build learning through a lesser 
developed language medium. Staff are required to 
differentiate the curriculum and make reasonable 
adjustments to the language of instruction and 
response in order to accommodate additional 
needs and ensure access to the curriculum and 
learning progress. At times it may be appropriate to 
target additional support in one language for a 
period to consolidate and accelerate learning, e.g. 
in literacy. There will be rare instances, however, 
where a child may be diagnosed with a condition 
that is not conducive to a fully bilingual education. 
In these circumstances a package of support is 
identified by professional practitioners and 
discussed with parents. Arrangements are made 
for the child to attend an appropriate school where 
their needs can be met. It may be the case that on 

P
age 273



 
 

a small number of occasions the needs of an 
individual child cannot be met at the local school 
as, notwithstanding the Council’s commitment to 
inclusive education, it is simply not practicable to 
meet all needs at every school. In the last five 
years the Educational and Child Psychology 
Service has been involved in only one or two cases 
each year where a move of school has been 
advised. To place this into context, 
Carmarthenshire’s school system serves around 
27,000 pupils in total and so the frequency of pupil 
movement for additional learning needs is very low 
indeed. 
 
It is this Council’s experience that the vast majority 
of pupils with a wide range of additional learning 
needs and abilities are successful in our schools 
irrespective of the language of instruction but the 
Council does acknowledge that there will be a very 
few children whose needs cannot be met other 
than through provision at a specialist unit. 
 
For the Llangennech proposal the support provided 
to children currently in the schools with additional 
needs will continue through the medium in which 
they currently receive their education. Should the 
proposal be implemented, all future pupils will 
receive this support mainly through the medium of 
Welsh, with appropriate adjustments being made 
to meet pupils’ individual additional needs.  
 

P
age 274



 
 

13. Consultation Process 
 
It is not believed that the consultation process has 
been conducted fairly and there has been a lack of 
transparency and openness during this process. 
There have been talks of a ‘package deal’ with 
reference to the proposal and the installation of a 
double mobile. Since the mobile has already been 
installed, it would seem that the proposal has already 
been agreed. 
 
Respondents do not feel that their views have been 
considered as part of this process. It is also felt that 
significant stakeholders were not appropriately 
informed of the consultation period, including 
Bryngwyn School. Other stakeholders, who may be 
affected by the proposal have not responded to the 
consultation. A significant number of stakeholders 
have raised concerns regarding the proposal 
including Unison, Bryngwyn School and Nia Griffith 
MP. In addition, whilst objectors have been 
forthcoming in sharing their names and relationship to 
the school, some supporters have withheld this 
information.  
 
In addition, there have been a number of inaccuracies 
within the consultation document including stating that 
there are no pupils attending the English stream 
within the reception years. It has come to light within 
recent months that the reception classes have been 
immersed in the Welsh language over recent years 
and have not been receiving English medium 

The consultation process has been conducted in 
compliance with the statutory School Organisation 
Code. 
 
The Department for Education and Children has 
been in discussion with the governing bodies of 
both schools for a few years regarding the current 
proposal and correspondence has been 
exchanged between parties. The Department has 
shared correspondence on this issue with 
objectors, demonstrating openness and 
transparency.  
 
School governing bodies have statutory 
responsibility for their schools and discussions 
between the local authority and schools on 
proposals for change always commence with a 
conversation with the governing bodies. 
Discussions and consultations with other 
stakeholders take place at appropriate stages in 
the process in line with the statutory expectations.  
 
The correspondence exchanged between the 
Director of Education and Children’s Services and 
the governing bodies was intended to establish an 
agreement between these parties on the principles 
of the proposal and how it could be implemented, 
whilst also addressing other separate factors, such 
as how restricted space in the infants school could 
be addressed and how planning gain funding 
available for the area could be usefully applied. 
 

25 3.5% 

P
age 275



 
 

education. It seems that parents/stakeholders have 
been given false/no information regarding this with 
varying responses. However, Llangennech Infant 
School is categorised as a Dual Stream School. 

The Director’s letter on the 29th January 2015 to 
the Chair of Governing Body of Llangennech 
Infants Schools, copied to the Chair of the 
Governing Body of Llangennech Junior School, 
makes it clear that it will be necessary for the 
County Council to undertake a statutory process to 
constitute a new primary school in place of the 
current two separate schools, to extend the age 
range of the school and to establish the new 
school as a Welsh medium school and highlights 
the timing challenges for completing the statutory 
process. 
 
The letter also refers to a commitments to provide 
an additional double mobile classroom to assist 
with space pressures at the infants school (which 
has now been completed) and agrees to release 
planning gain money for investment in the schools, 
through agreement with the Department.  
 
The fact that the new modular building has already 
been installed at the school clearly establishes that 
this element is not connected to the statutory 
proposal. Reference to a “package for the 
development of primary sector provision” in the 
Director’s letter can, therefore, be clearly identified 
as seeking an agreement in principle. 
 
The WESP sets out the broad strategy for 
language developments within the education 
service. Where progress required change at 
individual schools in terms of the proportion of the 

P
age 276



 
 

curriculum delivered through either language, a 
statutory process will be required, involving a 
consultation on each specific proposal. This is 
what is happening at Llangennech currently. 
 
In line with the statutory expectations, a formal 
consultation period was held between January 25th 
2016 and the 11th March 2016. The consultation 
period allowed all stakeholders to submit their 
observations with the regards to the proposal. 
Following approval from the Director of Education 
and Children’s Services, the consultation period 
was extended by a week, until 18th March 2016. All 
submissions received were presented in the form 
of a Consultation Report to the Executive Board for 
consideration along with the Local Authority’s 
responses to these submissions. Similar to the 
consultation period, the Director of Education and 
Children’s Services agreed to extend the statutory 
objection period by one week, until October 9th 
2016, following a request from an interested party. 
Throughout this process, the Department has 
accommodated all requests from interested parties 
in order to make the process fully inclusive to all 
stakeholders. 
 
No final decision has yet been made on this 
proposal. Following the publication of the Statutory 
Notice on September 5th 2016, members of the full 
County Council will consider all of the submissions 
received to the Statutory Notice, both in objection 
and in support along with the Local Authority’s 

P
age 277



 
 

responses to these submissions before making a 
final decision.  
 
Key stakeholders, including Bryngwyn School were 
informed of the consultation period via e-mail at the 
beginning of the consultation period in line with the 
requirements of the School Organisation Code. 
Whilst the Local Authority inform all key 
stakeholders of any consultation period, it is the 
individual stakeholders’ decision whether or not to 
submit an observation in relation to proposals and 
they not obligated to respond.  All stakeholders, 
have a right to express their views, irrespective of 
their individual status and all of these views will be 
considered when making a decision. Should the 
stakeholder wish, these views can be submitted 
anonymously.  
 
As stated previously, no final decision has yet been 
made on the proposal and the decision on whether 
or not to implement the proposal must, by virtue of 
the law, be made on the grounds of the best 
interest of learners. It is, therefore, the educational 
merits that must be the determining factor in 
decision making, rather than the number of 
responses received in favour of or against the 
proposal.   
 
The present arrangements in the school are that all 
pupils in the reception classes are taught 
principally through the medium of Welsh, with 
English used as a facilitator according to the needs 

P
age 278



 
 

of individual children. These arrangements have 
been introduced through discussions between the 
school and parents. A Council officer was party to 
the discussions at the request of the school.  
 
Parents of pupils in Year 1 and Year 2 classes 
presently have the option to place their children in 
either the Welsh stream or the English stream. 
Should the proposal be implemented, all pupils 
currently attending the school, prior to 
implementation will continue to have a choice of 
streams in Years 1 and 2.  
 
The Department of Education and Children’s 
Services are not aware of any alleged false 
information being given to parents/stakeholders 
regarding the language provision in the reception 
years.   
 
All of the data and figures used within the 
development of the proposal are factual. 
 
The 2007 Defining schools according to Welsh 
medium provision document sets out definitions 
and categories of schools in Wales according to 
the language which is used as the medium of 
instruction and the normal business of the school. 
The definitions have no basis in legislation but they 
have been devised to provide better information for 
parents and for government on the extent to which 
pupils are learning through the medium of Welsh.  
 

P
age 279



 
 

The definitions do not attempt to specify exactly 
what an individual pupil may receive in a school. 
 

14.  Council Policies and Saving Money 
 
Many respondents do not feel that following County 
Council and Government policies such as WESP 
2014-2017 is a good enough reason to approve and 
implement the changing of the language category. It 
is also believed that this proposal is proposed in order 
to save money and that Welsh Medium schools 
receive more funding that other schools.  
 

The Local Authority is promoting the current 
proposal for primary education in Llangennech as it 
firmly believes that this is in the best interests of 
the children’s education. However, the Local 
Authority also has a responsibility to follow its own 
policies along with Welsh Government policies.  
 
Carmarthenshire County Council has a statutory 
responsibility under Part 4 of the School Standards 
and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to prepare a 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) for its 
area with the explicit aim of improving planning of 
the provision of education through the medium of 
Welsh, from improving the standards of that 
education and of the teaching of Welsh. 
 
Every local authority in Wales, including 
Carmarthenshire County Council has a 
responsibility to respond to the Act and the Welsh 
Government’s Welsh Medium Education Strategy 
and is accountable individually to the Welsh 
Government. Carmarthenshire County Council’s 
WESP 2014-2017 has been approved by the 
Welsh Government in accordance with the 
requirements of the Act. 
 
The Plan seeks to achieve the following specific 
outcomes relevant to the Llangennech proposal: 

15 2% 

P
age 280



 
 

 To increase the number of 7 year old 
learners who are educated through the 
medium of Welsh. 

 More learners continue to improve their 
language skills as they move from primary 
to secondary school. 

 More students have higher language skills 
in Welsh. 

 
It also sets out to achieve the specified outcomes 
and aims by means of the following actions: 

 The County Council works closely with the 
staff and governing bodies of 
Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in 
order for them to become Welsh schools. 

 Target three dual stream schools to transfer 
to being Welsh medium by 2017. 
 

Should the Local Authority not seek to achieve the 
specific outcomes as detailed in WESP, then it 
would not meet its aim of improving planning of the 
provision of education through the medium of 
Welsh, from improving the standards of that 
education and of the teaching of Welsh as 
recommended by the Welsh Government.  
 
Generally speaking it is more expensive to operate 
a dual stream school than a monolingual school so 
should the proposal succeed it will deliver greater 
financial efficiency over time, however this 
proposal has not been proposed in order to save 

P
age 281



 
 

money. Welsh medium schools do not receive 
more funding than any other schools. 
 

15. Separation of Siblings 
 
The proposal may separate siblings who may not be 
able to attend the same school due to the removal of 
the English stream. Within some families, due to 
different needs some pupils attend through the Welsh 
stream whilst others attend through the English 
stream. This works well in a dual stream school such 
as Llangennech and allows all children within the 
same family to attend the same school. This may not 
be possible if the school becomes Welsh medium. 
This may then results in transport implications for 
families having to transport pupils to two different 
schools.  
 

The Local Authority is not proposing alternative 
schools to Llangennech school for local children.  
 
It is the Local Authority’s intention that all current 
pupils remain at Llangennech school and continue 
to receive their education through the current 
language arrangements until they leave for 
secondary school. The proposals will not therefore, 
affect current pupils. The school will continue to 
provide sufficient support for all current pupils 
through the medium in which they currently receive 
their education so there is, consequently, no need 
for any child to be moved from the school. 
Similarly, it is the Local Authority’s desire that in 
the future local children attend their village school, 
receiving their education principally through the 
medium of Welsh, with English being taught as a 
subject in Key Stage 2 and used as a medium for 
instruction in some other lessons in the later years 
of the school. Again, sufficient support will be 
provided for all future pupils, principally through the 
medium of Welsh.  
 
Please see point 9 which refers to the help and 
support which is currently and will continue to be 
provided to all pupils and parents with regards to 
the Welsh language. 
 

10 1.4% 

P
age 282



 
 

Please see point 12 which refers to pupils with 
additional learning needs, special educational 
needs and the help and support which is and will 
continue to be provided to these pupils. 
 
Should parents elect to place siblings in alternative 
schools they will do so in full consideration of all 
the factors that apply, including the separation of 
siblings and any transport implications. If parents 
elect to place their children in alternative schools 
that are neither the designated nor nearest school, 
these parents will assume full responsibility for 
transporting their children to school. 

16. Inside and Outside Catchment pupils 
 
Many pupils from within the catchment area of the 
Llangennech schools are attending other English 
medium schools outside of their catchment area – 
potentially due to being declined a place at the 
English medium streams at Llangennech school. 
However, many pupils have been accepted into the 
Llangennech schools from outside of the catchment 
area. These pupils are mainly attending through the 
Welsh streams and therefore boost the number of 
pupils attending through the Welsh streams.  
 

The Llangennech schools are able to 
accommodate all children living within the 
catchment area. These children receive preference 
to children living outside the catchment area under 
the established admissions policies. 
 
No children from within the Llangennech schools 
catchment area have been denied a place at 
Llangennech schools by the County Council as the 
statutory Admissions Authority. 
 
The published Admissions Numbers for the 
Llangennech schools apply to the school as a 
whole and do not consider language choice. 
Children can only be admitted to the schools by the 
local authority as the statutory admissions body. 
Schools do not have the right to admit pupils 
themselves or decline places. The County Council 
has not refused a place at the normal admission 

8 1.1% 

P
age 283



 
 

round to any child residing within the catchment 
area, irrespective of language preference.  
 
The movement of pupils between school 
catchment areas is a common circumstance 
across the country in both urban and rural areas. 
As stated before, children living within catchment 
areas receive preference to attend their catchment 
schools before children living outside the 
catchment area. However, parents can state a 
preference for a school, which is not the 
designated catchment area school and they do this 
for a number of reasons, e.g. access to extended 
family for working parents, ease of transporting 
children, proximity of the home to schools, 
reputation, faith character, etc. 
 
Subject to the limit on the number of pupils who 
can be admitted into the school not being 
exceeded and the correct procedures being 
followed, then admission will be granted. This is 
the case for pupils living outside of the catchment 
area attending the Llangennech schools and for 
the pupils living within the catchment area of 
Llangennech attending other school.  
 
Aggregated together, the total number of pupils 
attending both schools in January 2016 is 446, with 
336, or 75%, living in the catchment area and 110 
children, or 25%, living outside the catchment area. 
 

P
age 284



 
 

In January 2016 there were 96 children living 
within the catchment area of the Llangennech 
schools attending other schools. Of these, 16 
children attended Welsh medium schools, 7 
attended dual stream schools and 73 attended 
English medium schools, with a significant number 
of 39 children, over half those leaving the 
catchment area, attending Bryn school. 3 of the 
children attended faith based schools.  
 
It is relevant to note that due to the configuration of 
the catchment area of the Llangennech schools, a 
significant number of children living in the south of 
the catchment area reside closer to other schools 
than they do to the Llangennech schools. 
Prominent among these is Bryn School, which in 
January 2016 was receiving 39 pupils from the 
Llangennech catchment area who live in or close 
to Penllwyngwyn Road, Hendre Park, Harddfan, 
Bryn Uchaf and Pendderi Road and live much 
closer to this school.  
 

17. Nursery Provision 
 
Some respondents have raised concerns whether 
there is need for the school to provide nursery 
provision as there are already nursery providers 
within the community, providing excellent education 
and care. In addition, these nurseries are also able to 
provide care for longer hours in comparison to what 
the school will be able to offer. Providing nursery 
provision within the school may have a detrimental 

Whilst the provision of nursery education across 
Carmarthenshire is delivered through a “mixed 
economy” model of schools, independent sector 
organisations and private companies, it is the view 
of the County Council that nursery education is 
more effectively delivered in a school setting 
wherever practicable under the professional 
guidance of qualified teachers and under the 
leadership of a professional head teacher. Locating 
nursery provision on a school site in generally 

5 0.7% 

P
age 285



 
 

effect on the independent nursery providers within the 
community. Some respondents are concerned if the 
school has capacity to incorporate 60 nursery places, 
as the school is already at capacity. 
 

considered to be preferable as it facilitates a child’s 
entry to full time education more effectively. It is 
generally the model favoured by Carmarthenshire 
schools. 
 
Nursery pupils are entitled to part-time education 
from the beginning of the term following their third 
birthday. Part-time is defined as 5 morning or 
afternoon sessions per week. Nursery pupils will 
be entitled to attend on a full-time basis at the start 
of the term preceding their 4th birthday. The Local 
Authority acknowledges that there will be a need 
for childcare outside of the hours that the school 
provide provision. 
 
There are presently 4 registered childcare 
providers in Llangennech, 2 of which are 
commissioned to provide part-time nursery 
education and 1 of which is able to deliver through 
the medium of Welsh. The County Council 
acknowledges that there will be implications for 
these two providers should the proposal proceed 
as the funding they presently receive for providing 
part-time nursery education will cease. 
 
With regards to capacity at the school, a new 
double mobile classroom has already been 
installed at the infant school in order to assist with 
space pressures. The Local Authority will continue 
to monitor and assess the capacity situation and 
should there be a need, appropriate action will be 
taken. 

P
age 286



 
 

18. Staffing 
 
Changing the language category of the school to 
Welsh medium will restrict opportunities to staff who 
do not speak the Welsh language and will restrict 
employment opportunities for anyone who does not 
speak the Welsh language. In addition, are there are 
enough Welsh speaking staff employed at the school 
for this change to be effective? There are also 
concerns regarding the Head teacher’s commitment 
to the school. 

There are bilingual staff members currently 
working in both streams at the schools. Rather 
than restrict opportunities for staff who do not 
speak the Welsh language, this proposal will help 
staff to improve their Welsh language skills. 
“Athrawon Bro” will provide training to staff 
members who are less confident in using their 
Welsh language skills and the Local Authority will 
also provide training support for any staff members 
wishing to develop their Welsh language skills. It is 
also important to note that the proposal will take 7 
years to be fully implemented and for the school to 
become a completely Welsh medium school. This 
allows time for the school and staff to amend their 
current arrangements in order to provide staff with 
the opportunities to develop their Welsh language 
skills within the school environment and to prepare 
the school as a whole to become Welsh medium. 
 
The Authority has staffing policies and procedures 
in respect of school reorganisation and these can 
be recommended for implementation if needed. 
The Authority will support school staff in securing 
suitable alternative employment if at all possible 
through redeployment processes.  
 
The Head teacher along with staff members are 
fully committed to the school and to the 
development of the school.  

5 0.7% 

 

 

P
age 287



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Appendix B 

 

Summary of Supportive Comments received following publication of the 

Statutory Notice and Local Authority related responses 

 

 

 
 

P
age 288



The Supportive Comments Received 

 

As stated in the Executive Summary, a total number of 698 supportive comments 

were received in response to the statutory notice. 

These were compiled of: 

119 e-mails; and 

579 letters. (These letters were compiled of individual letters and standard template 

support letters.) 

However: 

1 letter was unclear whether or not they were supportive of the proposals. 

 

The following table summarises the points raised within the supportive comments 

received and the Local Authority’s responses to these points. The table also shows 

the number responses raising each point: 

Page 289



Point 
Number 

Point Raised Local Authority Response Number of 
responses 
raising 
the point 

% of 
responses 
raising 
the point 

1. Bilingualism 
 
The proposal will provide all pupils with the 
opportunity to become bilingual with the skills to be 
able to read, write and speak fluently in both Welsh 
and English languages. This will also help develop 
bilingualism within the community of Llangennech and 
the surrounding areas.  
 
Bilingualism offers many advantages to all pupils and 
learning through the Welsh language should not be 
seen as a disadvantage. Many of the advantages of 
being bilingual include: 
 

- wider skills developments, such as cognitive 
ability, task understanding and flexibility, 
enhanced powers of concentration; 
 

- ease of flexibility between languages; 
 

- social and economical advantages; 
 

- helps with the ability to learn a third language 
 

- enhanced career prospects and personal 
development; 
 

- broadens individuals’ cultural experiences. 

It is the belief of the Department, based upon 
international evidence and local experience, that 
children benefit from a truly bilingual education, 
which provides wider skills development, such as 
cognitive ability, task understanding and flexibility, 
enhanced powers of concentration, etc. and that all 
children should receive these opportunities. Being 
bilingual or multilingual also broadens individuals’ 
cultural experiences and can enhance career 
prospects. Evidence demonstrates that true 
bilingualism can only be achieved in the local 
context through children receiving a Welsh medium 
education.  
 
The Department acknowledges that bilingualism 
will increasingly over time become an employment 
skill. For example, all public organisations in Wales 
are subject to new statutory Welsh language 
standards and progressively over time will need to 
recruit increasing numbers of Welsh speakers to 
deliver services. Possessing Welsh language skills 
will increasingly over time give individuals a 
competitive advantage when seeking employment. 
 
The support was noted. 

 

617 89% 

P
age 290



 
 

 
All pupils should be provided with the opportunity to 
benefit with the many advantages of being bilingual 

 
2. Increases the number of Welsh speakers and 

helps preserve the Welsh language 
 
The proposal will increase the number of Welsh 
speakers within the area of Llangennech and 
Carmarthenshire, in line with the Welsh Government’s 
aim of reaching 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050. 
Following the decline in the number of Welsh 
speakers as shown by the 2011 census, this proposal 
will help preserve the future of the Welsh language 
 
 

There is a national priority in Wales, shared by 
Carmarthenshire Council, to increase the number 
of people in our communities who are able to 
speak Welsh and use it in their everyday lives. 
Schools are regarded to be a critically important 
component in developing children so that they are 
fully bilingual by the time they leave primary 
school. This proposal seeks to provide all 
community members with the opportunity to 
develop their Welsh language skills. 
 
The support was noted. 

 

544 78% 

3. The proposal adheres to Council and Welsh 
Government policies 
 
The proposal ensures that the Local Authority is 
adhering to Council and Welsh Government policies 
with the explicit aim of improving planning of the 
provision of education through the medium of Welsh, 
for improving the standards of that education and of 
the teaching of Welsh. The proposal ensures that the 
Local Authority meet their aim of increasing the 
provision of Welsh medium education in 
Carmarthenshire and ensure linguistic continuity from 
the nursery sector along the key stages to the 

The Local Authority is promoting the current 
proposal for primary education in Llangennech as it 
firmly believes that this is in the best interests of 
the children’s education. However, the Local 
Authority also has a responsibility to follow its own 
policies along with Welsh Government policies. 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council has a statutory 
responsibility under Part 4 of the School Standards 
and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to prepare a 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) for its 
area with the explicit aim of improving planning of 
the provision of education through the medium of 

405 58% 

P
age 291



 
 

secondary sector so that every pupil becomes fluent 
and confident in both Welsh and English languages 

Welsh, from improving the standards of that 
education and of the teaching of Welsh. 
 
In April 2014 the County Council formally adopted 
a comprehensive strategy for the development of 
the Welsh language in Carmarthenshire, endorsing 
the recommendations of a politically balanced 
group of elected members that had examined in 
depth the status of the Welsh language in the 
county in the wake of the 2011 census of the 
population. The strategy requires action on 73 
points, 21 of which apply to the education service. 
All relevant recommendations and actions from the 
strategy have been incorporated within 
Carmarthenshire’s WESP. 
 
The Plan seeks to achieve the following specific 
outcomes relevant to the Llangennech proposal: 

 To increase the number of 7 year old 
learners who are educated through the 
medium of Welsh. 

 More learners continue to improve their 
language skills as they move from primary 
to secondary school. 

 More students have higher language skills 
in Welsh. 

 
It also sets out to achieve the specified outcomes 
and aims by means of the following actions: 

 The County Council works closely with the 
staff and governing bodies of 

P
age 292



 
 

Carmarthenshire’s dual stream schools in 
order for them to become Welsh schools. 

 Target three dual stream schools to transfer 
to being Welsh medium by 2017. 

This proposal is adhering to the recommendations 
as set out in Carmarthenshire’s Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan. 
 
The support was noted. 

 
4. Pupils will have access to formal education at an 

earlier age 
 
Changing the age range of the school to 3-11 
provides the children of Llangennech with access to a 
formal education from an earlier age, as is already 
available in other schools across the County. This will 
prepare young children to adapt to school life and 
benefit from the advantages of a school setting.  
 
 

Whilst the provision of nursery education across 
Carmarthenshire is delivered through a “mixed 
economy” model of schools, independent sector 
organisations and private companies, it is the view 
of the County Council that nursery education is 
more effectively delivered in a school setting 
wherever practicable under the professional 
guidance of qualified teachers and under the 
leadership of a professional head teacher. Locating 
nursery provision on a school site in generally 
considered to be preferable as it facilitates a child’s 
entry to full time education more effectively. It is 
generally the model favoured by Carmarthenshire 
schools. This proposal does provide the pupils of 
Llangennech with this opportunity, as is already 
available to many pupils across the County.  
 
The support was noted.  
 

 

187 27% 

P
age 293



 
 

5. Immersion 
 
It is clear that learning Welsh as a second language is 
ineffective in creating bilingual individuals. The best 
way to create bilingual young people who are 
confident in reading, writing and speaking in both 
Welsh and English languages is through immersion. 
The Welsh Government have also cited that the best 
way in creating bilingual individuals is through 
immersion in the less common language. 
 
 

The Local Authority acknowledges the international 
evidence, cited by the Welsh Government, 
confirming that the most effective way of 
developing bilingual children is to immerse them in 
the less common language whilst also developing 
their skills in the more common language. The 
Welsh Government also promotes that children 
who are from non-Welsh speaking families that 
immersion in Welsh in school is particularly 
important in embedding the language. 
 
The support was noted.  
 

134 19% 

6. The change will be a natural progression for the 
school  
 
Following the formal federation of both Llangennech 
Infants and Llangennech Junior Schools along with 
the increase in demand for Welsh medium education, 
the change will be a natural progression for the 
school. The number of pupils attending the English 
stream have been declining over recent years whilst 
the number of pupils attending the Welsh stream 
have been increasing. There is a clear increase in 
demand for Welsh medium education provision in the 
area. 
 

The Local Authority acknowledges that the formal 
federation of both schools is successful and that 
the next natural step is to establish the schools as 
one new primary school. It would also seem 
appropriate due to the decline in the number of 
pupils attending the English stream and the 
increase in number of pupils attending the Welsh 
stream to establish the school as a Welsh medium 
primary school due to the increase in demand for 
Welsh medium education provision.  
 
The support was noted. 

132 19% 

7. Standards and Support 
 
Pupils in the Welsh stream are performing well and 
are achieving good standards in all subjects including 
both Welsh and English languages. Parents should 

The Local Authority acknowledge that the evidence 
of recent years at the Llangennech schools is that 
children in the Welsh language stream achieve 
good standards in both the English and Welsh 
languages. Children in the English language 

37 5% 

P
age 294



 
 

not be worried about their child’s education should 
their children attend through the Welsh stream. In 
addition many non-Welsh parents are extremely 
supportive of Welsh medium education and have 
already placed their children in the Welsh stream and 
are happy with their children’s progress.  
 

stream, however, do not achieve equally high 
standards in the Welsh language as the follow a 
Welsh second language programme. The evidence 
also confirms that children in the Welsh language 
stream from non-Welsh speaking homes achieve 
consistently good outcomes in all subjects, 
including the English language.  
 
The support was noted. 

 
8. No reason 

 
Some respondents did not provide a reason for their 
support. 
 

 18 3% 

9. Supportive Staff 
 
The school have a responsible Headteacher and staff 
members who are committed to the school. All staff 
members should be commended for their dedication 
and passion to providing all pupils with the best 
education possible. 
 

The Local Authority applauds all staff members for 
their dedication and their commitment to the school 
and all its pupils. This is evidenced in the high 
standards achieved consistently by pupils across 
the schools.  
 
The support was noted. 
 
 

9 1.3% 

 

 

 

 

P
age 295



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE BOARD
22ND DECEMBER 2016

Public Service Board Scrutiny
To designate a Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the work of Public Service Board.

Recommendations / key decisions required:

That the Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee be designated as the 
Authority’s Scrutiny Committee for the purposes of scrutinising the work 
of the Carmarthenshire Public Service Board and that this function be 
reflected in Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution.

Reasons: 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Authority to designate a 
Scrutiny Committee to be responsible for Scrutinising decisions made by the Public Service 
Board.

Relevant Scrutiny Committee to be consulted    N/A  

Exec Board Decision Required                     YES 

Council Decision Required                           YES

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:-   Councillor Pam Palmer

Directorate 

Chief Executive’s

Name of Head of Service:

Linda Rees Jones 

Report Author:

Gaynor Morgan 

Designations:

Head of Administration & Law

Democratic Services Manager

Tel Nos.01267 224010 

E Mail Addresses:

LRReesJones@carmarthe
nshire.gov.uk

Page 297

Agenda Item 7

mailto:LRReesJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:LRReesJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
22ND  DECEMBER 2016

Public Service Board Scrutiny

Public services boards have replaced the former Local Service Boards, and are specifically 
required to:

a) Undertake a well-being assessment for the area
b) Set local well-being objectives as part of a well-being plan
c) Take all reasonable steps to meet those objectives

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires a designated overview and 
scrutiny committee of a local authority to have  a key role in assuring democratic accountability 
of the Public Services Board via its prescribed role as outlined in the Act namely:-

35 Overview and scrutiny committee of local authority

(1) Executive arrangements by a local authority under Part 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 
(c. 22) must ensure that its overview and scrutiny committee has power—
(a) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by
the public services board for the local authority area in the exercise of its functions;
(b) to review or scrutinise the board’s governance arrangements;
(c) to make reports or recommendations to the board with respect to the board’s
functions or governance arrangements;
(d) to consider such matters relating to the board as the Welsh Ministers may refer to
it and to report to the Welsh Ministers accordingly;
(e) to carry out such other functions in relation to the board as are imposed on it by
this Act.

(2) An overview and scrutiny committee must send a copy of any report or recommendation 
made under subsection (1)(c) to—
(a) the Welsh Ministers;
(b) the Commissioner;
(c) the Auditor General for Wales.

(3)  An overview and scrutiny committee may, for the purpose of exercising a power mentioned 
in subsection (1), require one or more of the persons who may attend a meeting of the public 
services board (see paragraph 7 of Schedule 3), or anyone designated by such a person, to 
attend a meeting of the committee and provide it with explanations of such matters as it may 
specify.

(4) Where a local authority has more than one overview and scrutiny committee, the references 
in this Part to its overview and scrutiny committee are to the committee that the local 
authority designates for the purposes of this section.

Page 298



The designated scrutiny committee  is specifically expected to:-

 Formally receive the Wellbeing Assessment and Wellbeing Plan from the Public Services 
Board

 Act as a statutory consultee for the Wellbeing Assessment and Wellbeing Plan
 Review the Wellbeing Plan if directed to by the Welsh Minister (who has the power of 

referral but not approval)

Chapter 6 of the Welsh Government Shared Purpose: Shared Future: Statutory Guidance 3  
states that:-

“174. In order to assure democratic accountability there is a requirement for a designated local 
government scrutiny committee of the relevant local authority to scrutinise the work of the public 
services board. It will be for each local authority to determine its own scrutiny arrangements for 
the public services board of which it is a member. For example, existing legislative powers can 
be used to put in place joint arrangements, such as ‘co-opting’ persons who are not members 
of the authority to sit on the committee, and where appropriate to appoint joint committees
across more than one local authority area.

175. While it will continue to be entirely legitimate for a subject scrutiny committee (such as a 
children and young people’s scrutiny committee) to scrutinise the public services board’s work 
in relation to a specific issue, it is important that one committee takes an overview of the
overall effectiveness of the board. This is the reason one committee must be designated to 
undertake this work. “

The Welsh Government has commissioned Public Governance Wales to produce Ministerial 
Guidance for Local Government Scrutiny Committees and this is awaited.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? NO

Page 299



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed  Linda Rees Jones     Head of Administration and Law

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE 

Legal  
The Authority is under a statutory duty to designate a Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the work of 
the Public Service Board.

Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution requires amendment to include functions in respect of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and specifically designation of a Scrutiny 
Committee with responsibility to scrutinise the work of the Carmarthenshire Public Service Board.

Page 300



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed  Linda Rees Jones     Head of Administration and Law

1. Scrutiny Committee
The Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee was the Committee which had an overview of 
the Local Service Board.
2.Local Member(s)  
N/A
3.Community / Town Council 
N/A
4.Relevant Partners  
N/A
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public 
inspection 

Article 6 
Carmarthenshire 
Council Constitution

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1
160415/Article-6.pdf

Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales)
Act 2015

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/pdfs
/anaw_20150002_en.pdf

SPSF 3:Collective role 
(public services boards)

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/16111
1-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf

Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE BOARD 
DATE: 22ND DECEMBER, 2016

SUBJECT:
PREVENTION, EARLY INTERVENTION AND PROMOTING 

INDEPENDENT LIVING 

Purpose: 
To take note of the prevention and early intervention strategy for 
Carmarthenshire’s Integrated Services.

Recommendations / key decisions required: 
To approve the prevention and early intervention strategy to support 
independence for people supported in Carmarthenshire’s Integrated Services.

Reasons: 
To ensure robust implementation of the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
and its preventative ethos to improve outcomes at individual and organisational 
level.

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted: NO

Exec Board Decision Required                     YES – 19th December, 2016

Council Decision Required                           NO

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- 

Cllr. J. Tremlett (Social Care & Health portfolio holder)

Directorate: Communities 

Name of Head of Service: 
Rhian Dawson

Report Author: 

Julia Wilkinson

Designations: 

Head of Integrated 
Services

Locality Manager

Tel Nos.

(01267) 228900 / (01554 747501)

E Mail Addresses:

Rhian.dawson@wales.nhs.uk

jwilkinson@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Page 303

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Rhian.dawson@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:jwilkinson@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
EXECUTIVE BOARD 

DATE: 22ND DECEMBER, 2016

SUBJECT:
PREVENTION, EARLY INTERVENTION AND 

PROMOTING INDEPENDENT LIVING 

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT.

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act places a statutory responsibility on local 
authorities to promote preventative services for the local population.  Consultation conducted 
by Integrated Services with older people shows that maintaining independence and staying 
connected with their community is a key priority.

The strategy outlines ways in which preventative services will be embedded across the whole 
provision to promote independence and ensure that early intervention strategies are used to 
keep people as well and self-sufficient as possible.

A number of priorities in this strategy are linked to initiatives that are outlined in the 
department’s cost savings, taking this approach is fundamental to delivering efficiencies 
across the whole system.  Reviewing very small packages of care and looking for community 
alternatives is one such initiative. Evidence suggests that putting in this small amount of care 
can compromise independence and be detrimental for individuals in the long term. It will also 
support efficiency of alternative pathways out of reablement into community support. 

This strategy is an essential component in delivering cost savings, but these will be done 
within the context of promoting independence and providing the right support at an early stage 
so that crisis is avoided.  

It must be noted that whilst cost savings will be delivered through initiatives such as right 
sizing packages of care and improved information, advice and assistance provision; extra 
funding has been secured through the Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) to ensure that services 
outlined in this strategy are robust and able to deliver not only efficiencies in the long term but 
improve community services as a whole and promote the ethos of independence and 
personal responsibility for wellbeing. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE AND THEIR PROS AND CONS
To deliver preventive and early intervention services without a public facing document that 
explains our approach – however the strategy was written as a result of feedback from 
communities and individuals in Carmarthenshire.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Page 304



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed:          Rhian Dawson                              Head of Integrated Services

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE

2. Legal  
Delivering preventive services is a statutory responsibility of local authorities as outlined in the 
Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act.

3. Finance  
 It is difficult to identify the direct result of this strategy on the cost savings as it will be systems 
based approach that will impact across all provision.  Extra funding has been allocated through 
ICF to embed and develop prevention and early intervention provision.  

CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:             Rhian Dawson                             Head of Integrated Services

In developing the strategy, a workshop was held with stakeholders including elected 
members, 3rd sector organisations, public health colleagues and members of the 
public. 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE LISTED BELOW. 

Title of Document File Ref 
No.

Locations that the papers are 
available for public inspection 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Care Council Website

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Prevention, Early Intervention, 

Promoting Independent Living 

Carmarthenshire: A Resilient Community 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 307



 2 

Supporting you to stay well and independent 

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act means that the local authority 

and their partners must make sure that people in Carmarthenshire: 

 Can access services that promote wellbeing and that can prevent care 
needs from becoming more serious.  

 Are involved in the design of services and that these services are based 
on an assessment of local population need which feeds into a local 
wellbeing plan. 

 Have a range of high quality, appropriate preventative services which 
directly meet local need. 

 Can get the information and advice they need, to make well informed 
choices about their health and wellbeing. 

This strategy sets out in more detail the way in which we want to support people 
to stay well and independent. This important priority is described in many other 
plans and we want to join them together to make a real difference:  

 

 Ageing Well Plan  
 

 HDUHB Integrated Medium        
     Term Plan: Care Closer to Home  
 

 Carmarthenshire’s Vision for  
     Sustainable Services for Older  
     People  
 

 Carmarthenshire County Council  
     Corporate Plan  
 

 Carmarthenshire County Council:   
     Integrated Community Plan 
 

 Carmarthenshire’s Carer’s Plan  

 

 

 

Page 308



 3 

What is prevention? 

 

Prevention and early intervention is not just about providing services.  It is a 
universal approach that promotes wellbeing and can help to prevent care needs 
from becoming more serious.  
 
How services are delivered are often more important than what they are.  
 
The key features of our preventative approach make sure that we focus on 
both:  
 

 Prioritising wellbeing and taking a strength based approach. 
 

 Maximising independence, supporting the whole person and what 
matters to individuals. 

 

 Supporting people themselves to understand, plan for and manage their 
own care and wellbeing. 

 

 Helping people to stay connected and part of their communities.  
 
 
A preventative approach is 
embedded across the whole system 
and is arranged in three tiers:  
 
1) Help to help yourself; for anyone 

who wants to be as well as they 
can be.  

 
2) Help when you need it; support 

for people at risk because of 
particular health issues  

 
3) Ongoing specialist support; to 

ensure that wellbeing and 
independence is maximised.   

 
 

Page 309



 4 

The 

importance of 

community 

Personal feedback and 
recent evidence of new 
approaches to services 
have shown how 
important communities 
are in keeping people well.  
 

It is particularly important 
that preventative services 
are easy to access as maximum benefit is achieved if 
used before individuals reach a crisis and have more 
intensive needs of support or care.  
 

Older people often face practical obstacles which 
stop them accepting support. Issues such as reduced 
mobility, finding it hard to be away from home for 
long stretches, and feeling less confident all mean 
that local, familiar surroundings become more and 
more important.  
 
Focusing on strengthening communities is vital for 
services aimed at maintaining and enhancing 
community connections and providing support at an 
early stage. Being able to get support locally is often 
high on an individual’s list of what is important to 
them.  
 

Strengthening communities is also vital in supporting 
issues identified by Carmarthenshire’s older people. 
In a recent consultation undertaken by the 50+ forum, 
tackling the problem of isolation and loneliness was 
identified as the highest priority for older people in 
our area.  

 

Central to a 'good life' in 
old age is the value 
attached to inter-
dependence: being part of 
a community where 
people care about and look 
out for each other; a 
determination 'not to be a 
burden' especially on close 
family; and an emphasis 
on mutual help and 
reciprocal relationships. 

 (The Joseph Rowntree Foundation -What 
Makes a Good Life in Old Age) 

Low social interaction is as 
high a risk factor for early 
death as smoking 15 
cigarettes daily or being 
an alcoholic, and twice the 
risk factor of obesity.  

(Julianne Holt-Lunstad: Social 
Relationships Mortality Risk) 

55%  
Only 55% of those over the 
age of 80 in 
Carmarthenshire have 
access to a car or van – 
which makes local support 
even more vital. 

75%  
¾ of people who 
responded to consultation 
said that maintaining 
independence was 
important to them. 

 

Page 310



 5 

A joined-up approach 

to prevention 

 
Our overall aim is to ensure that 
Carmarthenshire keeps improving as a 
place to grow old well. We also want to 
support our residents to manage long 
term health conditions or physical 
disability effectively.  
 
It is a corporate priority to ensure that 
people living in Carmarthenshire are 
healthier. The vision for the Integrated 
Community Strategy is for “people to 
live healthy and fulfilled lives by working together to build strong bilingual and 
sustainable communities.”  
 
Many services in Carmarthenshire are designed to deliver this priority and aim 
to help people stay well and independent for as long as possible. These include 
health and social care teams, as well as wider support services, such as specialist 
housing, leisure, information and advice and includes wider health services such 
as primary care and our public health team, which work to promote and protect 
the health of our communities.  

Community health and social care services are integrated to make sure that 
provision is delivered jointly and is focused on what matters to individuals. 
There are specialist workers in these teams called Community Resilience Co-
ordinators. Their role is to focus on supporting prevention and early intervention 
services at a community level, to support groups and individuals to create 
networks and connections that promote wellbeing.   

The PEIPIL group 
(Prevention Early Intervention Promoting Independent Living) 

 

There will be action group to strengthen community connections and 
help co-design services at a local level. The aim of the group is to 

ensure that organisations and stakeholders work with communities to 
achieve objectives outlined in this strategy at a local level. 

 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 311



 6 

Themes of prevention, early intervention & 

promoting independent living 

 
We believe there are 6 broad categories of work that we should support and 
develop:  
  
 
 
 

 

1. Connecting people, communities and 
organisations.  

 
2. Promoting resilience, advocacy and peer 

support.  
 

3. Supporting carers.  
 

4. Supporting wellbeing & independence.  
 

5. Reducing the impact of illness, disability 
or frailty.  

 
6. Ensuring that people can access good 

information about care and support.  
 

Page 312



 7 

Connecting people, 

communities and organisations 

 

Our aim is to support community connection; ensuring 
that there is a good mix of provision to give people 
opportunities to join in and contribute, as well as 
providing practical support to maintain and enhance 
community networks.  
 
We aim for people to have opportunities to use their 
knowledge and skills to benefit their community.  
 
We have created a clear mechanism for individuals, the 
third sector and other organisations to communicate 
about changing care and support needs. We have 
addressed this through the publication of our Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment  and will continue with a 
wellbeing plan informed by feedback taken from 
individuals and the local community about their views 
on wellbeing.  
 
Following on from this, we are committed to working 
with partners to identify specific priorities for 
preventative activities and to review our approach 
regularly.  
 
We also realise that just having activities and support 
available is not enough to reach everyone. We are 
developing provision that involves people who have 
become isolated to find what matters to them and 
discover the best way to support. 
 
We have developed a project called ‘Living Well ……. 
No Matter What’ which includes a service based in GP 
practices where patients are supported to take part in 
community activities that promote their wellbeing and 
enjoyment of life.  
 
 

Some of what we do … 

The living well …… no 
matter what project aims 
to raise awareness of the 
importance of social 
networks in maintaining 
health and wellbeing and 
promote activities that 
achieve this. 

Spice Time Credits  

 

Spice Time Credits are a 
social currency. When 
people contribute time to 
their community they earn 
a credit, Credits can be 
used to access events, 
leisure services, or to 
thank others. 

Dementia Friendly 

Communities  

 

A dementia friendly 
community is one which is 
inclusive of people with 
dementia and understands 
how to help them. Llanelli 
market is the first 
dementia friendly market 
in Wales. 

Page 313



 8 

Promoting resilience, advocacy and peer 

support 
 

One of our guiding principles is that people should have responsibility for their 
own health and wellbeing and be at the centre of planning support.   
Individuals should have their voices heard and be in control.  
 
Some people with a disability or long term health condition may either need 
help to speak up for themselves or support to empower them to manage their 
own wellbeing. We see that asking what matters to the person and working on 
outcomes to achieve goals are preventative in nature. 
  
Recent research has highlighted the importance of taking a holistic approach 
to keeping well and maintaining independence, which includes not only 
supporting physical health but also psychological wellbeing, maintaining 
relationships and community networks.  
 
We recognise the importance of promoting peer support networks and 
advocacy services as an important preventative service to ensure that all 
factors of keeping well are taken into consideration. 
 
 

 

A skilled workforce 
Training and support to ensure that staff 

can empower people is vital. Training 
projects such as ‘Every Contact Counts’ and 
‘Brief Intervention’ is available to promote 
behaviour change and increase resilience. 
This encourages conversations based on 

behaviour change, ranging from brief 
advice, to more advanced behaviour 

change techniques, empowering healthier 
lifestyle choices. 

Staff are supported to look at an individual 
and ask them what matters to them. All 

plans will be drawn up to ensure that this is 
at the heart of delivery with outcomes 

based on wellbeing objectives. 

 

Page 314



 9 

Supporting carers  
 

Caring for carers is a key priority of preventative 
and early intervention services.  Carmarthenshire 
has a carers strategy and targeted support 
networks, and preventative services will aim to 
support and maximize the impact of this work. 
We also have a vibrant and active third sector 
that supports carers across the county. 
 

Carers may need to access a range of services themselves, but this can prove 
difficult when services are not aware and fit in with priorities of age and 
dementia friendly communities. Carers are more likely to be able to access 
services in organisations where staff have been trained to recognise carers, and 
then find ways to offer support in more flexible ways. 
 

Supporting wellbeing & 

independence 
 
We already provide a wide variety of services to 
support people to live independently and focus on 
their wellbeing.  
 
Preventative work will continue to improve quality 
and effectiveness of this provision, as well as 
review new, innovative ways of working. We will 
continue to widen their scope and work in 
partnership to maximise impact.  
 
We are developing a model with the third sector to 
provide collaborative and united early 
intervention. We want to create a united support 
project in Carmarthenshire that allows the third 
sector to work together to improve wellbeing at a 
local level. This will ensure that community 
services are joined up and look at all aspects of 
maintaining independence.  This could include 
practical support at home, advice, information or 

home adaptations services such as care and repair. 

Some of what we do ... 

Sensory Impairment   
 
We have a county wide team  
that specialises in support and 
rehabilitation for 
 those with a sensory  
impairment. This  
provision is a  
preventative service in itself,  
as evidence shows that it can  
positively affect people’s  
ability to perform activities  
of daily living and improve   
psychological outcomes,  
which prevents the need  
for statutory provision.  
We will continue to prioritise  
this vital service.  

 

Page 315



 10 

 

Reducing the 

impact of illness, 

disability or frailty 
 
Supporting people to manage 
long term health conditions 
themselves is another guiding 
principle.  
 
This may take the form of advice 
or training to help people 
understand their own care and 
support needs better. We know 
that being able to do this can 
significantly reduce the 
likelihood of going into hospital 
or admitted to residential care.  
Networking communities and connecting individuals 
to offer mutual support can be another effective way 
of promoting self-management.  
 
We are not only investing in services to keep people 
well and out of hospital but also in those that help 
older people leave hospital efficiently. The Transfer 
Of Care Advice & Liaison Service provides advice 
and support in both of Carmarthenshire’s hospitals 
to ensure quick, effective and safe discharge home. 
 
When someone returns home from hospital after an 
illness or injury, we aim to help them regain 
maximum independence. We offer a range of help 
and support from practical care, home adaptations 
to reablement services, which reduce the likelihood 
of needing support in the long term.  
 
 

 

Some of what we do …. 

Reablement 
 

Reablement is about 
helping people regain the 
ability to look after 
themselves following 
illness or injury. The 
service works with people 
over a period of up to 6 
weeks, with the aim of 
identifying ways people 
can gain confidence and 
new ways of coping with 
day to day living tasks 
(like personal care or food 
preparation). It can also 
help identify whether 
support will be needed in 
the long term, to help 
people maintain their 
independence.  
They do this by mutually 
agreeing goals with the 
individual, then recording 
these in a structured care 
plan. These goals can be 
achieved in a variety of 
ways.  

 

Page 316



 11 

 

Ensuring that people can access information 

about care and support 

 
Helping to navigate care and support service by 
providing good quality information and advice is a 
fundamental principle of preventative services.  
 
We aim to make sure that information, advice and 
assistance services are accessible to all, working 
jointly with individuals to discuss what is important to 
them and what they want to achieve.  
 
Our information and advice service will let people 
know:  
 

 How the care and support system operates in  
             Carmarthenshire.  
 

 The type of support available locally, including  
              the range of preventatives services.  
 

 How to access these services and support  
             Mechanisms.  
 

 How to raise concerns about someone who  
             appears to have a need for care and support, or  
             support in the case of a carer.  
 
There are several ways we aim to achieve this, 
through websites, a dedicated call centre with 
specialist workers as well as work in the community 
through third sector and other partners. 

 

 

 

Page 317



 12 

Common terms used in health and social care  

 
Assets  Any resources that are available to use e.g buildings, community 

groups, green spaces, personal assets such as cooking skills  

Asset mapping  This provides information about the strengths and resources of a 
community and can help uncover solutions. Once community 
strengths and resources are inventoried and depicted in a map, you 
can more easily think about how to build on these assets to address 
community needs and improve health.  

Asset based 
approach  

These are an integral part of community development in the sense 
that they are concerned with facilitating people and communities to 
come together to achieve positive change using their own knowledge, 
skills and lived experience of the issues they encounter in their own 
lives.  

Brief 
Intervention  

A technique used to initiate change for an unhealthy or unwise 
behaviour such as smoking, lack of exercise or alcohol misuse.  

Convalescence  Convalescence beds in care homes are an example of Intermediate 
Care. These offer people therapy to assist them to regain their 
previous function and independence.  

Community 
Resource 

Teams CRTs  

Integrated teams of health and social care professionals such as 
nurses, social workers, Occupational Therapists and Physiotherapists 
that provide care and support services to older adults, those with a 
physical disability, chronic health condition or sensory impairment.  

Daily living 
activities  

These include activities such as feeding, toileting, dressing, grooming, 
maintaining continence, bathing, walking and transferring (such as 
moving from bed to chair.  

Domiciliary 
Care  

This is also known as home care; this service provides personal care 
and support to people in their own home.  

Telecare  This uses technology to help people to live more independently at 
home. They include personal alarms and health monitoring devices.  

Careline  Careline delivers a 24x7 lifeline service across the region and handles 
referrals to social care services and out of hours calls. The aim is to 
make this service as an information, advice and assistance hub.  

Co-production 
/ co-design  

Participatory design (originally co-operative design, now often co-
design) is an approach to design attempting to actively involve all 
stakeholders (e.g. employees, partners, customers, citizens, end users) 
in the design process to help ensure the result meets their needs and is 
usable.  

Intermediate 
Care  

This term is used to describe a range of short-term treatment or 
rehabilitative services designed to promote independence, reduce the 
length of time spent in hospital, or help to avoid unnecessary 
admissions to hospital. Intermediate care can be provided in a hospital, 

Page 318



 13 

a special unit or at home for a short time (usually no longer than six 
weeks). They are paid for by the NHS.  

Infoengine  A website that lists the available community assets and is universally 
accessible  

Dewis  A website promoted by Welsh Government that lists all the health and 
social care related assets in the community and is universally available.  
 

SPICE  This is a registered charity which has developed a Time Credit scheme. 
For each hour that an individual gives to their community, they earn 
one Time Credit, which can be spent on an activity, help from another 
person, or gifted to others.  

TOCALS  Transfer of Care Advice and Liaison Service. This new service is based 
in West Wales General Hospital and Prince Philip Hospital, and has 
been set up with funding from the Intermediate Care Fund grant from 
the Welsh Government. The service aims to avoid unnecessary 
admissions to hospital, reduce the length of stay in hospital and 
facilitate safe and timely discharges. 

Primary Care  Health care provided in the community for people making an initial 
contact with a health care provider for example the GP or community 
pharmacy  

Multi-
Disciplinary 

Team (MDT)  

A meeting of health and social care professionals that discuss and plan 
appropriate care and support.  

Locality  There are 3 localities in Carmarthenshire integrated services that are 
based around GP clusters. These are 3Ts, Amman Gwendraeth and 
Llanelli.  

Making Every 
Contact Count  

Making Every Contact Count (MECC) is about encouraging and helping 
people to achieve positive long term behaviour change by:  

 Systematically promoting the benefits of healthy living  

 Asking individuals about their lifestyle and changes that they may 
wish to make, when there is an appropriate opportunity to do so. 

 Responding appropriately to the lifestyle issue once raised  

 Taking the appropriate action to either give information, signpost or 
refer individuals to the support they need.  

Place based 
system of care  

Where services and organisations collaborate to address the 
challenges, and improve the health of the populations they serve.  

Rowntree 
Foundation  

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation is an independent organisation 
working to inspire social change through research, policy and practice.  

 

 

 

Page 319



 14 

Useful resources 
 

Careline: 0300 333 2222 or e-mail careline@carmarthenshire.gov.uk.:  
For further information and advice about care and support services in 
Carmarthenshire.  
 

www.dewis.wales 
For information or advice about well-being and services available. 
 

www.info-engine.org.uk   
For information about the third sector services.  
 

www.cavs.org.uk     01267 245555  
For information and support about third sector and volunteering in 
Carmarthenshire. 
 

www.gov.wales  
For information about The Social Services and Wellbeing Act.  
 

www.hywelddalhb.wales.nhs.uk 
www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales  
For general information and links to strategies and plans mentioned in this 
document. 
 

www.carmarthenshire50.org.uk 
For information about the 50+ forum in Carmarthenshire with links and how to get 
involved. 
 

www.olderpeoplewales.com 
For information about the independent voice and champion for older people 
across Wales, standing up and speaking out on their behalf. 
 

www.ageingwellinwales.com 
For information about the national programme which develop and promote 
innovative and practical ways to make Wales a good place to grow older for 
everyone. 
 

www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/     08000 223 444 
For information and general advice on how to maintain health and wellbeing. 

 

Page 320

http://www.dewis.wales/
http://www.info-engine.org.uk/
http://www.gov.wales/
http://www.carmarthenshire50.org.uk/
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/


Executive Board 
22nd December 2016

 

Schools Staff Absence Scheme 

Recommendations / key decisions required:
To endorse the establishment of a Schools Staff Absence Scheme

Reasons: 
 To ensure value for money by pooling contributions into a central absence 

scheme for the benefit of Schools and the Authority rather than paying 
external insurance premiums enabling any net surplus to be shared by 
participating schools

 To support proactive and positive attendance management within schools 
to aid the reduction of absence and use of supply cover

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted N/A

Exec Board Decision Required                    YES 

Council Decision Required                           YES

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Cllr Mair Stephens (Human 
Resources)

Department: 
Chief Executive’s

Name of Head of Service
Paul R. Thomas

Report Authors: 
Ann Clarke

Designation:

Assistant Chief 
Executive (PM) 

Policy Manager

Tel No. / E-Mail Address:

01267 226123 
prthomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 
 

01267 246167
ALClarke@carmarthenhsire.gov.uk  
 

Page 321

Agenda Item 9

mailto:prthomas@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:ALClarke@carmarthenhsire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Executive Board 

22nd December 2016

SCHOOLS STAFF ABSENCE SCHEME 

Background and Introduction

Most schools currently source their own insurance policies through a range of providers to 
cover the replacement costs of teaching, learning support and other staff absent from school. 
The cover provided by these insurance policies varies greatly, as do the costs and the 
benefits. 

105 schools are currently covered by insurance policies with premiums costing in excess of 
£1m for primary and secondary schools. Income received from claims in recent years is 
approx £850k. 

In order to ensure value for money, the People Management and Finance Divisions have 
undertaken a review of the external insurance provision. This has been done in collaboration 
with the Department of Education & Children and in consultation with schools within the 
County to develop this Schools Staff Absence Scheme. Our research has shown that a 
Schools Staff Absence Scheme can provide financial and operational benefit to schools and 
the local authority where similar schemes have been introduced.

This scheme has been designed to operate on the principles of partnership with the purpose 
of raising funds from its membership (collectively called its members), which can then be used 
to provide common shared benefits to all members of the scheme. 

Current insurance premiums and absence patterns within Carmarthenshire schools have 
been considered in developing the scheme to assure CMT that a well administered and 
structured Schools Staff Absence Scheme can operate successfully and within the 
contributions. This is subject to sufficient membership by schools. Based on current levels, a 
surplus net of expenditure and administration costs will be achieved for the benefit of the 
members of the scheme instead of them paying insurance premiums to external providers at 
a net loss when compared to the reimbursements received.

In the event that the level of claims from scheme members exceeds the available funds, 
Carmarthenshire County Council will carry forward the deficit and off set against future year 
gains.  It is therefore in both the schools and the Authority’s interest to manage attendance 
positively and proactively in line with the Authority’s Model policies to benefit from reduced 
premiums in future years. Based on the data available and a commitment from all interested 
parties to adhere to guidance and policies the risk of a deficit is deemed to be low. 

The scheme launch will be supported by a structured communication plan with relevant 
stakeholders within schools once formally adopted by Executive Board from November 2016 
in collaboration with the Finance Division and Department of Education & Children.

Page 322



Financial implications
Based on analysis over the last 3 years, there is a net cost to the schools overall in 
purchasing premiums from external providers in excess of £100k on an annual basis.  On an 
individual school level, the majority have not benefitted financially.  It must be noted that due 
to the obvious ad hoc nature of staff absence, there will be fluctuations in trends. For this 
reason the scheme will be reviewed on an annual basis but with the clear ambition that the 
longevity of the scheme is critical to the success of it.

It is planned that up to 2 administrative officers time will be funded from the scheme.  In the 
first year this will include previous financial year set up costs to be reimbursed to the HR 
reserve. 

It is anticipated that with a combination of HR support and improved management of absence 
and administrative processes by schools, a net surplus will be achieved which will be 
accumulated into an earmarked reserve to fund future years cost variations.

People Management Implications
The reliance on insurance to cover the cost of supply cover is counter-productive to pro-active 
attendance management and the application of CCC Model Attendance policies. There is a 
disincentive to commence formal attendance processes as once an employee returns to work 
from long term sick, the insurance may not cover subsequent absence if the reason for 
absence is related to the initial period of absence. 

From communication with schools it is clear that maternity cover is currently a significant 
reason for purchasing absence insurance.  Whilst the majority of the maternity cost is 
reimbursed to the schools, the level of supply cover required to be purchased for maternity 
absence impacts on schools budgets.  This has been analysed and it is considered 
appropriate for a contribution to be made for maternity absence.  This will be further 
scrutinised to ensure that the scheme is of maximum benefit to the schools whilst being 
efficient.

The HR Support Team will:
 Provide advice and guidance to schools on the Schools Staff Absence Scheme;
 Provide advice and guidance to schools on relevant attendance policies;
 Administer the claims process in conjunction with finance colleagues. 

An additional resource of 2 FTE (Subject to Job Evaluation) will be required to support the 
administration of a centralised scheme funded from the annual contributions made by schools 
who are members of the scheme.  This resource will provide advice on attendance 
management policies, determine eligibility of claims, administer claims, update Resourcelink, 
liaise with the Occupational Health Centre/Attendance team, confirm or decline claims with 
reasons, handle claim queries and liaise with finance for the transfer of funds.

Duration of the Scheme
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme will operate initially for a period of two years commencing 
on 1st April 2017 until 31st March 2019 and will operate as a non- profit making partnership 
fund for the benefit of participating members. It will be reviewed annually to ensure ongoing 
financial viability into subsequent financial years.

Page 323



Joining the Scheme
Schools can join the Schools Staff Absence Scheme on the first day following the expiry of an 
existing insurance policy or can join the scheme on an agreed date where no current 
insurance is in place. 

During the first year of the Schools Staff Absence Scheme a school’s contribution will be 
determined by reference to any existing insurance policy and their current premium.  A 
comparative with similar sized/structured schools will be used for schools that do not have a 
current insurance policy. 

Member contribution
Each school that wishes to become a member of the scheme will pay an annual contribution 
into the Schools Staff Absence Scheme. If the scheme is viable to continue into future 
financial years the annual premium will be reviewed to include analysis of the level of claims 
made against the fund in the preceding financial year. 

The annual contribution made by each school will be pooled into the Schools Staff Absence 
Scheme to contribute towards the replacement cost of supply cover for schools who are 
members, following receipt of a claim and submission of appropriate supporting evidence. 

Scheme Cover
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme will provide a set contribution towards the replacement 
cost of absence cover for teaching and learning support staff, i.e. those requiring registration 
with the Education Workforce Council, employed locally by a school as defined within 
Appendix A and B and administer quotations and manage the claims process on behalf of 
schools.

The School’s Staff Absence Scheme will not cover:
 Absence where a school does not comply with the Authority’s Model School 

Sickness/Attendance Policies and/or the advice provided by the HR Team and the 
Occupational Health Centre; 

 Exemptions within a schools existing insurance policy prior to joining the School’s Staff 
Absence Scheme (subject to review after the first year); 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO

Page 324



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed: Paul Thomas, Assistant Chief Executive (People Management) 

                         

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES YES YES NONE YES YES NONE 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
The recommendations support the Council’s Strategic Aims ‘Building a Better Council’ and 
‘Making Better Use of Resources’

2. Legal  
Legal have been consulted in the development of the Schools Staff Absence Scheme. S111 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 gives the statutory power to the Authority to undertake any action 
which facilitates or is conducive to any of its statutory functions. As the provision of education 
services is one such function, it is entitled to ensure that schools have cost effective cover to 
facilitate the provision under our powers.

3. Finance  
An additional resource of 2 FTE Grade D (subject to JE) will be required to support the 
administration of a centralised Schools Staff Absence fund.  These will be funded from the 
annual contributions made by schools who are members of the scheme. It is envisaged that 
one officer will be required from December 2016 to enable the scheme to be ‘live’ from April 
2017.  The costs will be funded from the scheme contributions received in 2017/18.  This will 
therefore require funding from a contribution from a reserve fund in 2016/17 to be reimbursed 
to the reserve in 2017/18.
Anticipated financial position in a typical year:

Current annual spend on premiums            £1m
Annual income from claims                       £850K
Estimated Cost of staff (2 FTE grade D)     £50k

       Anticipated saving                                  £100k

Page 325



The affordability of the scheme will be determined by the take up from schools, This will be 
managed from November to December 2016 to ensure that the scheme will only commence 
with sufficient membership.  It is essential that the majority of schools support this initiative to 
ensure the scheme is sustainable.

Earmarked reserve to be set up to carry forward year end balances for future use to off-set cost 
variations in future years.

4. ICT
It is proposed to utilise ICT solutions to develop an online e-claim forms to reduce 
administration in the process subject to the ability of schools to interface with the corporate 
web platform

Risk Management Issues
5. Risk management has been consulted in the development of the Schools Staff Absence 

Scheme. There will be no financial implications centrally as the surplus or shortfall will be 
met by the fund members.

Staffing Implications
6. The HR Support Team will provide advice and guidance to schools on the Schools Staff 

Absence Scheme, relevant attendance policies and administer the claims process in 
conjunction with finance.  An additional resource of 2FTE (subject to JE) will be required to 
support the administration of a centralisation schools attendance fund self funded from the 
annual contributions made by schools who are members of the scheme.  This resource will 
provide advice on attendance management policies, determine eligibility of claims, 
administer claims, update Resourcelink, liaise with the Occupational Health 
Centre/Attendance team, confirm or declining claims with reasons, handle disputes.

7. Physical Assets
None

Page 326



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:        Paul Thomas                        Assistant Chief Executive (People Management)                                                                                                                                  

1. Scrutiny Committee
N/A

2.Local Member(s)  
N/A

3.Community / Town Council 
N/A

4.Relevant Partners  
N/A

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  

Schools have been consulted to gauge interest and provide feedback on current 
insurance scheme cover to develop the schools attendance fund

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THERE ARE NONE  

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Page 327



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Schools Staff Absence Scheme
CMT: 15 November 2016
Review date: March 2019

Carmarthenshire County Council

SCHOOLS’ STAFF ABSENCE 
SCHEME

1 April 2017 – 31st March 2019

15 November 2016

Page 329



2 | P a g e

Schools Staff Absence Scheme
CMT: 15 November 2016
Review date: March 2019

CONTENT PAGE 

Background information 3

Scope 3

Duration of scheme 4

Joining the scheme 4

Scheme cover 5

Level of cover 5

What Carmarthenshire County Council can expect? 6

What Schools can expect? 6

Administration fee 7

Feedback 7

Contacts 7

Appendix A Summary of Cover 8

Appendix B Level of Cover and Daily Rate 11

Appendix C Support Services for Staff 13

Page 330



3 | P a g e

Background Information

Many schools currently source their own insurance policies through a range of 
providers to cover the replacement costs of teaching and learning support staff 
absent from school. The cover provided by these insurance policies varies greatly, 
as do the costs and the benefits. 

105 schools are currently covered by insurance policies with premiums costing in 
excess of £1m for primary and secondary schools. 

In order to ensure value for money, the People Management and Finance Divisions 
have undertaken a review of the external insurance provision. This has been done in 
collaboration with the Department of Education & Children and in consultation with 
schools within the County to develop this Schools Staff Absence Scheme. Our 
research has shown that a Schools Staff Absence Scheme provides financial and 
operational benefit to schools and the local authority where similar schemes have 
been introduced.

This scheme has been designed to operate on the principles of partnership with the 
purpose of raising funds from its membership (collectively called its members), which 
can then be used to provide common shared benefits to all members of the scheme. 

Current insurance premiums and absence patterns within Carmarthenshire schools 
have been considered in developing the scheme. This has enabled the Authority to 
be assured that a well administered and managed Schools Staff Absence Scheme 
can operate successfully. This will enable any surplus contributions made by 
members, net of claims and administration costs, to be saved for the benefit of 
members of the scheme instead of paying insurance premiums annually to external 
providers. 

The scheme will require initial commitment from schools for a minimum of 2 years.  
The balance between premiums received and claims paid will accumulate in an 
earmarked reserve to fund any future year variations in costs.

Scope 
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme administered by Carmarthenshire County 
Council will provide Carmarthenshire schools scheme members with defined 
financial contribution towards the replacement costs of teaching and learning support 
staff, i.e. those employees requiring registration with the Education Workforce 
Council, as a result of specific types of absences from work. All Carmarthenshire 
schools will be eligible to join, although for administrative purposes Primary schools 
will be targeted in the first year.

Page 331



4 | P a g e

Duration of the Scheme
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme will operate initially for two financial years from 
1st April 2017 until 31st March 2019 and will operate as a non-profit making scheme 
for the benefit of participating members.  Schools wishing to become members are 
advised that initial membership will be for the full two year period with the exception 
of schools whose current insurance policy expires part way through the first year of 
the scheme (See Joining the Scheme). The scheme will be reviewed at the end of 
the first financial year to ensure ongoing financial viability 

It is anticipated that the scheme will continue beyond 31st March 2019 but this will 
depend on future membership levels and continued financial viability.

If the scheme ceases to operate at any point any surplus net of claim expenditure 
and administrative costs will be refunded proportionately to members in the scheme 
when it ceases based on the premium for the last financial year.

Joining the Scheme
Schools can join the Schools Staff Absence Scheme on the first day following the 
expiry of an existing insurance policy or can join the fund on a mutually agreed date 
where no current insurance is in place. 

During the initial two years of the Schools Staff Absence Scheme a member’s 
contribution will be determined by reference to the annual premium and type of 
insurance policy purchased by the member for the financial year 1st April 2016 to 31st 
March 2017 less 5%, or on application for schools that do not have an insurance 
policy in place. 

The majority of schools have existing cover commencing from day 1, day 3 or day 5 
of the absence.  The scheme reflects these requirements. 

In the few circumstances where a school’s current insurance policy commences from 
Day 2, Day, 4 or Day 6 the following options are available to schools:

Current 
cover

Fund Cover Option 1 Fund Cover Option 2

Day 2 Move to Day 3 cover with 5% 
discount off premium

Move to Day 1 cover with 5% 
increase to current premium

Day 4 Move to Day 5 cover with 5% 
discount off premium

Move to Day 3 cover with 5% 
increase to current premium

Day 6 Not applicable Move to Day 5 cover 

Where a member’s insurance policy expires part way through the first financial year 
of the Schools Staff Absence Scheme, e.g. 30th June 2017, the member’s premium 

Page 332



5 | P a g e

will be calculated by reference to the 2016-17 premium pro rata to the remaining 
period of the first financial year of the scheme, i.e. 1st July 2017 to 31st March 2018.  
For year 2 and going forward all schemes will have an annual commencement date 
in April.

Where a new member has no previous insurance policy on which to base the 
member contribution, this will be calculated by reference to the average premium for 
schools of a similar size based on pupil and/or staffing numbers, as appropriate.

The annual contribution made by members will be pooled into the Schools Staff 
Absence Scheme to contribute towards the replacement cost of supply cover for 
schools who are members, following receipt of a claim and submission of 
appropriate supporting evidence. 

It will be beneficial for members to pro-actively manage attendance in a timely 
manner in line with the Authority’s Model school policies to support a reduction in the 
level of absence and subsequent level of claims from the scheme.  

School Staff Attendance Scheme Cover
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme will provide:

 A set contribution towards the replacement cost of absence cover for teaching 
and learning support staff (pro rata part time), i.e. those requiring registration 
with the Education Workforce Council, employed locally by a school as 
defined within Appendix A and B;

 Administration of quotations and management of the claims process on behalf 
of schools;

 Access to a range of support services for staff to support regular attendance.
 Cover for Administrative and other non teaching support staff within the 

school where it is part of their existing policy. 

 The Schools Staff Absence Scheme will not cover:
 Absence where a school does not comply with the Authority’s Model School 

Attendance Policies and/or the advice provided by the Authority’s Human 
Resources (HR) Team and Occupational Health Centre (OHC), as 
appropriate;

Levels of School Staff Absence Scheme Cover
The Schools Staff Absence Scheme provides three levels of cover for the absence 
elements listed within Appendix A: 

 Gold cover - Day 1 
 Silver Cover - Day 3
 Bronze Cover - Day 5

Page 333



6 | P a g e

The first 2 years’ premium is based on your current cover as explained in ‘Joining the 
Scheme’.

Exclusions from the Schools Staff Attendance Scheme as listed within Appendix A.

The option to change the level of cover purchased will be available in future years.  
The objective of the scheme is to maximise efficiency for schools and therefore the 
simplicity of the scheme is paramount.

Carmarthenshire County can expect: 
 Each school to seek professional advice from the Authority’s HR Team and 

OHC as may be required in order to proactively manage employee 
attendance;

 Each Governing Body will consider the adoption of the Authority’s Model 
School’s Sickness Absence / Attendance Policies and other associated 
guidance, as appropriate;

 Each school will manage absence in line with the Authority’s Model School’s 
Sickness Absence/Attendance policies and/or the advice provided by the 
Authority’s HR Team and OHC; 

 Each School will submit an Attendance Return to Payroll by the 4th of each 
month to enable the employee’s absence record to be updated. Nil returns are 
required to ensure the employee receives normal salary.  It is a requirement 
of the Scheme that reasons for absence are stated on absence returns to 
Payroll (and not just “sickness”). The Resourcelink HR/Payroll ‘My View’ self 
service function being rolled out to schools will enable timely accurate returns 
without the need for paperwork;

 In addition to the sickness absence return, each school will submit a separate 
claim form for each period of employee absence that a claim is being made 
for.

  

Schools can expect:

 Professional HR and OHC advice in line with the standards detailed within the 
Schools SLA to support positive attendance in line with the Authority’s Model 
School Sickness/Attendance policies;
 

 Efficient administration of claims once received by the Schools Staff Absence 
Scheme Team;

Page 334



7 | P a g e

 Resolution of queries relating to the attendance of individual employees in 
conjunction with the school to support a reduction in absence levels and 
reliance on supply cover;

 To be allowed 30 days after the end of the month in which absence occurs for 
the claim to be notified to the scheme administrators. (However, sickness 
must reported before the 4th of each month to payroll as detailed above);

 The end of year procedure will be circulated in advance to ensure end of year 
deadlines are met in accordance with the closure of accounts.

Administration fee
It is anticipated from the level of interest from schools wishing to join the Schools 
Staff Absence Scheme that up to two FTE administrative staff will be required to deal 
with the queries, claim quotations, administration and liaison with HR and finance 
teams. The aim is to establish smart processes to minimise administration costs and 
these will be reviewed regularly. The administrative costs are covered by member 
contributions including any pre-scheme launch administration.

Feedback
Your feedback is important to us.

The Authority aims to provide a professional service and your customer feedback is 
valuable. Please do not hesitate to contact the Schools Staff Absence Scheme Team 
if:

 You wish to make a suggestion to improve the service;

 You wish to compliment the service you have been receiving;

 You are not satisfied with the service you are receiving.

Contact details

New contact details for the School Staff Absence Team will be circulated once 
confirmed.

In the interim, please contact:

Scheme/HR related queries - Ann Clarke on 01267 246167

Email: ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Heidi Font on 01267 246060

Email: HFont@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Page 335

mailto:ALClarke@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:HFont@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


8 | P a g e

 

Premium costs queries - LMS Team on 01267 246710/246709/246711

Email: lms@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Page 336

file:///C:/Users/eadavies/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/IF1KDD3W/lms@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


9 | P a g e

Appendix A

Schools Staff Absence Scheme 

Summary of Cover

April 2017 to March 2019

This is a guide to the cover afforded to schools by the Schools Staff Absence 
Scheme: Providing the Authority’s Model School’s Sickness Absence /Attendance 
policies and/or the advice provided by the Authority’s HR Team and Occupational 
Health Centre is followed. 

Sickness Absence: This includes sickness absence as a result of:

 Stress, Mental Health and Fatigue: Including work and home related stress, 
anxiety, depression and chronic fatigue, where it is evident that professional 
support is in place either from occupational health services and/or registered  
professional service e.g. community mental health services, counselling via 
the GP.

 Medical Suspensions: Covered where Authority’s HR & Occupational Health 
advice has been followed prior to making the decision to suspend, up to a 
maximum period of two calendar weeks (pro rata part time) or the suspension 
review date, whichever is the soonest,  beyond which it would be discretionary 
on the part of the Authority.

 Pregnancy Related Illness: Covered with the exception of illness during the 
four weeks prior to the expected date of confinement as stated on the MAT B1 
as this triggers maternity leave.

 Phased Returns to Work: Covered provided it is agreed in line with the 
Model School Sickness Absence Policy up to a maximum of 4 calendar weeks 
(pro rata part time)

 Absences arising from accidents, injury or assault at work:
 Teachers: In line with STPCD, Teachers are paid full pay for a period 

up to 6 months from the day of the incident regardless of their 
continuous service (for absence as a result of injuries sustained whilst 
undertaking occupational duties). 

 For all other staff: In line with NJC Pay and Conditions of Service 
absence arising out of or in the course of employment is treated 
separately to other periods of absence for purposes of calculating 
entitlement under the sick pay scheme. 

 For both category of staff occupational absence is covered at the 
fund’s agreed daily rate provided all incidents are recorded on the 
Authority’s Corporate Accident/Incident system, a referral made to the 
Authority’s Occupational Health Centre and an accident investigation 
undertaken.

Page 337



10 | P a g e

Chronic and recurrent conditions: Covered provided the Authority’s Model 
School’s Sickness Absence /Attendance policies and/or the advice provided by the 
Authority’s HR Team and Occupational Health Centre is followed. 

Compassionate Leave:

a) Bereavement leave: Granted at the discretion of the Head Teacher up to 5 
days (family member) or up to a maximum of 10 days (immediate family only) 
(pro rata part time) in line with the Authority’s School’s Model Time Off policy.

b) Critical Injury/Critical Illness: Granted at the discretion of the Head Teacher 
for critical illness/injury of a family member up to 5 days in line with the advice 
contained within Authority’s Model Time Off policy.

Time Off for Trade Union Duties: 1 day per term per recognised Trade Union 
Representative in line with advice contained within the Authority’s School’s Model 
Time Off Policy 

Maternity/Adoption & Surrogacy Leave: It is evident from research into existing 
insurance policies that maternity cover is widely purchased and will therefore be 
covered by the scheme as a set lump sum as set out in Appendix B for the first 2 
years of the scheme.  Depending on the length of maternity leave and the grade of 
the substantive post holder, schools may not be in a negative financial position once 
maternity pay and supply cover costs are paid so this cover is sometimes surplus to 
requirements.   However, as it is unknown at the start of maternity leave the length of 
time an employee may take it has been agreed to include maternity cover for the first 
years of the scheme on a trial basis. For future years maternity cover will be 
reviewed and may be based on an analysis of actual maternity claims against the 
scheme compared to staffing budget available to members. 

This is a guide to what is not covered by the Authority’s Schools Staff 
Absence Scheme: 

 Any period of absence that occurred prior to the school joining the scheme 
(this should be claimed via previous insurance policy, where applicable). 
Continuing absence from the commencement date with the scheme will be 
covered, provided the Authority’s School Model Sickness 
Absence/Attendance policies and/or Authority’s  HR/OH advice is followed 
from the date of joining the scheme; 

 Any absence from the date of joining the scheme that is not being managed in 
line with the Authority’s School Model Sickness Absence/Attendance policies 
and/or where the Authority’s HR and OH advice is not being followed;

 Pregnancy related illness is excluded beginning the 4th week before the 
expected date of confinement as stated on the MAT B1 certificate as the 
employee starts maternity leave in this situation;

Page 338



11 | P a g e

  Period of notice paid in lieu; 

 Cover for staff centrally employed by the Authority, e.g. Catering & Cleaning 
Service;

 
 Cover for the absence of temporary/supply staff employed to cover the 

absence of a substantive member of staff;

 Cover for the absence of a Head Teacher, Deputy Head Teacher or member 
of the Senior Leadership Team unless the post holder undertakes timetabled 
teaching requiring supply cover during the period of absence or where supply 
cover is required for a teacher that is acting up into the leadership role; 

 The cost of any rehabilitation scheme agreed by a school e.g. extended 
phased return to work, which falls outside the scope of the Authority’s School 
Model Sickness Absence/Attendance policies;

 Any other exemptions with a member’s existing insurance policy prior to 
joining the Schools Attendance Fund (subject to review after the first year);

 Uncertified and/or unauthorised absence;

 Absence claims as a result of school closure;

 Jury service (Please refer to the Authority’s School’s Model Time Off policy)

 Absence for planned cosmetic surgery (not recommended by a medical 
practitioner (Please refer to the Authority’s School’s Sickness Absence 
policy).

 Absence due to industrial action.

 All other absences not specified within the fund specification.

Page 339



12 | P a g e

Appendix B

Schools Staff Absence Scheme 

Level of Cover

April 2017 to March 2019

Level of cover:

The Schools Staff Absence Scheme offers 3 levels of cover in line with the majority 
of current insurance policies:

 Gold Cover – Cover commences from the 1st day of absence
 Silver cover – Cover commences from the 3rd day of absence
 Bronze cover – Cover commences from the 5th day of absence

Daily Rate Payable (except Maternity/Adoption &Surrogacy leave):
Teachers

£120 FT (pro rata part time*)

Learning Support Staff (Teaching Assistants/Higher Level Teaching Assistants)

£50 FT (pro rata part time*)

Other Support Staff (Where included in existing insurance premium)

£50 FT (pro rata part time*)

When the absent employee moves to half pay, half of the supply cover rate will be 
reimbursed by the Scheme.  When the absent member of staff moves to a no-pay 
situation members can no longer claim from the Scheme.

*For part time employees, eligible absence under this scheme will be paid pro rata in accordance with 
the employees contracted working pattern. 

For example: 
If a teacher who works Monday, Tuesday & Wednesday is absent on a Monday, 
£120 will be the payment.  

If a teacher works mornings 5 days a week and is off for a day with eligible absence, 
£60 will be the payment.

Maternity/Adoption & Surrogacy Leave 
Teachers

£3,000 lump sum FT (pro rata part time) for the maternity, no daily amount can be 
claimed

Page 340



13 | P a g e

Learning Support Staff (Teaching Assistants/Higher Level Teaching Assistants)

£1,500 lump sum FT (pro rata part time) for the maternity, no daily amount can be 
claimed

Other Support Staff (Where included in existing insurance premium)

£1,500 lump sum FT (pro rata part time) for the maternity, no daily amount can be 
claimed

Page 341



14 | P a g e

Appendix C

Schools Staff Absence Scheme 

Support Services for Staff

April 2017 to March 2019

NHS Stress Control Training – Free 6 week course

 Learn to face your fears
 Learn ways to help you sleep
 Learn how to manage your mood
 Learn how to relax
 Learn how to control panic
 Learn how to reduce your stress

To register for a course call: 07816 064644/3, alternatively email: Stress.Control-
Registrations@wales.nhs.uk 

Support Agencies

 NHS Direct: Search for various emotional support services in your local 
area (0845 46 47)

 Education Support Partnership: Specific support for everyone working 
in education (08000 562 561)

 CALL: Community Advice and Listening line (0800 132 737)
 MIND: Mental health support charity (029 2039 5123)
 Mental health crisis teams: For information on assessments and how to 

access services and support:

 Carmarthen: 01267 236017
 Dinefwr: 01269 595473
 Llanelli: 01554 772768

 Live Life Fear Free: Domestic abuse and sexual violence support 0808 
8010 800 and/or refer to CCC Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Policy

Should you find that this information is not enough and you’re concerned about a 
member of staff’s symptoms of stress or low mood, then please advise the individual to 
contact his/her GP or refer to the stress management programme at the Occupational 
Health Centre.

Page 342

mailto:Stress.Control-Registrations@wales.nhs.uk
mailto:Stress.Control-Registrations@wales.nhs.uk
http://www.nhsdirect.wales.nhs.uk/localservices/searchlocalservices.aspx?s=HealthWellbeingAndSupport
https://www.educationsupportpartnership.org.uk/
http://www.mind.org.uk/
http://livefearfree.gov.wales/?lang=en
http://intranet/our-people/occupational-health/stress/


Executive Board 
Date: 22nd December 2016

Subject          COUNCIL TAX BASE 2017-18
Purpose:   For Executive Board to consider the Tax Base calculations and determine 
the Tax Base in respect of the financial year 2017-18

Recommendations / key decisions required:
It is recommended that, Executive Board:

1. Approves the Council Tax Base calculations for the financial year 2017-18, within the 
report (Appendix A)

2. Confirms a Council Tax Base of  71,598.56 in respect of the County Council area
as shown in Table 1a & 1b, and

3. Confirms the relevant tax bases for the individual community and town council areas, 
as shown in Table 2.

Reasons: 
1. The County Council is required each year, to determine its Council Tax Base, and the 

Council Tax Base of each community within its area, for the purpose of setting the 
level of Council Tax for the forthcoming financial year. 

2. The attached Council Tax Base calculation has been undertaken in accordance with 
the established process.

3. Council on 8th December 2004 resolved that calculation of the Council Tax Base be 
designated as an executive function

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted : N/A  

Exec Board Decision Required                    YES 

Council Decision Required                           NO

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Cllr David Jenkins

Directorate: Corporate 
Services 

Name of Head of Service:

Report Author:

John Gravelle

Designation(s):

Revenue Services Manager

Tel No.

01267 228740

E Mail Address:

JGravelle@Carmarthenshi
re.gov.uk

Page 343

Agenda Item 10

mailto:JGravelle@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:JGravelle@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Executive Board 22nd December 2016

SUBJECT: COUNCIL TAX BASE – 2017-18

1. The Council must determine annually, it’s Council Tax Base for the purpose of calculating its Council 
Tax for the forthcoming financial year. 

2. Under the provisions of Section 84 of the Local Government Act 2003, and the Local Authorities 
Executive Arrangements (Functions and Responsibilities) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2004, 
the annual calculation has been delegated to Executive Board. 

3. The Council Tax Base of an area is a measure of its tax-raising capacity, expressed in terms of the 
number of Band D equivalent dwellings. In simple terms, net spending not met by government grants 
is divided by the Tax Base to give the amount of Council Tax for a dwelling in Band D. The Tax Base 
is also used by the Welsh Assembly Government in its revenue settlement calculations.

4. The Tax Base calculation takes into account exemptions, reductions for disabilities and other 
discounts, together with anticipated changes i.e. new dwellings and appeals. The calculation also 
reflects the difference in the level of charge across the Valuation Bands.

5. A collection rate is then applied to give the net Tax Base expressed in terms of Band D equivalent 
dwellings. The collection rate applied for 2017-18 is 97.5% (unchanged from the 2016-17 calculation) 
which better reflects the actual long-term collection results achieved by the Council.

6. The County Council must also calculate the individual Tax Bases for all the Town and Community 
Councils within the County, using the same basis of calculation and collection rate. The calculations 
must also ensure that the sum of the individual Tax Base figures for each part of the Authority's area 
is equal to the Council's Tax Base for the whole of the area.

7. The calculation of the Tax Base for the County Council for 2017-18 is shown in Table 1a & 
summarised in Table 1b. 

The calculation for individual Town and Community Council areas is summarised in Table 2 and 
detailed in Appendix A. 

8. It is therefore, recommended that for the financial year 2017-18, Executive Board:

a) agrees the calculations within Tables 1a & 1b 
b) approves a Council Tax Base of  71,598.56 

and
c) approves the individual Tax Bases for the Town and Community Council areas within the 

County, as listed in Table 2 and detailed in Appendix A   

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES   
(Summary Tables with detailed calculation tables in Appendix A)

Page 344



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed: Owen Bowen                                                    Head of Financial Services                           

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1. Finance  

The tax base calculation expressed in terms of Band D equivalent dwellings prior to the 
collection rate being applied shows a slight increase of approximately 0.95% for 2017-18 
compared with 2016-17 (almost 670 dwellings expressed in Band D terms). This is 
slightly higher than the increases seen in recent years and reflects the increase in the 
number of chargeable dwellings within Carmarthenshire.

The collection rate of 97.5% which has been applied since 2014-15 has been retained for 
2017-18. 

This better reflects the overall long-term collection rate achieved by the department than 
the 96% rate applied for the years prior to 2014-15.

Page 345



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:    Owen Bowen                                                             Head of Financial Services                     

1. Scrutiny Committee
N/A
2.Local Member(s)  
N/A
3.Community / Town Council 
N/A
4.Relevant Partners  
N/A
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

System prints and 
calculation documents

N/A Council File Plan (Finance/Controls/CT Base)

Page 346



COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION – 2017-18    Table 1.a

Ref.Total - Whole Authority A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL

a Chargeable Dwellings 8641 23403 17333 13524 12522 6120 2060 289 68 83,960

b Add - Adjustments for year 0 2 17 91 154 27 7 1 1 0 300

c Disability reductions 39 217 225 207 240 127 43 13 17 1,128

d Net Chargeable Dwellings 39 8821 23428 17406 13711 12436 6043 2031 294 51 84260

f Dwellings with 1 discount 21 5091 9854 5983 3902 2890 1101 252 33 1 29128

g Dwellings with 2 discounts 0 471 841 666 503 326 123 58 37 11 3036

h Total Discounts @ 25% 21 6033 11536 7315 4908 3542 1347 368 107 23 35200

i Total Discounted Dwellings 33.75 7,312.75 20,544.00 15,577.25 12,484.00 11,550.50 5,706.25 1,939.00 267.25 45.25 75460.00

j Ratio to Band D 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 18.75 4,875.17 15,978.67 13,846.44 12,484.00 14,117.28 8,242.36 3,231.67 534.50 105.58 73434.42

TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE 71598.56

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings 0

TAX BASE 2017-18 71598.56

Key

a The number of dwellings shown in the Valuation List, less exempt dwellings
b The estimated movement during the year arising from new properties and other movements in Valuation Bands due to appeals etc.

c Dwellings which have a (particular) feature required for a disabled resident and therefore are charged at the next lower band 

d Dwellings subject to Council Tax in the specified Valuation Band

f 25% discount applies where only one adult is counted as resident (certain residents are not counted e.g students &  mentally impaired)

g Vacant dwellings and dwellings where none of the residents are counted, attract 50% discount

h The total number of discounts @25% i.e.: f + (gx2) 

i The total net chargeable dwellings (line d) less a deduction to reflect the discounts shown in line h

j The adjustment ratio due to the variations in charge, e.g. Band B properties are charged at 7/9ths of Band D.

P
age 347



P
age 348



COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION   2017-18 Table  1.b

A Band D Equivalent Dwellings 73,434.42  

B Estimated Collection Rate 97.5%

A x B 71,598.56  

Class O Exempt 0

COUNCIL TAX BASE  2016-17 71,598.56  

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



TABLE 2 Tax Base Community Totals 2017-18

COMMUNITY TAX BASE COMMUNITY TAX BASE
ABERGWILI 725.11 LLANYCRWYS 101.11
ABERNANT 127.13 PENCARREG 524.85
BRONWYDD 274.28 NEWCASTLE EMLYN 447.1
CILYMAENLLWYD 328.36 CARMARTHEN TOWN 5330.33
CYNWYL ELFED 453.16 AMMANFORD 1909.52
EGLWYSCUMMIN 183.79 CWMAMMAN 1535.36
GORSLAS 1874.01 LLANDEILO 777.26
HENLLANFALLTEG 215.54 LLANDOVERY 771.75
LAUGHARNE 553.09 BETTWS 875.96
LLANARTHNEY 384.24 CILYCWM 219.62
LLANBOIDY 424.67 CYNWYL GAEO 426.92
LLANDDAROG 545.82 DYFFRYN CENNEN 518.36
LLANDDOWROR 336.24 LLANDDEUSANT 123.33
LLANDYFAELOG 602.93 LLANDYBIE 4220.23
LLANGAIN 281.71 LLANEGWAD 695.8
LLANGYNDEYRN 1375.5 LLANFAIR AR Y BRYN 270.18
LLANGUNNOR 1142.24 LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH 567.2
LLANGYNIN 131.24 LLANFYNYDD 222.21
LLANGYNOG 226.74 LLANGADOG 610.73
LLANLLAWDDOG 323.35 LLANGATHEN 262.41
LLANPUMPSAINT 321.56 LLANSADWRN 222.24
LLANSTEFFAN 559.55 LLANSAWEL 194.76
LLANWINIO 197.25 LLANWRDA 229.53
MEIDRIM 260.28 MANORDEILO & SALEM 774.15
NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR 306.74 MYDDFAI 178.6
PENDINE 157.66 QUARTER BACH 932.63
ST CLEARS 1305.46 TALLEY 243.99
ST ISHMAEL 750.07 LLANELLI TOWN 8646.89
TRELECH 321.08 LLANELLI RURAL 8030.8
WHITLAND 695.59 PEMBREY & BURRY PORT 3178.94
CENARTH 531.51 KIDWELLY TOWN 1360.17
LLANFIHANGEL-AR-ARTH 887.06 LLANEDI 2165.59
LLANFIHANGEL RHOS-Y-CORN 215.43 LLANGENNECH 1913.71
LLANGELER 1470.92 LLANNON 1886.62
LLANLLWNI 317.03 PONTYBEREM 987.22
LLANYBYDDER 584.7 TRIMSARAN 851.45

 19391.04  52207.52
TOTAL 71598.56

Page 351



This page is intentionally left blank



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 1

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION - 2017-18  APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 201 - AMMANFORD A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 1 451 682 783 324 155 82 29 0 1 2508
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 1 368 325 339 123 37 26 7 0 2 1228
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0.75 359 600.75 700.25 295.25 145.75 75.5 27.25 0 0.5 2205
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.42 239.33 467.25 622.44 295.25 178.14 109.06 45.42 0 1.17 1958.48
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1909.52

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1909.52

    Ref. 202 - CWMAMMAN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 3 451 646 393 351 131 62 7 0 0 2044
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 1 329 316 156 115 37 14 1 0 0 969
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 2.75 368.75 567 355 326.25 121.75 58.5 6.75 0 0 1806.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 1.53 245.83 441 315.56 326.25 148.81 84.5 11.25 0 0 1574.73
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1535.36

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1535.36

    Ref. 203 - LLANDEILO A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 178 170 232 151 136 71 20 2 0 960
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 168 88 123 66 59 23 9 0 0 536
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 136 148 201.25 136.5 121.25 65.25 17.75 2 0 828
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 90.67 115.11 178.89 136.5 148.19 94.25 29.58 4 0 797.19
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  777.26

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 777.26

P
age 353



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 2

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 204 - LLANDOVERY A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 108 220 288 147 107 64 11 5 0 950
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 68 154 135 61 43 14 1 6 0 482
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 91 181.5 254.25 133.75 96.25 60.5 10.75 3.5 0 831.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 60.67 141.17 226 133.75 117.64 87.39 17.92 7 0 791.54
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  771.75

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 771.75

    Ref. 205 - BETTWS A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 2 159 190 153 202 228 55 11 4 0 1004
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 86 84 68 63 61 3 2 3 0 370
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 2.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 2 139.5 169 137 187.25 212.75 55.25 10.5 3.25 0 916.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 1.11 93 131.44 121.78 187.25 260.03 79.81 17.5 6.5 0 898.42
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  875.96

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 875.96

    Ref. 206 - CILYCWM A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 5 5 48 66 69 26 4 0 0 223
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 1 3 20 21 16 10 3 0 0 74
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 4.75 4.25 43 61.75 65 23.5 3.25 0 0 205.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 3.17 3.31 38.22 61.75 79.44 33.94 5.42 0 0 225.25
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  219.62

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 219.62

P
age 354



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 3

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 207 - CYNWYL GAEO A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 9 35 61 147 128 47 7 0 2 436
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 3 23 30 52 30 12 0 0 0 150
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 8.25 29.25 54.5 134 120.5 44 7 0 2 399.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 5.5 22.75 48.44 134 147.28 63.56 11.67 0 4.67 437.87
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  426.92

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 426.92

    Ref. 208 - DYFFRYN CENNEN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 26 65 103 82 129 77 34 11 0 527
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 28 44 54 26 43 27 9 6 0 237
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 19 54 89.5 79.5 118.25 70.25 31.75 9.5 0 471.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 12.67 42 79.56 79.5 144.53 101.47 52.92 19 0 531.65
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  518.36

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 518.36

    Ref. 209 - LLANDDEUSANT A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 4 1 10 41 42 19 0 1 0 118
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 1 1 2 16 8 1 0 0 0 29
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3.75 0.75 9.5 37 40 18.75 0 1 0 110.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.5 0.58 8.44 37 48.89 27.08 0 2 0 126.49
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  123.33

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 123.33

P
age 355



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 4

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 210 - LLANDYBIE A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 5 604 1143 1221 850 685 336 98 11 1 4954
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 4 374 539 509 272 158 72 19 8 0 1955
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 2.00 6.00 10.00 3.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 4 510.5 1010.25 1099.75 792 648.5 320 93.25 9 1 4488.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 2.22 340.33 785.75 977.56 792 792.61 462.22 155.42 18 2.33 4328.44
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE 4220.23

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 4220.23

    Ref. 211 - LLANEGWAD A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0.0 40.0 35.0 66.0 95.0 179.0 157.0 60.0 7.0 2.0 641
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 22 13 40 32 55 51 6 0 0 219
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 34.5 32.75 57 88 165.25 144.25 58.5 7 2 589.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 23 25.47 50.67 88 201.97 208.36 97.5 14 4.67 713.64
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  695.80

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 695.8

    Ref. 212 - LLANFAIR AR Y BRYN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 10 18 59 66 85 27 5 1 1 272
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 1 12 26 19 15 6 0 0 0 79
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 9.75 15 52.5 62.25 82.25 25.5 5 1 1 254.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 6.5 11.67 46.67 62.25 100.53 36.83 8.33 2 2.33 277.11
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  270.18

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 270.18

P
age 356



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 5

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 213 LLANFIHANGEL ABERBYTHYCH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 23 74 87 106 142 92 32 4 0 560
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 12 33 51 29 33 13 3 4 0 178
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 20 66.75 74.25 100.75 133.75 88.75 31.25 3 0 518.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 13.33 51.92 66 100.75 163.47 128.19 52.08 6 0 581.74
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  567.20

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 567.2

    Ref. 214 - LLANFYNYDD A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 19 6 27 56 60 40 8 1 1 218
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 8 4 13 19 16 8 4 0 0 72
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 17 5 23.75 52.25 56 38 7 1 1 201
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 11.33 3.89 21.11 52.25 68.44 54.89 11.67 2 2.33 227.91
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  222.21

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 222.21

    Ref. 215 - LLANGADOG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 21 33 128 111 176 108 24 7 0 608
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 15 26 52 53 60 34 5 2 0 247
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 17.25 26.5 116 99.75 161 99.5 22.75 6.5 0 549.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 11.5 20.61 103.11 99.75 196.78 143.72 37.92 13 0 626.39
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  610.73

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 610.73

P
age 357



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 6

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 216 - LLANGATHEN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 16 11 20 23 70 47 31 9 3 230
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 10 7 7 9 21 11 9 2 0 76
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 13.5 9.25 18.25 21.75 64.75 44.25 28.75 8.5 3 212
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 9 7.19 16.22 21.75 79.14 63.92 47.92 17 7 269.14
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  262.41

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 262.41

    Ref. 217 - LLANSADWRN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 19 4 23 53 55 47 9 3 0 213
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 6 3 14 11 14 14 0 3 0 65
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 17.5 3.25 20.5 50.25 51.5 43.5 9 2.25 0 197.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 11.67 2.53 18.22 50.25 62.94 62.83 15 4.5 0 227.94
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  222.24

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 222.24

    Ref. 218 - LLANSAWEL A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 7 26 39 44 52 23 8 1 0 200
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 5 12 18 17 11 9 0 0 0 72
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 5.75 23 35.5 39.75 50.25 20.75 8 1 0 184
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 3.83 17.89 31.56 39.75 61.42 29.97 13.33 2 0 199.75
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  194.76

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 194.76

P
age 358



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 7

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 219 - LLANWRDA A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 9 24 22 51 63 34 15 5 0 223
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 6 9 9 23 26 7 2 0 0 82
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 7.5 21.75 20.75 45.25 56.5 32.25 14.5 5 0 203.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 5 16.92 18.44 45.25 69.06 46.58 24.17 10 0 235.42
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  229.53

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 229.53

    Ref. 220 - MANORDEILO & SALEM A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 21 20 95 138 188 178 56 8 3 707
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 11 8 51 61 62 33 6 4 0 236
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 18.25 18 83.25 124.75 173.5 169.75 54.5 7 3 652
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 12.17 14 74 124.75 212.06 245.19 90.83 14 7 794
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  774.15

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 774.15

    Ref. 221 - MYDDFAI A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 6 10 24 49 49 29 8 0 1 176
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 2 8 13 14 17 8 0 0 0 62
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 5.5 8 20.75 45.5 44.75 27 8 0 1 160.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 3.67 6.22 18.44 45.5 54.69 39 13.33 0 2.33 183.18
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  178.60

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 178.6

P
age 359



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 8

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 222 - QUARTER BACH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 5 479 451 223 91 63 18 1 1 0 1332
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 2 253 217 91 27 12 3 0 0 0 605
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 2.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 4.5 415.75 396.75 201.25 86.25 61 17.25 1 1 0 1184.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 2.5 277.17 308.58 178.89 86.25 74.56 24.92 1.67 2 0 956.54
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  932.63

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 932.63

    Ref. 223 - TALLEY A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 5 21 21 45 81 39 14 3 1 230
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 6 14 18 17 22 9 1 1 0 88
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3.5 18.5 16.5 42.75 75.5 36.75 13.75 2.75 1 211
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.33 14.39 14.67 42.75 92.28 53.08 22.92 5.5 2.33 250.25
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  243.99

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 243.99

    Ref. 224 - LLANELLI TOWN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 3 1475 5807 2366 1167 507 252 105 40 9 11731
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 3 1202 2847 991 445 172 61 27 12 10 5770
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 2.0 4.0 12.0 3.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 21
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 2.25 1174.5 5097.25 2122.25 1067.75 467 236.75 98.25 37 6.5 10309.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 1.25 783 3964.53 1886.44 1067.75 570.78 341.97 163.75 74 15.17 8868.63
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  8646.89

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 8646.89

P
age 360



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 9

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 225 - LLANELLI RURAL A-       A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 7 697 4048 2376 1351 854 384 195 24 7 9943
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 4 480 1891 919 439 203 73 24 4 8 4045
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.0 15.0 17.0 2.0 1.0 0.00 1.00 0.00 36
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 6 577 3575.25 2161.25 1258.25 805.25 366.75 189 24 5 8967.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 3.33 384.67 2780.75 1921.11 1258.25 984.19 529.75 315 48 11.67 8236.72
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  8030.80

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 8030.8

    Ref. 226 - PEMBREY & BURRY PORT A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 3 494 1376 808 645 352 194 65 13 2 3952
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 3 318 637 303 210 117 42 13 6 0 1649
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 2.25 414.5 1216.75 732.25 595.5 322.75 183.5 61.75 11.5 2 3542.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 1.25 276.33 946.36 650.89 595.5 394.47 265.06 102.92 23 4.67 3260.45
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  3178.94

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 3178.94

    Ref. 227 - KIDWELLY A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 2 203 617 268 202 213 110 32 7 0 1654
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 139 306 107 73 51 25 9 0 0 710
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 5
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 2 168.25 540.5 243.25 185.75 201.25 103.75 29.75 7 0 1481.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 1.11 112.17 420.39 216.22 185.75 245.97 149.86 49.58 14 0 1395.05
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1360.17

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1360.17

P
age 361



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 10

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 228 - LLANEDI A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 146 862 609 332 266 167 115 12 3 2512
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 101 417 235 96 65 30 15 3 3 965
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.0 4.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 6
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 120.75 758.75 554.25 309 249.75 159.5 111.25 11.25 2.25 2276.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 80.5 590.14 492.67 309 305.25 230.39 185.42 22.5 5.25 2221.12
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  2165.59

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 2165.59

    Ref. 229 - LLANGENNECH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 111 583 609 399 329 124 44 12 1 2212
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 73 290 239 150 68 26 4 6 0 856
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.0 3.0 3.0 2.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 8
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 92.75 510.5 552.25 364.5 314 117.5 43 10.5 1 2006
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 61.83 397.06 490.89 364.5 383.78 169.72 71.67 21 2.33 1962.78
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1913.71

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1913.71

    Ref. 230 - LLANNON A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 208 836 469 356 272 112 32 6 0 2291
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 161 332 189 107 65 20 6 5 0 885
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 3.0 4.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 7
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 167.75 756 425.75 329.25 255.75 107 30.5 4.75 0 2076.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 111.83 588 378.44 329.25 312.58 154.56 50.83 9.5 0 1934.99
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1886.62

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1886.62

P
age 362



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 11

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 231 - PONTYBEREM A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 1 166 442 245 189 131 52 8 1 0 1235
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 103 184 83 61 42 10 2 0 0 485
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 0.00 1.0 2.0 1.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 1 140.25 396 225.25 175.75 121.5 49.5 7.5 1 0 1117.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.56 93.5 308 200.22 175.75 148.5 71.5 12.5 2 0 1012.53
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  987.22

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 987.22

    Ref. 232 - TRIMSARAN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 2 343 340 147 141 89 51 8 0 0 1121
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 1 161 139 66 54 18 9 3 0 0 451
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.0 0.0 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 1.75 302.75 305.25 132.5 129.5 84.5 48.75 7.25 0 0 1012.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.97 201.83 237.42 117.78 129.5 103.28 70.42 12.08 0 0 873.28
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  851.45

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 851.45

    Ref. 233 - ABERGWILI A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 16 66 114 138 148 162 55 3 0 702
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 16 44 44 60 56 32 15 1 0 268
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 12 55 103 123 135 154 51.25 2.75 0 636
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 8 42.78 91.56 123 165 222.44 85.42 5.5 0 743.7
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  725.11

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 725.11

P
age 363



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 12

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 234 - ABERNANT A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 4 7 14 45 42 14 2 1 0 129
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 4 6 5 20 13 5 0 0 0 53
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3 6.5 13.75 40 38.75 12.75 2 1 0 117.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2 5.06 12.22 40 47.36 18.42 3.33 2 0 130.39
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  127.13

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 127.13

    Ref. 235 - BRONWYDD A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 1 6 11 32 55 89 37 20 4 1 256
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 1 5 8 17 18 24 3 7 0 0 83
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.0 0.0 0.0 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0.75 4.75 9 27.75 51.5 83 36.25 18.25 4 1 236.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.42 3.17 7 24.67 51.5 101.44 52.36 30.42 8 2.33 281.31
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  274.28

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 274.28

    Ref. 236 - CILYMAENLLWYD A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 14 18 31 80 136 46 2 1 0 328
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 8 11 12 33 46 9 1 0 0 120
      J Adjustments for year 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0 0.0 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 12 15.25 28 71.75 124.5 43.75 1.75 1 0 298
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 8 11.86 24.89 71.75 152.17 63.19 2.92 2 0 336.78
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  328.36

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 328.36

P
age 364



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 13

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 238 - CYNWYL ELFED A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 16 31 60 99 176 47 17 0 0 446
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 10 16 25 28 43 9 2 0 0 133
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 13.5 27 54.75 92 165.25 44.75 16.5 0 0 413.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 9 21 48.67 92 201.97 64.64 27.5 0 0 464.78
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  453.16

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 453.16

    Ref. 239 - EGLWYSCUMMIN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 17 12 18 48 57 30 5 0 1 188
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 16 9 8 21 19 6 1 0 0 80
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 13 9.75 16 42.75 52.25 28.5 4.75 0 1 168
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 8.67 7.58 14.22 42.75 63.86 41.17 7.92 0 2.33 188.5
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  183.79

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 183.79

    Ref. 240 - GORSLAS A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 42 449 544 417 331 175 74 6 1 2039
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 32 233 217 157 85 33 10 4 0 771
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 2.00 12.00 18.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 33
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 34 392.75 501.75 395.75 310.75 166.75 71.5 5 1 1879.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 22.67 305.47 446 395.75 379.81 240.86 119.17 10 2.33 1922.06
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1874.01

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1874.01

P
age 365



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 14

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 241 - HENLLANFALLTEG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 2 6 23 36 70 39 16 2 0 194
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 0 4 5 16 13 11 5 0 0 54
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 2 5 21.75 34 66.75 36.25 14.75 2 0 182.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 1.33 3.89 19.33 34 81.58 52.36 24.58 4 0 221.07
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  215.54

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 215.54

    Ref. 242 - LAUGHARNE A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 27 60 147 130 95 70 43 7 0 579
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 15 41 70 54 36 21 8 3 0 248
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 23.25 49.75 129.5 118.5 86 64.75 41 6.25 0 519
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 15.5 38.69 115.11 118.5 105.11 93.53 68.33 12.5 0 567.27
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  553.09

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 553.09

    Ref. 243 - LLANARTHNEY A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 5 16 31 64 93 83 43 4 2 341
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 4 12 12 23 38 15 7 2 0 113
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 4 13 28 58.25 84.5 79.25 41.25 3.5 2 313.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.67 10.11 24.89 58.25 103.28 114.47 68.75 7 4.67 394.09
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  384.24

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 384.24

P
age 366



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 15

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 244 - LLANBOIDY A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 25 28 48 111 154 48 10 5 0 429
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 15 22 23 43 40 12 5 1 0 161
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 21.25 22.5 42.25 101.25 144 45 8.75 4.75 0 389.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 14.17 17.5 37.56 101.25 176 65 14.58 9.5 0 435.56
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  424.67

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 424.67

    Ref. 245 - LLANDDAROG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 15 46 124 80 149 74 47 1 0 536
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 6 33 46 30 48 13 6 1 0 183
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 13.5 37.75 112.5 74.5 137 70.75 45.5 0.75 0 492.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 9 29.36 100 74.5 167.44 102.19 75.83 1.5 0 559.82
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  545.82

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 545.82

    Ref. 246 - LLANDDOWROR A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 16 81 107 58 79 24 9 1 0 375
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 17 30 34 28 19 6 2 0 0 136
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 11.75 73.5 99.5 52 74.25 22.5 8.5 1 0 343
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 7.83 57.17 88.44 52 90.75 32.5 14.17 2 0 344.86
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  336.24

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 336.24

P
age 367



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 16

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 247 - LLANDYFAELOG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 18 33 50 140 190 87 40 6 2 566
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 9 15 20 48 58 20 7 0 0 177
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 15.75 29.25 47 130 175.5 82 38.25 6 2 525.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 10.5 22.75 41.78 130 214.5 118.44 63.75 12 4.67 618.39
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  602.93

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 602.93

    Ref. 248 - LLANGAIN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 5 20 27 29 117 50 9 4 1 262
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 3 14 8 12 43 7 2 0 0 89
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 4.25 16.5 25 27 106.25 48.25 8.5 4 1 240.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.83 12.83 22.22 27 129.86 69.69 14.17 8 2.33 288.93
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  281.71

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 281.71

    Ref. 249 - LLANGYNDEYRN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 210 329 294 303 344 73 25 2 0 1580
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 102 140 131 113 84 10 3 0 0 583
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 7.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 184.5 295 262.25 281.75 325 70.5 24.25 2 0 1445.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 123 229.44 233.11 281.75 397.22 101.83 40.42 4 0 1410.77
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1375.50

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1375.5

P
age 368



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 17

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 250 - LLANGUNNOR A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 1 54 257 104 221 373 127 47 7 0 1191
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 47 143 35 92 108 28 6 2 0 461
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 1 42.25 221.25 95.25 201 346 120 45.5 6.5 0 1078.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.56 28.17 172.08 84.67 201 422.89 173.33 75.83 13 0 1171.53
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1142.24

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1142.24

    Ref. 251 - LLANGYNIN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 3 7 5 26 59 15 6 0 0 121
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 3 4 1 8 13 5 0 0 0 34
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 2.25 6 4.75 25 56.75 13.75 6 0 0 114.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 1.5 4.67 4.22 25 69.36 19.86 10 0 0 134.61
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  131.24

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 131.24

    Ref. 252 - LLANGYNOG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 3 14 14 38 84 48 6 1 0 208
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 1 8 6 18 16 3 3 0 0 55
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 2.75 12 12.5 33.5 80 47.25 5.25 1 0 194.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 1.83 9.33 11.11 33.5 97.78 68.25 8.75 2 0 232.55
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  226.74

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 226.74

P
age 369



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 18

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 253 - LLANLLAWDDOG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 5 20 14 65 118 58 15 2 1 298
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 8 16 7 23 28 10 2 1 0 95
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3 16 12.25 59.25 112 55.5 14.5 1.75 1 275.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2 12.44 10.89 59.25 136.89 80.17 24.17 3.5 2.33 331.64
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  323.35

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 323.35

    Ref. 254 - LLANPUMSAINT A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 3 18 36 65 114 53 13 2 0 304
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 0 14 16 24 31 11 1 1 0 98
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3 14.5 33 60 106.25 50.25 12.75 1.75 0 281.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2 11.28 29.33 60 129.86 72.58 21.25 3.5 0 329.80
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  321.56

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 321.56

    Ref. 255 - LLANSTEFFAN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 118 48 78 81 122 98 36 3 2 586
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 15 32 38 40 42 36 4 0 0 207
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 114.25 40 69.5 71 111.5 89 35 3 2 535.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 76.17 31.11 61.78 71 136.28 128.56 58.33 6 4.67 573.9
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  559.55

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 559.55

P
age 370



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 19

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 256 - LLANWINIO A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 8 3 27 61 75 19 3 0 0 196
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 4 1 15 25 12 1 0 0 0 58
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 7 2.75 23.25 54.75 72 18.75 3 0 0 181.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 4.67 2.14 20.67 54.75 88 27.08 5 0 0 202.31
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  197.25

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 197.25

    Ref. 257 - MEIDRIM A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 24 11 43 58 84 33 11 0 0 264
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 17 6 17 22 25 6 1 0 0 94
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 19.75 9.5 38.75 53.5 77.75 31.5 10.75 0 0 241.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 13.17 7.39 34.44 53.5 95.03 45.5 17.92 0 0 266.95
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  260.28

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 260.28

    Ref. 258 - NEWCHURCH & MERTHYR A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 7 36 31 56 101 44 20 2 0 297
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 6 20 15 15 27 13 7 0 0 103
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 5.5 31 28.25 53.25 94.25 40.75 18.25 2 0 273.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 3.67 24.11 25.11 53.25 115.19 58.86 30.42 4 0 314.61
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  306.74

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 306.74

P
age 371



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 20

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 259 - PENDINE A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 21 16 23 28 30 31 12 0 0 161
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 11 5 9 18 9 11 2 0 0 65
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 18.25 14.75 20.75 24.5 28.75 28.25 11.5 0 0 146.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 12.17 11.47 18.44 24.5 35.14 40.81 19.17 0 0 161.7
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  157.66

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 157.66

    Ref. 260 - ST. CLEARS A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 65 170 389 249 282 189 34 2 0 1380
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 49 91 148 88 72 50 6 2 0 506
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 11.00 4.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 52.75 148.25 363 231 264 176.5 32.5 1.5 0 1269.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 35.17 115.31 322.67 231 322.67 254.94 54.17 3 0 1338.93
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1305.46

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1305.46

    Ref. 261 - ST. ISHMAEL A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 204 109 144 181 120 63 33 7 0 861
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 45 62 68 65 44 13 7 1 0 305
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 3.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 192.75 93.5 128 167.75 109 60.75 31.25 6.75 0 789.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 128.5 72.72 113.78 167.75 133.22 87.75 52.08 13.5 0 769.30
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  750.07

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 750.07

P
age 372



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 21

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 262 - TRELECH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 4 7 35 92 113 48 8 0 0 307
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 2 6 13 28 33 6 2 0 0 90
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 3.5 5.5 33.75 85 104.75 46.5 7.5 0 0 286.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.33 4.28 30 85 128.03 67.17 12.5 0 0 329.31
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  321.08

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 321.08

    Ref. 263 - WHITLAND A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 2 123 122 282 158 112 30 13 0 0 842
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 1 91 60 123 46 28 3 4 0 0 356
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 1.75 100.25 107 251.25 148.5 105 29.25 12 0 0 755
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.97 66.83 83.22 223.33 148.5 128.33 42.25 20 0 0 713.43
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  695.59

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 695.59

    Ref. 264 - CENARTH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 82 29 54 102 160 94 17 2 0 540
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 19 19 22 37 54 23 2 0 0 176
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 77.25 24.25 49.5 92.75 146.5 88.25 16.5 2 0 497
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 51.5 18.86 44 92.75 179.06 127.47 27.5 4 0 545.14
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  531.51

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 531.51

P
age 373



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 22

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 265 - LLANFIHANGEL AR ARTH A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 40 185 171 193 242 106 23 1 0 961
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 26 98 70 80 76 29 8 0 0 387
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 33.5 160.5 153.5 174 223 98.75 21 1 0 865.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 22.33 124.83 136.44 174 272.56 142.64 35 2 0 909.8
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  887.06

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 887.06

    Ref. 266 - LLANFIHANGEL RHOS Y CORN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 18 30 56 54 48 22 7 0 0 235
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 11 19 20 20 15 2 0 0 0 87
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 15.25 25.25 51 49 44.25 21.5 7 0 0 213.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 10.17 19.64 45.33 49 54.08 31.06 11.67 0 0 220.95
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  215.43

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 215.43

    Ref. 267 - LLANGELER A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 49 188 421 253 462 156 26 4 1 1560
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 36 132 153 87 137 37 4 1 0 587
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 40 156 383.75 233.25 427.75 146.75 25 3.75 1 1417.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 26.67 121.33 341.11 233.25 522.81 211.97 41.67 7.5 2.33 1508.64
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  1470.92

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 1470.92

P
age 374



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 23

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 268 - LLANLLWNI A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 9 22 38 64 131 26 18 0 1 309
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 7 13 20 28 30 5 2 0 0 105
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 7.25 18.75 33 57 124.5 24.75 17.5 0 1 283.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 4.83 14.58 29.33 57 152.17 35.75 29.17 0 2.33 325.16
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  317.03

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 317.03

    Ref. 269 - LLANYBYDDER A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 1 94 156 143 172 112 26 8 1 0 713
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 77 79 63 60 43 6 3 2 0 333
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 1 74.75 136.25 127.25 158 101.25 24.5 7.25 0.5 0 630.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0.56 49.83 105.97 113.11 158 123.75 35.39 12.08 1 0 599.69
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  584.70

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 584.7

    Ref. 270 - LLANYCRWYS A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 6 7 23 44 20 10 1 0 0 111
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 8 3 10 23 7 2 0 0 0 53
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 4 6.25 20.5 40.25 18.25 9.5 1 0 0 99.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 2.67 4.86 18.22 40.25 22.31 13.72 1.67 0 0 103.7
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  101.11

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 101.11

P
age 375



Tax Base Working Copy & new bld

Page 24

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION APPENDIX         A

    Ref. 271 - PENCARREG A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 16 28 119 120 146 86 18 1 0 534
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 10 24 62 50 58 15 6 0 0 225
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 3
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 13.5 22 103.5 109.5 131.5 82.25 17.5 1 0 480.75
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 9 17.11 92 109.5 160.72 118.81 29.17 2 0 538.31
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  524.85

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 524.85

    Ref. 272 - NEWCASTLE EMLYN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 73 97 150 51 101 41 14 3 0 530
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 51 65 86 25 37 9 2 4 0 279
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 60.25 80.75 128.5 46.75 91.75 38.75 13.5 2 0 462.25
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 40.17 62.81 114.22 46.75 112.14 55.97 22.5 4 0 458.56
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  447.10

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 447.1

    Ref. 273 - CARMARTHEN A-        A        B        C        D        E        F        G        H I    TOTAL
      H Chargeable Dwellings 0 839 1817 1228 1221 844 430 128 9 0 6516
       I No. of Discounts at 25% 0 706 992 650 501 275 107 25 6 0 3262
      J Adjustments for year 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 8.00 2.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 13
H-(I*E)+J Total Discounted Dwellings 0 662.5 1569 1066.5 1103.75 777.25 405.25 121.75 7.5 0 5713.5
    F/G Ratio to Band D  5/9      6/9      7/9       8/9 1     11/9     13/9     15/9      18/9      21/9
     A Band D Equivalent 0 441.67 1220.33 948 1103.75 949.97 585.36 202.92 15 0 5467
A x 97.5% TAX BASE AT 97.5% COLLECTION RATE  5330.33

Adjustment for Class O Dwellings
TAX BASE 2017-18 5330.33

P
age 376



EXECUTIVE BOARD
22nd December 2016

Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016-2019

The Council’s Corporate AMP is due for review this year. The attached plan highlights the 
proposed property strategy and requirements for the next 3 years.

Recommendations / key decisions required:

To approve the Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016 - 2019

Reasons: 

 To ensure that the Council’s property aims align with the relevant strategies and the 
Wellbeing and Future Generations Act as it evolves.

 Demonstrates best practice in property management

 Relates to actions highlighted in the Corporate Assessment Report.

Exec Board Decision Required YES

Council Decision Required NO

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr David Jenkins, EBM Resources

Directorate Environment

Name of Head of Service: 
Jonathan Fearn

Report Author: Stephen Morgan

Designations: 

Head of Property

Strategic Asset Manager

Tel Nos. / E Mail Addresses: 

01267 246244 
jfearn@sirgar.gov.uk

01267 246247 
smmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk

Page 377

Agenda Item 11



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
EXECUTIVE BOARD
22nd December 2016

Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016-2019

The Council undertakes a comprehensive review of its Corporate Asset Management Plan 
(AMP) every 3 years, setting out its priorities in property terms to meet the aims highlighted in 
the Corporate and Integrated Community Strategies.

In addition, the AMP captures the property implications of issues experienced by services, 
brought about by changes in local and national agendas. These service property 
requirements are referred to in Service Asset Management Plans (SAMPs) evidenced by 
assessments of the relevant portfolio’s suitability to meet such changes.

The AMP reviews the high-level performance of the corporate portfolio and highlights key 
challenges and priorities moving forward over the next 3-year cycle.

One of the outcomes of the recent Corporate Assessment was the requirement to strengthen 
links between SAMPs and the AMP, in addition to reviewing information on backlog 
maintenance to better inform decision making. These items, along with the challenges below, 
have been highlighted as the key priorities for property related matters over the next 3 years –

 Investment in strategic sites to promote economic growth

 Sustaining Community Assets

 Ensuring suitability of the retained estate

 Exploring alternative ways of holding assets for service delivery

 Greater collaboration with partners on property related matters

 Generating Capital Receipts

 Reducing Revenue Costs

Recommendations 

To approve the revised Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016 - 2019

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Page 378



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed:     Jonathan Fearn                                                                   Head of Property                    

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES YES YES YES YES  NONE YES 

Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
Meets Welsh Government good practice and the Council’s policy of making better use of 
resources.

Legal  
Highlights requirement to review alternative ways of holding assets and the focus on sustaining 
community assets with greater emphasis on asset transfers.

Finance  
Highlights an intention to continue to reduce the present estate; to reduce revenue expenditure 
and invest in retained core premises; together with generating capital receipts.

ICT
Rationalisation will in some cases produce revised requirements for ICT services and linkages 
between strategic sites

Risk Management Issues
Directing resources strategically in relation to meeting Corporate objectives for property assets 
complies with Wales Audit Office best practice and will lead to more effective resource 
allocation.

Physical Assets  
The implications are set out in the attached reports.

Page 379



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:  Jonathan Fearn                                                         Head of Property                                               

1. Scrutiny Committee
The Policy & Resources Committee was consulted on 30th November and unanimously resolved 
that the Plan be endorsed 
2. Local Member(s)  
Not applicable.  Local Members are consulted prior to any disposal of property.
3.Community / Town Council 
Consulted on Community Assets in relation to parks, playgrounds and amenity areas in 
connection with Community Asset Transfer
4.Relevant Partners  
The Corporate Asset Management Plan is shared with other public sector partners to promote 
and identify opportunities for collaboration.
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
Not applicable

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THERE ARE NONE  

 

Page 380



www.sirgar.llyw.cymru

www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Corporate Asset 
Management Plan 2016-2019
Summary

Page 381



Physical infrastructure plays an important part in the services we provide.
It shapes our communities, and the assets we own and use contribute to
our aims of generating economic growth within Carmarthenshire and the
wider region with our partners.
We need to continually examine what assets we hold and utilise as a Council so
that we’re confident that we’re making the best use of each one. In doing so we
can ensure our assets contribute to our role of serving  and supporting the needs
of the County.
The Council has a large and varied portfolio of properties. With the right
investment and strategic management, it can be used to deliver and promote
the highest standards of education, leisure, care and other facilities. Our
substantial land holdings can facilitate physical regeneration projects, acting as
a stimulus for further investment and growth, bringing prosperity to our County.
Our assets will be integral to meeting the goals identified under the Well Being
of Future Generations Act.
The Corporate Asset Management Plan is subject to continuous review to keep
pace with the ever changing climate in Local Government.

www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Page 382



Investment in strategic sites to
promote economic growth.
We will continue with substantial infrastructure
and premises related investment. Linking with
the key aims of the Swansea Bay City region,
we will focus on the County’s strategic
regeneration sites such as the Cross Hands
growth zone, its primary towns of Ammanford,
Carmarthen and Llanelli, the rural economy and
coastal belt.

Exploring alternative ways of holding property assets for service delivery 
We are currently reviewing the potential for selected assets and portfolios to be held and
managed via alternative delivery models and trading companies

Greater collaborative working on
property related matters 
We will continue to work with Public Service
Board and other partners to highlight areas
for joint working and procurement on
estates, construction and maintenance
matters. 

Sustaining Community
Assets 
We will continue to progress
Community Asset Transfers, with
particular emphasis on parks,
playgrounds and amenity assets
to maximise benefits of local
management. 

Our Key Priorities over the period of this plan are –

www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Page 383



Ensuring our retained assets are
fit for purpose 
We will continue to review portfolios and
requirements to assess suitability and
dispose of underperforming assets to allow
investment in core and new stock. 

Generating Capital Receipts 
We will continue with our rolling 5 year disposal programme, highlighting additional sales
via rationalisation to maintain the contribution towards improving other facilities. The last
two financial years saw sales generating a receipt of approximately £8 million.

Reducing Corporate Revenue costs 
We have reduced the Administrative Estate over
the last five years. We will continue to review
our portfolios with the emphasis on sharing
accommodation, making the best use of
spare desks and flexible working.
Greater use of agile working in our offices will
reduce space requirements and allow savings
through releasing office space for sale or letting.

Our Key Priorities over the period of this plan are –

www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales

Page 384



Carmarthenshire County Council
Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016-2019

Property Division

Page 385



2

CONTENTS

FOREWORD

1. INTRODUCTION

2. CORPORATE AND INTEGRATED COMMUNITY STRATEGIES

3. CORPORATE PROPERTY AIMS

4. CHALLENGES & KEY PRIORITIES

5. SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

6. SUMMARY OF EXISTING PORTFOLIO AND CURRENT PERFORMANCE

7. ACTION PLAN

APPENDICES

A. PERFORMANCE / BENCHMARKING DATA

B. CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN

Page 386



3

FOREWORD BY COUNCILLOR DAVID JENKINS, EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER FOR 
RESOURCES

We are facing a tough and complex set of pressures, with cuts in funding, rising demands 
for services and economic growth challenges.

Integral to dealing with these pressures and challenges is the way we currently use and plan 
to manage our diverse range of property assets.

A substantial amount of development has taken place in various areas around the County in 
recent years. We are committed to continue with this investment, with significant capital 
allocated to schemes to improve educational, social and retail facilities along with generating 
economic growth.

The introduction of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, enacted in April 2015, 
will lead to significant changes to partnership working with the newly formed statutory body, 
known as the Public Services Board (PSB).  The PSB has new responsibilities to help improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. It will make the public 
bodies listed in the Act (including Carmarthenshire County Council) think more about the 
long-term, work better with people and communities and each other, look to prevent 
problems and take a more joined-up approach. 

Exploring the potential to share services, enter into partnering arrangements with the third 
sector and transfers of management will continue to be essential in dealing with the ever 
changing landscape of local government. Innovative ways of delivering strategic functions 
for local communities will demand a similar approach in the way we view our assets.

Whatever service we deliver, property assets invariably play a significant role in that 
provision. This plan reflects the changes we face and how our plans to deliver services over 
the coming years will affect our assets, both the way they are used and managed.

Page 387



4

1. INTRODUCTION

The Corporate Asset Management Plan sets out the Council’s strategy for its property 
assets over the next 3 years. It builds upon previous work to ensure that, what we 
have identified as our main property related aims, align with the Corporate and 
Integrated Community Strategies.  We will ensure that all of the seven Well-being 
Goals are fully integrated into the work that we do.  This includes:

 A prosperous Wales
 A Resilient Wales
 A Healthier Wales 
 A more equal Wales 
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A wales of vibrant culture and thriving welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales 

Applying sustainable development actions to improve the way that we can achieve 
our economic, social, environment and cultural well-being. 
 
We will ensure that when making any decisions we take into account the impact 
these decisions or actions could have on people living their lives in the county and on 
their future. We will consider the following to ensure that we apply the sustainable 
development principles: 

 Long term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs.

 Prevention - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may 
help public bodies meet their objectives.

 Integration - Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies.

 Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts 
of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being objectives.

 Involvement -The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving 
the well-being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of 
the area which the body serves.

Previous plans have made detailed references to the corporate planning framework, 
Government Policy & Statutory responsibilities, together with Capital and Revenue 
budgets. Information on these matters is already reported through various business 
plans by the relevant services.

This plan has therefore been reduced in its scope to focus upon highlighting the 
priorities for the Council from a property perspective.

Page 388



5

2. CORPORATE STRATEGY 2015-2020 / INTEGRATED COMMUNITY STRATEGY 
(ICS) 2011-16

The Corporate Strategy sets out our priorities and aspirations which reflects the ICS 
that is monitored and progress reported on delivery of the vision and outcomes by 
the Public Services Board. These are outlined below together with the implications for 
property assets.

Priority Asset Implications

Making Better Use of Resources  Rationalising Offices 
 Sharing Accommodation
 Transfers of Assets
 Agile working
 Disposals

Building a Better Council  Sharing Accommodation
 Agile Working

People in Carmarthenshire are 
healthier

 Investment in Strategic Leisure Sites
 Transfers to Trusts / Community to safeguard & 

improve facilities
 Greater community use of current portfolio e.g. 

educational assets

People in Carmarthenshire fulfil 
their learning potential

 Continued review of primary and secondary education 
with delivery of approved Modernising Education 
Provision (MEP) projects

 Transfers to community to safeguard facilities e.g. 
libraries

 Alternative ways of provision – sharing accommodation

People who live, work and visit 
Carmarthenshire are safe and feel 
safer

 Investment in townscape.
 Investment in regeneration & working with other 

agencies to improve contaminated / derelict land

Carmarthenshire's communities and 
environment are sustainable

 Investment in coastal areas to prevent erosion
 Reducing energy consumption of our buildings
 Ensuring high environmental standards in new buildings
 Ensuring the habitat potential of land within Council 

ownership is maintained and enhanced
 Transfer assets to community to ensure sustainability for 

future generations. 

Carmarthenshire has a stronger and 
more prosperous economy

 Implementation of strategic schemes within 
Carmarthenshire to aid and implement regeneration.

 Maintain availability of industrial, retail and smallholding 
property for start-up businesses

 To generate further capital receipts to aid funding for 
strategic schemes.

Page 389



6

3. PROPERTY AIMS

Our corporate Property objectives are:
 

 to provide and support investment in infrastructure and premises to meet the aim of 
promoting regeneration and economic growth in strategic locations.

 to ensure that the authority’s asset portfolio supports the delivery of its services and 
objectives, with specific reference to suitability, sufficiency and condition

 to ensure that all assets deliver value for money

 to ensure that all assets are managed in the most economic, efficient and effective 
manner.

 to actively pursue a programme of disposal in relation to underperforming or surplus 
properties

These complement the commitments identified within the Corporate Plan under the 
objective of ‘Making Better Use of Resources’, and provide a framework for the more 
specific objectives set out within the Property Division’s business plan. The 
performance indicator data in relation to these objectives is contained in Appendix A.

4.    CHALLENGES / KEY PRIOIRITIES 2016 -2019

 Investment in strategic sites to promote economic growth.
We will continue with substantial infrastructure and premises related investment and 
associated property work. Linking with the key aims of the Swansea Bay City region 
and the Council’s Strategic Regeneration Plan, we will focus on the County’s strategic 
regeneration sites such as the Cross hands growth zone, its primary towns of 
Ammanford, Carmarthen and Llanelli, the rural economy and coastal belt.

 Sustaining Community Assets
We will continue to progress Community Asset Transfers to maximise the benefits 
from local management of facilities.  There will be a particular emphasis on parks, 
playgrounds and amenity assets where a deadline for transfer has been set as March 
2018. Discussions continue with Town and Community Councils and Sporting 
Organisations, with legal instructions issued on over 51 assets.
Assets that have not been the subject of interest for transfer will form part of 
consultations by the service provider in relation their future provision.

Page 390



7

 Explore alternative ways of holding and managing property assets for 
service delivery
We are currently reviewing the potential for selected leisure assets and adult social 
care to be held and managed via alternative delivery models and trading companies. 
The current focus, however, will be to ensure the management of these services is 
effective and efficient under current management arrangements.

 Greater collaborative working on property related matters
Continue work with Public Service Board and other partners to highlight areas for 
joint working and procurement on estates, construction and maintenance matters. 

 Ensuring suitability and sufficiency of retained assets
We will continue to review portfolios and requirements to assess fitness for purpose 
and disposal of underperforming assets to allow investment in core / new stock. The 
relocation of staff from 1 West End to Ty Elwyn allowed us to dispose of a poorly 
performing asset in terms of its condition and use.

 Generating Capital Receipts
We will continue with our 5 year disposal programme, highlighting additional sales via 
rationalisation to maintain contribution towards the Capital programme. Receipts for 
the last two years have amounted to around £8m, with further major disposals 
planned. Details of performance against disposal targets are contained in Appendix A.

 Reducing Corporate Revenue costs
We will continue to review portfolios with emphasis of rationalisation, sharing 
accommodation, agile working and increasing potential for revenue generation. 
Relocations of Staff from Ty’r Nant, Coleshill and Crown Precinct in Llanelli are 
planned during 2016, allowing for the disposal of these assets. Greater agile working 
in the administrative estate to increase space usage will allow further savings.
The transfer of the library in Llandeilo to the Municipal Offices and proposals to 
relocate the Customer Service Centre and other functions to Carmarthen library are 
two examples of making better use of existing resources, facilitating disposals and 
revenue savings.

 Corporate Assessment Report – Proposal for improvement in relation 
to assets
In line with the Assessment outcomes we are looking to strengthen Service Asset 
Management Plans and improve links between these plans and the Corporate AMP 
and obtain greater information on backlog maintenance to inform decision making. In 
addition, progress against the action plan contained in the next section will the 
subject of regular reporting to members.

Page 391



8

5. SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Section 2 highlighted the implications from our strategic aims. This section sets out 
the individual needs of our various services. All of Council’s services have recently 
reviewed their Service Asset Management plans in order to facilitate the review of 
this Corporate AMP.

The main anticipated future property implications are summarised below

Directorate /
Property Category

Core Drivers for Change Property Implications

Chief Executive
Regeneration     

Portfolio
A Strategic Regeneration Plan for 

Carmarthenshire 2015 -2030 - 
Transformations

Health & Safety, duty of care issues 
with, for example, former mines, 

quarries etc

Investment in infrastructure, Site 
development & premises to  

encourage and support business 
growth / economy

Requirement to review and monitor 
risk and bring forward strategy to 

reduce liabilities

Customer Service 
Centres

Alternative provision
Channel shift

Reconfigure layouts, share 
alternative accommodation.

Registrars Stock and security audit

Office Accommodation Strategy

Potential adaptations to premises

Relocation of Llanelli Registrars to 
suitable alternative accommodation

Provision Markets Challenging financial climate and 
impact on retail sector

Competition from other retail 
Centres

Continued investment / 
enhancement to ensure assets 

promote town centre vitality e.g. 
Llanelli Market

Commercial 
Property

Challenging financial climate and 
impact on retail sector

Utilisation of assets to promote  
town centre regeneration

Education & Children

Community 
Education Centres / 

Learning

Integration with other Services

Drive to enhance partnership 
working and widen participation 

through the Carmarthenshire 
Learning Network

Reducing WG budget and non-
statutory nature of service

Integrated community learning 
provision, especially in association 

with schools.

Rationalisation of current assets and 
potential sales or transfers to 

community groups.

Children’s Services Efficiency savings and Capital 
Receipt requirements

Relocations / alternative 
accommodation

Page 392



9

Directorate /
Property Category

Core Drivers for Change Property Implications

Youth Support 
Services

Delivering access to opportunities & 
support for young people across the 

County

Rationalisation to provide efficiency 
savings e.g. Disposal of Quayside 
Centre with investment in retained 
premises. Continue to work with 

partner organisations in integrating 
youth provision within multi use 

premises

Schools
- primary

- secondary
- nursery
- special

National 21st Century Schools 
Programme and Transformation 
Policy as part of the 'One Wales’ 
agenda commitment to deliver 
schools fit for the 21st century

Changing demography of 
Carmarthenshire resulting in falling 
primary school roles, and changing 

patterns of demand

Education Act 1996 – provision of 
school places

Corporate objectives to support the 
development of coherent early 
years education and childcare 

programmes

Requirement to improve the overall 
stock of buildings, ensuring that 
ongoing repairs and maintenance 

costs are minimised

Need to reduce surplus places in 
secondary and primary sector, 

whilst addressing accommodation 
pressures where they exist

School rationalisation programme to 
free capital and release revenue

Property review and options 
appraisal to identify refurbishment, 

expansion, amalgamation, new 
build community schools and school 

closure programmes

Schools
- primary

- secondary
- nursery
- special

School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 – efficient and effective 

use of scarce resources

Drivers encapsulated in Modernising 
Education Programme Strategy and 
policy for development of schools as 

community assets

Food Safety Standards

Provision of accommodation in the 
right location, of the right size and 
offering the right number of school 
places with the appropriate facilities 

to foster improved educational 
standards

Review design of existing schools to 
allow greater use by community and 

partner organisations

Investment required in school 
kitchens to meet current standards

Environment

Administrative 
Buildings

Office accommodation strategy

Agile working

Inter-agency working (e.g. Social 
Care & Health)

Changes in service delivery

Rationalise, undertake 
improvements to core stock, and 

reduced running costs

Enhance utilisation of existing office 
accommodation

Address additional accommodation 
required in some areas.

Page 393



10

Directorate /
Property Category

Core Drivers for Change Property Implications

Industrial Property Promoting and facilitating expansion 
of business opportunities.

Condition / Age of present stock

Investment in infrastructure and 
new developments e.g. Cross Hands

Refurbishment of portfolio e.g. 
Glanamman units.

Depots Opportunity to further rationalise 
depot provision and centralise in 

strategic areas

Further disposals and potential new 
build.

Parks Playgrounds 
and amenity areas

Reducing Subsidies Increased Charges
Asset Transfers

County Farms
Generating greater income in 

challenging financial climate and 
reducing number of agricultural 

units.

Retention & rationalisation of the 
estate in line with policy including 

restructuring of holdings when 
opportunities arise to generate capital 

receipts.

Implementation of County Farm 
Refurbishment Programme to improve 
the overall stock of buildings & bring 

them up to required standards.

Livestock Markets Reconfiguration of Landlord & 
Tenant relationship

Efficiencies in relation to outgoings for 
repairs and maintenance. Longer term 

implication on revenue generation.

Communities

Day Centres for 
older people

Carmarthenshire’s Vision for 
Sustainable Services for Older 
People for the Next Decade

2015-2025

Changing demography of County – 
ageing population, and people living 
longer. The day care improvement 

project

Social Services and Well Being 
(Wales) Act 2014

Joint partnership arrangements with 
health providers / Voluntary Sector

To incorporate provision within extra 
care scheme developments where 

appropriate

Provision of appropriate & suitable 
premises for day services for eligible 

clients throughout the county

Under the new criteria, people will 
be eligible for care & support and 
the property implications arising if 
their needs ‘can & can only’ be met 

by social services intervention.

Where possible & appropriate, 
provision to be in partnership with 

the 3rd sector & community 
organisations

Page 394



11

Directorate /
Property Category

Core Drivers for Change Property Implications

Day Centres for 
People with 

Learning Disabilities

National Care Standards

Joint commissioning strategy

Future requirements will be met 
around small strategically placed 

existing community based facilities, 
involving refurbishments & 

relocations

Care Homes for the 
Elderly

Carmarthenshire’s Vision for 
Sustainable Services for Older 
People for the Next Decade

2015-2025

Social Services and Well Being 
(Wales) Act 2014

Care Standards Act 2000

Ongoing development plan has 
brought about rationalisation, new 

build & extensions.

Further Development of extra care 
facilities and specialised services 

managed via partnerships & 
adaptations planned in Ammanford 

and Llanelli.

Physical Disability 
Service

Changes in service delivery via 
COASTAL  development

Sustainability review of
Coleshill centre for economic 

inclusion

Leisure Facilities 
(Leisure Centres 
and Swimming 

Pools)

Corporate objective to improve 
leisure infrastructure, and 

accessibility – and links to health 
and well-being and crime 

prevention strategies

Provide improvements in service 
delivery through innovative 
partnership arrangements

Continued investment in strategic 
leisure facilities, especially within 

Llanelli.

Market test potential for CCC to 
enter into partnership with not for 
profit organisation / Trust  to run 

sports and leisure facilities

New Leisure and wellness facility 
planned for Llanelli. Need to 

consider options for disposal or 
alternative use of existing Llanelli 

Leisure Centre

Theatres and 
Galleries

Corporate objective to improve the 
arts and cultural infrastructure 

within the County, and its 
accessibility for all

Provide improvements in service 
delivery through innovative 
partnership arrangements

Development of and continued 
investment in arts and cultural 

facilities within strategic clusters.

Market test potential for CCC to 
enter into partnership with not for 
profit organisation to run theatre 

facilities

Archives National standards to protect and 
conserve important archive 

collections

Alternative accommodation required 
with adequate storage and public 

access, and with appropriate 
environmental controls. Options 
being drawn up for members

Page 395



12

Directorate /
Property Category

Core Drivers for Change Property Implications

Libraries Desire to meet National Public 
Library Standards. 3 year Plan

Aim to improve access and increase 
participation across the community

Demographic Change

Reconfiguration of mobile service.

Where possible consider co-location 
opportunities/asset transfer

Investment in strategic town 
libraries

Museums National Standards for museum 
provision

Growth in tourism and in user
Expectations

Growing collections

Capital investment falling behind 
expenditure in other attractions

Need for investment to improve 
standards of display and associated 
visitor facilities e.g. County Museum 
in Abergwili, potentially linking up 

with Tywi Cycleway project and Parc 
Howard review. Look at investment 

in conjunction with partner 
organizations e-g Tywi Gateway 
Project restoring the gardens at 

Carmarthen Museum

Requirement for additional storage 
facilities

6. THE EXISTING PORTFOLIO AND CURRENT PERFORMANCE

We have highlighted above the general asset implications from the Corporate 
Strategy together with the specific service property requirements. This section 
summarises our current portfolio and how well it meets current and future needs. A 
detailed analysis is contained in Appendix A.

WHAT DO WE OWN AND OCCUPY?

The Council owns a varied portfolio of land and property occupied by itself and its 
tenants.  The operational portfolio includes schools (primary, secondary, nursery, 
special schools), libraries, museums, galleries, community centres, leisure centres 
and swimming pools, parks and open spaces, residential homes, day and social 
activity centres, depots, car parks, public conveniences, Provision and livestock 
markets, farms, industrial units and administrative buildings. 

There are 252 stalls / shops in the Provisions Markets and some 412 industrial units. 
The non-operational (investment) portfolio comprises some 102 commercial 
properties, made up of a mixture of ground rents and primarily retail units together 
with land holdings awaiting development. In addition, the Authority manages over 
9,000 Council houses which are subject to a separate asset management plan.

A programme of reconciliation is constantly underway between the records held by 
individual service departments and the council’s asset register.  There is a five year 

Page 396



13

rolling programme of valuations with 20% of the portfolio valued each year.  The 
non-housing portfolio has an estimated value of £710 million for accounting purposes 
as at 30/03/16. It should be noted that due to the nature of our portfolio and 
accounting requirements the valuation in the accounts does not represent the market 
value.

Department Category No. in Portfolio

Chief Executives Commercial Properties 34
Markets 2

Community Services Care Homes 9
Day Centres 7
Galleries & Theatres 4
Leisure/Sports Centres 6
Libraries 13
Museums 4

Education & Children’s 
Services Community Centres 2

Primary Schools 104 (incl 11 Church schools)
School - Secondary 12

Environment Admin Building/Offices 19
Car Parks 62
Commercial Property 71
County Farms 26
Depots 6
Industrial Estates 19
Livestock Markets 3
Parks 49
Public Conveniences 14 (incl 9 Danfo)

*Some of the asset categories are split between departments in relation to 
operational and budgetary responsibility, however, the above table places the 
category under the principle provider. 

WHAT’S THE CONDITION OF OUR ASSETS?

In comparison with the outcome of previous assessments, the number of assets in 
the best categories (A & B) has increased. In addition, another positive outcome is 
that the number of properties in the C & D categories (poor and bad condition) has 
reduced. The property rationalisation and reinvestment programme will continue to 
drive further improvements required in this area.

Page 397



14

HOW MUCH DO WE NEED TO SPEND TO DEAL WITH BACKLOG 
MAINTENANCE?

The current capital maintenance programme shows a three year requirement of over 
£21 million. This estimate mainly covers essential issues known to service providers 
and property inspectors. The total scale of the backlog to bring about the required 
uplift in condition category is anticipated to be significantly higher. The maintenance 
budget in the 5 year Capital programme has been set at £3.25m pa for 3 yrs and 
£3m pa for the last 2 yrs.

The lack of condition information on certain assets is delaying some aims such as 
Community Asset Transfers. Potential transfers to Not for profit trusts may highlight 
similar difficulties and require detailed condition surveys to inform the arrangements. 

WHAT DOES THE ESTATE COST TO RUN?

The total cost for 2015/16 was £14,827,628 covering repairs & maintenance, energy, 
business & water rates, rents, cleaning and insurance costs. In comparison with the 
previous financial year there was a reduction of approximately £562,000. The 
majority of asset categories have seen reductions due to rationalization and changes 
in service provision.

HOW SUITABLE IS THE ESTATE TO THE USERS AND SERVICES?

In comparison with previous assessments, the outcome of recent suitability and 
sufficiency surveys has not highlighted significant changes in Services views. Over 90 
% of the portfolio is seen as either good or satisfactory in terms of suitability. In 
terms of space requirements (sufficiency) approximately 85% of the Council’s stock is 
seen as good or adequate. In light of the recent corporate assessment report, the 
focus over the next twelve months will be to challenge the underlying data, such as 
the 15 % of the estate that services have highlighted as poor or unsuitable in space 
terms in order to strengthen Service asset management plans, outcomes and 
linkages with the corporate plan.

HOW SUSTAINABLE IS THE ESTATE?

We have been implementing our Carbon Management Programme for a considerable 
number of years and have delivered savings in excess of 7000 tonnes of CO2. It is 
envisaged that the Council’s present and proposed investments in sustainability 
projects will over their lifetime (e.g. T 5 Lighting schemes – circa 20 years lifespan), 
see carbon and financial savings in excess of 34,000 tonnes of CO2 and nearly 
£6,000,000 respectively.

Carmarthenshire has the highest amount of Salix investments of all the Welsh 
Authorities. Salix is a not for profit social enterprise limited by guarantee that 
provides interest free loans to the public sector for investments in proven 
technologies that are cost effective in reducing CO2

Page 398



15

Carmarthenshire heads the league of SALIX investors in Wales – currently £1.9 
Million invested in 192 projects. 80 of those projects have upgraded lighting across 
the majority of the estate, thereby improving the standard of lighting in those 
buildings and reducing the use of expensive carbon heavy electricity. Another 
successful outcome is the PowerStudio software that saves us approximately £20,000 
per annum by powering down staff computers. 

The Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) adds significantly to our overall energy 
costs. The carbon emissions associated with our consumption of electricity and gas in 
2014 /15 required the purchase of £390,000 worth of allowances.  Work therefore 
continues to reduce the expenditure and emissions associated with our activities. 
Further detail is provided in Appendix B.

7. ACTION PLAN

ACTION BY 
WHEN

BY WHOM

Undertake substantial infrastructure and premises related 
investment in accordance with the Strategic Regeneration plan 
for Carmarthenshire 2015 -2030 – Transformations

Ongoing Regeneration 
& Policy

Continue to support the Capital investment programme with 
strategic land acquisitions and disposals

Ongoing Regeneration 
& Policy

Meet Capital Receipt targets of £2,620 m (2016-17), £2,714m 
(2017-18), £3,076m (2018-19)

2016 -
2019

Regeneration 
& Policy

Support premises related revenue savings by reducing the 
estate, as highlighted in various Service Asset Management 
Plans

Ongoing Property

Promote and build on collaborative working on property work 
with LSB partners

March 
2017

Property

Improve data on backlog maintenance March 
2017

Property

Assist with service plans to review alternative ways of holding 
assets.

March 
2017

Property

Strengthen links between Service Asset Management Plans and 
Corporate Plan

Dec
2017

Property

Continue to support and enable Community Asset Transfers 
with emphasis on playing facilities and parks

March 
2018

Property

Page 399



16

APPENDIX A – PERFORMANCE / BENCHMARKING DATA

Property Condition by Category

The diagram below provides a summary of our preliminary assessment of the condition of 
core elements of our operational portfolio, where:

 Category A refers to properties which are performing as intended and which are 
considered to be operating efficiently

 Category B refers to properties which are in satisfactory condition, performing as intended 
but with minor defects

 Category C refers to properties in poor condition, which are not operating as intended and 
exhibiting major defects

 Category D refers to properties which are in bad condition, and in serious risk of imminent 
failure. The assessment has been based upon a desktop review of the condition of 
individual properties by the Property Services Division, drawing upon discussions with 
individual building inspectors and based upon formal condition survey data where 
available.  It has specific limitations in relation to properties that are not visited frequently 
and in relation to larger properties where an ‘average’ score has been allocated.

1

3

3

2

0

1

4

18

1

5

2

2

4

4

13

6

3

0

3

6

42

2

5

2

19

13

2

3

0

2

1

0

2

41

0

3

1

5

1

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

3

1

0

1

0

1

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Depots

Adminstrative Buildings

Residential Homes

Day Centres

Community Centres

Theatres & Galleries

Secondary Schools

Primary Schools

Museums

Libraries

Leisure Centres & Swimming Pools

Farms

Industrial estates

Properties in condition category A Properties in condition category B
Properties in condition category C Properties in condition category D

Carmarthenshire County Council 
Property Condition by Category 2016

Page 400



17

19.83%

50.86%

26.29%

3.02%

17.36%

48.76%

28.92%

4.96%

A B C D
0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

2016
2013

Carmarthenshire County Council Property 
Condition by Category

The exercise of reviewing the condition data provided positive results in relation to the 
increase in the properties assessed as being good (A) and satisfactory (B) . In addition the 
data showed a decrease in the number of properties scoring poor (C) and bad (D) compared 
with the previous assessment. The data reflects the rationalisation of poor performing stock 
and investment in new and core assets. The intention is to build upon the desktop surveys 
and provide cost estimates to meet the works highlighted on each asset. The financial 
climate will continue to provide challenges in resourcing the compilation and updating of the 
additional data.

Running Costs

Data has been collated to provide premises related costs on each asset within the 
operational portfolio. As with previous years the Authority’s schools show the highest 
running costs. The modernising education programme has, however, brought about a 
reduction in costs in comparison with last year. The increase in utility rates would have had 
greater financial impact but for the Authority’s investment in energy saving measures.

Across the entire operational portfolio the running costs for 2015/16 saw a decrease of some 
£562,000 from the previous year’s figures. The total cost for 2015/16 was £14,827,628 
covering repairs & maintenance, energy, business & water rates, rents, cleaning and 
insurance costs. 

This is against a backdrop of fluctuating utility prices, maintenance expenditure and on 
occasions higher costs associated with meeting greener energy requirements on new 
premises. The table below gives an oversight of the running cost comparison between the 
last financial years.

Page 401



18

1,132

282

88

230

104

5,292

4,701

394

631

2,635

238

1,205

284

80

194

41

5,183

4,629

389

513

2,639

231

1,043

249

74

206

33

5,208

4,589

397

462

2,325

242

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000

Leisure Centre & Swimming Pools

Libraries

Museums

Theatres & Galleries

Community Centres

Primary Schools

Secondary Schools

Day Centres

Residential Homes

Adminstrative Buildings

Depots

15/16
14/15
13/14

Comparison of Carmarthenshire County Council Total 
Running Costs per Establishment

Thousands

Suitability of Properties

A revised assessment of the suitability of the operational portfolio has been undertaken, 
based upon estimates by individual services relating to their portfolios. Properties were 
scored against a host of factors including location, image (e.g. appearance, age etc.), layout 
and design, security (for users and contents), suitability for ICT, and associated land (e.g. 
car parking, playing fields etc).

The scoring of the various factors led to an overall assessment classifying the asset as being 
either excellent, satisfactory, requiring improvement or unsuitable for the use required. 

Page 402



19

The above table reflects the recent changes to the Council’s Directorates and functions. A 
comparison with previous suitability assessments relating to different portfolio responsibilities 
have not shown significant changes in outcomes. It is worth noting that the number of 
properties deemed unsuitable by the services has decreased. 

As part of the action to strengthen service asset management plans and linkages to the 
Corporate Plan, the focus will now be on investigating the underlying data within the surveys 
undertaken by the various services. This will ensure that assessments are challenged and if 
appropriate form part of a suitable appraisal for investment / retention or disposal plan. The 
disposals will allow the opportunity to continue with the strategy of investment in the 
remaining portfolio to ensure it is fit for purpose.

Sufficiency of Properties

As part of the process of reviewing this plan, services were also required to produce a 
preliminary assessment of the sufficiency of the operational portfolio in the short, medium 
and long term, by identifying whether they anticipated an increase, decrease or no change in 
their space requirements. The chart below gives a snapshot of the overall results obtained 
by directorate.

In addition, information was requested on opening hours and visitor numbers where 
applicable, to provide a broad overview on the utilisation of the assets. Services were asked 
to give a final assessment as to whether in space terms the assets were good, adequate, 
poor or totally unacceptable.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Chief Executive

Communites

Education & Children Services

Environment

Excellent Satisfctory Needs Improvement Unsuitable

Suitability Conclusion across the Council's portfolio

Page 403



20

As with the suitability data the above table represents the current changes in portfolios 
under the relevant directorates. A comparison with previous sufficiency assessments allowing 
for the original portfolio responsibilities has not shown significant changes in results. The 
most notable change is that only one property has been highlighted as totally unacceptable 
from a space requirement viewpoint.

As with the suitability information the focus will now be on investigating the underlying data 
to ensure that assets highlighted by services as poor in connection with space needs are 
reviewed to ensure they form part of a service strategy for improvement. Challenging 
utilisation, and looking at opportunities to collaborate & share accommodation will assist 
services with additional requirements.

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Chief Executive

Communites

Education & Children Services

Environment

Good Adequate Poor Totally Unacceptable

Sufficiency Conclusion across the Council's 
Portfolio

Page 404



21

APPENDIX A

PERFORMANCE / BENCHMARKING DATA

CORPORATE HEALTH ASSET MANAGEMENT BENCHMARKING & LOCAL INDICATORS

REF INDICATOR ACTUAL
10/11

ACTUAL
11/12

ACTUAL
12/13

ACTUAL
13/14

ACTUAL
14/15

ACTUAL
15/16

CAM/025
2.1.2.25A

The percentage of the GIA of 
the local authority’s buildings 
that are surplus.

4.49% 3.64% 2.79% 3.25% 2.27% 2.84%

CAM/027
2.1.2.25B

The percentage of the GIA of 
the local authority’s buildings 
that are vacant.

0.90% 1.02% 1.90% 2.03% 1.31% 1.43%

CAM/028 Total gross internal area 
(GIA) of all operational 
buildings.

373,009sqm 378.974sqm 374.573sqm 373.561sqm 377.719sqm

CAM/043 Total useable office 
accommodation per 
employee.

10.32sqm 14.8sqm 10.1sqm 9.58sqm 8.68sqm

CAM/045 Office accommodation costs 
per sqm(NIA)*

£80.80p £93.71p £130.59p £111.30p £110.03p

CAM/050 Office accommodation costs 
per FTE office based 
employee (based on 3 largest 
offices in line with 
benchmarking guidance)

£1321.17
(new KPI)

£1066.70p £955.48p

2.1.2.9 Commercial – rent arrears as 
a percentage of rental 
income.

8.91% 4.98% 4.02% 4.66% 3.58% 3.76%

2.1.2.12 Income – percentage 
performance against target to 
generate non-strategic capital 
receipts.

94.51%
(£708,800)

107.08%
(£803,104)

232.67%
(£1,744,998)

76.55%
(£1,236.304)

294.29%
(£6,706,838)

74.71%
(£1,268,589)

P
age 405



22

REF INDICATOR ACTUAL
10/11

ACTUAL
11/12

ACTUAL
12/13

ACTUAL
13/14

ACTUAL
14/15

ACTUAL
15/16

2.1.2.13 Industrial – rent arrears as 
a percentage of rental 
income.

3.14% 2.95% 3.99% 5.57% 2.84% 3.92%

2.1.2.14 Markets – rent arrears as a 
percentage of rental 
income.

6.10% 11.85% 6.35% 4.92% 5.47% 4.87%

2.1.2.15 The percentage of the 
authority’s buildings open 
to the public that are 
suitable for and accessible 
to disabled people.

70.65% 80.60% 89.07% No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

2.1.2.18 The percentage of the local 
authority’s operational 
properties (excluding 
schools) for which an 
access audit has been 
undertaken by a competent 
person.

KPI on hold 97.7% 96.9% No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

2.1.2.19 The number of operational 
buildings (excluding 
schools) for which an 
access audit has been 
undertaken by a competent 
person.

328 258 248 No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

2.1.2.20 The percentage of the local 
authority’s operational 
properties (excluding 
schools) for which there is 
an accessibility plan in 
place.

KPI on hold 97.7% 96.9% No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

P
age 406



23

REF INDICATOR ACTUAL
10/11

ACTUAL
11/12

ACTUAL
12/13

ACTUAL
13/14

ACTUAL
14/15

ACTUAL
15/16

2.1.2.21 The number of operational 
buildings (excluding 
schools) for which there is 
an accessibility plan in 
place.

328 258 248 No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

2.1.2.23 The number of properties 
for which a suitability 
survey has been 
undertaken over the last 
five years.

775 No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

No longer 
reported

2.1.2.26 Rural Estate – rent arrears 
as a percentage of rental 
income.

1.97% 1.24% 2.86% 2.09% 1.09% 2.23%

CAM/035 The difference in the 
average (cumulative) 
operational rating score for 
local authority public 
buildings over 1,000 square 
metres where a DEC has 
been lodged on the Non 
Domestic Energy 
Performance Certificate 
Register between the 
previous financial year and 
the current financial year.

1.37 1.36 6.64

CAM/036 The average DEC rating 
score in local authority 
public buildings over 1,000 
square metres in the 
previous year.

93.08 91.72 85.08

P
age 407



24

REF INDICATOR ACTUAL
10/11

ACTUAL
11/12

ACTUAL
12/13

ACTUAL
13/14

ACTUAL
14/15

ACTUAL
15/16

CAM/037 The percentage change in 
the average Display Energy 
Certificate (DEC) score 
within local authority public 
buildings over 1,000 square 
metres.

1.5 1.5 7.2

P
age 408



25

APPENDIX B

Carbon Management Programme

The main purpose of the Carbon Management Programme is:

 To lead on corporate energy management issues and carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 
reporting,

 To identify and secure energy efficiency programmes in the Council’s existing non-domestic 
buildings, and

 To identify and secure opportunities for renewable energy technologies

The objectives are to: 

 Reduce financial expenditure and carbon emissions associated with our activities.
 Maximise savings by concentrating on the projects that deliver the most significant financial 

and carbon savings in the shortest period of time.
 Compliment improvements in the quality of our working / learning environments e.g. by 

switching from low frequency, energy hungry T12 lights to flicker-free T5 or LED lighting.
 Exploit maintenance savings associated with modern technologies.
 Challenge and encourage staff / pupils regarding the need to cut energy expenditure and 

carbon emissions.

Corporate energy management issues and carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 
reporting

Annual energy expenditure for the Council’s non-domestic buildings, including schools, is £4+ 
million (plus a further ~£0.7 million for Street Lighting). This is procured using Crown 
Commercial Services Framework Agreements in conjunction with other local authorities in 
Wales for the large majority of supplies. 

Since 2010, the Council has participated under the mandatory UK-wide Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme. As a consequence, we are required to purchase 
non-refundable allowances for each qualifying tonne of CO2 arising from our energy 
consumption (electricity & gas). We paid £368,082 under this scheme for our 2015-16 CO2 
emissions. The level of ‘tax’ levied for each tonne of CO2 emitted increases annually in order 
to incentivise carbon reduction (£16.90 per tonne for 2015-16). The UK government has 
recently announced that the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme will be abolished following the 
2018-19 compliance year.

The SystemsLink energy management software system has recently been procured in order 
to achieve better monitoring of our energy consumption; better management of billing via 
paperless systems; and to allow web-based access for managers of individual sites.

Energy efficiency programmes in the Council’s existing non-domestic buildings

To-date, the Council has invested £2+ million in over 200 energy efficiency projects under the 
invest-to-save Salix programme. Each of these projects has a payback of less than eight years 
and in total are projected to save £7+ million / 41,000 tonnes CO2 over the lifetime of the 
installed technologies. We have used the Salix programme to deliver various schemes across 
the portfolio, including lighting, pipe / valve / loft insulation, boiler controls and heating 
controls,  voltage optimisation, power-down software, swimming pool covers, garage speed 
doors, variable speed drives and draught exclusion. This investment coupled with the Council’s 

Page 409

http://www.carbontrust.com/resources/guides/carbon-footprinting-and-reporting/crc-carbon-reduction-commitment
http://www.carbontrust.com/resources/guides/carbon-footprinting-and-reporting/crc-carbon-reduction-commitment
https://www.systems-link.com/
http://www.salixfinance.co.uk/loans


26

ongoing rationalisation programme is producing significant financial and carbon savings in 
times of increasing utility prices. Consultations with colleagues in other services ensure that 
no energy funding is invested in building with short anticipated lifespans. Our focus in 2016-
17 is replacement LED lighting. 

We are currently exploring the possibility of including our non-domestic buildings, including 
schools, in the Welsh Government supported Re:fit Cymru programme in order to identify 
energy efficiency opportunities. Once an initial comprehensive assessment has been 
completed, a potential programme(s) may be procured under an energy performance contract 
to deliver identified energy savings – these savings to be guaranteed by the successful 
contractor.

Opportunities for renewable energy technologies

All major new build projects incorporate renewable energy technologies where appropriate.

The Council has allocated £1.5 million in its 2016/17 capital programme for solar photovoltaic 
(PV) installations in suitable non-domestic buildings. This is a scaled-down version of our 
ambitious and innovative 10+ MWp / £10-15 million community rent-a-roof programme which 
was effectively scuppered by UK Government policy decisions announced in late 2015. Despite 
this, over 90 sites were successfully pre-registered with Ofgem to secure the Feed In Tariff 
rate payable in September 2015; however, these were subsequently significantly reduced due 
to local Grid capacity constraints. As a consequence, 17 installations, including 10 schools, 
have been completed under this project - adding 630+ kWp to take the Council’s total installed 
solar PV capacity over 1 MWp. The project was delivered via the specifically created community 
benefit society ‘Egni Sir Gar Cyfyngedig’. The feasibility of a further phase is currently being 
evaluated to potentially incorporate battery storage with solar PV installations.

Links with partner organisations

We are members of the CLAW Energy Group, and also coordinate the Carmarthenshire Local 
Service Board (now Public Services Board) ‘Sustainable Carmarthenshire Group’ comprising 
partners’ lead facilities managers, to help ensure greater collaborative working in sharing and 
exploring energy efficiency and carbon reduction opportunities.

Energy Management - Council's non-domestic buildings
Key Measures of Success 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 Progress
 Consumption (kWh) 77,252,930 74,614,632 72,821,595 Improved
 Cost (£) £4,727,803 £4,745,312 £4,228,683 Improved
 CO2 emissions (tonnes) 22,453 22,010 21,787 Improved

 Renewable electricity generated (kWh)  207,698 229,652 Improved

Page 410

http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/efficiency/re-fit-cymru/?lang=en


 EXECUTIVE BOARD 
22ND DECEMBER 2016

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL’S GUIDANCE AND SERVICE LEVEL 
AGREEMENT ON CHARGEABLE PRE-APPLICATION AND POST CONSENT ADVICE IN 
RELATION TO DEVELOPMENTS OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE (PLANNING (WALES) 
ACT 2015) AND NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS (NSIPS) 
(PLANNING ACT 2008)

 Purpose:
To seek approval for the Local Planning Authority to introduce charges for pre-application 
advice given to developers preparing DNS applications for submission to the Planning 
Inspectorate and to update existing guidance/fees relating to NSIPs. Charging will also apply 
to post-consent advice and discharging of responsibilities in relation to consent planning 
conditions, and monitoring.  

Recommendations / key decisions required:
 To agree the Council’s duties and general procedures when providing the advice 

service to developers of NSIP and DNS projects.
 To agree amendments to the existing guidance relating to NSIPs, and include 

provisions to deal with DNS.
 To agree details of charges, invoicing and payment procedures.
 Details relating to developer confidentiality.

Reasons: 
 The Local Government Act 2003 gives Local Planning Authorities powers to recover 

the costs of pre-application advice in recognition of the time officers have to spend 
assessing and researching information in order to provide answers to prospective 
developers or agents. The use of a charging regime for pre-application advice is 
supported at a national level and is established practice with the majority of local 
planning authorities.

 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 requires all local planning authorities (LPAs) in Wales 
to provide a statutory pre-application service. A set level of fees has been introduced 
for development categories to ensure consistency across Wales. Notwithstanding this 
LPAs retain flexibility and control on the type of pre-application service they provide 
and the fees associated with each development type, so long as they are in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 (S.93 refers).

Page 411

Agenda Item 12



 This service will be a discretionary pre-application advice service which will include 
extra services not detailed or required by the statutory pre-application advice service 
relating to DNS. It will include meetings, post consent advice on the discharge of 
conditions, and more detailed assessment of technical documents, such as Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessments, Cultural Heritage Assessments and Traffic Impact 
Assessments.  

 The LPA is not the consenting body for NSIP or DNS applications; this is the relevant 
Secretary of State and Welsh Government respectively who issues a decision following 
an assessment and recommendation issued by the Planning Inspectorate (Pins). The 
fee for processing an NSIP and DNS application is given to Pins, although a significant 
amount of pre-submission work is undertaken by the Local Authority in the form of 
advice to developers. Furthermore, the Council has a duty to discharge ‘Requirements’ 
(NSIPs) and Planning Conditions (DNS) of consented developments whilst also 
enforcing and monitoring schemes at the post-consent stage. The charging service is 
necessary to recover some of the costs of providing advice in relation to these projects.

 To approve and implement charges which are both reasonable to the service user and 
contribute to the resourcing of Council services. 

 To approve and implement the general procedures and duties of the advice service 
which are equitable to users of the service.

Relevant scrutiny committee to be consulted 

YES 

Scrutiny committee and date   - Community Scrutiny, 5th December 2016

Scrutiny Committee recommendations / comments: Refer to Consultations section

Exec Board Decision Required                     YES 

Council Decision Required                           YES

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER PORTFOLIO HOLDER:- Cllr Mair Stephens

Directorate

Name of Head of Service:

Llinos Quelch

Report Author: 

Richard Jones

Designations:

Head of Planning

Development Management 
Officer

Tel No. E Mail Address:

(01267) 228918

lquelch@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Tel No. E Mail Address:

(01267) 228892
rejones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Page 412

mailto:lquelch@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:rejones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
EXECUTIVE BOARD 

22ND DECEMBER 2016

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE 
AND SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT ON CHARGEABLE PRE-APPLICATION AND POST 
CONSENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO DEVELOPMENTS OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE 

(DNS) (PLANNING (WALES) ACT 2015)  NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROJECTS (NSIP) (PLANNING ACT 2008)

The accompanying report sets out general guidance, schedule of fees and the level of service 
developers of Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) and Developments of 
National Significance (DNS) can expect to receive from the Council for non-statutory advice 
required in relation to their projects. 

NSIPs and DNSs are major infrastructure developments in England and Wales such as 
proposals for power plants, large renewable energy projects, new airports and airport 
extensions, major road projects etc. NSIPs are defined in the Planning Act 2008, whilst a DNS 
definition is contained within the Planning (Wales) Act 2015. NSIP and DNS applications are 
submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (Pins), for assessment and recommendation. 
Recommendations on NSIP applications are sent to the relevant to the relevant Secretary of 
State for decision, whilst the Welsh Ministers determine DNS applications.

The Council has an existing chargeable pre-application advice service for NSIP projects 
which was approved in 2013. The attached document updates this guidance to include DNS 
projects and a revised set of procedures and scale of fees. The principle of charging for the 
advice the LPA gives to developers is considered legally acceptable under the terms The 
Local Government Act 2003, for Local Authorities to recover the costs for providing 
discretionary services. The service is also discretionary and is separate to the services the 
authority provides under the Developments Of National Significance (Wales) Regulations 
2016 and Town and Country Planning (Pre-Application Services) (Wales) Regulations 2016.

The accompanying documents provide further details of the terms and conditions of the 
advice service as they relates to NSIP / DNS projects in addition to a schedule of fees. 

Approval of this guidance and charging regime will introduce an efficient, structured and 
professional service that will reduce uncertainty and be highly cost effective for developers 
wishing to formally submit NSIPs and DNS. It will also enable the discharging of post consent 
matters to be done more efficiently, whilst ensuring that the costs on the Council’s resources 
are reasonably met.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED YES

Page 413



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed: Llinos Quelch                                                                 Head of  Planning                          

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

NONE YES YES  NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1. Legal  

 Under the terms of the Local Government Act 2003, Local Authorities have the power to 
charge for discretionary services. The terms set out in the attached report are 
considered to comply with this legislation.

 The decision to approve the details of the pre-application charging service will also require 
Executive Board approval. 

2. Finance  
 

 There is a potential to increase income from the charges associated with the advice 
service. In addition to professional advice, charges will also be incurred upon 
developers, for Council’s legal input, travel and administrative and management 
handling of advice requests.

 The Council’s Legal Department will be requested to provide advice where relevant and 
necessary. 

 Depending on the type of advice required by the developer, other Council Departments 
may be requested to input where relevant / necessary.

Page 414



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:     Llinos Quelch                                                             Head of Planning                                                

1. Scrutiny Committee - Scrutiny committee agreement given without modifications on 5th 
December 2016.

2.Local Member(s)   - No local members consulted 

3.Community / Town Council  - No community or Town Council’s consulted

4.Relevant Partners   - N/A

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  

The Council’s Legal Services division have raised no objection to the guidance

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

The Local Government Act 
2003

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents 

The Planning Act 2008 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents 

The Planning (Wales) Act 
2015

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/contents 

The Developments of 
National Significance 
(Wales) Regulations 2016

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/contents/m
ade 

Page 415

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/contents/made


This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Environment

Executive Board

19th December 2016

Approval is sought for Carmarthenshire County Council’s guidance and service 
level agreement on chargeable pre-application and post consent advice in 

relation to Developments of National Significance (Planning (Wales) Act 2015) 
and Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) (Planning Act 2008).

Head of Service & Designation.

Llinos Quelch, Head of Planning

Directorate

Environment

Telephone No.

01267 228918

Author &  Designation 

Richard Jones, Development Management Officer

Directorate

Environment

Telephone No

01267 228892 (ext 
2892)

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT.

To seek approval for the Local Planning Authority to introduce charges for pre-application 
advice given to developers preparing DNS applications for submission to the Planning 
Inspectorate and to update existing guidance/fees relating to NSIPs. Charging will also 
apply to post-consent advice and discharging of responsibilities in relation to consent 
planning conditions, and monitoring.  

2. KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED

Page 417



 To agree the Council’s duties and general procedures when providing the advice service 
to developers of NSIP and DNS projects.

 To agree amendments to the existing guidance relating to NSIPs, and include provisions 
to deal with DNS.

 To agree details of charges, invoicing and payment procedures.
 Details relating to developer confidentiality.

3. REASON(S)

 The Local Government Act 2003 gives Local Planning Authorities powers to recover the 
costs of pre-application advice in recognition of the time officers have to spend assessing 
and researching information in order to provide answers to prospective developers or 
agents. The use of a charging regime for pre-application advice is supported at a national 
level and is established practice with the majority of local planning authorities.

 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 requires all local planning authorities (LPAs) in Wales to 
provide a statutory pre-application service. A set level of fees has been introduced for 
development categories to ensure consistency across Wales. Notwithstanding this LPAs 
retain flexibility and control on the type of pre-application service they provide and the 
fees associated with each development type, so long as they are in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 2003 (S.93 refers).

 This service will be a discretionary pre-application advice service which will include extra 
services not detailed or required by the statutory pre-application advice service relating to 
DNS. It will include meetings, post consent advice on the discharge of conditions, and 
more detailed assessment of technical documents, such as Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessments, Cultural Heritage Assessments and Traffic Impact Assessments.  

Page 418



 The LPA is not the consenting body for NSIP or DNS applications; this is the relevant 
Secretary of State and Welsh Government respectively who issues a decision following 
an assessment and recommendation issued by the Planning Inspectorate (Pins). The fee 
for processing an NSIP and DNS application is given to Pins, although a significant 
amount of pre-submission work is undertaken by the Local Authority in the form of advice 
to developers. Furthermore, the Council has a duty to discharge ‘Requirements’ (NSIPs) 
and Planning Conditions (DNS) of consented developments whilst also enforcing and 
monitoring schemes at the post-consent stage. The charging service is necessary to 
recover some of the costs of providing advice in relation to these projects.

 To approve and implement charges which are both reasonable to the service user and 
contribute to the resourcing of Council services.

 To approve and implement the general procedures and duties of the advice service 
which are equitable to users of the service.

4. BACKGROUND AND EXPLANATION OF ISSUES

Appendix 2 sets out the general guidance, schedule of fees and the level of service 
developers of Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) and Developments of 
National Significance (DNS) can expect to receive from the Council for non-statutory 
advice required in relation to their projects. 

NSIPs and DNSs are major infrastructure developments in England and Wales such as 
proposals for power plants, large renewable energy projects, new airports and airport 
extensions, major road projects etc. NSIPs are defined in the Planning Act 2008, whilst a 
DNS definition is contained within the Planning (Wales) Act 2015. NSIP and DNS 
applications are submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (Pins), for assessment and 
recommendation. Recommendations on NSIP applications are sent to the relevant to the 
relevant Secretary of State for decision, whilst the Welsh Ministers determine DNS 
applications.

This process relating to each consenting regime is ‘top loaded’ and the emphasis is on 
the developer presenting a comprehensive case for assessment at the submission stage 
and this requires a significant amount of pre-application work through the undertaking of 
surveys, reports and a number consultations rounds with the public. The Local Authority 
is integral to the pre-application stage of the process and as the lead consultee will have 
a number of statutory and non-statutory duties to carry out when advising the developer. 

Officers of the Local Planning Authority (LPA) have spent a considerable amount of time 
advising on NSIP developments since 2012, namely the Brechfa Forest West Wind Farm 

Page 419



and the Brechfa Forest connection Project. The LPA has started engaging with a 
developer in relation to the submission of a DNS for a wind farm therefore a formal 
service level agreement and charging regime needs to be established beforehand in 
relation to pre-application advice the Authority gives.

The Council has an existing chargeable pre-application advice service for NSIP projects 
which was approved in 2013. The attached document updates this guidance to include 
DNS projects and a revised set of procedures and scale of fees. The principle of 
charging for the advice the LPA gives to developers is considered legally acceptable 
under the terms The Local Government Act 2003, for Local Authorities to recover the 
costs for providing discretionary services. Advice on DNS projects is also discretionary 
and is separate to the services the authority provides under the Developments of 
National Significance (Fees) (Wales) Regulations 2016 and Town and Country 
Planning (Pre-Application Services) (Wales) Regulations 2016.

The accompanying documents provide further details of the terms and conditions of the 
advice service as they relates to NSIP / DNS projects in addition to a schedule of fees. 

The guidance attached (Appendix 2) sets out the level of advice developers can expect 
and within what timescale. The advice given under the terms of the guidance will relate to 
information requested prior to the formal submission of NSIPs / DNS and also advice 
required from the Local Authority once a decision has been issued by the Secretary of 
State / Welsh Ministers. Clarification on the disclosure of public and commercially 
sensitive information is also provided along with a schedule of fees and the associated 
payment procedures.

Approval of this guidance and charging regime will introduce an efficient, structured and 
professional service that will reduce uncertainty and be highly cost effective for 
developers wishing to formally submit NSIPs and DNS. It will also enable the discharging 
of post consent matters to be done more efficiently, whilst ensuring that the costs on the 
Council’s resources are reasonably met.

5. OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE, AND THEIR PROS AND CONS

An alternative option available to the developer of a DNS project is to obtain the 
Council’s advice through the statutory pre-application services outlined in Developments 
of National Significance (Fees) (Wales) Regulations 2016 and Town and Country 
Planning (Pre-Application Services) (Wales) Regulations 2016. 

This service and the associated fixed fee the Council would receive may not meet the 
expectations of the developer as the statutory pre-application advice service limits the 
local authority and developer to providing/receiving a standard level of information as 
outlined by the legislation. Under a discretionary advice service which the Council’s 
proposes, there would be the opportunity for prospective developers to have more 

Page 420



focused and detailed discussions through site meetings and the assessment of specific 
technical reports by officers.

A further advantage of the discretionary service is the opportunity for the Council to 
provide more thorough advice and guidance on the potential impacts of a development it 
could potentially host. Therefore it is important that the Council has in place an 
appropriate framework and service level agreement in which developers can request 
advice which falls outside that required by the statutory pre-application services.

6. IMPLICATIONS:

2. LEGAL 
 Under the terms of the Local Government Act 2003, Local Authorities have 

the power to charge for discretionary services. The terms set out in the 
attached report are considered to comply with this legislation.

 The decision to approve the details of the pre-application charging service 
will also require Executive Board approval. 

3. FINANCE 
 There is a potential to recover costs associated with the advice service. In 

addition to professional advice, charges will also be incurred upon 
developers, for Council’s legal input, travel and administrative and 
management handling of advice requests.

 The Council’s Legal Department will be requested to provide advice where 
relevant and necessary. 

 Depending on the type of advice required by the developer, other Council 
Departments may be requested to input where relevant / necessary.  

 
7. FEEDBACK FROM CONSULTATIONS UNDERTAKEN

1. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE & DATE – Community Scrutiny Committee of 5th 
December 2016. Scrutiny committee agreed the report without any modifications.

2. LOCAL MEMBER (S) TO BE NAMED AND COMMENTS INCLUDED, IF ANY

N/A

3. COMMUNITY TOWN COUNCIL (S)  - N/A

4. RELEVANT PARTNERS – N/A

5. STAFF SIDE REPRESENTATIVES

Page 421



The Council’s Legal Services division have raised no objection to the guidance

6. OTHER ORGANISATIONS - None

8. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THE REPORT

Title of Document File Ref 
No.

Where available for public 
inspection

The Local Government Act 
2003

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/2
6/contents 

The Planning Act 2008 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/2
9/contents 

The Planning (Wales) Act 
2015

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/
contents 

The Developments of 
National Significance 
(Wales) Regulations 2016

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/c
ontents/made 

Page 422

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/56/contents/made


APPENDIX 1: Scale of Fees in relation to: Carmarthenshire County Council 
Development Management Guidance and Service Level Agreement on 
Chargeable Pre-application and Post-consent Advice in Relation to Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) (Planning Act 2008) and 
Developments of National Significance (DNS) (Planning (Wales) Act 2015) – 
applicable from XXXXXXX TBC 2016

Development 
Category

Action CCC Officer Charge (per hour) (inc. 
VAT)

Nationally 
Significant 
Infrastructure 
Project (NSIP) as 
defined by Planning 
Act 2008 / 
Development of 
National 
Significance as 
defined by Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015

The provision of 
pre-application 
advice for new 
sites or further 
development at 
existing sites - 
including 
discussions with 
applicants/agents; 
research; site 
inspections; 
preparation of 
detailed reports.

Administration Assistant

Searches Officer

Conservation Officer

Development Management 
Officer

Senior Development 
Management Officer

Development Management 
Manager

Head of Planning 

Project Support Officer

Conservation Project Officer

Planning Ecologist

Landscape Officer

Aboriculture Officer

Biodiversity Officer

Common Land Officer

Rural Conservation Manager

Charges are based on an 
hourly rate and are 
reviewed annually. 

For 2016 hourly rates 
please contact the Planning 
Services Division

*N.B. Advice from other 
Council service areas and 
services required from 
outside of the Council to 
inform the advice given 
may incur a fee. Service 
users are advised to 
check with the Council’s 
project case officer 
before making a request.

Nationally 
Significant 
Infrastructure 
Project (NSIP) as 
defined by Planning 
Act 2008 / 
Development of 
National 
Significance as 
defined by Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015

Pre-Submission 
advice in relation 
to the formal 
discharge of 
Planning 
Requirements 
which relate to a 
Development 
Consent Order 
(DCO) in respect 
of NSIP and the 
discharge of 
planning 
conditions in 
respect of DNS 
decisions issued 
by Welsh 
Ministers.

Administration Assistant

Searches Officer

Conservation Officer

Development Management 
Officer

Senior Development 
Management Officer

Development Management 
Manager

Head of Planning 

Project Support Officer

Charges are based on an 
hourly rate and are 
reviewed annually. 

For 2016 hourly rates 
please contact the Planning 
Services Division

*N.B. Advice from other 
Council services areas 
and services required 
from outside of the 
Council to inform the 
advice given may incur a 
fee. Service users are 
advised to check with the 
Council’s project case 
officer before making 

Page 423



Conservation Project Officer

Planning Ecologist

Landscape Officer

Aboriculture Officer

Biodiversity Officer

Common Land Officer

Rural Conservation Manager

request.

Nationally 
Significant 
Infrastructure 
Project (NSIP) as 
defined by Planning 
Act 2008 / / 
Development of 
National 
Significance as 
defined by Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015

Legal fees CCC Legal Services Officers To be agreed on a case by 
case basis

Page 424



Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project 
(NSIP) as defined by 
Planning Act 2008 / 
Development of 
National Significance as 
defined by Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015

Travel Expenses £0.45 per mile

Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project 
(NSIP) as defined by 
Planning Act 2008 / 
Development of 
National Significance as 
defined by Planning 
(Wales) Act 2015

Any pre-application work not covered by any of the 
above categories.

£25 per hour 
(officers); £33 per 
hour (Rural 
Conservation 
Manager);
£65 per hour 
(Head of Planning)

Page 425



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE AND SERVICE LEVEL 
AGREEMENT ON CHARGEABLE PRE-APPLICATION AND 
POST CONSENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO DEVELOPMENTS 
OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE (DNS) (PLANNING (WALES) 
ACT 2015) AND NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT 
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS (NSIP) (PLANNING ACT 2008)

1.0 Introduction

1.1  This guidance forms the basis of a service level agreement between the Council 
and developers wishing to submit applications for Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) and Developments of National Significance (DNS).      
The guidance sets out the arrangements for the Council to provide pre-
application and advice to the Developer on all planning matters. The advice 
service will also apply to information and observations sought by the Developer in 
respect of the formal discharge of planning conditions and requirements 
associated with approval notices issues by the relevant  Secretary of State and 
Welsh Ministers , in addition to consent monitoring. The service does not relate to 
advice which is statutorily required under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 or 
the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and is a discretionary charging service offered by 
the Council. 

2.0 The Duties

Pre-application Advice

2.1 The Developer will liaise with the Council over requests for pre-application advice 
relating to schemes seeking a Development Consent Order for an NSIP under 
the terms of the Planning Act 2008 and formal decision from Welsh Ministers 
relating to DNS applications. The pre-application advice service will also apply to 
information and observations the Council provides prior to the formal discharge of 
planning conditions relating to any subsequent consent the Secretary of State of 
and Welsh Ministers issue. The responsibility for determining the appropriate 
level of advice required will remain with the Developer.

2.2 The Developer will provide an initial brief for the Council on the level of pre-
application advice required, through a meeting at the Council’s offices, or 
alternatively by correspondence, video-conference or teleconference, 
supplemented by a briefing note, reports or any other information deemed 
necessary. 

2.3 A target date(s) for a response to the Developer’s brief shall be agreed in writing 
between the Council and Developer within 1 week following the date of 
submission of initial brief, confirming the service to be provided by the Council 
and an estimated fee for the work. Depending on the nature and level of work 

Page 427



Appendix 2

required, the Council will coordinate an individual or multi-disciplinary team to 
provide the pre-application advice. 

2.4 The Council shall be expected to maintain contact with a nominated member of 
the Developer’s project team where further information/clarification is needed on 
any matter. 

2.5 The Council shall be expected to submit a formal written response to the 
Developer to meet the agreed target date, unless a later date has been   agreed 
with the Developer.

2.6 The Council’s Officers shall be expected to:
 Visit the site and surrounding land at least once, and expect the 

Developer to provide the necessary permissions for Council officers to 
enter onto land relating to the proposed development site. A summary of 
the site visit will be provided in the Council’s formal response highlighting 
any characteristics and/or issues of importance.

 Appraise planning policy and how it relates to the proposed development 
and other material planning considerations.

 Highlight concerns and negotiate amendments to the submitted scheme 
if necessary to make it acceptable in planning terms.

 Carry out thorough research of planning issues relating to the proposed 
development and respond to questions and matters which require 
clarification by the developer.

 Keep files notes of all telephone calls, site visits and meetings relevant to 
the processing of the pre-application advice request.

 Where relevant the Council’s response will be supplemented with photos, 
maps, drawings and other illustrative material it deems necessary.

                    
3.0       GENERAL

3.1 The Council’s Officers shall exercise reasonable professional expertise, care and 
diligence in the performance of the obligations under this Agreement.

3.2 The Council shall not assign or transfer any obligation under this Agreement 
without the prior written agreement of the Developer.

3.3 The Council’s pre-application advice will be given in good faith and will be based 
on information that is supplied by the Developer or held by the Council. Although 
every effort will be made to ensure the accuracy of response, it should be 
understood that neither the Council nor any of its Officers should be held legally 
responsible for any advice given. Furthermore, it should not be construed that this 
advice will be considered binding in the event of a subsequent planning 
application.

4.0 CHARGES, INVOICING AND PAYMENT

4.1 The scale of fees payable to the Council for undertaking the work  is set out in 
Appendix 1 to this Agreement, and shall be subject to annual review to take 
account of inflation and NJC salary increases for local government staff. The 
Council will give the Developer written notice of the revised scale of fees to be 
introduced.  

Page 428



Appendix 2

4.2    Invoicing should be undertaken quarterly, and cover the work undertaken.
4.3   Normal payment terms are 30 days from invoice, and payment will normally be        

expected to be made by BACS.
4.4 A 5% administration and management fee will be added to the cost of the 

Council’s pre-application advice service.
4.5 Where necessary the LPA will involve the Council’s Legal Department before 

responding to the Developer’s pre-application advice request and legal fees will 
be charged accordingly. Details of the Council’s legal fees are included in 
Appendix 1.

5.0 CONFIDENTIALITY 

5.1 Subject to Clause 5.2 and 5.3 below, each Party shall keep confidential all 
Commercially Sensitive Information disclosed to it. Each Party shall procure that its 
employees shall not make any disclosure to any person of any Commercially 
Sensitive Information. “Commercially Sensitive Information” means all information 
designated as such by either party in writing and all other information which relates to 
the proceedings, planning applications, business, affairs, products, trade secrets, 
developments, know-how, personnel, customers and suppliers of either party and 
information which may reasonably be regarded as the confidential information of the 
disclosing party

5.2 The Developer acknowledges the commitment of the Council to open government 
and public access to information. Accordingly, the Parties agree that: 
where the Council is managing a request for disclosure of recorded information and 
whether any exemption applies under the Freedom of Information Acts then it will 
consult with the Developer in relation to any request for disclosure of recorded 
information to which this Clause applies and in accordance with the guidance referred 
to in the Code of Practice on the Discharge of Public Authorities` Obligations issued 
under section 45 of the FOIA. The Developer shall co-operate with the Council 
making the request and respond within 5 Working Days to any request by it for 
assistance in determining how to respond to a request for disclosure; and 

5.3 The Parties shall each nominate a representative for considering and agreeing 
matters relating to this Clause 5.1

5.4 Clause 5 shall not apply to: 

5.4.1 Any disclosure of information to each of the Parties’ professional advisors; 

5.4.2 Any disclosure of information which is required to ensure the compliance with the 
FOIA as set out in Clause 5.2.

5.4.3 Any disclosure required by any law or any information not subject to an obligation 
of confidentiality

Page 429



Appendix 2

6.0    AGREEMENT

It is hereby agreed and declared that:

6.1 This Agreement shall commence on XXXXXXX and shall be for a minimum 
period of one year, unless terminated by either party giving not less than 1 month 
notice in writing.

6.2 In the event of any breach of this Agreement by the Council the Developer will be 
entitled to terminate the Agreement forthwith.

6.3 If any dispute or difference arises between the parties in connection with this 
Agreement it shall be referred to an independent Chartered Town Planner (‘the 
planner’) appointed jointly by the parties, or in the absence of agreement to a 
Chartered Town Planner appointed by the President of the Royal Town Planning 
Institute.

6.4 The appointed person under paragraph 6.3 above shall be entitled to seek and 
rely upon such other professional advice and assistance as he/she shall in his/her 
absolute discretion deem desirable, and the decision of the appointed person 
shall in the absence of manifest error be final and binding on the parties.

6.5 The fees payable to the person appointed under paragraph 6.3 above shall be 
borne and paid by the Developer and the Council in such shares and manner as 
the appointed person determines, and failing his/her determination in equal 
shares.

Signatures

On behalf of the Developer: 

On behalf of the Council: Carmarthenshire County Council

Llinos Quelch: 

Page 430


	Agenda
	3 TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON THE 21ST NOVEMBER, 2016.
	6 MODERNISING EDUCATION PROGRAMME - PROPOSAL TO DISCONTINUE LLANGENNECH INFANT SCHOOL AND LLANGENNECH JUNIOR SCHOOL AND ESTABLISH LLANGENNECH COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL.
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Document
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Report
	Appendix 3 - Statutory Notice
	Appendix 4 - Objection Report

	7 PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD SCRUTINY.
	8 PREVENTION, EARLY INTERVENTION AND PROMOTING INDEPENDENT LIVING.
	Report

	9 SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE SCHEME.
	Report

	10 COUNCIL TAX BASE 2017-18.
	Tables 1A and 1B
	Table 2
	Appendix A

	11 CORPORATE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2016-2019.
	AMP summary
	Report

	12 CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S GUIDANCE AND SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT ON CHARGEABLE PRE-APPLICATION AND POST CONSENT ADVICE IN RELATION TO DEVELOPMENTS OF NATIONAL SIGNIFICANCE (PLANNING (WALES) ACT 2015) AND NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS (PLANNING ACT 2008).
	Report
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


